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de Disclaimer and cautionary statement
In this annual report, we have disclosed forward looking 
information to enable investors to comprehend our prospects 
and take informed investment decisions. This report and other 
statements - written and oral - that we periodically make, contain 
forward-looking statements that set out anticipated results based 
on the management’s plans and assumptions. We have tried 
wherever possible to identify such statements by using words 
such as ‘anticipates’, ‘estimates’, ‘expects’, ‘projects’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, 
‘believes’ and words of similar substance in connection with any 
discussion on future performance. We cannot guarantee that 
these forward looking statements will be realised, although we 
believe we have been prudent in assumptions. The achievement 
of results is subject to risks, uncertainties and even inaccurate 
assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties 
materialise, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, 
actual results could vary materially from those anticipated, 
estimated or projected. We undertake no obligation to publicly 
update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise.



The journey begins…
1951- one of the first cement plants of independent india
Amid the heightened nationalist fervour of building a new India, Shri Jaidayalji Dalmia, 
a visionary and patriotic industrialist set up the maiden cement plant of OCL India at 
Rajgangpur, Odisha. 

OCL is proud to be associated with the largest and the first multi-river valley project of 
independent India, Hirakud Dam on Mahanadi river. It is a colossal structure running 26 
km in length and standing 61 M tall  and is considered as a marvel of civil engineering in 
modern India. It was built over a prolonged construction period of about 100 months, and 
went on to irrigate 155,635 hectares of land, besides generating 307 MW of power energy.

Watch a nostalgic documentary by films 
division on Hirakud Dam by scanning 
above QR code or visiting https://www.
youtube.com/watch?v=C464pVs0dLc

Your dreams are like the cement. If you water it 
with actions, it becomes a hard concrete mass. 
But if you leave it exposed and unwatered, the air 
will easily blow it away!
                                                                                            - Israelmore Ayivor



Rising to the occasion

1949
Company got 
incorporated

                     

1951
The 500 TPD Cement Plant 
commenced production at 
Rajgangpur, Odisha

1957
Another line 
of 600 TPD 
capacity 
commenced 
production

2004
Clinkerisation 
plant underwent 
modernization & 
expansion

2005
3rd CVRM got installed, 
raising the capacity to 
2MnT

then, now and tomorrow…

Hirakud Dam

Rajgangpur Plant, 
Odisha

Mahatma Gandhi 
Setu, Bihar

IOCL, Haldia,  
West Bengal

Science City,  
Kolkata

1988
Conversion from Wet to Dry 
process

NTPC, Bhagalpur
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2008
A split grinding unit of  
1.3 MnT got commissioned 
at Kapilas, Odisha 

2009
Second clinkerisation 
unit got commissioned at 
Rajgangpur, Odisha, which 
increased the total grinding 
capacity of the Company to 
5.35 MnT

2010
Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited 
enhanced its stake in OCL India 
Ltd. to 45.4%

2012
54 MW power 
plant got 
commissioned

2014
 � Another split grinding unit of 

1.35 MnT got commissioned at 
Midnapore, West Bengal

 � First Solar Power Plant of 2.5 
MW commissioned at Kapilas, 
Odisha

2015
OCL India became a 
subsidiary of Dalmia 
Cement Bharat Ltd.

2016
•	 Solar Power Plant of 5.5 

MW got commissioned at 
Midnapore

•	 Premium brand ‘Dalmia 
DSP’ got launched

•	 Proposed amalgamation of 
Dalmia Bharat Ltd. & OCL 
India Ltd. 

Kapilas Plant, 
Odisha

Midnapore Plant, West Bengal

Super Premium ‘Dalmia DSP’ Cement

Captive Power Plant
Solar Power Plant, Kapilas, Odisha 
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At school, Rani learnt today about the grandeur of Hirakud 

Dam, an engineering marvel that went on to feature 

among the first and tallest showpieces of modern multi-

purpose infrastructure that got built within the first 

decade of India’s independence.

Hirakud Dam helped 
change the life of farmers 
in Odisha

evolution
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The bedtime story that grandma narrated to Rani tonight was 

about a promising boy, who despite losing his father at a young 

age of 15, overcame all odds to study civil engineering and 

went on to become one of the greatest engineers of the world. 

The boy featuring in the story was Dr. Sir M. Vishveshwaraya, 

the recipient of country’s highest civilian honour, Bharat Ratna. 

His birthday, 15th September, is celebrated as ‘Engineers Day’ in 

India. It was his great work in the aftermath of the devastating 

Mahanadi flood, that made the blueprint of Hirakud Dam.  

The construction of same Hirakud Dam  led to the birth of  

OCL India.
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 The evolution Phase

Back then in 1949, the cement industry and the Indian 

dreams were at a nascent stage. India and OCL had the 

zeal to go beyond what they had envisioned. Both were 

determined to weave a story of brilliance, generously 

garnished with the essence of ethics, vision, skill, 

motivation, ardour and perseverance. 

The Company’s first wet process plant started production 

in 1951. By the time Hirakud Dam, an engineering marvel 

of modern India got completed in 1957, the Company’s 

second wet process plant was also commissioned, taking 

the overall capacity to 1100 TPD.

For the next three decades, the Company continued to 

manufacture and supply best in class cement not only 

to Odisha but also to the adjoining states of Bihar, West 

Bengal, etc. Brick by brick, the foundation of modern India 

was being built and strengthened. Be it the construction 

of Farakka Barrage, which changed the face of Bhagirathi-

Hooghly river system or Mahatma Gandhi Setu, one of the 

largest river bridges across the Ganges to connect North 

Bihar from the rest of it, OCL contributed in nation building  

project after project. 

OCL also partnered Indian dreams in setting up Rourkela 

Steel Plant in Odisha, Haldia Refinery in West Bengal, 

National Institute of Technology, Rourkela in Odisha 

among others. 

By mid-1980s, the time to keep up with the technological 

advancement had arrived. A well-timed transition in 1988 

resulted in the two cement plants at Rajgangpur shifting 

from wet process to dry process manufacturing. In 1997, 

OCL India went ahead to become the first cement company 

in India to install  cement Vertical Roller Mill (CVRM) for 

cement grinding. Its manufacturing capacity too got raised 

to one million ton per annum. 

Leading the quality certification campaign of the 

Indian Cement Industry, the Company obtained ISO 
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9002 certification in 1998 and ISO 9001-2000 in 2004. The 

Company’s commitment and capability to manufacture and 

supply special grade cement got validated in it. The Company 

went on to add its third CVRM and raised the  capacity to 2 

MnT by 2005. 

Having begun from Odisha, OCL’s journey of excellence 

continued to spread across the neighbouring states, leaving 

behind a trail worth following. The two iconic structures of 

modern day Kolkata, Vidyasagar Setu and Salt Lake Stadium 

were also built using OCL’s quality cement among other 

brands.

OCL’s evolution phase started with India’s construction 

need for civic infrastructure. Alongside, OCL helped develop 

industries, institutions and housing buildings in eastern India. 

The Company also played a pivotal role in development 

of allied sectors in the region. The Company generated 

employment for many a thousands of Indians directly and 

indirectly, besides contributing greatly to the exchequer.

The Company played 
a pivotal role in the 
development of allied 
sectors in the eastern 
India. 

Vidyasagar Setu, West Bengal

National Institute of Technology, Rourkela
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Management 
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growth

Rohit is very excited that he would 

be impersonating Kheleo, the 

clouded leopard  mascot of FIFA 

U-17 World Cup-India, during the 

grand finale scheduled to be played 

at the newly renovated Salt Lake 

Stadium, on 28th October 2017.

Salt Lake  Stadium, Kolkata
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On the day of grand finale, Rohit would be accompanied by 

his father who would be cheering him from the VIP box of the 

stadium.  It would be a nostalgic experience for his father as 

he had ensured an uninterrupted supply of quality cement 

from OCL during the years-long construction of this very 

stadium. 
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 The growth Phase

The seed of OCL’s growth phase was sown at the turn of 

this millennium. By 2001, India became the second most 

populated nation in the world, with its population swelling 

to a billion plus people. In 2007, the country crossed 

the momentous threshold of becoming a trillion dollar 

economy. Furthermore, a spate of healthy GDP growth was 

making the country aspire much higher. Thankfully, India 

now also possessed wherewithal to pursue and realise 

those aspirations. 

Keeping pace with country’s aspirations, Dalmia Bharat 

Group in its first strategic move acquired 21.7% stake in  

OCL in 2008. The investment coincided with another 

landmark development of the Company raising its 

capacity from 2 MnT to 5.3 MnT by commissioning its 

second state-of-the-art manufacturing plant at Kapilas in 

coastal Odisha (a split  grinding unit of 1.3 MnT), 433 km 

away from its Rajgangpur plant along with a new line of 2 

MnT at Rajgangpur in 2009. The Kapilas unit enhanced the 

reach in Coastal Odisha.

Scaling higher benchmarks of quality, environment and 

safety; the Company went on to add quality certification 

ISO 9001:2008, environment management system 

ISO14001:2004 and occupational health and safety 

management system ISO 18001:2007. 

In 2010, Dalmia Bharat Group raised its stake in OCL India 

to 45.4%. The increased management focus fueled desire 

to excel. With a view that power self-sufficiency would add 

to supply predictability and also business profitability; the 

Company commissioned two captive power plants of 27 

MW each, in 2012 and 2013. 
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In 2014, the Company revived the manufacturing landscape 

of West Bengal with the commissioning of its third cement 

plant at West Midnapore of the capacity of 1.3 MnT. The 

Company now commanded a cement capacity of 6.7 MnT. 

The three strategically located plants helped serve four 

eastern states; Odisha, Jharkhand, Bihar and West Bengal. 

In 2015, Dalmia Bharat Group raised its stake to 74.6%. In 

order to consolidate its eastern India operations, the Group, 

in March 2016, proposed to amalgamate OCL India Ltd. and 

Dalmia Cement East Ltd. This move, once complete, would 

raise the Company’s cement manufacturing capacity 

in east to 9.3 MnT, making it the third largest cement 

manufacturer in Eastern India.

Besides gaining strength in terms of capacity during 

this growth phase, the Company also improvised its 

Besides gaining strength 
in terms of capacity 
during the growth phase, 
the  Company also 
added significant value 
to its manufacturing 
and  distribution 
capabilities, market 
share, brand equity and 
social & environmental 
commitment. 

markeT share in easT 

10%

PRE-AMALGAMATION POST AMALGAMATION

14% 

Kapilas Plant, Odisha
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manufacturing and distribution capabilities, market share, 

brand equity and social & environment commitment.

Right from pet coke usage to facilitating power-wheeling 

from Rajgangpur, integrated unit to Kapilas, grinding unit, 

setting up of solar power plants and increasing the usage 

of slag, the Company has undertaken key steps towards 

reducing its operating cost as well as carbon footprint. The 

Company has responsibly used surplus slag and fly ash of 

the adjoining region in achieving a healthy blending ratio 

leading to the production of 100% blended cement. The 

Company’s carbon footprint is probably the lowest in the 

cement industry.

OCL’s sales and distribution prowess also came of age in 

the second half of this growth phase. The Company also 

optimised its logistics cost through reallocating markets to 

be served from the nearby plant.  .

In order to serve the unmet market need of a special 

cement for casting (dhalai), a premium range product 

was launched under ‘Dalmia DSP’ brand. The product was 

met with overwhelming acceptance in the market. The 

integrated brand bouquet of OCL increased from one 

brand to three brands- Konark, Dalmia and Dalmia DSP. 

Dalmia DSP is the super-premium cement launched in 

July, 2016 and it constitutes 13% of the total trade sales. 

The Company undertook an intensified brand promotion 

campaign to establish a closer connect with the customers 

and the opinion makers. All the three brands were 

introduced for manufacturing and supplying from all the 

plants. 

The Company further fortified its position in the market by 

investing in best in class information technology platforms, 

ecosystem around partners and customers. The Company 

introduced IT enabled applications and services. One such 

app, Suvidha, is making it easy for the dealers to place 

order through mobile phone. This app is also empowering 

dealers with online tracking of delivery status, billing 

details and other commercial activities.

The impact of cost and efficiency improvement in 

manufacturing & distribution, increasing brand salience, 

premium and share in the marketplace is evident in the 

steadily improving performance of the Company. 

fuel miX

fY15 fY17

83%
88%

1%

17%11%

Pet Coke
AFR

Linkage/Domestic Coal

Kiln + CPP 

12     |  OCL India Ltd.



69.0

1372

23%

3347

gross income (in ` crore)

FY15

FY16

FY17

3106

2609

ebiTda margin 

FY15

FY16

FY17

20%

17%

ebiTda/T (in ` )

FY15

FY16

FY17

1022

1187

Variable cosT ( ` / T)

FY15

FY16

FY17

1247

Power consumPTion-kwh/T  
of cemenT

FY15

FY16

FY17

62.3

60.8

810

1078
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Dilip’s dream of earning a Masters degree in Urban & 

Regional Planning has come true. Having secured his 

degree from National Institute of Technology, Patna, he 

is soon going to shape the urban planning landmarks of 

modern India with his employer, Smart Cities Mission.
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The fact that Dilip was not required to 

leave his ancestral home to earn his 

dream degree proved to be a relief 

for his ailing parents. The picturesque 

campus is a unique blend of lush 

green landscaping, historic buildings 

and a breathtaking view of the mighty 

Ganges. This modern temple of 

learning is built with quality cement 

of OCL.

un
le

as
hi

ng

National Institute of Technology, Patna
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The unleashing Phase

OCL’s contribution in building infrastructural 

marvels is a step towards unleashing the power 

of the country and its people. Alongside, a new 

India is increasingly raising its economic, strategic 

and environmental stakes in the connected world 

of tomorrow. The implementation of the GST has 

already brought in a monumental shift in the 

concept of ‘One India, One Market’.

The intense focus and deepening commitment on 

sustainable development of Dalmia Bharat Group 

would not only go on to build a much stronger 

but also much greener India. 

Acknowledging the power of One, Dalmia Bharat 

Group   has initiated a major restructuring exercise, 

one that aims at simplifying the corporate 

structure on one hand and consolidating assets 

and businesses on the other hand. 

Announced in November 2016, the said 

restructuring would witness amalgamation of 

Dalmia Bharat Limited & OCL India Limited. 

In other words, OCL India Ltd. that was born to 

serve the socio-economic developmental needs 

of the people of Odisha, is assuming a bigger 

Rajgangpur Plant, Odisha
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role, that of serving the infrastructure, building and 

construction needs of a much bigger, modern and 

aspirational India. 

The resultant social impact of the proposed 

restructuring would grow manifold, taking in account 

the employee, channel partner & transporters, 

associated influencer groups of architects, contractors 

& masons; shareholders, and adjoining communities. 

While the proposed restructuring would bring about 

monumental shift in the scale, spread and synergy; the 

spirit of excellence across sustainable development, 

will remain constant.

While the proposed 
restructuring would 
bring about monumental 
shift in the scale, spread 
and synergy; the spirit 
of excellence across 
sustainable development, 
one that balances economic, 
social and environmental 
consciousness shall remain 
constant.
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4.8%

2.0%

3.6%

ECONOMIC OVERVIEW
The shifting global economic landscape has been compelling and possesses a potential to redraw the global economic map. 
According to International Monetary Fund (IMF), the global economic activity is all set to gain pace in 2017 and 2018, especially 
in the emerging market and developing economies. Even though the ‘World Economic Outlook report’ released by IMF in April, 
2017 has stated that the global economy grew at 3.1% in 2016 as compared to 3.4% in 2015, it has projected a positive outlook 
for this year and the next year.

India has emerged as the world’s fastest growing major economy in FY’16-17 as per World Bank data. The Government has 
undertaken important initiatives  like roll out Good and Service Tax (GST), Insolvency and Bankruptcy code and liberalising FDI 
norms. These structural reforms are expected to accelerate the pace of growth in the coming years. 

management discussion 
& analysis

Source: Central Statistics Office, Government of India

india gdP YoY growth, %

FY17

FY16

FY15

FY14

FY13

7.1%

7.6%

7.2%

6.6%

5.6%

Source: IMF’s World Economic Outlook, April 2017

world gdP YoY growth, %

2016E 2017P 2018P

EMDE
4.1%

4.5%

ADVANCED
ECONOMIES 2.0%

WORLD
3.1%

3.5%

1.7%

Midnapore Plant,  West Bengal
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
India’s cement industry is at an inflection point and most 
of its cement demand in the coming years will be driven by 
infrastructural development and affordable housing. With 
the total installed cement capacity of around 450 MnT, India 
happens to be the world’s second largest cement producer as 
well as the consumer. The housing sector, a large contributor 
to GDP, is also the largest consumer of cement in India and has 
approximately 67% share of the total consumption followed by 
the infrastructure sector with 13%, commercial construction 
that constitute 11% and industrial construction having a share 
of 9% of the total cement consumption in India.

The implementation of new affordable housing schemes by 
the government combined with attractive public spendability 
is expected to promote faster infrastructure development. 

As per the data released by Ministry of Commerce and 
Industry, the cement production in India has grown at a 
CAGR of 4% from FY’12 to FY’17. Though the beginning 
of FY’17 foresaw the cement demand growing but heavy 
monsoon and demonetization adversely impacted the 
growth. Consequently, for the first time in the last decade, 
the cement Industry witnessed a slump in the annual cement 
production. The total cement production for the year FY’17 
stood at ~280 MT, marginally lower as compared to FY’16. 

Eastern India market
The Eastern India accounts for 19% of India’s cement 
consumption, growing at a five year- CAGR of more than 
7%. Eastern India registered subdued demand growth of 
4% in FY’17, which in FY’18 is expected to move towards an 
attractive growth rate. In terms of regional dynamics East is 
expected to witness a  robust growth .

India’s cement industry 
is at an inflection point 
and most of its cement 
demand in the coming 
years will be driven 
by infrastructural 
development and 
affordable housing.

Source: Office of the Economic Adviser, Government of India

india annual cement Production, mnT

FY17

FY16

FY15

FY14

FY13

FY12

280

284

271

256

247

230

Refractory Opportunities
With the government remaining committed to expand steel 
production in India from current 100 million tonnes to 300 
million tonnes by 2030, the opportunity for the refractory 
remains huge. All strategic options to make the Company 
ready to benefit from this growth are being explored. 
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Refractory business
The Company’s refractory division has a capacity of 1.3 lac 
tonnes across two manufacturing units located in Rajgangpur, 
(Odisha) and Dashiqiao, (China).

Despite market constraints, the various initiatives taken by 
the management helped the business register a healthy 
growth of 18% by volume and 20% by value in the fiscal year 
2016-17.  

In order to improve focus on different customer segments, 
the sales team has been divided into steel and industrial 
business units. Within each business unit, a comprehensive 
reorganisation has been implemented to ensure 
empowerment and accountability. These changes will help 
the Company in improving speed of response and build 
customer segment specific competencies. 

Significant efforts have been taken to improve the talent 
pool of the organisation.   

grew by 5% from 5.62 MnT to 5.90 MnT. The Company was 
focused on improving efficiency parameters, which, in turn, 
helped improve the margins. Even though the pet coke prices 
were sky high, we were able to reduce the power & fuel cost 
by 26% on per tonne basis to ` 432/T in FY’17 from ` 585/T 
in FY’16.  The overall variable cost reduced by 14% (YoY) to ` 
1081 /T in FY’17 from ` 1247/T in FY’16. 

The launch of the premium brand Dalmia DSP, which 
contributed 13% of the Company’s trade sales during the 
year helped in improving the realisation.

As a result, the Company achieved reduced costs, new brand 
launch, increased realisations, and footprint widened. OCL 
is one of the most efficient cement company with power 
consumption being among the lowest.

COMPANY REVIEW
OCL India Limited (OCL/Company), incorporated in 1949, is 
a multi-decade cement company in Eastern India, respected 
for high standards of corporate governance, quality cement 
and established customized brands. OCL was one of the first 
cement companies in India to manufacture portland slag 
cement, prudently utilising steel plant waste to manufacture 
a high-strength end product.

The Company diversified into the manufacture of refractories 
in 1954 and is growing among the largest composite 
refractory plants in the country. It’s one of the first companies 
in India’s refractory business with all products certified with 
ISO 9001 and one of the few producers of silica bricks for 
coke ovens.

The Company is a subsidiary of Dalmia Cement (Bharat) 
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Dalmia Bharat Limited.

BUSINESS SEGMENT REVIEW
Cement Business 
The Company has installed capacity of 6.7 million tonnes per 
annum at its manufacturing facilities located in Rajgangpur 
and Kapilas in Odisha and Midnapore in West Bengal, along 
with captive power plant capacity of 62 MW, including an 8 
MW of solar power plant. Also, the Company is investing in 
setting up 9.2 MW of waste heat recovery system (WHRS), 
which is expected to be commissioned soon. The Company 
extended its market presence and started serving two 
additional states Uttar Pradesh and Chhattisgarh in the year 
under review.

In addition, the Company has also announced its merger with 
Dalmia Bharat Limited. The said merger will make the group 
structure more linear, improve economies-of-scale, reduce 
fixed costs, optimise the supply chain and enhance market 
share.

The Company is one of the leading players in Eastern India. 
The plants are strategically located, with the Company being 
one of the few players to possess limestone reserves in 
Eastern India. 

OCL’s performance in the last few years was a showcase of 
how cement companies that have invested in the right 
strategy can grow across industry cycles. The sales volume 

At a glance
fY

2015-16
fY

2016-17

Cement sales (million tonnes) 5.62 5.90

Power consumed per tonne of 
cement (kwh/T)

62 61

Cement-clinker ratio (x) 2.5 2.5

Dalmia DSP  product as a percentage 
of total trade sales

- 13
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The government in the 
Union Budget 2017-18 has 
assigned infrastructure 
status to ‘affordable 
housing’ which is expected 
to lead to demand push.

Awards and Accolades
 � OCL garnered ‘CSR excellence in community 

development’ award by Odisha CSR forum for year 2016

 � OCL was the winner of ‘NIPM National Award for HR Best 
Practices’ at National Institute of Personnel Management 
(NIPM) 35th Annual National Conference and Exhibition 
at Navi Mumbai on 23rd September,2016.

 � OCL Bengal Cement Works won ‘Excellent Energy 
Efficient Unit Award’ in Cement Sector at the 17th National 
Award for Excellence in Energy Management in 2016 at 
Hyderabad organised by CII.

 � The Company’s Kapilas Cement Manufacturing Works 
has been conferred the prestigious  ‘Pollution Control 
Appreciation Award’ under the category, ‘Industry for 
the year 2016’ by State Pollution Control Board, Odisha 
for adopting best practices in pollution control and 
environmental management.

 � OCL won ‘Best Overall Excellence in CSR’ award at the 
National Awards for Excellence in CSR and Sustainability, 
endorsed by World CSR Day, World Sustainability, Asian 
confederation of Businesses and World Federation of 
CSR Professionals.

 � Our employees from Rajgangpur won Gold Medal at 
International Convention of Quality Control Circles, 2016 
in Bangkok.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Profit and loss account analysis

Total income
The Company’s gross operating income stood at ` 3,347 
crore in FY’17, up by 8% as compared to ` 3,106 crore in 
FY’16.

operating ebiTda
EBITDA for the year stood at ` 676 crore as against  
` 550 crore in the previous year, an increase by 23% YoY.

depreciation
Depreciation for the year stood at ` 151 crore as against  
` 208 crore in the previous year. 
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financial charges
Financial charges remained flat at ` 137 crore in FY’16-17.

other income
Other income for the year stood at ` 138 crore  as 
compared to ` 95 crore in FY’15-16.

Total tax expense
Total tax expense stood at ` 147 crore. It comprised 
current tax expense of ` 135 crore, deferred tax worth  
` 25 crore and MAT credit entitlement of ` 13 crore. 

Balance Sheet analysis
net worth

 �  Net worth of the Company stood at ` 2,372 crore as on 
31st March, 2017 against ` 1,994 crore as on 31st March, 
2016. 

 �  Reserves and surplus stood at ` 2,358 crore as on 
31st March, 2017. Out of this, the surplus on the P&L 
account stood at ` 1,265 crore. 

 �  Paid-up equity capital stood at ` 11.39 crore as on 31st 

March, 2017 (5,69,00,220 equity shares of ` 2 each).

loan funds
Total debt stood at `1,167 crore as on 31st March, 2017, 
against ` 1,215 as on 31st March, 2016. 

Total assets
Total assets of the Company increased to ` 4,786 crore on 
31st March, 2017 from ` 4,372 crore a year ago.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents stood at ̀  1,628 crore, including 
current investments as on 31st March 2017, compared to `  
1,436 crore as on 31st March 2016.

The Company’s net cash was `  461 crore as on 31st March, 
2017 against ̀   220 crore of net cash as on 31st March, 2016.

inventories and sundry debtors
The Company managed working capital effectively. As on 
31st March 2017, inventories and sundry debtors stood at ̀   
298 crore and ` 193 crore, respectively. The corresponding 
figures as on 31st March 2016 were ` 368 crore and ` 183 
crore respectively.

loans and advances
Total loans and advances stood at ` 6.4 crore including 
short-term loans and advances worth ` 1.8 crore.

OUR PEOPLE, OUR ASSET
We are considered the fastest growing business house in 
India. But we see ourselves as an institution that puts human 
beings before anything else and is working hard towards 
building this great nation of ours because we love both. 
Our yield is one of the best in the country, but we focus on 
ensuring that our people are the most competent. As on 
31st March, 2017, the total number of people employed are 
2694. We are asked if we have a succession plan, we say we 
have a career progression plan. We set our own benchmarks 
and goals and aim to achieve them. We are not competition 
driven; we are driven by our own inner desire to excel. 

Social responsibility and commitment to sustainable 
development is high priority for us. For this, we decided to 
push the limits of innovation and excellence last year. It is this 
belief that has led us to the core purpose of our existence. 
We are also equally concerned for our environment. From 
energy efficiency systems to innovative practices to green 
technology, a lot of work has been completed last year.

Our upbringing is based on the values that we were taught. 
Since time could not take away these values from us, we call 
them “Timeless Values”.

Our guiding principles have always been Wellness, 
Happiness, Peace and Prosperity & Well-being. And our 
passion is to nurture relationships, to foster a family oriented 
work environment & to deliver happiness to our people by 
focusing on both their wellness and well-being.

Value Program itinerary for 2016-17 addressed the three 
aspects of life - work, inspire, and nourish(win)

work The body – Programs that infuse and track health, 
vitality and vigor in your body.

inspire The mind – Programs that fire up the spirit of 
leadership in each of us.

nourish The soul – Carry forward your spirit to reach the 
higher order of consciousness.

business Partnership : As a strategic business partner, the 
HR department operated on a base Strategy document built 
on business alignment and revolved around two base areas:

 � Business Sustenance
 � Business Growth
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The Company is 
focused towards 
digitization and 
automation.

Through the year the HR activities were linked directly to 
both the above areas.

The focus for HR in 2016-17 has been 
digitization and automation.
Starting from talent acquisition of an employee to his off 
boarding when he retires, everything has been automated. 
Today every employee has his history and his present at 
the click of a button. A lot of focus has been given on skill 
development last year as per the guidelines issued by the 
Government of India and this was driven by Dalmia Industrial 
Training Institute.

nalanda- the Leadership, Learning & Change division of 
Dalmia Bharat Limited conducted the Advanced Leadership 
training program as part of career progression and conducted 
many behavioral development programs.

The activities ensure that there are no deviations from the 
basic strategy and all activities are being implemented based 
on business needs. A lot of time was spent on executing the 
right talent acquisition. This ensured that we have the right 
person for the role. 

The star program for creating new leaders showed a 77% 
achievement in progressing people who have attended the 
course.

bcP (business continuity Plan): Business continuity is very 
important for us; hence we have laid strong emphasis on the 
following

 � Identification of CTBs (critical to business departments 
and Talent)

 � CPP (Career Progression plan) for the CTBs

 � Functional structure has been extended to East as well.

high Performance organisation : Nalanda caters to entire 
spectrum of population linked to their career stage and 
current as well as futuristic business needs. Development 
of best in class Leadership, Strong Leadership pipeline, high 
class domain expertise and super fine skill proficiency on 
the bedrock of emotional, social and spiritual wellbeing are 
hall marks of Nalanda interventions. All interventions are 
scheduled meticulously through monthly training calendars.

We ensure that the quality of life at our townships where 
majority of our talent are residing, is comfortable, safe 
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and engaging. There is continuous focus on improving 
the quality of infrastructure and facilities like Club, School, 
Health Centre, etc. Periodic engagement activities like 
games, singing competition and celebration of popular 
festivals enable employees and their families to bond 
together. 

The organization continues to maintain open and cordial 
employee relationships and has started encouraging 
value based talent volunteering programs. Under this 
program, we actively promote, encourage our people to 
engage with community through various NGOs in India 
that we have tied up with.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
The Company has been prudently investing in best-in 
class information management platform. This has resulted 
in delivering substantial business values, achieving 
organisational agility, business process improvements, 
innovation, speed and costs optimisation. 

Having positioned information management as a business 
integrator, we have embarked on a digital enterprise journey 
encompassing various facets of our business functions. We 
are undertaking radical digital transformation designed 
to significantly enhance our customer experience while 
expanding our operations with a continued focus on 
increasing business efficiency. 

The following fY 2016-17 initiatives were 
highlights of the company’s information 
technology agenda
Mobility remains one of the pillars of our digital transformation 
strategy. Over the last year, we have been creating apps, for 
improving our interaction and enable real-time engagement 
with our customers across a range of online transactions, 
including  placing orders and complaint resolution.

leveraging cloud for efficiency and agility: Continuing 
with its execution of Cloud strategy, a multi-year deal has 
been signed for migrating more than 95% of its workload 
from On-Premise to the state- of-the- art Cloud Platform that 
will ensure cost efficient faster rollout of new applications 
and services and reduction in operational overheads. 

iT governance:  We have deployed Integrated Governance, 
Risk Management, and Compliance (GRC) platform that spans 

across functions and provides management with information 
they need to make well informed decisions on managing risk 
and auditing compliance in a cost effective manner.

security:  Digital transformation with mobility and Cloud 
has led to the expanded IT ecosystem around partners 
and customers. We take proactive measures to secure our 
IT systems and electronic information, and have business 
continuity plans in place if any business disruption occurs. We 
have deployed best of breed security technologies to insure 
our information asset are protected and we have monitoring 
systems in place to track any unauthorized access to systems 
or data leaks.

OPPORTUNITIES
At present, India is on a profound economic revival mode 
wherein the government has released several initiatives 
that put thrust on the housing and infrastructure sectors, 
which is a blessing in disguise for the cement industry. One 
of the prominent initiatives taken by the government is on 
the housing side through scheme ‘Housing for All by 2022’. 
Under the scheme, the government has a plan to build 1 
crore rural houses by 2019. Other development scheme of 
the government includes assigning ₹ 64,000 crore (US$ 9.55 
billion) to NHAI for construction of roads and highways and 
₹ 27,000 crores (US$ 4.03 billion) for Pradhan Mantri Gram 
Sadak Yojana (PMGSY). Other plans like AMRUT (Atal Mission 
for Rejuvenation and Transformation), ‘Make in India’ and 
‘Smart Cities’, would also give a push to the cement industry. 
Besides, the ‘Sagarmala Project’ that has undertaken the 
development of 14 Coastal Economic Zones (CEZ) across 
India holds a lot of potential and opens up a new avenue for 
the industry. 

The implementation of Goods & Services tax will help boost 
inter-state transport, thus, opening new markets for the 
industry. The government in the Union Budget 2017-18 has 
assigned infrastructure status to ‘affordable housing,’ which 
is expected to lead to some cost realization and demand 
push.

Furthermore, the infrastructure projects like upgradation 
and construction of airports and ports, creating ‘Dedicated 
Freight Corridors’ will add to the demand.

Water Harvesting
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THREATS
Though the macro-economic parameters paint a rosy 
picture, cement demand has been weak for the last few years. 
The reasons are sluggishness in awarding and execution of 
the infrastructure projects from the housing segment. Even 
over-capacity on the supply side resulted in lower capacity 
utilisation level. Moreover, increase in pet coke price coupled 
with upsurge in diesel prices has led to an increase in power, 
fuel and freight costs. A higher input cost for the industry 
and sluggishness in  demand is a challenging situation.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY 
Our vision is “Creating Sustainable Shared values for inclusive 
growth of Business and Society”. True to the spirit, our CSR’s 
vision is that “Every household has a sustainable livelihood in 
our environment”.

Our Key Focus Areas

soil & water conservation: The depleting water table is 
a problem being faced across India. In our neighbouring 
communities, the water table is lower than 500 feet creating 
scarcity of water for agriculture and household use. We 
are, thus, working with the communities to develop water 
harvesting structures like check dams, village and farm 
ponds to increase the water level in the area and also help in 
soil conservation. 

Our water conservation structures have helped in additional 
water harvesting of 60,500 m3. This year our Soil and Water 
Conservation programmes have reached out to 15,000 
beneficiaries. We have developed 16 farm ponds, 15 village 
ponds and renovated 16 wells.

energy conservation and climate change mitigation: 
With majority of the population dependent on the depleting 
fuel wood and erratic electricity supply, energy is a major 
concern in Indian villages. Therefore, we are trying to promote 
the concept of energy efficiency and creating sustainable 
solutions in our community. Our energy conservation 
programmes have benefitted 18,000 people and reduced 704 
tons of CO2 through promotion of clean cooking and solar 
home lighting products, this year. We converted more than 
203 kitchens to fuel efficient cook stoves. This has a direct 

Major Achievements: 
2016-17

One DIKSHa (Dalmia Institute of 
Knowledge and Skill Harnessing) 
centre set up in partnership 
with National Skill Development 
Corporation (NSDC) in Odisha 
(Rourkela)

An MoU with Odisha Skill 
Development Authority for setting 
up 4 Centres in Sundargarh, 
Deogarh, Jajpur, Angul Districts of 
Odisha 

Water Harvesting
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impact on air pollution and health especially of women. 
About 1300 households were lit up with solar home lighting 
products like solar study lamps and solar lantern, and 60 solar 
streetlights were also installed to ensure safe commuting 
facility at night for more than 10,000 beneficiaries.

livelihood skill Training - capacity building through 
vocational training: Aiming at long- term benefits for the 
youths and their family, the Company has started many 
‘Skill Development programmes’ and provided training in 
areas like Stitching and Tailoring, Soft toy making, Sanitary 
Pad making, and many others. More than 533 women were 
trained in 9 trades and many have initiated their own small 
business. Over 9,000 people are direct beneficiaries of our 
livelihood programmes in four locations. We have also set up 
DIKSHa (Dalmia Institute of Knowledge and Skill Harnessing) 
Centre running at Rourkela in partnership with NSDC with 
67 students enrolled in 3 trades: Beauty & Wellness, Home 
Health Aid and Retail. For women, the Company has enabled 
formation of 171 SHGs, with 1923 members and helped 
them get loans and also provided them trainings on many 
livelihood alternatives.

social development - addressing health & sanitation, 
education, rural infrastructure development and 
social campaigns: The neighbouring villages have poor 
basic infrastructure, which hinders the daily life as well as 
development of these villages. The Company is helping in 
building the basic infrastructure needs of the community 
by constructing 40 toilets under ‘Swachh Bharat Abhiyan’ 
and has made 1 village “Open Defecation Free”. We also try 
to address the basic and primary health needs of the local 
population by organising special medical camps, mobile 
medical units, dispensary, awareness and sensitization 
programme benefitting 80,000 beneficiaries.

Around 95 students were supported for higher education. 
We are promoting our National Game Hockey by providing 
Coaching to 50 junior students.

Along with this, we helped in developing the rural 
infrastructure of our neighbouring community by 
constructing roads, local markets, community centers, 
cremation ghats, bathing ghats, class rooms, etc. across all 
our locations as per the felt needs of the community.

RISK MANAGEMENT
As a proactive organisation, the Company regularly 
assess and identifies the probable risks associated with 
its business and correspondingly undertakes strategic 
measures to minimise losses and maximise benefits.  

Cement business
market risk
The Company has invested strategically in brand equity. We 
enriched our product mix and created differentiated brands, 
enhancing our appeal.

 � We have launched Premium A+ brand Dalmia DSP in 
BOPP packaging and improved specifications.

 �  We optimised the market mix and synergised our 
capabilities to cater to high realisation markets. 

 �  Strong brand salience in targeted markets helped us to 
mitigate market risk effectively.

cost risk
An increase in the cost of production can affect the margins 
of the Company.

 � The Company enhanced the use of additives and 
helped reduce the raw material cost.

 � The Company has built flexibility in its operations to 
adopt the most economical fuels leading to minimised 
risk of increase in fuel prices. The enhanced use of 
additives helped reduce the raw material cost.

location risk 
The amalgamation of OCL and Dalmia Bharat Limited 
mitigates the location risk enabling multi-zonal presence.
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Refractory business
economic risk
Slowdown in the economic growth may affect the 
performance of  refractory business of the Company.

The government has undertaken structural reforms, which 
provide a hope for acceleration in economic growth.

raw material risks
Raw material security is of prime importance in the refractory 
industry.

In order to reduce the dependence on Chinese 
raw materials, the Company continues to invest in 
development of synthetic raw materials by leveraging its 
proprietary R&D capabilities.

inTernal conTrol sYsTems 
The Company has a robust internal control system for Risk 
Management, business operations, financial reporting 
& compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The 
roles and responsibilities of all employees and functions 
have been clearly laid out through a number of detailed 
standard operating procedure & delegation of power 
document. SAP–ERP system has been implemented 
to ensure best in class accounting & financial control. 
The internal auditor of the Company conducts regular 
internal audits as per Board approved plan and the Audit 
Committee conducts periodic reviews to adjudge the 
adequacy and effectiveness of internal control systems 
and undertakes corrective measures whenever required.

ouTlook
OCL will continue to focus on building capabilities,  
optimisation of costs and supply chain along with the 
market share enhancement.

We are driven by our own 
inner desire to excel  and 
will continue to focus 
on building capabilities,  
optimisation of costs 
and supply chain along 
with the market share 
enhancement.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
Dear Members,

Your Directors have pleasure in submitting their sixty seventh report on the audited financial statements of the Company for the financial year 
ended March 31, 2017.

Financial HigHligHts
               (` Crore) 

FY -17 FY – 16
gross Revenue 3,231.62 2,999.91
net Revenue 2,876.07 2,635.65
Profit before interest, depreciation and tax 811.52 640.75
Less: Interest and Financial Charges 134.87 134.53
Less: Depreciation 146.26 203.06
Profit before taxation 530.39 303.16
Provision for taxes 159.24 56.98
MAT credit charge/(entitlement)  -12.72 0.00
Profit after taxation 383.87 246.18
Add: Surplus brought forward 857.35 703.19
Profit available for appropriation 1,241.22 949.37
Surplus carried forward after appropriations 1,218.72 857.35
Other comprehensive income
Balance at the year beginning -0.67 -
Add: Amount for the year 0.15 -0.67
Balance at the year end -0.52 -0.67

Previous financial year figures have been restated as per IND AS.

OPeRatiOns and business PeRFORmance
The Company is the world’s lowest carbon-intensive cement 
producers and one of the lowest power consumers per tonne of 
cement produced in line with a growing use of non-fossil fuels and 
alternative cementitious products.  

The Company’s performance during financial year 2016-17 is a 
showcase of how cement companies that have invested in the right 
strategy can grow across industry cycles. The Company has focused 
on improving all the efficiency parameters which in turn has helped 
to improve the margins.  The result is that we have been successful 
in increasing our net revenue for the financial year 2016-17 by 7.72% 
which is ` 3,231.62 Crore as compared to ` 2,999.91 Crore in financial 
year 2015-16 and the profit before tax for financial year 2016-17 has 
increased by 74.95% which is ` 530.39 Crore as compared to ` 303.16 
Crore in financial year 2015-16.

Please refer to the chapter on Management Discussion and Analysis 
for a detailed analysis of the performance of the Company during the 
financial year 2016-17.

The Company continues to be in the business of manufacturing 
cement and refractories during the financial year 2016-17. There have 
been no material changes and commitments affecting the financial 
position of the Company which have occurred between the end of 
the financial year and the date of this report.

tRansFeR tO ReseRves
The Company proposes to retain the entire earnings for the future 
growth of its business and not to transfer any amount to the general 
reserve. 

dividend
Your Directors have recommended a dividend of ` 5/- (250%) per 
equity share of face value of ` 2/- each for the current financial year 
ended on March 31, 2017, as against dividend of ̀  4/- (200%) per equity 
share paid during the immediately preceding year, having considered 
various financial and non-financial factors prevailed during the year, in 
terms of the Dividend Distribution Policy of the Company. 

The dividend distribution would result in a cash outgo of ` 34.24 Crore 
(including tax on dividend of ` 5.79 Crore) compared to ` 27.39 Crore 
(including tax on dividend of ` 4.63 Crore) paid as interim dividend 
during financial year 2015-16.

cRedit Rating
During the financial year 2016-17, ICRA has reaffirmed rating for 
long term and short term facilities of the Company at AA and A1+, 
respectively, signifying the sound financial management and the 
ability to meet financial obligations. ICRA has assigned the rating after 
taking into account inter-alia the cash assertive and operationally 
efficient cement operations, the strong market position, healthy 
growth and strong profitability of the Company.

bOaRd OF diRectORs, its cOmmittees and tHeiR 
meetings
During the financial year 2016-17, five Board meetings were held. 
Reference is invited to the Corporate Governance Report, which forms 
part of this Report, for the details of Board of Directors, its committees 
and their meetings.

diRectORs and key manageRial PeRsOnnel
Shri Gautam Dalmia, Director of the Company, would retire by rotation 
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at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible offers 
himself for re-appointment. He has given declaration to the effect 
that he is qualified to be re-appointed as Director of the Company.

The Key Managerial Personnel, namely, Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia, 
Managing Director, Shri Mahendra Singhi, Chief Executive Officer 
and Whole Time Director, Shri H. L. Agarwal, Senior Executive 
Director (Finance) and Chief Financial Officer and Smt. Rachna Goria, 
General Manager (Legal) & Company Secretary continue to hold their 
respective offices during the current financial year.

The Independent Directors, namely, Shri Pradip Kumar Khaitan, Shri 
D. N. Davar, Shri V. P. Sood and Smt. Sudha Pillai, have given their 
respective declaration of independence. They have also held a separate 
meeting wherein they have inter-alia reviewed the performance of 
Non-Independent Directors, Chairman and Board as a whole.

The Board members are provided with necessary documents, updates 
and policies to enable them familiarise with the Company’s procedures 
and practices. Periodic presentations on industry, business segments, 
legal updates and related responsibilities of Directors, are made at 
the Board meetings of the Company. The details of familiarisation 
programs for Independent Directors of the Company can be accessed 
at http://www.oclindialtd.in/board_of_ directors.php  

The Nomination and Remuneration Policy of the Company on 
Director’s appointment and remuneration is attached as Annexure –I 
and forms part of this Report.

The formal annual evaluation of performance of Board, its Committees 
and individual Directors was made in accordance with criteria for 
performance evaluation of Board, its Committees and Directors 
(including Independent Directors), as approved by Nomination and  
Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors, and the SEBI 
Guidance Note on Board evaluation.

diRectORs’ ResPOnsibility statement
The Directors state that:

a) In the preparation of the Annual Accounts for the financial year 
ended March 31, 2017, the applicable accounting standards 
have been followed and there are no material departures from 
the same;

b) The Directors have selected such accounting policies and 
applied them consistently and made judgments and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent so as to give true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Company as on March 31, 2017 and 
of the profit of the Company for the year ended on that date;

c) The Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities;

d) The Directors have prepared the annual accounts of the 
Company on a going concern basis;

e) The Directors have laid down internal financial controls to 
be followed by the Company and that such internal financial 

controls are adequate and are operating effectively.

f) The Directors have devised proper systems to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that 
such systems are adequate and operating effectively.

PaRticulaRs OF RemuneRatiOn OF diRectORs, key 
manageRial PeRsOnnel and emPlOyees
The particulars of remuneration of Directors/key managerial 
personnel/ employees and other required details are attached as 
Annexure – II and forms part of this Report.

Further, a statement showing the names and other particulars of the 
employees drawing remuneration in excess of the prescribed limits 
are attached as Annexure – IIA and forms part of this Report.

sHiFting OF tHe RegisteRed OFFice
The registered office of the Company is being shifted from the State 
of Odisha to the State of Tamil Nadu under the Jurisdiction of the 
Registrar of Companies, Chennai.

subsidiaRies, assOciates and jOint ventuRe 
cOmPanies
OCL Global Limited and Odisha Cement Limited are wholly owned 
subsidiaries of the Company and OCL China Limited is the step 
down subsidiary in which OCL Global Limited holds 90% shares. The 
Company is a joint venture partner in Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining 
Private Limited with Rungta Mines Limited and Ocean Ispat Limited 
having a stake of 7.029% in the share capital.  In terms of the Company’s 
Policy on Material Subsidiary Companies, accessible on the Company’s 
website at http://www.oclindialtd.in/ postal_doc/MaterialSubPolicy.
pdf, the Company does not have any material subsidiary.

A detailed  report on the performance and financial position of each 
of Company’s subsidiaries and joint venture company for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2017 in Form AOC 1 is attached and marked 
as Annexure – III and forms parts of this Report. The annual reports 
of subsidiaries and joint venture company are not being published 
and any member desirous of obtaining a copy of the same may write 
to the registered office of the Company or download the same from 
the Company’s website www.oclindialtd.in. Any member desirous to 
inspect the same, may conduct inspection at the registered office of 
the Company during business hours.

scHemes OF aRRangement and amalgamatiOn

scheme 1: 

The Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation amongst the 
Company, Dalmia Cement East Limited, Shri Rangam Securities & 
Holdings Limited, Dalmia Bharat Cements Holdings Limited and 
Odisha Cement Limited and their respective shareholders and 
creditors (“Scheme 1”), which was approved by the Board of Directors 
on March 28, 2016, has been approved by BSE Limited and National 
Stock Exchange of India Limited and both the stock exchanges have 
given their observation letter on July 12, 2016. The Scheme 1 has 
also been approved by the shareholders and secured creditors of 
the Company at their respective court convened meetings held on 
November 27, 2016. The Scheme has also been approved by minority 
shareholders through postal ballot process in terms of Securities and 
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Exchange Board of India circular dated November 30, 2015. 

After coming into force of the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 pertaining to compromises, arrangements and amalgamations 
and the Companies (Transfer of Pending Proceedings) Rules, 2016 
with effect from December 15, 2016, the proceedings before the 
Jurisdictional High Courts have been / are being transferred to 
jurisdictional National Company Law Tribunal Bench(s) and are 
pending for their sanction.

scheme 2: 

Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation amongst Odisha 
Cement Limited, Dalmia Bharat Limited and Dalmia Cement (Bharat) 
Limited (“Scheme 2”) has been approved by the Board of Directors 
at its meeting held on November 05, 2016, as Scheme 2 involves 
its wholly owned subsidiary, i.e., Odisha Cement Limited and is 
inter-alia conditional upon the effectiveness of the Scheme 1, subject to 
approval of shareholders, creditors and other applicable regulatory authorities. 
Scheme 2 has been approved by the Stock Exchanges on May 05, 2017. 

cOnsOlidated Financial statements
This annual report includes consolidated financial statements for 
the financial year 2016-17 which have been prepared based on 
audited financial statements of all subsidiaries including step down 
subsidiaries of the Companies.  

business ResPOnsibility RePORt
The Business Responsibility Report describing the initiatives taken by 
the Company from environment, social and governance perspective 
is attached hereto and forms part of this Report.

cORPORate gOveRnance RePORt 
Your Directors believe that corporate governance is an ethically driven 
business process that is committed to values aimed at enhancing 
the growth for the Company. Being a professionally run company, 
it is ensured that the corporate governance practices are driven by 
effective and strong Board oversight, timely disclosures, transparent 
accounting policies and high levels of integrity in decision making. 
The sound corporate governance practices are fundamental to 
the quest of our Company in delivering long terms value to all the 
stakeholders.  The Company’s corporate governance practices have 
been detailed in the Corporate Governance Report and same is 
attached hereto together with the Auditors’ certificate thereon and 
forms part of this Report.

extRact OF annual RetuRn
The extract of annual return in Form MGT-9 giving inter-alia details 
of shareholding pattern, indebtness, managerial remuneration is 
attached and marked as Annexure – IV and forms part of this Report.

cORPORate sOcial ResPOnsibility
Your Directors have constituted a Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee responsible to identify, monitor and review corporate 
social responsibility activities of the Company and provide strategic 
direction for implementation of the Corporate Social Responsibility 
Policy of  the Company. The Corporate Social Responsibility Policy 
may be accessed on the Company’s website www.oclindialtd.in. 
The prime objective of said Policy is to hasten social, economic and 
environmental progress of community at large.

Annual report on corporate social responsibility activities is attached 
as Annexure – V and forms part of this Report.

Pursuant to the said Policy, the Company has made expenses 
aggregating to ` 3.61 Crore towards corporate social responsibility 
activities during the financial year 2016-17 covering education, 
health & sanitation, skill development, rural infrastructure 
development, rural sports, environment conservation, etc. which 
is 2% of average net profits of the Company made during three 
immediately preceding financial years.

Related PaRty POlicy and tRansactiOns
The Company has formulated a Related Party Transactions Policy 
and the same is posted on the Company’s website at http://www.
oclindialtd.in/postal_doc/RelPartyPolicy.pdf . 

The particulars of contracts or arrangements with the related parties 
in Form AOC 2 are attached as Annexure – VI and forms part of this 
Report.

Risk management 
Your Directors have constituted a Risk Management Committee 
which is mandated to review the risk management plan/process of 
your Company and to ensure that it has adequate risk management 
procedures, which are based upon business environment, operational 
controls and compliance procedures. The major risks are assessed 
through a systematic procedure of risk identification and classification. 
Risks are prioritized according to significance and likelihood. The 
purpose of risk management is not to eliminate the risks inherent to 
the business but to proactively address such risks. The Committee 
oversees the risk management process on an ongoing basis. 

WHistle blOWeR POlicy and vigil mecHanism
The Company has in place the Whistle Blower Mechanism for Directors, 
employees and other stakeholders to report concerns inter alia about 
breach of code of conduct, financial irregularities, health, safety, 
environmental issues. Adequate safeguards are provided against 
victimisation of stakeholders and direct access to the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee in appropriate cases is provided. The Whistle Blower 
Mechanism is posted on the Company’s website www.oclindialtd.in.

disclOsuRe undeR tHe sexual HaRassment OF WOmen 
at WORkPlace (PReventiOn PROHibitiOn & RedRessal) 
act, 2013
Your Company is committed to create a workplace, at all of its 
working locations, that, all the times, is free from harassment and 
discrimination, where co-workers are respected, and provided an 
appropriate environment so as to encourage good performance and 
conduct.

The Company has in place Charter against sexual harassment of 
women at workplace in compliance with Sexual Harassment of 
Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013. 
During the year, one complaint was received and disposed off.

lOans, guaRantees, secuRity and investments
Particulars of loans and guarantees given, securities provided 
and investments made are provided in the Standalone Financial 
Statements at note nos. 10, 11 and 42.
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adequacy OF inteRnal Financial cOntROls
Your Company has in place adequate internal control systems 
commensurate with the size of its operations. The Company 
has requisite policies and procedures for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the 
Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of fraud, error reporting mechanisms, accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation 
of reliable financial disclosures. 

The internal control systems are subjected to regular reviews, self-
assessments and audits and based on such reviews, we believe 
that these systems provide reasonable assurance that our internal 
financial controls are designed effectively and are operating as 
intended.

cOnseRvatiOn OF eneRgy, tecHnOlOgy absORPtiOn 
and FOReign excHange eaRnings and OutgO
Information with regard to conservation of energy, technology 
absorption and foreign exchange earnings and outgo is given in 
Annexure – VII and the same forms part of this Report.

auditORs
statutory auditor

M/s. V. Sankar Aiyer & Co., Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration 
No. – 109208W), the Auditors of your Company shall hold office till 
the conclusion of the ensuing Annual General Meeting and they shall 
not be eligible for re- appointment due to expiry of the maximum 
permissible tenure as the Auditors of your Company in terms of 
the Companies Act, 2013. Your Board places on record its in deep 
appreciation for the valuable contributions of the Auditors during 
their long association since inception of your Company and wishes 
them success in future.

Based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, your Board 
has, at its meeting held on May 10, 2017, appointed M/s S. S. Kothari 
Mehta & Co., Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No.000756N) 
as the Auditors of the Company in place of the retiring auditors M/s 
V. Sankar Aiyer & Co., Chartered Accountants to hold office from 
the conclusion of the ensuing 67th Annual General Meeting until 
conclusion of the 72nd Annual General Meeting of your Company to 
be held in the year 2022, subject to approval of the members of the 
Company at the ensuing Annual General Meeting and ratification by 
the members of the Company every year thereafter.

 M/s S. S. Kothari Mehta & Co., Chartered Accountants have confirmed 
their eligibility to be appointed as Auditors of the Company. They 
have also confirmed that they hold a valid certificate issued by the 
Peer Review Board of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  

cost auditor

M/s R. J. Goel & Co., Cost Accountants, having consented to act as 
Cost Auditors and having given certificate that their re-appointment 
would be within the prescribed limits and that they are not subject 
to disqualifications and are an independent firm of Cost Accountants 
and are at arms’ length relationship with the Company, have been 
appointed by the Board of Directors as Cost Auditors of the Company 
for the financial year 2017-18. 

secretarial auditor and their report

The Board of Directors has appointed Vikas Gera & Associates as 
Secretarial Auditors of the Company for the financial year 2017-18. 

The Secretarial Audit Report given by the Secretarial Auditors in Form 
MR-3 is attached as Annexure - VIII and forms part of this Report.

cOmments On auditORs ObseRvatiOns
The notes on financial statements referred to in the Auditors’ Report 
are self-explanatory and do not call for any comments and explanation. 
During the year under review, the Statutory Auditors have not reported 
any matter under Section 143 (12) of the Act.

There is no qualification, reservation or adverse remark or disclaimer made 
by Statutory Auditors/Secretarial Auditors in their respective reports.

The Auditors, in Annexure A to their report, have mentioned that 
payment(s) of income tax for last year of ` 83.19 Crore and advance 
income tax instalments for current year estimated by the Company 
at ` 56.24 Crore were outstanding. The said tax payments are not 
envisaged in the event of approval of the Scheme of Arrangement and 
Amalgamation pending before the National Company Law Tribunal

Public dePOsits
No public deposits are accepted by the Company after March 31, 
2015.

ORdeRs Passed by RegulatORs
There are no significant and material orders passed by the regulators 
or courts or tribunals impacting the going concern status and 
Company’s operations in future.

saFety, HealtH and enviROnment
Safety and health of employees and clean environment is the core 
value of the Company. The world class EHS Management System has 
already been implemented at all the operations. The endeavour of the 
Company is to continue safe and healthy environment at all its plants. 
Towards this end, regular training programmes are being conducted 
for all levels of employees. Safety, health and environment audit is 
conducted by external auditors on annual basis.

Towards greener environment, the Company and employees have 
made it a habit to plant more and more trees. 

industRial RelatiOns
Industrial relations during the year under review were peaceful and 
cordial.

acknOWledgements
The Directors wish to place on record their appreciation of the support 
provided by the Company’s bankers and financial institutions.

The Directors acknowledge the dedication and commitments of the 
employees at all levels and also take this opportunity to thank all the 
valued customers who have appreciated the Company’s products 
and have patronised them.

Your Directors convey their grateful thanks to the Government 
Authorities (Central & States), shareholders, distributors and dealers 
for their continued assistance, co-operation and patronage.

For & on behalf of the board of directors

Puneet yadu dalmia mahendra singhi

managing director ceO and Whole time director 
din: 00022633 din: 00243835

Place: New Delhi
Date: May 10, 2017
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NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY Annexure-I

1. Objective:
 To lay down criteria and terms and conditions with regard to 

identifying persons who are qualified to become Directors 
(Executive and Non-Executive) and persons who may be 
appointed in Senior Management and Key Managerial positions 
and to determine their remuneration.

 •  To guide the Board in relation to appointment and 
removal of Directors, Key Managerial and Senior 
Management Personnel.

 •  To determine remuneration based on the Company’s 
size and financial position and trends and practices 
on remuneration prevailing in peer companies, in the 
cement industry.

 •  To carry out evaluation of the performance of Directors, 
as well as Key Managerial and Senior Management 
Personnel.

 •  To provide them reward linked directly to their effort, 
performance, dedication and achievement relating to 
the Company’s operations.

 •  To retain, motivate and promote talent and to ensure 
long term sustainability of talented managerial personnel 
and create competitive advantage. 

2.  aPPlicability:
 The Policy shall be applicable to:

 (a) key managerial Personnel, which means.

  (i) Directors (Executive and Non Executive)

  (ii) Company Secretary.

  (iii) Chief Financial Officer.

  (iv) Such other person as may be prescribed.

(b) senior management, which means:-

 (i)  Personnel of the Company who are members of its 
core management team excluding Board of Directors. 
This would also include all members of management 
one level below the executive directors including all 
functional heads, for the purpose of Clause 49 of the 
listing agreement.

3.  cOnstitutiOn OF cOmmittee:
 (i)  The Committee shall consist of minimum 3 Non-

Executive Directors and majority of them being 
Independent Director.

 (ii)  Minimum two members shall constitute a quorum for 
the meeting.

 (iii)  Constitution and membership of the Committee shall be 
disclosed in the Annual Report of the Company.

ON THE RECOMMENDATION OF NOMINATION AND REMuNERATION COMMITTEE, APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT 
ITS MEETING HELD ON JuLY 24, 2014.

4. ROle OF tHe cOmmittee:
 (i)  Formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, 

positive attributes and independence of a director.

 (ii)  Recommend to the Board a policy relating to the 
remuneration of the Directors, Key Managerial and 
Senior Management Personnel or other employees.

 (iii)  Formulation of criteria for evaluation of Independent 
Directors and Board.

 (iv) Devising a policy on Board diversity.

 (v)  Recommend to the Board, appointment and removal of 
Director, KMP and Senior Management Personnel.

 (vi)  Any other matter as the Board may decide from time to 
time.

5. duties OF cOmmittee:
 The duty of the Committee covers the matters relating to 

nomination and remuneration of the Directors, Key Managerial 
and Senior Management Personnel of the Company. 

(a) nomination matters includes: 

 (i)  Ensuring that there is an appropriate induction & training 
programme in place for new Directors and members of 
Senior Management and  reviewing its effectiveness; 

 (ii)  Ensuring that on appointment to the Board, Non-
Executive Directors receive a formal letter of appointment 
as per the provisions of Companies Act 2013; 

 (iii)  Identifying and recommending Directors who are to be 
put forward for retirement by rotation. 

 (iv)  Determining the appropriate size, diversity and 
composition of the Board as per the provisions of 
Companies Act 2013. 

 (v)  Setting a formal and transparent procedure for selecting 
new Directors for appointment to the Board; 

 (vi)  Developing a succession plan for the Board and Senior 
Management and  regularly reviewing the plan; 

 (vii)  Evaluating the performance of the Board members and 
Senior  Management in the context of the Company’s 
performance from  business and compliance 
perspective; 

 (viii)  Delegating any of its powers to one or more of its 
members or the  Secretary of the Committee; 

 (ix) Recommend any necessary changes to the Board. 

 (x)  Considering any other matters as may be requested by 
the Board. 
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(b) Remuneration matters includes: 

 (i)  To consider and determine the Remuneration, based 
on the principles of (i) pay for responsibilities, (ii) pay for 
performance and potential and (iii) pay for growth and 
ensure that the remuneration fixed is reasonable and 
sufficient to attract, retain and motivate the members.

 (ii)  To take into account, financial position of the Company, 
trend in the Industry, appointee’s qualification, 
experience, past performance, past remuneration, etc.

 (iii)  To bring about objectivity in determining the 
remuneration package while striking a balance between 
the interest of the Company and the Shareholders.

 (iv)  To consider other factors as the Committee shall deem 
appropriate for elements of the remuneration of the 
members of the Board and ensure compliance of 
provisions of Companies Act 2013 and other applicable 
laws. 

 (v)  To ensure that a balance is maintained between fixed and 
incentive pay reflecting short and long term performance 
objectives appropriate to the working of the Company 
in the remuneration of Senior Management and Key 
Managerial Personnel. 

 (vi)  To consider any other matters as may be requested by 
the Board; 

 (vii)  Professional indemnity and liability insurance for 
Directors and senior management. 

  The Remuneration policy will be disclosed in the Annual Report 
of the Company.

6. geneRal: 
 This Remuneration Policy shall apply to all future employment 

agreements with members of Company’s Senior Management 
including Key Managerial Personnel and Board of Directors. In 
other respects, the Remuneration Policy shall be of guidance 
for the Board. Any or all the provisions of this Policy would be 
subject to the revision/ amendment in the Companies Act, 
2013, related rules and regulations, guidelines and the Listing 
Agreement on the subject as may be notified from time to 
time. Any such amendment shall automatically have the effect 
of amending this Policy without the need of any approval by 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and/or the 
Board of Directors. However, any such amendment shall be 
annexed to this Policy and put on the website of the Company 
for ready reference of all concerned persons and placed before 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Board 
of Directors in the next meeting.

d. n. davar

Chairman, Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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DETAILS PERTAINING TO REMuNERATION AS REQuIRED uNDER SECTION 197(12) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 READ WITH 
RuLE 5(1) OF THE COMPANIES (APPOINTMENT & REMuNERATION OF MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RuLES, 2014

(i) Details of % increase in the remuneration of each Director during financial year 2016-17 and ratio of such remuneration to the median 
remuneration of the employees of the Company are as under:

 (`. Crore)

name(s) of directors, chief Financial 
Officer and company secretary

Remuneration during  Fy 
2016-17 

Ratio of the remuneration of 
each director to the median 

remuneration* of the employees 

% increase in 
remuneration  during 

Fy 2016-17
Shri P. K. Khaitan, Chairman 0.24 8.00 14.29
Shri Gaurav Dalmia 0.12 4.00 9.09
Shri Gautam Dalmia 0.03 1.00 - 25.00
Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia,
Managing Director

19.62 654.00 98.18

Shri D. N. Davar 0.27 9.00 22.72
Shri V. P. Sood 0.21 7.00 23.53
Smt. Sudha Pillai 0.17 5.66 41.66
Shri Jayesh Doshi 0.04 1.33 100.00
Shri Mahendra Singhi, CEO & Whole Time 
Director **

0.00 0.00 0.00

Shri Amandeep, Whole Time Director 9.92 330.66 433.33
Shri H.L. Agarwal
Sr. Executive Director (Finance) & Chief 
Financial Officer

1.29 - 9.00

Smt. Rachna Goria
General Manager (Legal) & Company 
Secretary

0.22 - 13.00

 *The median remuneration of employees during the financial year 2016-17 was `.0.03 Crore

 **Shri Mahendra Singhi, Chief Executive Officer and Whole Time Director of the Company, who is the Group Chief Executive Officer 
and the Whole Time Director of Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (holding company of OCL India Limited) also, does not receive any 
remuneration from the Company.

(ii) The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees in the financial year 2016-17 was 19.2%.

(iii) The number of permanent employees on the rolls of Company as on March 31, 2017 were 2694.

(iv) Average percentage increase made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel during the last financial year was 
11.7% whereas the average percentage increase in the managerial remuneration during the same period was 71.78%. 

 The reason of such difference is increase in the remuneration of Mr. Amandeep, Whole Time Director and Mr. Puneet Yadu Dalmia, 
Managing Director of the Company.  The remuneration of Mr. Amandeep includes the perquisite value of 36,000 Employee Stock Options 
granted by Dalmia Bharat Limited during 2015-16 and vested and exercised by him during 2016-2017. Further, Mr. Puneet Yadu Dalmia, 
Managing Director, has received profit based commission in terms of the Companies Act, 2013 and terms of his appointment. 

(v) The remuneration paid to Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and senior management is as per the Nomination and Remuneration 
Policy of the Company.

Annexure-II



Corporate 
Overview 

Financial 
Statements

34     |  OCL India Ltd.   Annual Report 2016 -17  |  35

Management 
Reports

Annexure-IIA

STATEMENT OF EMPLOYEES PuRSuANT TO RuLE 5(2) and (3) OF THE COMPANIES (APPOINTMENT AND REMuNERATION OF 
MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL) RuLES, 2014 FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2016-17

 (`.Crore)

name designation Remuneration 
recd. (`.crore)

qualification experience  
(in years)

date of 
commencement 
of employment

age last employment held 
before joining the 

company
Mr. 

Amandeep  
Whole Time 

Director 
9.92 ME (Mechanical) 

Honors
27 August 

01, 2012
47 Dalmia Bharat 

Enterprises Limited 
- Group Executive 

Director 
Mr. Ashwini 

Kumar 
Dalmia

Deputy Executive 
Director (Finance)

0.80 Chartered Accountant 28 June 
08, 1988

52 MSP, Keonjhar,
General Manager 

(Works)

Mr. Ganesh 
W. Jirkuntwar 

Executive Director 
(Manufacturing)/

Cement

1.06 B.Com (H) 23 March 
03, 2014

45 Lafarge Cement, uK 

Mr. Hira Lal 
Agarwal 

Senior Executive 
Director (Finance) 
& Chief Financial 

Officer

1.51 B. Com, FCA, FCS, LLB 36 August 
01, 2006

61 Jaypee Hotels Limited –
Joint President 

(Finance) 

Mr. Indrajit 
Chatterji

Executive 
Director (Sales 
& Marketing) 

Cement 

1.36 B.A (Economics Hons),      

Executive Programme, 
Sales Management, 
XLRI, Jamshedpur,

Executive Programme, 
General Management, 

IIM, Bangalore,         

Diploma (Marketing 
Management)

33 November 
26, 2012

55 ABG Cement Ltd- 
Vice President 

(Sales & Marketing), 
Ahmedabad)

Mr. Joyram 
Mishra

Deputy Executive 
Director 

(Corporate Affairs)

0.93 B. Com, M. Com, 
L.L.B.,PG Diploma in 

Labour Law,
MBA

26 July 
01, 2013

50 Essar Steel (I) Limited 
– Vice President 

(Corporate Affairs)

Mr. Jorge 
Irusta*

Executive Director 
– Bu Steel

0.69 Esii bilbao l.J. 
Torrontegui 

(upv) (Engineer’s 
Degree) - Industrial 

Engineering - Business 
Administration

28 October 
18, 2016

56 Vesuvius – VP Flow 
Control (Europe, Middle 

East & Africa)

Mr. 
Manoranjan 

Sahoo

Deputy Executive 
Director 

0.73 MBA (Finance) 32 June
 19, 2013

53 Ambo Steels & Power 
Limited, Chief Operative 

Officer (COO)
Mr. Puneet 

Yadu Dalmia 
Managing 
Director

19.62 B. Tech. and MBA 20 April 
01, 2015

44 Managing Director 
(Dalmia Cement 
(Bharat) Limited

Mr. R. H. 
Dalmia 

President 1.82 B.TECH 43 October 
01,1980

67 Hari Yantra udyog – 
President

* Employed for part of the year.

Notes: -
1. Mr. Puneet Yadu Dalmia is the Managing Director of the Company. None of the other above employees is related to any of the Director 

of the Company.
2. None of the above employees held 2% or above of the equity shares of the Company as on March 31, 2017 either himself and/or along 

with his spouse and dependent children.
3. Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia and Shri Amandeep are employed as managerial personnel on fixed term basis. 
4. Remuneration includes inter-alia the value of perquisites, allowances and all retiral benefits excluding gratuity.
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(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of Section 129 of Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014

statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries or associate companies or joint ventures:

PaRt a subsidiaRies  
(` Crore)

Sl. 
No.

Particulars OCL GLOBAL LTD. OCL CHINA LTD. ODISHA 
CEMENT LTD.

1 Financial Year ending on # 31.03.2017 31.03.2017 31.03.2017 31.03.2017 31.03.2017
2 Reporting Currency INR uSD INR RMB INR
3 Date since when subsidiary was acquired 01.01.2013 01.01.2013 12.07.2013
4 Exchange Rate (As on 31.03.2017)  65.60  -    9.52  -    -   
5 Exchange Rate (Average rate FY 2016-17)  67.65  -    10.06  -    -   
6 Share Capital  13.48  0.28  24.41  4.04  0.05 
7 Reserves and Surplus  48.03  0.74  18.05  0.42  (0.02)
8 Liabilities  2.23  0.03  28.88  3.03  -   
9 Total Liabilities  63.73  1.06  71.34  7.49  0.03 
10 Total Assets  63.73  1.06  71.34  7.49  0.03 
11 Investments *  28.32  0.52  -    -    -   
12 Turnover  75.26  1.11  67.40  6.70  -   
13 Profit before Taxation  0.38  0.01  (5.17)  (0.41)  (0.01)
14 Provision for Taxation  -    -    0.07  0.01  -   
15 Profit After Taxation  0.38  0.01  (5.24)  (0.42)  (0.01)
16 Proposed Dividend  -    -    -    -    -   
17 Percentage of Shareholding (%) 100.00% 90.00% 100.00%

#  Financial year of OCL China Ltd. ended on 31.12.2016, however, to coincide with the financial year of OCL India Ltd., the financial 
statements have been drawn and audited upto 31.03.2017.     

* Investment in OCL China Limited is `.28.32 Crore.     

Note:      
1 Assets and Liabilities for Balance Sheet items of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the applicable rate as on 31.03.2017.  
2 Income and Expense items of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the average exchange rate for the financial year 2016-17.  
3 Share Capital of foreign subsidiaries is translated at the exchange rate existing at the date of transaction.    
 

PaRt b assOciates and jOint ventuRes 
 (` Crore)

s.no. Particulars 2016-17
1 Name of Joint Venture Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited
2 Date on which the Joint Venture was incorporated 29.03.2010
3 Latest Balance Sheet date 31.03.2017
4 Shares of Joint Venture held by the Company on the year end

(i) No. of shares 35,14,500
(ii) Amount of Investment in Joint Venture 3.51
(iii) Extend of Holding % 7.029%

5 Description of how there is significant influence Joint Venture
6 Reason why the joint venture is not consolidated Consolidated
7 Networth attributable to shareholding as per latest Balance Sheet 3.56 
8 Profit / Loss for the year considered in consolidation (0.02)
9 Profit / Loss for the year not considered in consolidation -

FORM AOC-1 Annexure-III
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extRact OF annual RetuRn
as on the financial year ended on March 31, 2017

[Pursuant to section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

i. RegistRatiOn and OtHeR details: 
 i) CIN:-  L26942OR1949PLC000185
 ii) Registration Date:  11th October 1949
 iii) Name of the Company:  OCL INDIA LIMITED
 iv) Category / Sub-Category of the Company:  Manufacturing
 v) Address of the Registered office and contact details: AT/PO/ PS - RAJGANGPuR 

DISTRICT  - SuNDARGARH, ODISHA -  770 017

Contact No: 06624 - 221212
 vi) Whether listed company Yes / No:      YES
vii) Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar and Transfer Agent, if 
any:

C.B. Management Services (P) Limited

P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata – 700 019

Ph No: 033 40116700, 22806692

ii.  PRinciPal business activities OF tHe cOmPany
 All the business activities contributing 10 % or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated:-    

sl.no. name and description of main products / services nic code of the Product/service % to total turnover of the company
1 Cement 2394 91%

iii. PaRticulaRs OF HOlding, subsidiaRy and assOciate cOmPanies -
S.No. NAME AND ADDRESS  

OF THE COMPANY
CIN/GLN HOLDING/SUBSIDIARY 

/ASSOCIATE
% of shares 
held

Applicable Section

1. Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited u65191TN1996PLC035963 Holding 74.66 2(46) of Companies  
Act, 2013

2. OCL GLOBAL LIMITED N. A. Wholly Owned Subsidiary 100 2(87) of Companies  
Act, 2013

3. OCL CHINA LIMITED N. A. Step Down Subsidiary 
(Subsidiary of OCL Global 
Limited)

OGL holds 
90% shares

2(87) of Companies  
Act, 2013 

4. ODISHA CEMENT LIMITED u14200TN2013PLC112346 Wholly Owned Subsidiary 100 2(87) of Companies  
Act, 2013

iv. sHaRe HOlding PatteRn
 ( Equity Share Capital Breakup as Percentage of Total Equity

 (i) category-wise share Holding

Category of Shareholder

No.of Shares held at the beginning of the 
year (01.04.2016)

No.of Shares held at the end of the  
year (31.03.2017)

% 
Change 
during 

the year
Demat Physical Total % of Total 

Shares Demat Physical Total
% of 
Total 

Shares
(a) Promoter 
1 Indian
(a) Individuals/ HuF 110541 0 110541 0.19 110541 0 110541 0.19 0.00
(b) Central Government
(c) State Government(s)
(d) Bodies Corporate 42479273 0 42479273 74.66 42479273 0 42479273 74.66 0.00
(e) Bank/Financial Institutions
(f)  Any Other (specify)
(f-i) Trust-I 20708 0 20708 0.04 20708 0 20708 0.04 0.00
 sub total(a)(1) 42610522 0 42610522 74.89 42610522 0 42610522 74.89 0.00
2 Foreign
(a) NRIs-Individuals          
(b) Other-Individuals          

FORM MGT-9 Annexure-IV
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Category of Shareholder

No.of Shares held at the beginning of the 
year (01.04.2016)

No.of Shares held at the end of the  
year (31.03.2017)

% 
Change 
during 

the year
Demat Physical Total % of Total 

Shares Demat Physical Total
% of 
Total 

Shares
(c) Bodies Corporate          
(d) Bank/Financial Institutions          
(e)  Any Other (specify)          
 Sub Total(A)(2) 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
 total shareholding of 

Promoter and Promoter 
group (a)= (a)(1)+(a)(2)

42610522 0 42610522 74.89 42610522 0 42610522 74.89 0.00

(b) Public shareholding 
1 Institutions 
(a) Mutual  Funds 0 0 0 0.00 184738 0 184738 0.32 0.32
(b) Bank/Financial Institutions 30255 32245 62500 0.11 38128 32245 70373 0.12 0.01
(c) Central Govt          
(d) State Govt(s)          
(e) Venture  Capital Funds          
(f ) Insurance Companies          
(g) Foreign Institutional 

Investors (FII)/ Foreign 
Portfolio Investors

1236312 300 1236612 2.17 401969 300 402269 0.71 -1.47

(h) Foreign Venture Capital 
Funds

         

(i) Others (specify)          
(i-i) uTI 0 17500 17500 0.03 0 17500 17500 0.03 0.00
 sub-total (b)(1) 1266567 50045 1316612 2.31 624835 50045 674880 1.19 -1.13
           
2 Non-institutions 
(a) Bodies Corporate          
i) Indian 5288092 15429 5303521 9.32 6634340 15429 6649769 11.69 2.37
ii) Overseas          
(b) Individuals          
 i. Individual shareholders 

holding nominal share 
capital up to ` 1 lakh

3235812 1225182 4460994 7.84 3619870 1189249 4809119 8.45 0.61

 ii. Individual shareholders 
holding nominal   share 
capital in excess of ` 1 
lakh

2927216 78730 3005946 5.28 1920374 78730 1999104 3.51 -1.77

(c)  Others (specify)          
(c-i) NRI 136121 19635 155756 0.27 109194 19635 128829 0.23 -0.05
(c-ii) Foreign National 0 17080 17080 0.03 12240 4840 17080 0.03 0.00
(c-iii) Clearing Member 29789 0 29789 0.05 10917 0 10917 0.02 -0.03
           
 sub-total (b)(2) 11617030 1356056 12973086 22.80 12306935 1307883 13614818 23.93 1.13
           
 total  Public 

shareholding (b)= (b)
(1)+(b)(2)

12883597 1406101 14289698 25.11 12931770 1357928 14289698 25.11 0.00

           
 tOtal (a)+(b) 55494119 1406101 56900220 100.00 55542292 1357928 56900220 100.00 0.00
           
(c) shares  held  by custodians  for gdRs  & adRs  
 Sub-Total ( C )          
 gRand tOtal 

(a)+(b)+(c)
55494119 1406101 56900220 100.00 55542292 1357928 56900220 100.00 0.00
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(ii) shareholding of Promoters

Shareholder’s Name

Shareholding at the beginning of the year  
(01.04.2016 )

Shareholding at the end of the year 
(31.03.2017 ) %change in 

shareholding 
during the 

year 
No of 

Shares
% of total 
shares of 
Company  

% of shares 
pledged/

encumbered 
to total shares

No of 
Shares

% of total 
shares of 
Company 

% of shares 
pledged/

encumbered 
to total shares

1 Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Ltd. 42479273 74.66 51.00 42479273 74.66 51.00 0.00
2 Gautam Dalmia (HuF) 110541 0.19 0.00 110541 0.19 0.00 0.00
3 Shri Gautam Dalmia  

(C/o Sumana Trust)
20708 0.04 0.00 20708 0.04 0.00 0.00

 total 42610522 74.89 51.00 42610522 74.89 51.00 0.00

(iii) change in Promoter’s shareholding (please specify if there is no change)

Sl.No Folio no. Name Remarks
Shareholding/

Transaction 
Date

Shareholding at the 
beginning of the year 

(01.04.2016 )

Cumulative Shareholding 
during  the year ( 

01.04.2016 to 31.03.2017)

No.of 
Shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company
No.of 

Shares
% of total 

shares of the 
Company

1 IN30292710174912 Dalmia Cement 
(Bharat) Limited

At the begining  
of the year

01-04-2016 42479273 74.66 42479273 74.66

   Decrease 13-01-2017 1270000 2.23 41209273 72.42
   Decrease 20-01-2017 9530000 16.75 31679273 55.68
   At the end  

of the year
31-03-2017   31679273 55.68

2 IN30009510778316 Gautam Dalmia 
(HuF)

At the begining  
of the year

01-04-2016 110541 0.19 110541 0.19

   At the end  
of the year

31-03-2017   110541 0.19

3 IN30009510768234 Gautam Dalmia 
(C/o Sumana Trust)

At the begining  
of the year

01-04-2016 20708 0.04 20708 0.04

   At the end  
of the year

31-03-2017   20708 0.04

4 IN30145210061089 Dalmia Cement 
(Bharat) Limited

At the begining  
of the year

01-04-2016 0 0.00 0 0.00

   Increase 13-01-2017 1270000 2.23 1270000 2.23
   Increase 20-01-2017 9530000 16.75 10800000 18.98
   At the end  

of the year
31-03-2017   10800000 18.98

(iv) shareholding Pattern of top ten shareholders (Other than directors, Promoters  and Holders of gdRs and adRs)

    Shareholding 
at the 

beginning 
of the year  

(01.04.2016)

Cumulative 
Shareholding 

during  
the year 

(01.04.2016 to 
31.03.2017)

No. of Shares % of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

Sl. 
No.

PAN No. Name - For each 
of the Top 10 
Shareholders

Remarks Shareholding/
Transaction 

Date

No.of Shares % of total 
shares of the 

Company

No.of Shares % of total 
shares 
of the 

Company
1 AACCD2509C Dharti Investments 

and Holdings 
Limited

At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 3155867 5.55 3155867 5.55

   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   3155867 5.55
2 AAQFR4532C Sandip 

Jhunjhunwala
At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 1486698 2.61 1486698 2.61

   Decrease 03-06-2016 82500 0.14 1404198 2.47
   Decrease 17-06-2016 150000 0.26 1254198 2.20
   Decrease 30-06-2016 100000 0.18 1154198 2.03
   Decrease 08-07-2016 75000 0.13 1079198 1.90
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    Shareholding 
at the 

beginning 
of the year  

(01.04.2016)

Cumulative 
Shareholding 

during  
the year 

(01.04.2016 to 
31.03.2017)

No. of Shares % of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

Sl. 
No.

PAN No. Name - For each 
of the Top 10 
Shareholders

Remarks Shareholding/
Transaction 

Date

No.of Shares % of total 
shares of the 

Company

No.of Shares % of total 
shares 
of the 

Company
   Decrease 29-07-2016 150000 0.26 929198 1.63
   Decrease 05-08-2016 50000 0.09 879198 1.55
   Decrease 02-09-2016 15000 0.03 864198 1.52
   Increase 23-09-2016 50379 0.09 914577 1.61
   Decrease 30-09-2016 25000 0.04 889577 1.56
   Decrease 07-10-2016 20000 0.04 869577 1.53
   Decrease 14-10-2016 104879 0.18 764698 1.34
   Decrease 25-11-2016 251361 0.44 513337 0.90
   Increase 02-12-2016 251361 0.44 764698 1.34
   Decrease 10-03-2017 764698 1.34 0 0.00
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   0 0.00
3 AAICS4922J Shreevallabh 

Orthopaedic 
Instruments Pvt. 
Ltd.

At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 1136281 2.00 1136281 2.00

   Increase 10-06-2016 30000 0.05 1166281 2.05
   Increase 24-06-2016 7300 0.01 1173581 2.06
   Increase 21-10-2016 117192 0.21 1290773 2.27
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   1290773 2.27
4 AACCL7136M Laurus (Mauritius) 

Limited
At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 943597 1.66 943597 1.66

   Decrease 17-03-2017 943597 1.66 0 0.00
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   0 0.00
5 AABPJ1891K Sushma Jain At the begining of the 

year
01-04-2016 259000 0.46 259000 0.46

   Decrease 19-08-2016 4000 0.01 255000 0.45
   Decrease 26-08-2016 2391 0.00 252609 0.44
   Decrease 02-09-2016 4609 0.01 248000 0.44
   Decrease 09-09-2016 10933 0.02 237067 0.42
   Decrease 07-10-2016 300 0.00 236767 0.42
   Decrease 21-10-2016 3043 0.01 233724 0.41
   Decrease 28-10-2016 10000 0.02 223724 0.39
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   223724 0.39
6 AABPJ1883F Rina Jain At the begining of the 

year
01-04-2016 238893 0.42 238893 0.42

   Decrease 28-10-2016 2000 0.00 236893 0.42
   Decrease 23-12-2016 236893 0.42 0 0.00
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   0 0.00
7 ACLPJ0439R Meenu Bhanshali At the begining of the 

year
01-04-2016 218199 0.38 218199 0.38

   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   218199 0.38
8 AAACT2192F Talma Chemical 

Industries Pvt Ltd
At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 153500 0.27 153500 0.27

   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   153500 0.27
9 AAECP4122F Priority Distributors 

Limited
At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 147156 0.26 147156 0.26

   Decrease 24-03-2017 147156 0.26 0 0.00
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   0 0.00

10 AABPJ1889R Laxmi Jain At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 133965 0.24 133965 0.24

   Decrease 27-01-2017 133965 0.24 0 0.00
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   0 0.00

11 AAGFI2175Q India Value Fund 
V LLP

At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 0 0.00 0 0.00

   Increase 24-03-2017 943597 1.66 943597 1.66
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   943597 1.66
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    Shareholding 
at the 

beginning 
of the year  

(01.04.2016)

Cumulative 
Shareholding 

during  
the year 

(01.04.2016 to 
31.03.2017)

No. of Shares % of total 
shares 
of the 

Company

Sl. 
No.

PAN No. Name - For each 
of the Top 10 
Shareholders

Remarks Shareholding/
Transaction 

Date

No.of Shares % of total 
shares of the 

Company

No.of Shares % of total 
shares 
of the 

Company
12 AABPJ5593Q Ashish 

Jhunjhunwala
At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 0 0.00 0 0.00

   Increase 10-06-2016 6300 0.01 6300 0.01
   Increase 24-06-2016 7200 0.01 13500 0.02
   Increase 17-03-2017 273054 0.48 286554 0.50
   Increase 24-03-2017 491644 0.86 778198 1.37
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   778198 1.37

13 AAFCB2590J Bhumika Vyapaar 
Private Limited

At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 0 0.00 0 0.00

   Increase 31-03-2017 371006 0.65 371006 0.65
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   371006 0.65

14 AACTR8451Q Virendra  Jain At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 0 0.00 0 0.00

   Increase 31-03-2017 236893 0.42 236893 0.42
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017    236893  0.42

15 AABCD0928N Dynamic Equities 
Pvt Ltd

At the begining of the 
year

01-04-2016 128889 0.23 128889 0.23

   Increase 20-05-2016 399 0.00 129288 0.23
   Decrease 27-05-2016 399 0.00 128889 0.23
   Increase 08-07-2016 50 0.00 128939 0.23
   Decrease 15-07-2016 50 0.00 128889 0.23
   Increase 29-07-2016 50 0.00 128939 0.23
   Increase 05-08-2016 65 0.00 129004 0.23
   Decrease 12-08-2016 115 0.00 128889 0.23
   Increase 19-08-2016 40 0.00 128929 0.23
   Decrease 02-09-2016 40 0.00 128889 0.23
   Increase 09-09-2016 30 0.00 128919 0.23
   Decrease 16-09-2016 10 0.00 128909 0.23
   Decrease 23-09-2016 20 0.00 128889 0.23
   Increase 30-09-2016 62 0.00 128951 0.23
   Decrease 07-10-2016 47 0.00 128904 0.23
   Decrease 21-10-2016 15 0.00 128889 0.23
   Increase 28-10-2016 15 0.00 128904 0.23
   Decrease 11-11-2016 15 0.00 128889 0.23
   At the end of the year 31-03-2017   128889 0.23

(v) shareholding Pattern of  directors and key managerial Personnel

Sl.No Folio no. Name Remarks
Shareholding/

Transaction 
Date

No.of 
Shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company

No.of 
Shares

% of total 
shares of the 

Company
1 1202650000011065 Ved Prakash Sood At the begining  

of the year
01-04-2016 5000 0.01 5000 0.01

   Decrease 29-07-2016 500 0.00 4500 0.01
   At the end  

of the year
31-03-2017   4500 0.01

2 IN30154914384552 Dharmendar Nath 
Davar

At the begining  
of the year

01-04-2016 1500 0.00 1500 0.00

   At the end  
of the year

31-03-2017   1500 0.00

3 1201770100557928 Mahendra Singhi At the begining  
of the year

01-04-2016 5000 0.01 5000 0.01

   At the end  
of the year

31-03-2017   5000 0.01
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v. indebtedness
 Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment

 (` Crore) 

Secured Loans 
excluding deposits

Unsecured

Loans

Deposits Total 
Indebtedness

indebtedness at the beginning of the financial year
i) Principal Amount 1199.15 Nil Nil 1199.15
ii) Interest due but not paid Nil Nil Nil Nil
iii) Interest accrued but not due 5.74 Nil Nil 5.74
total (i+ii+iii) 1204.89 nil nil 1204.89
change in indebtedness during the financial year
• Addition 13.36 5.16 Nil 18.52
• Reduction 63.86 Nil Nil 63.86
net change -50.50 5.16 nil -45.34
indebtedness at the end of the financial year
i) Principal Amount 1149.40 5.00 Nil 1154.40
ii) Interest due but not paid Nil Nil Nil Nil
iii) Interest accrued but not due 4.99 0.16 Nil 5.15
Total (i+ii+iii) 1154.39 5.16 NIL 1159.55

vi. RemuneRatiOn OF diRectORs and key manageRial PeRsOnnel

 a. Remuneration to managing director, Whole-time directors and/or manager:  

(` Crore)

Sl. No. Particulars of Remuneration Name of MD/WTD/Manager Total Amount
Shri Puneet Yadu 

Dalmia (MD)
Shri Amandeep

WTD
1. Gross salary

(a) Salary as per provisions contained in section 17(1) of the Income-
Tax Act, 1961

2.77 3.18 5.95

(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-Tax Act, 1961 0 6.53 6.53
(c) Profits in lieu of salary under section 17(3) Income Tax Act, 1961

2. Stock Option
3. Sweat Equity
4. Commission 16.50 0 16.50

 - as % of profit 3.77% 0 3.77%
 - others, specify…

5. Others, please specify
total (a) 19.27 9.72 28.98
ceiling as per the act 43.80

b. Remuneration to other directors: 

(` Crore)

Sl.no. Particulars of Remuneration Name of Directors Total 
Amount

1. independent directors shri P. k. khaitan shri d. n. davar shri v. P. sood smt. sudha Pillai
Fee for attending board / committee meetings 0.04 0.11 0.11 0.07 0.33
Commission 0.20 0.16 0.10 0.10 0.56
Others, please specify
Total (1) 0.24 0.27 0.21 0.17 0.89

2. Other non-executive directors Shri Gaurav 
Dalmia

Shri Gautam 
Dalmia

Shri Jayesh 
Doshi

Fee for attending board / committee meetings
Commission
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Sl.no. Particulars of Remuneration Name of Directors Total 
Amount

1. independent directors shri P. k. khaitan shri d. n. davar shri v. P. sood smt. sudha Pillai
 Others, please specify
Total (2) 0.12 0.03 0.04 0.19
total (b)=(1+2) 0.36 0.30 0.25 0.17 1.08
total managerial Remuneration (a + b) 
(excluding sitting Fee)

29.35

Overall ceiling as per the act 48.18

c. RemuneRatiOn tO key manageRia  l PeRsOnnel OtHeR tHan md/manageR/Wtd

(` Crore)

Sl.no. Particulars of Remuneration Key Managerial Personnel Total 
AmountCEO (Also 

WTD covered 
in A. above)

Company 
Secretary

CFO

1. Gross salary
(a) Salary as per provisions contained in section 17(1) of the Income-Tax Act, 1961 0.22 1.21 1.43
(b) Value of perquisites u/s 17(2) Income-Tax Act, 1961 0 0.07 0.08
(c) Profits in lieu of salary under section 17(3) Income-Tax Act, 1961

2. Stock Option
3. Sweat Equity
4. Commission

 - as % of profit
 - others, specify…

5. Others, please specify
total 0.22 1.28 1.51

       

vii. Penalties / PunisHment/ cOmPOunding OF OFFences: n.a.

Type Section of the 
Companies Act

Brief Description Details of Penalty 
/ Punishment/ 

Compounding fees 
imposed

Authority [RD / NCLT 
/ COURT]

Appeal made, if any 
(give Details)

a. cOmPany
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding
B. DIRECTORS
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding
c. OtHeR OFFiceRs in deFault
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding
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1.  a bRieF Outline OF tHe cOmPany’s cORPORate sOcial ResPOnsibility (‘csR’) POlicy, including OveRvieW OF 
PROjects OR PROgRams undeRtaken and a ReFeRence tO tHe Web-link FOR tHe csR POlicy and PROjects OR 
PROgRams.

 OCL India Limited is a part of Dalmia Bharat Group and has been following the concept of giving back and sharing with the under 
privileged sections of   society for more than seven decades. The CSR of the Company is based on the principal of Gandhian Trusteeship. 
For over seven decades, the Company has addressed the issues of health care and sanitation, education, rural development, women 
empowerment and other social development issues.

 The prime objective of our CSR policy is to hasten social, economic and environmental progress. We remain focused on generating 
systematic and sustainable improvement for local communities surrounding our plants and project sites. 

 In the recent years Company has realigned its CSR to focus on issues material to the Company and its stakeholders. The approach is to 
make significant and sustainable difference through our programmes in the lives of beneficiaries by working in partnership with our 
stakeholders. Stakeholder engagements and baseline studies highlighted the issues of water scarcity, erratic power supply, unemployment 
amongst rural youths and basic rural infrastructure needs in our neighbouring community. The company realized that these issues were 
more material to the business as well as to the communities around its facilities. We thus planned our CSR programmes in sectors of soil & 
water conservation; energy conservation and climate change mitigation; skill development & livelihood training and social development 
and started aiming at creation of shared values for all stakeholders.

 The Board of Directors has approved the CSR policy on the recommendation of CSR committee. The CSR policy is available in the 
Company’s website http://www.ocl.in

 Presently, we are focussing on 2 states viz. Odisha and West Bengal in more than 174 villages in 3 districts.

 PROgRamme OutReacH duRing Financial yeaR 2016-17

 Our Key Focus Areas

 1. soil & Water conservation: Water conservation and management 

   Depleting water table is a problem being faced across India. In our neighbouring communities, the water table is lower than 
500 feet creating scarcity of water for agriculture and household use. We are thus working with the communities to develop 
water harvesting structures like check dams, village and farm ponds to increase the water level in the area and also help in soil 
conservation. We have also promoted improved agriculture techniques like drip irrigation to help farmers grow two crops with 60 
percent less water consumption and increased income.

  •  15 units of community ponds and 16 units of farm ponds have been renovated across the locations this year which has 
resulted in conservation of 35,808 m3 of water in the area this year.  

  • 177 units of vermicompost have been established in 9 villages in Rajgangpur and Lanjiberna.  
  • 400 units of organic kitchen gardens promoted in 22 villages in Lanjiberna and Rajgangpur area.
  • 2 Farmer Clubs comprising of 40 members have been formed at Lamloi and Bhaluduma village in Rajgangpur location.
  •  Meeting and exposure visit organized to promote SRI paddy cultivation in Rajgangpur area. This had resulted introducing SRI 

paddy cultivation in 30 acres of land this year on a trial basis.   
  •  48,500 Saplings have been planted in villages, clubs and educational institutions this year along with celebration of 

Vanamahotsav, World Environment Day, etc. to make the area greener and cleaner.

  • 16 Wells renovated in Rajgangpur, Lanjiberna and Cuttack area benefitting around 429 households.

 2. Renewable energy: Promoting energy conservation 

   Energy is another major concern in Indian villages, with majority of the populations dependent on depleting fuel wood and erratic 
electricity supply. We are thus trying to promote more energy efficient and sustainable solutions in our community. We promote 
fuel-efficient chulhas, bio gas plants, solar lighting systems like lanterns, street lights, study lamps and home lighting systems. 
These solutions also help in reduction of CO2 emissions.

  •  Demonstrations of fuel efficient cook stoves to promote their uptake and usage among the community was held in 26 
villages across the location. This has led to promotion of 203 units of cook stoves in the area this year. 

  •  Promoted 392 units of solar lantern, 980 units of solar study lamp and 60 units of solar street lights in the area during the year.  

 3. livelihood skill training: capacity building through vocational training
   unemployment amongst the youth in the neighbouring communities is high. Aiming at long term benefits for the youths and 

their family, the Company has started many skill development programmes and provided training in areas like stitching and 

ANNUAL REPORT ON CSR ACTIVITIES Annexure-V
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tailoring, soft toy making, sanitary napkin making, beauty culture, and many others. We have also set up DIKSHA (Dalmia Institute 
of Knowledge and Skill Harnessing) Centre running at Rourkela in partnership with National Skill Development Corporation (NSDC). 
For women, the Company has enabled formation of many SHGs  (Self Help groups) and helped them get loans and also provided 
them trainings on many livelihood alternatives.

  • Promoting income generation activities by SHG members
   o Mushroom cultivation by 56 members of 5 SHGs in Lanjiberna and Rajgangpur.
   o Training on artificial jewelry making to 20 women.
   o  41 acres of land brought under Groundnut & Raagi cultivation by 45 SHG members in Lanjiberna. 104 quintals of 

Groundnut and 12 quintal of Raagi harvested during the year and market linkage also established.
   o 106 women completed crafting and weaving training in Midnapur.
   o Community diary project implemented for 17 families in Midnapur is yielding impressive outcomes.
   o Sanitary napkin making training for 18 women is underway in Midnapur.
   o  Capacity building training for SHG members in Rajgangpur, Lanjiberna and Cuttack location wherein 337 women 

members received the training. 
   o  Women’s Day celebrated across the location with participation of around 6000 women, different competitions along 

with cultural program were organized, prize distributed to successful contestants. 
   o 46 members in 6 SHGs are engaged in phenyl making activity in Rajgangpur and Lanjiberna area.
   o 18 SHG members are engaged in “Badi”  making  activity in Lanjiberna and Rajgangpur area.

  • Vocational Training Centres
   o  40 trainees including unemployed women and girls completed training of six months beautician course from beauty 

parlor training centre at Lanjiberna.  4 trainees have set up their own beauty parlors with monthly income of around 
INR 4000/ - and 7 trainees attend on call to provide service to customers at doorstep with monthly income of `5000/- 
to `6000/-.   

   o  214 trainees completed tailoring training from five tailoring training centres at Rajgangpur, Cuttack and Lanjiberna 
area. 

   o 15 SHG members received training on soft toy making at Lanjiberna. 
  • Promoting and maintaining SHGs through meetings of 1923 members of 171 SHGs.
  •  DIKSHA (Dalmia Institute of Knowledge and Skill Harnessing) Centre at Rourkela with 67 students enrolled in 3 trades: Beauty 

& Wellness, Home Health Aid and Retail.

4. social development: addressing health & sanitation, education, rural infrastructure development and social campaigns

 The stakeholder engagement highlighted the issue of poor basic infrastructure which hinders the daily life as well as development of 
these villages. The Company is helping in building the basic infrastructure needs of the community like school sanitation blocks, low 
cost toilets, community halls, school buildings, etc. Health is another concern among the community and Company has pitched in by 
arranging general as well as specialized health camps, providing medicines, immunizations, maternal and child health care.

 education

 •  1934 students of  elementary and  high school standards  completed education form 33 Remedial Education Centres running in 
Rajganpur, Lanjiberna, Medinipur and Cuttack locations.

 • Distribution of notebooks on Children’s Day in 63 schools to 5000 students. 
 • 95 students from Rajgangpur and Lanjiberna area provided scholarship support to pursue higher education.
 • TLM support provided to students of 14 Remedial Centres in Rajgangpur and Lanjiberna area this year. 
 •  Observed Dalmia Day of Service “Roshni” through activities such as debate, painting and slogan  competition  on environment 

conservation, safety and yoga sessions in Lanjiberna, Rajgangpur and Cuttack locations with participation of 500 students in 12 
schools

 • Painting & slogan competition on Safety Environment, wherein 167 students from 5 schools participated in Lanjiberna.
 • School Bus running at Lanjiberna , 98 students benefitted.

 Health care initiatives

 •  OCL-LV Prasad Eye Institute Vision Centre, Lanjiberna- 2650 patients got eye checkup, out of whom 72 patients underwent cataract 
operation. 
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 • Village health camps and mobile medical units reached out to 7362 beneficiaries in Medinipur and 15910 in Cuttack respectively.
 • Dispensary at Lanjiberna provided health care service to 18510 (9837- Male, 8673- Female) people in 31 villages.
 •  3 days training for 41 girls was organized on “Life Skill Education”. 44 adolescent girls groups comprising of 1034 members have 

been formed in Rajgangpur and Lanjiberna, monthly meeting on different health care aspects of adolescent girls such as STI, RTI, 
use of sanitary napkins etc. held.

 •  40 toilets along with water supply provision is being made at Siartoli village, Lanjiberna under ODF program, a series of awareness 
meeting on benefits of using toilets were also organized in the village.

 •  Important days like world no tobacco day, world breast feeding week, world IDS day etc. were celebrated across the location with 
participation of huge no. of participants.   

 •  A series of awareness session were held in schools to make students aware of the benefits of using toilets and keeping them neat 
& clean under our swachh vidyalaya abhiyan 

 Rural infrastructure
 •  Initiated talks on setting of de-addiction cum rehabilitation centre at surudihi model village in association with “SAMPARK”, a state 

level NGO. 
 • Contributed financial support to district administration for reviving theme park at Rajgangpur.
 • Development of Rajgangpur weekly market completed.
 •  Works such as construction of 9 community centres, one cremation ghat, 4 bathing ghat, 2 class rooms and one cycle stand were 

carried out in Cuttack location.
 •  Repairing of town up school, Ranibandha High School, construction of toilet block at Liploi & ward no-8, Rathor colony , Keshramal 

and construction of drain at Surudihi village were undertaken in Rajgangpur area.  

 •  Construction of one girls urinal at Lanjiberna Shramik high school, 436 girls benefitted. 
 Rural sports

 •  Hockey coaching centre is operational at Lanjiberna wherein 50 students (25 Boys and 25 Girls) are undergoing coaching.  Hockey 
playing equipment such as stick, Jersey, Shoe, ball etc. distributed among trainees.                                                                   

2. tHe cOmPOsitiOn OF tHe csR cOmmittee.
 The composition of CSR committee as on date of this report is as follows:

Name Category
Shri V. P. Sood (Chairman of the Committee) Independent Director 
Shri Mahendra Singhi CEO & Whole Time Director
Shri Amandeep Whole Time Director 

 The Composition of CSR Committee is compliant with the Companies Act, 2013.
3. aveRage net PROFit OF tHe cOmPany FOR last 3 Financial yeaRs ` 180.27 cRORe.
4. PRescRibed csR exPendituRe (tWO PeRcent OF tHe amOunt as in item iii abOve)
  ` 3.61 Crore
5.  details OF csR sPent duRing tHe Financial yeaR 2016-17
 a) Total amount to be spent for the FY-  ` 3.61 Crore
 b) Amount unspent if any - Not Applicable
 c) Manner in which the amount spent during the financial year is detailed in the attached statement.
6.  in case tHe cOmPany Has Failed tO sPend tHe tWO PeR cent, OF tHe aveRage net PROFit OF tHe last tHRee 

Financial yeaRs OR any PaRt tHeReOF, tHe cOmPany sHall PROvide tHe ReasOns FOR nOt sPending tHe 
amOunt in its bOaRd RePORt.

 Not applicable. 

7.  a ResPOnsibility statement OF tHe csR cOmmittee tHat tHe imPlementatiOn and mOnitORing OF csR 
POlicy, is in cOmPliance WitH csR Objectives and POlicy OF tHe cOmPany

  Not Applicable 
Shri Mahendra Singhi 
Chief Executive Officer & Whole Time Director 
DIN: 00243835 

Shri V. P. Sood 
Chairman, CSR Committee 
DIN: 00092593

Person specified under clause (d) of Sub-section (1) of 
Section 380 of the Act
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ANNUAL REPORT ON CSR ACTIVITIES 
(` Crore)

S. 
No.

CSR project or 
activity identified.

Sector in which the project 
is covered

Projects or programs 
(1) Local area or other     
(2) Specify the State 
and district where 

projects or programs 
were undertaken 

Amount 
outlay 

(budget) 
project or 
program 

wise

Amount 
spent on the 
projects or 
programs 
Subheads: 
(1)Direct 

expenditure 
on projects or 

programs. 
(2)Overheads

Cumulative 
expenditure 

upto the 
reporting 

period

Amount 
spent: Direct 
or through 

implementing 
agency

1 Soil and Water 
Conservation 
(Check Dams, Drip 
Irrigation, Village 
Ponds, Farm 
Ponds,Organic 
Farming, 
Vermicompost)

schedule vii / item no. iv  
Ensuring environmental 
sustainability, ecological 
balance, protection of 
flora and fauna, animal 
welfare, agroforestry, 
conservation of 
natural resources and 
maintaining quality of soil, 
air and water 

1. The project was  
implemented in local 
area  
2. Area of programme: 
Sundargarh and 
Cuttack Districts in 
Odisha  as well as  
Medinipur districts of 
West Bengal

0.91 (1) 0.910

(2) 0.040

0.95 Implementing 
agency - 
Dalmia Bharat 
Foundation

2 Energy 
Conservation 
(Bio Gas Plants, 
Fuel Efficient 
Cookstoves, Solar 
products )

schedule vii / item no. iv 
Ensuring environmental 
sustainability, ecological 
balance, protection of 
flora and fauna, animal 
welfare, agroforestry, 
conservation of 
natural resources and 
maintaining quality of soil, 
air and water 

1. The project was 
implemented in local 
area  
2. Area of programme: 
Sundargarh and 
Cuttack Districts in 
Odisha  as well as  
Medinipur districts of 
West Bengal

0.09 (1) 0.090

(2) 0.004

0.09 Implementing 
agency - 
Dalmia Bharat 
Foundation

3 Education and 
Livelihood 
(Education in 
schools, Diksha 
Skill Training 
Centre, Mushroom 
Cultivation, 
Stitching & 
Tailoring, Beauty 
Culture, Soft Toy 
Making Trainings, 
etc.)

schedule vii / item no. ii 
Promotion of 
education including 
special education and 
employment enhancing 
vocation skills especially 
among children, women, 
elderly, and the differently 
abled & livelihood 
enhancement project

1. The project was 
implemented in local 
area  
2. Area of programme: 
Sundargarh and 
Cuttack Districts in 
Odisha  as well as  
Medinipur districts of 
West Bengal

0.07 (1) 0.070

(2) 0.003

0.08 Implementing 
agency - 
Dalmia Bharat 
Foundation
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S. 
No.

CSR project or 
activity identified.

Sector in which the project 
is covered

Projects or programs 
(1) Local area or other     
(2) Specify the State 
and district where 

projects or programs 
were undertaken 

Amount 
outlay 

(budget) 
project or 
program 

wise

Amount 
spent on the 
projects or 
programs 
Subheads: 
(1)Direct 

expenditure 
on projects or 

programs. 
(2)Overheads

Cumulative 
expenditure 

upto the 
reporting 

period

Amount 
spent: Direct 
or through 

implementing 
agency

4 Women 
Empowerment 
self Help Group 
Formation and 
Training

schedule vii / item no. iii 
Promoting gender 
equality, empowering 
women, setting up homes 
and hostels for women 
and orphans; setting 
up old age homes, day 
care centres and such 
other facilities for senior 
citizens and measures 
for reducing inequalities 
faced by socially and 
economically backward 
groups

1. The project was 
implemented in local 
area  
2.  Area of 
programme: 
Sundargarh and 
Cuttack Districts in 
Odisha  as well as  
Medinipur districts of 
West Bengal

0.03 (1) 0.030

(2) 0.001

0.03 Implementing 
agency - 
Dalmia Bharat 
Foundation

5 Health and 
Sanitation 
(Health Camps, 
Dispensary, Mobile 
Medical units, 
Low Cost Toilets, 
School Toilet 
units, Awareness 
Programs on 
health issues)

schedule vii / item no. i 
Eradicating extreme 
hunger and poverty and 
malnutrition, promoting 
health care including 
preventive health care 
and sanitation and 
making available drinking 
water

1. The project was 
implemented in local 
area  
2.  Area of 
programme: 
Sundargarh and 
Cuttack Districts in 
Odisha  as well as  
Medinipur districts of 
West Bengal

0.43 (1) 0.430

(2) 0.019

0.45 Implementing 
agency - 
Dalmia Bharat 
Foundation

6 Rural Development 
(Infrastructure, 
Promoting Sports 
and Sports Events, 
Awareness 
programs on Social 
issues)

schedule vii / item no. x 
Rural development 
projects

1. The project was 
implemented in local 
area  
2.  Area of 
programme: 
Sundargarh and 
Cuttack Districts in 
Odisha  as well as  
Medinipur districts of 
West Bengal

1.92 (1) 1.920

(2) 0.083

2.00 Implementing 
agency - 
Dalmia Bharat 
Foundation

total 3.61 3.61 3.61
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Form No. AOC-2
(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of 
section 188 of the companies act, 2013 including certain arms’ length transactions under third proviso thereto during financial year 2016-17.

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis 

 None  

2. Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis

Name(s) of the related 
party and nature of 
relationship

Nature of 
contracts/ 
arrangements/ 
transactions

Duration of 
the contacts/ 
arrangements/ 
transactions

Salient terms of 
the contracts or 
arrangements 
or transactions 
including the value, 
if any

Date(s) of approval by 
the Board, if any:

Amount 
paid as 
advances, 
if any:  

Dalmia Bharat Limited, 
ultimate Holding 
Company

Availing services Transactions entered 
into during the financial 
year 2016-17 in terms of 
agreement valid upto 
March 31, 2018.

` 83.98 Crore, service 
charges paid for 
availing services.

Board approved the 
Agreement on March 31, 
2015 and approved the 
amount of transaction(s) 
on February 02, 2016, 
August 16, 2016 and 
February 03, 2017

NIL

Dalmia Cement (Bharat) 
Limited, Holding 
Company 

Availing services Transactions entered 
into during the financial 
year 2016-17 in terms of 
agreement valid upto 
March 31, 2018.

` 55.91 Crore, service 
charges paid for 
availing services.

Board approved the 
Agreement on July 27, 
2015 and approved the 
amount of transaction(s) 
on February 02, 2016,  
and February 03, 2017

NIL

Dalmia Cement East 
Limited, Fellow Subsidiary 
(Subsidiary of Dalmia 
Cement (Bharat) Limited)

Sale of goods or 
materials

Transactions entered 
into during the financial 
year 2016-17 in terms 
of agreement valid until 
revoked.

` 140.47 Crore, 
received for sale 
of clinker, petcoke, 
other items.

Board approved the 
Agreement on July 27, 
2015 and approved the 
amount of transaction(s) 
on February 02, 2016, 
and October 26, 2016

NIL

 Puneet yadu dalmia mahendra singhi
 Managing Director CEO and Whole Time  Director
 DIN: 00022633 DIN: 00243835

Place: New Delhi
Date: May 10, 2017

Annexure-VI



Corporate 
Overview 

Financial 
Statements

50     |  OCL India Ltd.   Annual Report 2016 -17  |  51

Management 
Reports

STATEMENT CONTAINING PARTICULARS PURSUANT  
TO RULE 8(3) OF THE COMPANIES (ACCOUNTS) RULES, 2014.
For the financial year 2016-17

a.  cOnseRvatiOn OF eneRgy 

i)  the steps taken or impact on conservation of energy 

 cement division -

 Steps taken

 1.  Installation of slip power recovery system (SPRS) in 
cement vertical roller mill-3 bag filter fan.

 2.  Replacement of cooler electrostatic precipitator duct by 
densit lining duct and fan with high efficiency impeller.

 3.  Enlargement of inlet box of Line-2 reverse air bag house 
and cyclone fan.

 4.  Installation of SPRS compatible with both 3200 and 
2500KW motors for Induced draft (ID) fan.

 5.  Replacement of LSKS (Old) classifier at Kapilas Cement 
Works with new dynamic LSVS classifier

 6.  Installation of Variable voltage variable frequency drive  
(VVFD) for two coal conveying blower and bag filter fan 
of packing plant.

 7.  Installation of belt-starvation switch for all the feed belt 
circuit. 

 8.  Providing interlock in belt conveyor of truck tippler and 
wagon tippler for running in low rotation per minute.

 9.  Installation of VVFD in reject bucket elevator bag filter 
fan, reject circuit bag filter fan and raw material feeding 
belts bag filter fan.

 10.  Replacement of 90 Kw compressor with 45 KW 
compressor. 

 11.  Installation of VVFDs in silo bin aeration blower, packing 
plant compressor and silo 1 bag filter fan.

 12.  Packer 1 and 2 belt bucket elevator motor connection 
changed from delta to star.

 Refractory division -

 1.  1000 LED tube light of 22 watt were replaced for 
fluorescent tube lights of 40 watt.

 2. Installation of two VFD in F/B chamber kiln I D Fan.

 3.  Replacement of two reciprocating compressors with 
screw compressors.       

 4.  Taken trial for running rotary kiln with synthetic bio fuel 
in place of furnace oil, resulitng in10% savings in cost per 
litre of oil.

 captive power plant -

1. Reduction in auxiliary power by 2.85% by-

 -  Installation of high efficient boiler feed pump with VFD 
operation.

 -  High efficient condensate extract pump  installation with 
VFD operation.

 -  ID fan intermittent gelatin vane removed.

 -   Replacement of auxiliary cooling water pump with 
energy efficient Pump.

impact on conservation of energy

cement division -

Reduction in power consumption per ton of cement by 1.8 kWh/T 
from 62.5 kWh/T in financial year 2015-16 to 60.8 kWh/T in financial 
year 2016-17.

Refractory division -

Reduction in fuel consumption and also cost for silica and CC, precast, 
SGP and lance bricks and reduction in power consumption in silica 
plant, GPP and press operation.

captive power plant -

Reduction in auxiliary consumption by 2.8%. In financial year 2016-17, 
we achieved 9.8% from 12.6% average in financial year 2015-16.  

(ii)   the steps taken by the company for utilizing alternate sources 
of energy

 cement division – 

 1.  use of 100 % pet coke as fuel for hot air generator 
(HAG) at Bengal Cement Works. Also pet coke was used 
at Kapilas Cement Works in case of requirement. At 
Rajgangpur, we managed from kiln and cooler hot gases. 

 2.  Alternate fuel  used to the tune of 2900 T = 900 T of Pet 
Coke.

 3.  5.5 MW solar power installed at Bengal Cement Works in 
March 2016 and stabilized  in financial year 2016-17.

 Refractory division – 

 used synthetic bio oil for firing high alumina cement in rotary 
kiln.

Annexure-VII
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(iii)  the capital investment on energy conservation equipment

 cement division - 

 A total of ` 17.35 Crore capital investment was made during 
financial year 2016-17 on energy conservation equipment 
relating to cement division. 

 Refractory division – 

 A total of ` 0.79 Crore capital investment was made during 
financial year 2016-17 on energy conservation equipment 
relating to refractory division. 

b. tecHnOlOgy absORbtiOn 

(i)  the efforts made towards technology absorption 

 1.  Development of plastic mass for free board of steel ladle.

 2.  Development of J type lance pipe with purging plug for 
snorkel treatment.

 3. Development of high life alumina zirconia-carbon plate.

 4.  Development of magnesia-zirconia bricks for lime kiln 
cross over channel.

 5.  Development of low iron castable for miscellaneous 
steel plant application.

 6.  Development of high performance zirconia nozzle for 
tundish casting application.

 7.  Development of non-preheating type sub-entry shroud 
for tundish.

 8.  Development of porous type MBS for argon purging in 
tundish.

 9.  Development of RH gunning mass for enhancement of 
snorkel life.

(ii)   benefits derived like product improvement, cost reduction, 
product development or import substitution

 1.  New entry into total tundish management market in 
integrated steel plant.

 2.  Enhancement of market share into slide gate 
management of integrated steel plant

 3.  Enhancement of market share through RH degasser 
management.

 4. Increase in product portfolio.

(iii)  imported technology during the last 3 years reckoned from 
the beginning of the financial year

 Nil.

(iv)  expenditure incurred on Research and development 

 A total of ` 5.29 Crore expenditure was incurred on Research 
and Development during the financial year 2016-17

c. FOReign excHange eaRnings and OutgO 

Foreign exchange earned in terms of actual 
inflows during the financial year 2016-17:

` 22.56 Crore

Foreign exchange outgo in terms of actual 
outflows during the financial year 2016-17: 

` 169.83 
Crore
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Form No. MR-3
secRetaRial audit RePORt
For the financial year ended 31st March, 2017

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule no. 9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,

The Members,

OCL India Limited 

AT/PO-Rajagangapur

Sundargarh

Odisha - 770017

I have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance of applicable 
statutory provisions and the adherence to good corporate practices 
by OCL India Limited (hereinafter called “the Company”). Secretarial 
Audit was conducted in a manner that provided me a reasonable 
basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances 
and expressing my opinion thereon.

Based on my verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute 
books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the 
Company and also the information provided by the Company, its 
officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct 
of Secretarial Audit, I hereby report that in my opinion, the Company 
has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended on 
31st March, 2017, complied with the statutory provisions listed 
hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board-processes 
and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner 
and subject to the reporting made hereinafter:

I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns 
filed and other records maintained by the Company for the financial 
year ended on 31st March, 2017 according to the provisions of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made there 
under;

(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the 
rules made thereunder;

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws 
framed  thereunder;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and 
regulations made thereunder;

(v) The following regulations and guidelines prescribed under the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):-

 (a)   The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial 
Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;

 (b)   The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition 
of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015;

 (c)   The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of 
Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009;

 (d)   The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Employee 
Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase 
Scheme) Guidelines, 1999;

 (e)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and 
Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008;

(f)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars 
to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 
regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client;

(g)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of 
Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009; and

(h)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of 
Securities) Regulations, 1998;

(vi) The Factories Act, 1948.

(vii) The Employee State Insurance Act, 1948.

(viii) The Contract Labour (Regulation & Abolition) Act, 1970.

(ix) The Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972.

(x) The Employees’ Provident Funds & Miscellaneous Provisions 
Act, 1952.

(xi) The Payment of Bonus Act, 1965.

(xii) The Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981

(xiii) The Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974

(xiv) The Environment Protection Act, 1986

(xv) The Forest Conservation Act, 1980  

(xvi) The Mines Act, 1952

(xvii) The Electricity Act, 2003

(xviii) The Fatal Accident Act, 1855

(xix) The Hazardous Wastes (Management and Handling) Rules, 
1989

(xx) The Apprentice Act, 1961

(xxi) The Payment of Wages Act, 1936

(xxii) The Workmen’s Compensation Act, 1923

  I have also examined the compliances with the applicable 
clauses of the following:-

 (i)  The Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India.

 (ii)  In pursuance of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and Listing Agreement 
entered by the Company with BSE Limited having 

Annexure-VIII



Corporate 
Overview 

Financial 
Statements

52     |  OCL India Ltd.   Annual Report 2016 -17  |  53

Management 
Reports

office at Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, Dalal Street, 
Mumbai-400001 and National Stock Exchange of India 
Limited having office at Exchange Plaza, Bandra-Kurla 
Complex, Bandra East, Mumbai- 400051.

 During the period under review the Company has complied 
with the provisions of the Acts, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. mentioned above and there is no non-
compliance/observation/audit qualification, reservation or 
adverse remarks in respect of above paras.

 i further report that

 The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with 
proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors 
& Independent Directors.

 There is no change in the composition of Board of Directors 
during the period under review.

 Adequate notice is given to all Directors to schedule the Board 
Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at 
least seven days in advance (except where consent for shorter 
notice is obtained from all the members of the Board present 
at the meeting), and a system exists for seeking and obtaining 
further information and clarifications on the agenda items 
before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the 
meeting.

 Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting 
members’ views, if any, are captured and recorded as part of 
the minutes.

 i further report that there are adequate systems and processes 
in the Company commensurate with the size and operations 
of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with 
applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.

 There is no non-compliance/observation/audit qualification, 
reservation or adverse remarks in respect of the Board 
structures/system and processes relating to the Audit period.

 i further report that the following specific events have taken 
place during the audit period:

 During the period under review, Company’s two Schemes of 

Arrangement and Amalgamation, were in progress, as follows:
 scheme no. 1: Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation 

amongst the Company, Dalmia Cement East Limited, Shri 
Rangam Securities & Holdings Limited, Dalmia Bharat Cements 
Holdings Limited, Odisha Cement Limited and their respective 
shareholders and creditors. 

 Scheme 1, having been approved by the Board of Directors 
of the Company at 28 May, 2016, has been approved by the 
Stock Exchanges (BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of 
India Limited) on 12 July, 2016 and by the shareholders as well 
as secured creditors of the Company on 27 November, 2016. 
Scheme 1 has also been approved by the shareholders and 
creditors of all other companies being involved in Scheme 1.

 Scheme 1 is pending before the jurisdictional Benches of 
National Company Law Tribunal for their approval.

 scheme no. 2: Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation 
amongst Dalmia Bharat Limited, Dalmia Cement (Bharat) 
Limited and Odisha Cement Limited and their respective 
shareholders and creditors. 

 Scheme 2 has been approved by the Board of Directors on 
5 November, 2016 and by the Stock Exchanges  on 5 May, 2017. 

 i further report that:
  Petition filed by the company for change of registered office 

of the Company from the State of Odisha to the State of Tamil 
Nadu is under process of approval.

 vikas gera & associates

 Practicing Company Secretary

 F.C.S No.: 5248

 C.P. No.: 4500

Place: New Delhi   

Date: May 10, 2017

Note: This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is 
annexed as Annexure A and forms an integral part of this report.
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To,

The Members,

OCL India Limited

AT/PO-Rajagangapur 

Sundargarh

Odisha - 770017

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

1. Maintenance of secretarial records is the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the secretarial records based on our audit.

2. We  have  followed  the  audit  practices  and  processes  as  were  appropriate  to  obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness 
of the  contents of the secretarial records.   The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial 
records. We believe that the processes and practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and books of accounts of the Company.

4. The compliances done by the Company of the applicable financial laws like Direct and Indirect Tax Laws have not been reviewed by us as 
the same have been subjected to review by the Statutory Auditors.

5. Wherever  required,  we  have  obtained  the  management  representation  about  the compliance of laws, rules and regulations and 
happening of events, etc.

6. The compliance of the provisions of corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is the responsibility of management. 
Our examination was limited to the verification of procedures on test basis.

7. The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which 
the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

 vikas gera & associates
  Practicing Company Secretary
 F.C.S No.: 5248
 C.P. No.: 4500
Place: New Delhi                                                                       
Date: May 10, 2017 

 Annexure - A
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Company’s philosophy on Corporate GovernanCe
The Company firmly believes in and continues to practice good 
corporate governance. Corporate governance seeks to raise the 
standards of corporate management, strengthens the Board systems, 
significantly increases its effectiveness and ultimately serve the 
objective of maximising the shareholders’ value. The philosophy of 
the Company is in consonance with the accepted principles of good 
governance.

The spirit of corporate governance has always remained imbibed in 
the Company’s business philosophy. This philosophy is shaped by 
the values of transparency, professionalism and accountability. The 
Company’s corporate governance practices are driven by strong 
Board oversight, timely disclosures, transparent accounting policies 
and high levels of integrity in decision-making.

In India, Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (hereinafter referred 
to as SEBI (LODR) Regulations) lists out the requirements relating to 
corporate governance vide Schedule V thereof.

This chapter along with the chapter on Management Discussion 
and Analysis report on the Company’s compliance with SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations. 

BoarD oF DireCtors
Composition of the Board
The Company has over the years been fortunate to have eminent 
persons from diverse fields as Directors on its Board. The diversity on 
the Board of Directors benefits in: 

•	 Enhancement of the quality of performance of the Board;
•	 Usher in independence in the performance of the Board;
•	 	Achievement of sustainable and balanced performance and  

development in the Company; 
•	 Support the attainment of strategic objectives of the Company; 
•	 Compliance of applicable law/s and good corporate practices.

The Board Diversity Policy of the Company is posted on Company’s 
website at http://www.oclindialtd.in/postal_doc/boarddiversity2408.pdf

As on March 31, 2017 the Company’s Board comprised of ten 
members — three Executive Directors, seven Non-Executive Directors 
of which four are Independent Directors. Mr. Pradip Kumar Khaitan, 
a Non-Executive Independent Director is the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of the Company. Ms. Sudha Pillai is the Woman Director. 
The composition of the Board is in conformity with SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations. 

Board Meetings,  Attendance of Directors and other Directorships 
held by them
The Board meetings are generally held at the Corporate Office. The 
Board meets atleast once in a quarter and additional meetings are 
held, when necessary. The agenda, explanatory notes and related 
papers are circulated at least seven days prior to the date of the 
Board meeting for consideration by the Board. Adequate information 
is circulated as part of the agenda papers and also placed at the 
table to enable the Board to take an informed decision. The Board 
periodically reviews the compliance of all applicable laws by the 
Company as well as steps taken by the Company to rectify instances 
of non-compliances, if any. Committees of the Board usually meet 
the day before the  Board meeting or whenever the need arises for 
transacting the business. The recommendations of the Committees 
are placed before the Board for necessary approval. 

The Board of Directors met five times during the financial year 2016-
17, i.e., on May 17, 2016, August 16, 2016, October 26, 2016, November 
05, 2016 and February 03, 2017. The maximum gap between any two 
meetings was less than one hundred and twenty days.

None of the Directors are members of more than ten Board level 
Committees nor are they Chairman of more than five Committees 
in which they are members. The below table gives the details of 
the composition of the Board, attendance and details of Committee 
memberships and Committee chairmanships.

name of the Directors Category attendance particulars no. of other Directorships and Committee 
memberships/Chairmanships

no. of Board 
meetings 
attended

aGm other 
Directorships

Committee 
memberships 

Committee 
Chairmanships 

Shri Pradip Kumar Khaitan, 
Chairman

Independent
Non-Executive

4 No 9 5 2

Shri Gaurav Dalmia, Non-
Executive Vice Chairman

Non - 
Independent
Non-Executive

3 No 5 2 1

Shri Gautam Dalmia, Non-
Executive Vice Chairman

Promoter Non - 
Independent
Non-Executive

3 No 4 2 0

Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia, 
Managing Director

Promoter Non - 
Independent
Executive

4 No 4 0 0

Shri D. N. Davar Independent 
Non-Executive

4 No 8 8 4

Shri. V. P. Sood Independent 
Non-Executive

5 Yes 0 0 0

Smt. Sudha Pillai Independent
Non-Executive

5 No 6 5 1
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name of the Directors Category attendance particulars no. of other Directorships and Committee 
memberships/Chairmanships

no. of Board 
meetings 
attended

aGm other 
Directorships

Committee 
memberships 

Committee 
Chairmanships 

Shri Jayesh Doshi Non - 
Independent
Non-Executive

5 No 5 0 0

Shri Mahendra Singhi
CEO & Whole Time Director

Non - 
Independent
Executive

5 No 1 0 0

Shri Amandeep
Whole Time Director 

Non - 
Independent
Executive

4 Yes 5 1 0

Notes:
a. Other directorships include only the directorships in public limited companies.

b.  As required under the SEBI (LODR), Regulations, the disclosure includes membership/chairmanship of audit committee and stakeholders’ 
relationship committee of Indian public companies (listed and unlisted), other than such committees of the Company.

c. Shri Mahendra Singhi, Shri V.P Sood and Shri D.N. Davar holds 5000, 4500 and 1500 shares, respectively, of the Company. 

inDepenDent DireCtors 
Independent Directors play an important role in the governance 
process of the Board. The appointment process of Independent 
Directors is independent of the Company’s management. While 
selecting Independent Directors, the Board ensures that there is 
appropriate balance of skills, experience and knowledge in the 
Board so as to enable the Board to discharge its functions and duties 
effectively. The terms and conditions of appointment of Independent 
Directors is posted on the Company’s website at http://www.
oclindialtd.in/postal_doc/Appointment-Independent-Directors-
25.08.2015-Final-Upload.pd. Each of the Independent Directors has 
given a declaration that he meets the criteria of independence. None 
of the Independent Directors serve as Independent Director in more 
than seven listed companies.

Remuneration of Directors

The Non-Executive Directors are entitled to sitting fees for attending 
the Board of Directors meetings and the Committee meetings, profit 
related commission and reimbursement of expenses incurred by 
them for undertaking their duties as Directors of the Company.

The sitting fees within the limits prescribed under the Companies 
Act, 2013 is approved by the Board of Directors. The same is decided 
keeping in view the practice within the Group and market practice 
and is same for all the Directors.

The commission, within the limits prescribed under the Companies 
Act, 2013,  to the Non-Executive Directors vary keeping in view 
the responsibility taken by each Director and the Chairmanship/
membership of various Board Committees of the Company held by 
them respectively and same is decided by the Board of Directors.

The details of sitting fees and commission paid to the Non-Executive 
Directors during the financial year 2016-17 are as under:

  (` In Crore)
sr. 
no. 

name of Director sitting 
Fees 

 Commission total 

1. Shri Pradip Kumar 
Khaitan

0.04 0.20 0.24

2. Shri Gaurav Dalmia 0.02 0.10  0.12
3. Shri Gautam Dalmia 0.03 0.00 0.03
4. Shri D. N. Davar 0.11 0.16 0.27
5. Shri V. P. Sood 0.11 0.10 0.21
6. Smt. Sudha Pillai 0.07 0.10 0.17
7. Shri Jayesh Doshi 0.04 0.00 0.04

During the year, the Company had paid `56 Lacs as professional fees 
to M/s Khaitan & Co., LLP, a firm in which Shri Pradip Kumar Khaitan, 
Chairman of the Company, is a partner.

There is no other pecuniary relationship/transaction of the Non-
Executive Directors vis a vis the Company.

The Executive Directors of the Company, i.e., Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia, 
Managing Director and Shri Amandeep, Whole Time Director are 
remunerated by way of salary and perquisites, as detailed below. Shri 
Mahendra Singhi, Chief Executive Officer and Whole Time Director of 
the Company does not receive any remuneration from the Company, 
being Chief Executive Officer and Whole Time Director of Dalmia 
Cement (Bharat) Limited (the Holding Company) and receiving 
remuneration from there.
 (` In Crore)

shri puneet yadu 
Dalmia

shri amandeep

Tenure April 1, 2015 to 
March 31, 2020

April 1, 2015 to 
March 31, 2020

Salary and Allowances 2.77 3.18
Value of Perquisites 0.00 6.62*
Contribution to PF 
and other funds

0.35 0.12

Commission 16.50 0.00
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Out of the total perquisites, `6.53 Crore is the perquisite value of 
36,000 Employee Stock Options granted by Dalmia Bharat Limited on 
February 03, 2016 at a price of  `105.50/- per share being the exercise 
price representing discount of 20% on the price determined as 30 
days average of the opening price as on May 18, 2012. The said 36,000 
ESOPs were vested and exercised by Shri Amandeep on February 03, 
2017.

The appointment may be terminated by either party by giving six 
months’ notice. If the appointment is terminated by the Company, no 
severance fee is payable.

Code of Conduct 
The Company’s Board has laid down a code of conduct for all Board 
members and designated senior management of the Company. The code 
of conduct is available on the website of the Company www.oclindialtd.
in. All Board members and senior management personnel have affirmed 
compliance with the code of conduct. A declaration signed by the Chief 
Executive Officer to this effect is attached to this Report.

Committees of the Board
The Company has five Board-level Committees mandated by 
the Companies Act and SEBI (LODR) Regulations namely, Audit 
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee, Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 
and Risk Management Committee. The Company also has one more 
Committee of Directors empowered to deal with all emergent matters 
arising out of the day-to-day business operations of the Company. 

All decisions pertaining to the constitution of Committees, terms 
of reference, etc. are taken by the Board of Directors. Details on the 
role and composition of these Committees, including the number 
of meetings held during the financial year 2016-17 and the related 
attendance, are provided in following paragraphs.

Audit Committee
As on March 31, 2017, the Audit Committee comprised of four 
members namely, Shri D. N. Davar, Shri V. P. Sood and Smt. Sudha Pillai, 
Independent Directors and Shri Mahendra Singhi, Chief Executive 
Officer and Whole Time Director. Shri D. N. Davar is the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee. Smt. Sudha Pillai was inducted as a member 
of the Committee on October 26, 2016. The Audit Committee met 
six times during the financial year on May 17, 2016, August 16, 2016, 
October 25, 2016, November 05, 2016, January 18, 2017 and February 
02, 2017. The particulars of attendance of the members at the Audit 
Committee meetings are as under:

name of 
members

Category status no. of 
meeting 

held

no. of 
meetings 
attended

Shri D. N. Davar Independent Chairman 6 5
Shri V. P. Sood Independent Member 6 6
Mrs. Sudha Pillai Independent Member 6 3
Shri Mahendra 
Singhi

Executive Member 6 6

The Board has accepted all recommendations made by the Audit 
Committee from time to time during the year. 

The representative(s) of the Statutory Auditors, Chief Financial Officer 
and the head of internal audit are regular invitees to the Audit 

Committee meetings. Ms. Rachna Goria, General Manager (Legal) & 
Company Secretary, is the Secretary to the Committee and attends all 
the Committee meetings.

All members of the Audit Committee have requisite accounting 
and financial management expertise. The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee could not attend the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company held on September 20, 2016 due to health reasons. 
However, he authorised and Shri V. P. Sood attended the Annual 
General Meeting on his behalf.

The functions of the Audit Committee of the Company include the 
following:

• The recommendation for appointment, remuneration and other 
terms of appointment of Statutory Auditors of the Company and 
approval of any other payment for services rendered by them.

• Oversee the Company’s financial reporting process to ensure 
that the financial statements are correct, sufficient and credible;

• Reviewing, with the management, the annual Financial 
Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon before submission to 
the Board for approval, with particular reference to:

 Matters required to be included in the Director’s 
Responsibility Statement to be included in the Board’s 
Report 

	 Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and 
reasons for the same. 

 Major accounting entries involving estimates based on the 
exercise of judgment by Management.

 Significant adjustments made in the Financial Statements 
arising out of audit findings.

 Compliance with listing and other legal requirements 
relating to Financial Statements.

•	 Disclosure of any related party transactions;

• Modified opinion(s) in the draft Audit Report;

• Reviewing, with the Management, the quarterly Financial 
Statements before submission to the Board for approval;

• Reviewing, with the Management, the statement of uses / 
application of funds raised through an issue (public issue, rights 
issue, preferential issue, etc.), the statement of funds utilised 
for purposes other than those stated in the offer document /
prospectus / notice and the report submitted by the monitoring 
agency monitoring the utilisation of proceeds of a public or 
rights issue, and making appropriate recommendations to the 
Board to take up steps in this matter;

• Review and monitor the Auditor’s independence and 
performance, and effectiveness of audit process;

• Approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the 
Company with related parties;

• Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;
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• Valuation of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it 
is necessary;

• Evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management 
systems;

• Reviewing, with the Management, performance of Statutory 
and Internal Auditors, adequacy of the internal control systems;

• Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, 
including the structure of the internal audit department,  
reporting structure coverage and frequency of Internal Audit;

• Discussion with Internal Auditors of any significant findings and 
follow up there on;

• Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the 
Internal Auditors into matters where there is suspected fraud or 
irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material 
nature and reporting the matter to the Board;

• Discussion with Statutory Auditors before the audit commences, 
about the nature and scope of audit as well as post-audit 
discussion to ascertain any area of concern;

• To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment 
to the depositors, debenture holders, shareholders (in case of 
non payment of declared dividends) and creditors;

• To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower mechanism;

• Approval of appointment of CFO after assessing the 
qualifications, experience and background, etc. of the candidate;

• Carrying out any other function as is mentioned in the terms of 
reference of the Audit Committee.

• The following information is reviewed by the Audit Committee:

 Management Discussion and Analysis of financial 
condition and results of operations;

 Statement of significant related party transactions  
submitted by Management;

 Management letters / letters of internal control weaknesses 
issued by the Statutory Auditors;

 The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of 
the Internal Auditor and

 Internal audit reports.  

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
As on March 31, 2017, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
comprised of three members namely, Shri D. N. Davar and Shri V. P. 
Sood, Independent Directors and Shri Gautam Dalmia, Non-Executive 
Vice Chairman. Shri D. N. Davar is the Chairman of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee. The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee met three times during the financial year on May 17, 2016, 
August 16, 2016 and February 02, 2017. The particulars of attendance 
of the members at the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are 
as under:

name of 
members

Category status no. of 
meeting 

held

no. of 
meetings 
attended

Shri D. N. Davar Independent Chairman 3 3
Shri V. P. Sood Independent Member 3 3
Shri Gautam 
Dalmia 

Promoter Member 3 2

The Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
could not attend the Annual General Meeting of the Company held 
on September 20, 2016 due to health reasons. However, Shri V. P. 
Sood, member of the Committee, authorised by him, attended the 
Annual General Meeting.

The Committee is entrusted with the following functions:
(i) Formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, positive 

attributes and independence of a Director and recommend 
to the Board a policy, relating to the remuneration for the 
Directors, key managerial personnel and senior management. 
While formulating the aforesaid policy the Committee is to 
ensure that—

(a) the level and composition of remuneration is reasonable 
and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate Directors of 
the quality required to run the Company successfully;

(b) relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and 
meets appropriate performance benchmarks; and

(c) remuneration to Directors, key managerial personnel and 
senior management involves a balance between fixed and 
incentive pay reflecting short and long-term performance 
objectives appropriate to the working of the Company 
and its goals. 

(ii) Formulate the criteria for evaluation of performance of 
Independent Directors and the Board of Directors.

(iii) Devise a policy on diversity of Board of Directors.

(iv) Identify persons who are qualified to become Directors and 
persons who may be appointed in senior management in 
accordance with the criteria laid down and recommend to the 
Board their appointment and/or removal.

(v) Whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the 
Independent Directors, on the basis of the report of performance 
evaluation of Independent Directors.

(vi) Recommend to the Board, remuneration including salary, 
perquisite and commission to be paid to the Company’s 
Managing Director & Whole Time Director on an annual basis as 
well on their reappointment, wherever applicable.

(vii) Recommend to the Board, the sitting fee (including any 
change) payable to the Non–Executive Directors for attending 
the meetings of the Board, Committees thereof, and, any 
other benefits such as commission, if any, payable to the Non-
Executive Directors.
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Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee
As on March 31, 2017, the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee 
comprised of three members namely, Shri V. P. Sood, Independent 
Director, Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia, Managing Director and Shri Jayesh 
Doshi, Non-Executive, Non Independent Director. Shri V. P. Sood 
is the Chairman of the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee. The 
Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee met once during the financial 
year on May 17, 2016 and all the members attended the meeting.  
Ms. Rachna Goria, General Manager (Legal) & Company Secretary is 
the Compliance Officer.

The Chairman of the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee had 
attended the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 
September 20, 2016.

The terms of reference to this Committee is to consider and resolve 
the grievances of the security holders including complaints related 
to transfer of shares, non-receipt of annual report and non-receipt of 
declared dividends, in coordination with the Company’s Registrars 
and Share Transfer Agent.

The details of complaints received and attended to during the 
financial year 2016-17 are as under:

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee
As on March 31, 2017, the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 
comprised of three members namely, Shri V. P. Sood, Independent 
Director, Shri Mahendra Singhi, Chief Executive Officer and Whole 
Time Director. Shri V. P. Sood is the Chairman of the Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee. The Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee met three times during the financial year on May 17, 2016, 
August 16, 2016 and January 18, 2017. The particulars of attendance 
of the members at the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 
meetings are as under:

name of 
members

Category status no. of 
meeting 

held

no. of 
meetings 
attended

Shri V. P. Sood Independent Chairman 3 3
Shri Mahendra 
Singhi 

Executive Non 
Independent 

Member 3 3

Shri Amandeep Executive Non 
Independent

Member 3 3

Risk Management Committee
As on March 31, 2017, the Risk Management Committee comprised 
of three members namely, Shri D. N. Davar, Independent Director, Shri 
Mahendra Singhi, Chief Executive Officer and Whole Time Director 
and Shri Amandeep, Whole Time Director, Shri D. N. Davar is the 
Chairman of the Risk Management Committee. The Risk Management 
Committee met three times during the financial year on May 17, 2016, 
October 25, 2016 and January 18, 2017. The particulars of attendance 

of the members at the Risk Management Committee meetings are 
as under:

name of 
members

Category status no. of 
meeting 

held

no. of 
meetings 
attended

Shri D. N. Davar Independent Chairman 3 3
Shri Mahendra 
Singhi 

Executive Non 
Independent 

Member 3 3

Shri Amandeep Executive Non 
Independent

Member 3 3

The terms of reference to this Committee is to develop and implement 
a Risk Management Policy for the Company, including identification 
of elements of risks, if any, which may threaten the existence of the 
Company.

Committee of Directors (Non mandatory)

The Committee of Directors is empowered to deal with all emergent 
matters arising out of the day-to-day business operations of the 
Company. As on March 31, 2017, the Committee comprised of three 
members namely, Shri D. N. Davar, Independent Director, Shri Puneet 
Yadu Dalmia, Managing Director and Shri Mahendra Singhi, Chief 
Executive Officer and Whole Time Director. Shri D. N. Davar is the 
Chairman of the Committee. The Committee did not meet during the 
financial year.

nature of Complaint pending as on april 
01, 2016

received during the 
year

answered during 
the year

pending as on     
march  31, 2017

1. Transfer / Transmission / Duplicate 0 1 1 0
2. Non-receipt of Dividend/Interest/

Redemption Warrants 0 0 0 0

3. Non-receipt of securities/electronic credits 0 1 1 0
4. Non-receipt of Annual Report 0 0 0 0
5.  Others 0 1 1 0
Total 0 3 3 0
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General Body Meetings
The details of last three Annual General Meetings (AGMs) and special resolutions passed thereat are as under:

aGm Date & time location Details of special resolutions passed

64th AGM 13th September
2014 at 4.30 P.M.

Company's Rest House 
at Rajgangpur - 770 017 
(Odisha)

Special Resolution was passed u/s 180(1)(c) of the Companies Act, 
2013 for borrowing not exceeding the aggregate of the paid up 
capital of the company and its free reserves by more than `1,400 
Crores.

65th AGM 18th September
2015 at 3.30 P.M.

Company's Rest House 
at Rajgangpur - 770 017 
(Odisha)

a.   Special Resolution was passed u/s 196,197, 203 and schedule 
V of the Companies Act, 2013 for appointment of Shri Puneet 
Yadu Dalmia as Managing Director.  

b.  Special Resolution was passed u/s 152, 196,197 and schedule 
V of the Companies Act, 2013 for appointment of Shri 
Amandeep as Whole Time Director and Chief Executive Officer 
(Cement Division).

66th AGM 20th September 2016 at 
11.00 A.M

Company's Rest House 
at Rajgangpur - 770 017 
(Odisha)

No Special Resolution was passed.

Postal Ballot
During the financial year 2016-17, four resolutions were passed by the shareholders through postal ballot. The Board had approved the notice(s) 
of the postal ballot and appointed Mr. Mohan Ram Goenka, the Practicing Company Secretary, as scrutinizer, who had conducted the postal 
ballot exercise in accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (LODR) Regulations. Shareholders were provided with the e-voting facility 
through NSDL for casting of their votes through postal ballot. The necessary intimations relating to the postal ballot and details of voting pattern 
were sent to the BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited, the Stock Exchanges where the Company’s shares are listed.

The details of resolutions passed by the shareholders through postal ballot and the voting pattern thereon are as under:

1.  Date of the postal ballot notice:  March 28, 2016
 Date of declaration of result: May 20, 2016
 Voting period: April 19, 2016 to May 18, 2016

particulars type of 
resolution

total no. of 
valid votes 

total votes cast in favor total votes cast against
no. of shares % of votes 

cast
no. of shares % of votes 

cast
Shifting of Registered Office Special Resolution 42774458 42769201 99.99 5257 0.0123
Alteration in Object Clause Special Resolution 42774448 42773177 99.99 1271 0.0031

2. Date of the postal ballot notice:  May 17 ,2016
 Date of declaration of result: September 20, 2016
 Voting period: August 21, 2016 to September 19, 2016

particulars type of 
resolution

total no. of 
valid votes 

total votes cast in favor total votes cast against
no. of shares % of votes cast no. of shares % of votes cast

Raising of Funds Special Resolution 42838404 42502431 99.22 335973 0.78

3. Date of the postal ballot notice: October 28, 2016
 Date of declaration of result: December 03, 2016
 Voting period: November 03, 2016 to December 02, 2016

particulars type of resolution total no. of 
valid votes 

total votes cast in favor total votes cast against

no. of 
shares

% of votes 
cast

no. of 
shares

% of votes 
cast

Scheme of Merger and Amalgamation 
amongst OCL India Limited, Dalmia 
Cement East Limited, Dalmia Bharat 
Cements Holdings Limited, Shri Rangam 
Securities and Holdings Limited and 
Odisha Cement Limited

Resolution passed 
with requisite 
majority by public 
shareholders only

6403381 6402306 99.98 1075 0.02

Presently, following resolution is proposed to be passed through postal ballot:
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Financial Year
The financial year followed by the Company is from 1st April to 31st 
March.

Dividend Payment
The Board of Directors has recommended a dividend of `5/- (250%) 
per equity share of face value of `2/- each for the current financial 
year which will be paid to those shareholders whose names shall 
appear in the Register of the Members of the Company including 
those shareholders whose names shall appear as beneficial owners 
in the Depositories account, as on August 23, 2017. The dividend 
payout date is September 01, 2017 and same will be paid within thirty 
days from the date of declaration by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting.  

The Company has credited all the due amounts to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund in compliance with the Companies 
Act, 2013.

Listing
The Company’s equity shares continue to be listed on the BSE Limited 
and National Stock Exchange of India Limited.

name of the stock 
exchange

address Code for 
equity shares

The BSE Limited Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers,
Dalal Street, Mumbai - 
400001.

502165

The National Stock 
Exchange of India 
Limited 

Exchange Plaza, 5th Floor, 
Plot No. C/1, G - Block, 
Bandra Kurla Complex, 
Bandra (East),
Mumbai – 400051

OCL 

The Company’s non-convertible redeemable debentures are listed on 
National Stock Exchange of India Limited:

security Descriptionw scrip Code (nse)
2000, 9.90% p.a Secured, Redeemable, Non 
- Convertible, Rated, Listed, Taxable Bonds in 
the nature of Debentures
STRPP of `10 Lacs each fully paid up
STRPP of `10 Lacs each fully paid up
STRPP of `10 Lacs each fully paid up

OCL20
OCL21
OCL22

The Company has paid the listing fees for the financial year 2017-18 
to BSE Limited as well as to National Stock Exchange of India Limited 
with respect to equity shares as well as non-convertible redeemable 
debentures.

The securities of the Company have never been suspended from 
trading.

Stock Market Data
The market price data as per quotations of BSE Limited and National 
Stock Exchange of India Limited i.e., high, low and close during each 
month during the financial year 2016-17 in comparison to the broad-
based indices, i.e., BSE Sensex and S&P CNX Nifty is as under:

1. Special Resolution seeking approval of shareholders to 
authorize the Board of Directors to raise funds by issue and  
allotment of further securities and to create necessary mortgage 
and/or charge therefor.

Means of Communication

The Company follows a robust process of communicating 
with its stakeholders. The Company uses multiple channels of 
communications viz. on-line portals of stock exchanges and SEBI, 
annual reports, website, newspapers, etc.

The quarterly unaudited and annual audited financial results are 
disseminated to the BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India 
Limited, where the shares of the Company are listed, within the time 
limit prescribed in the SEBI (LODR) Regulations.

The quarterly unaudited and annual audited financial results are 
also published in the English/Hindi newspapers having Country 
wide circulation, i.e., Economic Times/Financial Express and also in 
newspapers having wide circulation in the Odisha, where registered 
office of the Company is situated, i.e., Sambad/Samaja/Samaya.

The said results are also posted on the Company’s website, i.e., www.
oclindialtd.in.

The Company also communicates the dates of Board meetings 
and General meetings, notice of postal ballot and e-voting, etc. as 
per the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations through Stock Exchanges, newspaper publications and 
by posting on the Company’s website. 

The Company discloses all material events and information through 
Stock Exchanges in accordance with the SEBI (LODR) Regulations read 
with Company’s Policy for determination of materiality of events and 
information for disclosure to the Stock Exchanges, which is posted 
on the Company’s website at http://www.oclindialtd.in/postal_doc/
materialityevents2408.pdf

General Shareholder Information
Annual General Meeting
Date: August 30, 2017
Time: 11.00 a.m.
Venue: Registered Office*
*The Company is in the process of shifting of its registered office from 
the State of Odisha to the State of Tamil Nadu within the jurisdiction 
of the Registrar of Companies, Chennai. The process of shifting the 
registered office is expected to be completed soon. The Annual 
General Meeting will be held either at the existing registered office 
at Rajgangpur-770017, District Sundargarh, Odisha or at the new 
Registered Office proposed to be situated at Dalmiapuram - 621651, 
District Tiruchirapalli, Tamil Nadu.

The shareholders will be informed of the venue through the notice of 
the Annual General Meeting to be sent to each of them.
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OCL share price on BSE vis a vis BSE Sensex April 2016 -  
March 2017

months Bse 
sensex 

Close

oCl share price (on Bse)

high ` low ` Close `

April 2016 25606.62 510.00 455.50 494.80
May 2016 26667.96 638.00 480.00 570.95
June 2016 26999.72 662.10 570.00 656.20
July 2016 28051.86 800.75 603.00 760.35
August 2016 28452.17 842.00 702.00 816.85
September 2016 27865.96 919.00 799.70 840.65
October 2016 27930.21 987.85 840.65 951.05
November 2016 26652.81 996.65 679.35 809.45
December 2016 26626.46 810.00 650.00 703.00
January 2017 27655.96 915.00 705.00 857.00
February 2017 28743.32 1037.00 852.80 904.85
March 2017 29620.50 937.35 880.00 920.15

OCL share price on NSE vis a vis S&P CNX Nifty April 2016 -  
March 2017

months s & p 
CnX nifty 

Close

oCl share price (on nse)

high ` low ` Close `

April 2016 7849.80 513.00 465.00 493.65
May 2016 8160.10 638.00 480.00 568.95
June 2016 8287.75 660.00 564.00 653.60
July 2016 8638.50 799.00 617.20 759.00
August 2016 8786.20 835.00 694.05 814.45
September 2016 8611.15 920.00 802.00 838.95
October 2016 8625.70 988.40 843.05 947.50
November 2016 8224.50 994.40 681.15 807.75
December 2016 8185.80 829.00 651.05 706.30
January 2017 8561.30 915.00 693.05 857.65
February 2017 8879.60 1031.40 851.00 906.75
March 2017 9173.75 944.00 880.10 926.75
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Registrar and Transfer Agent
The Company’s Registrar and Transfer Agent is  
M/s C B Management Services (P) Limited
P-22, Bondel Road, Kolkata- 700 019

Share Transfer system
The facility to hold the Company’s shares in electronic form is available 
to the shareholders as the Company has joined both Depositories 
namely NSDL and CDSL.

Share transfer documents for physical transfer and requests for 
dematerialisation of shares are sent to the Company’s registrars M/s C 

B Management Services (P) Limited at P-22 Bondel Road, Kolkata- 700 
019.

In terms of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Investor Education 
and Protection  Fund (IEPF) Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer 
and Refund) Rules, 2016, the Company is required to credit such 
shares, in respect of which dividend has not been paid or claimed 
for seven consecutive years or more, to demat account of IEPF 
Authority. As required under the said Rules, the Company has sent 
individual intimation to the shareholders whose shares are liable to 
be credited to demat account of IEPF Authority. The Company has 
also published necessary notice in the newspapers inviting attention 
of the shareholders to the said Rules. 

Distribution of Shareholding
The distribution of the shareholding of the equity shares of the Company by size as on March 31, 2017.

range no. of shareholders % of shareholders no. of shares % of shareholding
1 – 100 6254 56.23 236588 0.42
101 – 250 1556 13.99 274449 0.48
251 -500 1233 11.09 488750 0.86
501 -1000 926 8.33 711940 1.25
1001 – 2000 602 5.41 862251 1.52
2001 – 3000 202 1.82 519487 0.91
3001 – 4000 84 0.76 291280 0.51
4001 – 5000 67 0.60 306587 0.54
5001 – 10000 103 0.93 718051 1.26
10001 & above 95 0.85 52490837 92.25

11122 100 56900220 100

The distribution of the shareholding of the equity shares of the Company by ownership as on March 31, 2017. 

Category no. of shares total no. of shares % of holding
physical Demat

Promoters -- 42610522 42610522 74.89
UTI 17500 -- 17500 0.03
Mutual Fund -- 184738 184738 0.32
Banks 32245 38128 70373 0.12
Bodies Corporate 15429 6634340 6649769 11.69
Foreign National 4840 12240 17080 0.03
Non Resident Indians 19635 109194 128829 0.23
Clearing Member -- 10917 10917 0.02
Resident Individual 1267979 5540244 6808223 11.96
Foreign Portfolio Investor 300 401969 402269 .71
Grand Total 1374031 55526189 56900220 100.00

Note:  The Promoters have pledged 29019113 equity shares (68.10% of their shareholding) of the Company. 
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0.12

Promoters
74.89

Bodies Corporates
11.69

Clearing Member
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Dematerialisation of Shares 
As on March 31, 2017, 97.59% shares of the Company are held in the 
dematerialised form. The Promoters of the Company hold their entire 
shareholding in dematerialised form.                                                                                     

Outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants/Convertible instruments 
There are no outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any convertible 
instruments.

Details of public funding obtained in the last three years 
Nil 

Office/Plant locations

registered office address and 
Corporate office address

plant locations

Registered Office*:
OCL India Limited
Rajgangpur - 770 017, District 
Sundargarh,  Odisha

Cement and Refractory 
AT/PO: Rajgangpur
Dist: Sundargarh
Odisha 770017.

Corporate Office/
correspondence:
7th, 11th and 12th Floor, 
Hanasalaya Building, 15, 
Barakhamba Road, 
New Delhi – 110 001

Kapilas Cement Works
AT: Biswali, P.O.: Barunia, 
Dist: Cuttack 
Odisha 754082

Bengal Cement Works
At village: Kulapachuria, 
PO: Beuncha, Via: Godapiasal, 
PS: Salboni, Dist: Paschim Midnipur, 
West Bengal, Pin-721 129.

*  Please see further details under the heading ‘Annual General 
Meeting’. 

DISCLOSURES 
Related Party Transactions
The disclosures in compliance with the Accounting Standard 
on “Related Party Disclosure” are given at Note No. 42.15 of the 
Standalone Financial Statements. 

No materially significant related party transactions, having potential 
conflict with the interests of the Company at large, have been entered 
into during the Financial Year 2016-17.

The Related Party Transactions Policy is posted at http://www.
oclindialtd.in/postal_doc/RelPartyPolicy.pdf

Compliance
The Company is fully compliant with the applicable mandatory 
requirements of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, and also with other 
regulatory requirements on capital markets. No penalties/strictures 
have been imposed on it by the Stock Exchanges, SEBI or any statutory 
authority on any matter related to capital markets during last three 
years.

The Company is complying with all the corporate governance 
requirements specified in Regulations 17 to 27 and clauses (b) to (i) of 
sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 46 of SEBI (LODR) Regulations.

Adoption of non-mandatory requirements
In terms of Regulation 27(1) read with Part E of Schedule II of SEBI 
(LODR) Regulations, the Company has adopted the following 
discretionary requirements -

1. The Non-Executive Chairman is allowed reimbursement of 
expenses incurred in performance of his duties. He has, however, 
not desired an office at the Company’s expense.

2. The Company has appointed separate persons to the post of 
Chairman, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer as 
under:

a.  Shri P. K. Khaitan – Chairman
b.  Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia – Managing Director
c.  Shri Mahendra Singhi – Chief Executive Officer and Whole 

Time Director
3. The Internal Auditors’ Report is placed before the Audit 

Committee during its quarterly meetings.

Whistle Blower Mechanism
The Company has framed Whistle Blower Mechanism and 
the same is posted at http://www.oclindialtd.in/postal_doc/
whistleblowerpolicy2408.pdf. All Stakeholders, Directors and 
Employees can have the direct access to the Audit Committee 
Chairman in appropriate cases.

Policy on Material Subsidiary Companies 
The Company has no Material Subsidiary whose income or net 
worth exceeds 20% of the consolidated income or net worth of the 
Company in the immediately preceding accounting year. 

The Audit Committee periodically reviews the financial performance 
of the subsidiary companies and the annual financial statements are 
tabled at the Audit Committee and Board meetings of the Company. 
The copies of minutes of the Board meetings of subsidiary companies 
are circulated to the Directors. 

The Company has framed Policy on Material Subsidiary Companies 
and the same is posted on the Company’s website at http://www.
oclindialtd.in/postal_doc/MaterialSubPolicy.pdf .

Disclosure of commodity price risk or foreign exchange risk and 
hedging activities
The Company has in place the currency risk management policy duly 
approved by the Board of Directors. However, the Company does not 
deal in the commodity market.

Unclaimed Suspense Account 
The Company has a demat Unclaimed Suspense Account in terms 
of SEBI (LODR) Regulations. However, there are no shares in the said 
account. 

Disclosure of accounting treatment in preparation of Financial 
Statements 
The accounting treatment(s) in preparation of Financial Statements 
is/are the same as prescribed in the Accounting Standards. 
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Code for prevention of insider-trading practices

In compliance with the SEBI regulations on prevention of insider 
trading, the Company has in place (1) Code of Conduct for Insider 
Trading detailing the disclosure requirements and procedure thereto, 
preservation of price sensitive information, trading while in possession 
of unpublished price sensitive information, prevention of misuse of 

price sensitive information, etc.; and (2) Code of Fair Disclosure of 
unpublished price sensitive information detailing the principles of fair 
disclosure.

CEO and CFO certification
The CEO and CFO certificate on the Financial Statements for the 
financial year 2016-17 is attached at the end of the report.  
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DeClaration

To 
The Members of OCL India Limited

Based on the affirmation provided by the Directors and persons in Senior Management of the Company, it is declared that all the Board members 
and Senior Management personnel are complying with the Code of Conduct framed by the Company for the Directors and Senior Management.

 For OCL India Limited

 
 Mahendra Singhi 

CEO and Whole Time Director 
DIN :00243835

Date: May 10, 2017
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AUDITORS’ CERTIFICATE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE REGULATIONS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF OCL INDIA LIMITED

1. We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by OCL India Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended on 
31st March, 2017, as stipulated in Chapter IV of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 pursuant to the Listing Agreement of the said Company with the stock exchanges.

2. The Compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our examination was limited 
to the review of procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the regulations of 
Corporate Governance.  It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company. 

3. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, we certify that the Company has complied 
with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above mentioned Listing regulations.

4. We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or effectiveness 
with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

 For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.
 Chartered Accountants
 ICAI Firm Regn. No. 109208W

 (M. S. Balachandran)
Place: New Delhi Partner 
Dated: May 10, 2017 Membership No 024282
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May 05, 2017

The Audit Committee/Board of Directors
OCL India Limited
New Delhi

Sub: - Certificate in terms of Regulation 17(8) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015.

Dear Sir(s),

In accordance with Regulation 17(8) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015, we certify that:

1.  We have reviewed the financial statements and the cash flow statement for the financial year ended March 31, 2017 and that to the best 
of our knowledge and belief:

 a.  these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain statements that might be 
misleading;

 b.  these statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with existing accounting 
standards, applicable laws and regulations.

2. There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the financial year ended March 
31, 2017 which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code of conduct.

3. We accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining internal controls for financial reporting and that we have evaluated the 
effectiveness of internal control systems of the Company pertaining to financial reporting. We have not come across any reportable 
deficiencies in the design or operation of such internal controls.

4. We have indicated to the auditors and the Audit Committee:-

 a. that there are no significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the financial year ended March 31, 2017;

 b. that there are no significant changes in accounting policies during the financial year ended March 31, 2017; and

 c. that there are no instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware.

Yours Sincerely,

For OCL India Limited

(H. L. Agarwal)           (Mahendra Singhi )
Senior Executive Director (Finance) & CFO                  CEO & Whole Time Director 

         DIN : 00243835
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BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY REPORT
OCL India Limited (“Company”), a step down subsidiary of Dalmia Bharat Limited, is a part of Dalmia Bharat Group and is engaged in the 
manufacturing of cement and refractories. Dalmia Bharat Limited along with its subsidiaries (collectively ‘Dalmia Bharat Group’ or ‘the Group’) 
is the fourth-largest cement manufacturing group in India. It holds the leadership position in the production of Portland slag and speciality 
cements. The Group has a presence in Southern, Eastern and North Eastern regions of India. 

The Company is pleased to share its first Business Responsibility Report which reiterates, reflects and reports a core philosophy and belief the 
Company has abided by since its inception. The Company has always respected the environment, operated with a sense of responsibility 
towards its several stakeholders and enhanced the intrinsic value of the business, of people and the country.

The Company firmly adhere to the ethos of corporate responsibility and governance, and our business values reflect our belief system. Along 
with the growth in the scale of production, we have also increased our green footprint by replacing conventional fuels and raw materials with 
alternative eco-friendly or renewable resources. Our commitment towards environment sustainability can be witnessed in our environment   
friendly practices in all areas of our operations including manufacturing of blended cement and heavy investment in the green technology.

With a mission to significantly add value to the society and to all our stakeholders, all our efforts are centered around fostering our human capital 
and increase happiness quotient at our workplace. We continue to emphasize on socio-economic development of people and empowering the 
local communities by adding value to their lives amongst others through skill development, economic assistance and healthcare. We flaunt our 
responsibility of upholding sustainable practices in all areas of business.

SECTION A: GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

1. Corporate Identity Number (CIN) of the 
Company

L26942OR1949PLC000185

2. Name of the Company OCL India Limited
3. Registered address AT/PO/PS Rajgangpur, District Sundargarh, Odisha – 770 017
4. Website www.oclindialtd.in
5. E-mail id grievance@ocl.in
6. Financial Year reported April 01, 2016 to March 

31, 2017
7. Sector(s) that the Company is engaged 

in(industrial activity code-wise)
Group Class Sub Class Description
239 2394 23941 Manufacture of clinker and cement
239 2391 23911 and 

23912
Manufacture of refractories

8. List three key products/services that the 
Company manufactures/provides (as in 
balance sheet)

(i) Cement

(ii)  Refractories

9. Total number of locations where business activity is undertaken by the Company
(a)  Number of International Locations 

(Provide details of major 5)
OCL China Limited, a step down subsidiary of the Company, has a manufacturing facility 
in China.

(b)  Number of National Locations The Company’s cement manufacturing works are located at Rajgangpur and Cuttack in 
Odisha and at Medinipur in West Bengal.
The Company’s refractory manufacturing works is located at Rajgangpur in Odisha.

10. Markets served by the Company Local/
State/National/International

The Company serves the cement markets in eastern and central India, more particularly 
in the states of Odisha, West Bengal, Bihar, Chhattisgarh, Jharkhand, Uttar Pradesh and 
Madhya Pradesh.
The Company serves the refractories markets  in the states of Odisha, Chattisgarh, 
Jharkhand, West Bengal, Karnataka, Maharashtra, Tamil Nadu, Andhra Pradesh and Gujarat; 
and in the International markets mainly in countries like  Italy, Spain, the United Kingdom, 
Germany, Turkey, Russia, Saudi Arabia, Qatar, Iran, Bangladesh, Nigeria and Zambia.
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SECTION B : FINANCIAL DETAILS OF THE COMPANY

1. Paid up Capital (INR) 11.39 Crore

2. Total Turnover (INR) 3231.62 Crore

3. Total Profit after taxes(INR) 383.87 Crore

4. Total Spending on Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) as 
percentage of profit after tax (%)

The Company spent ` 3.61Crore on CSR during financial year 2016-
17, which is 2% of its average net profits for last three financial 
years.

5. List of activities in which expenditure in4 above has been incurred The details of CSR activities undertaken by the Company and of the 
expenditure incurred thereon are provided in the annual report on 
CSR activities and CSR expense report annexed to the Directors’ 
Report.

SECTION C: OTHER DETAILS

1. Does the Company have any Subsidiary Company/Companies? The Company has two wholly owned subsidiary companies, 
i.e., Odisha Cement Limited and OCL Global Limited, Mauritius 
and one step down subsidiary company, i.e., OCL China Limited, 
China. OCL Global Limited holds 90% of share capital in OCL 
China Limited. 

2 Do the Subsidiary Company/Companies participate in the 
BR Initiatives of the parent company? If yes, then indicate the 
number of such subsidiary company(s).

The core philosophy and belief abided by the Group, of which 
the Company and its subsidiaries are a part, is simple but vital 
in respecting the environment, operating with a sense of 
responsibility towards several stakeholders and enhancing 
intrinsic value of the business, of the people and the country. 
Accordingly, the business responsibility initiatives are intrinsic to 
all the subsidiaries of the Company, as far as applicable to them.

3. Do any other entity/entities (e.g. suppliers, distributors 
etc.) that the Company does business with, participate in 
the BR initiatives of the Company? If yes, then indicate the 
percentage of such entity/entities? [Less than 30%, 30-60%, 
More than 60%]

Stakeholder engagement is an important aspect of 
sustainability and leads to sustained profitability. Our Board, 
senior management, shareholders, employees and other 
stakeholders have helped us in conducting our operations in 
an ethical manner. We make sure that we are in regular touch 
with all our stakeholders to understand their needs, concerns 
and are open to their views and suggestions. This enhances 
informed decision-making and paves way for more effective 
compliance of business responsibility initiatives. We encourage 
all the stakeholders to participate in the business responsibility 
initiatives.  However,the participation in percentage terms has 
not been measured.

SECTION D : BR INFORMATION

1. Details of Director/Directors responsible for BR

 (a)  Details of the Director/Director responsible for implementation of the BR

  Policy/policies

No. Particulars Details
1. DIN Number 00243835
2. Name Mr. Mahendra Singhi
3. Designation Chief Executive Officer and Whole Time Director

 (b) Details of the BR head

No. Particulars Details

1 DIN Number (if applicable) Not Applicable
2 Name Ms. Rachna Goria
3 Designation  General Manager (Legal) & Company Secretary
4 Telephone number 011 23465314

5 e-mailid goria.rachna@dalmiacement.com
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2. PRINCIPLE-wISE (AS PER NVGS) BR POLICY/POLICIES

 (a) Details of compliance (Reply in Y/N)

No. Questions P
1

P
2

P
3

P
4

P
5

P
6

P
7

P
8

P
9

1 Do you have a policy/policies for.... Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

2 Has the policy being formulated in consultation with the 
relevant stakeholders?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

3 Does the policy conform to any national/ international 
standards? If yes, specify.

The policies are based on prescribed principles and in 
conformance to the spirit of international standards like ISO 
9001, ISO 14001OHSAS 18001, UNGC guidelines, GRI – G4 
guidelines and ILO principles, wherever applicable.

4 Has the policy being approved by the Board?
If yes, has it been signed by MD/ owner/ CEO/
appropriate Board Director?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

5 Does the company have a specified committee 
of the Board/Director/ Official to over see the 
implementation of the policy?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

6 Indicate the link for the policy to be viewed online? The policies have been uploaded on www.oclindialtd.in in 
accordance with the provisions contained in the Companies 
Act, 2013 and listing regulations.

7 Has the policy been  formally communicated to all 
relevant internal and external stakeholders?

The policies have been communicated to the relevant 
stakeholders directly or indirectly through various engagements, 
campaigns, training, awareness programmes, as applicable.

8 Does the company have in-house structure to 
implement the policy/policies?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

9 Does the Company have a grievance redressal 
mechanism related to the policy/policies to address 
stakeholders’ grievances related to the policy/
policies?

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

10 Has the company carried out Independent audit/
evaluation of the working of this policy by an internal or 
external agency?

The working of business responsibility policies is audited/
evaluated by the internal auditors and respective departments 
as a continuous process. Further, audit/evaluation is done 
through external agencies, wherever applicable. For example, 
Safety, health and environment is part of our IMS Audit, which 
includes audit on Quality Management ISO 9001, Environment 
Management System ISO 14001 and Occupational Health and 
Safety Management System OHSAS 18001.Further, third party 
assurance/audit is done on sustainability in accordance with GRI 
guidelines. 

 (b) If answer to the question at serial number 1 against any principle is ‘No’, please explain why: (Tick upto 2 options)

No. Questions P
1

P
2

P
3

P
4

P
5

P
6

P
7

P
8

P
9

1 The company has not understood the Principles.

Not applicable

2 The company is not at a stage where it finds itself in a 
position  to formulate and implement the policies on 
specified principles.

3 The company does not have financial or manpower 
resources available for the task.

4 It is planned to be done with in next 6 months.

5 It is planned to be done with in the next 1 year.

6 Any other reason (please specify).
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3.  Governance related to BR

(a) Indicate the frequency with which the Board of Directors, 
Committee of the Board or CEO meet to assess the BR 
performance of the Company. Within 3 months, 3-6 months, 
Annually, More than 1 year

The business responsibility performance of the Company is assessed 
on a regular basis by the Chief Executive Officer and Whole Time 
Director of the Company. Same is reported to the Board of Directors 
/ committees during their quarterly meetings, wherever applicable. 
Overall performance is assessed at least once in a year by the 
committee authorized by the Board for the purpose.

(b) Does the Company publish a BR or a Sustainability Report? 
What is the  hyperlink for viewing this report? How frequently 
it is published?

Sustainability Report of the Dalmia Bharat Group is published 
generally once in every two years. The first Sustainability Report 2013-
15 prepared in accordance with Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI) G4 
guidelines can be viewed at https://www.dalmiabharat
.com/pdf/Dalmia_Report_
R10V6_FinalWEB.pdf
The Company shall also publish the business responsibility report 
annually. This, being the first business responsibility report, may be 
viewed on www.oclindialtd.in.

SECTION E: PRINCIPLE-WISE PERFORMANCE 

Principle1 – Businesses should conduct and govern themselves with Ethics, Transparency and Accountability. 

1.  Does the policy relating to ethics, bribery and corruption cover only the company? Yes/ No. Does it extend to the Group/Joint Ventures/
Suppliers/Contractors/NGOs/Others?

  The Code of Conduct for Directors and Senior Management, Whistle Blower Mechanism, Related Party Transactions Policy, Code of 
Conduct for Insider Trading, 2015 and Dalmia Way of Life, amongst others, serve as road map to the Directors, employees of the Company 
and other stakeholders, wherever applicable. The Company has adequate control measures in place to address the issues relating to 
ethics, bribery and corruption. The mechanism includes the Board level committee(s), internal auditors, Human Resource Department 
and senior executives committee(s). The policy(ies) list tenets on ethical business conduct and the framework for reporting concerns. The 
code of conduct encourages every employee to report any act, deed or practice that is (being or likely to be followed) detrimental to the 
organization’s culture, values and ethics or financial interest through its ethics helpline managed by a reputed out sourced agency (KPMG).

2.  How many stakeholder complaints have been received in the past financial year and what percentage was satisfactorily resolved by the 
management? If so, provide details there of, in a bout 50 words or so.

  During the financial year 2016-17, the Company has received three complaints through the ethics helpline from different stakeholders on 
ethical issues related to misuse of authority, inadequate review/selection of freight routes and wrongful termination of employee. All the 
three complaints were reviewed in detail and concluded with due diligence in a timely manner. 

  Additionally, during the financial year 2016-17, the Company has received three investors’ complaints, which were resolved satisfactorily 
on time.

Principle 2 – Businesses should provide goods and services that are safe and contribute to sustainability throughout their life cycle.

 We are one of the first cement companies in India to develop slag-blended cement, prudently utilizing steel plant waste to manufacture a high 
strength product. We produce 100% blended cement with the carbon intensity of 395 kg CO2/ton of cementitious material, which is the lowest 
in the world at this commercial scale. In refractory business we are one of the first in India with all products certified with ISO 9001.

1.  List upto 3 of your products or services whose design has incorporated social or environmental concerns, risks and/or opportunities.

  The Company produces 100% blended cement using waste materials from other industries such as Granulated Blast Furnace Slag, a waste 
product of steel industry, in Portland Slag cement  and fly ash, a waste product of power plants, in Portland Pozzolana Cement. 

  This not only helps in reducing environmental concerns of cement businesses by reducing the burden on natural resources such as 
limestone, gypsum and other naturally occurring mineral compounds in up-stream activities in cement production but also addresses the 
waste disposal issues of steel and power industries at large.

  These efforts have made the Company a responsible organization to have the lowest carbon footprint in the cement sector, in India 
and globally at this scale of commercial production. Our carbon footprint for Scope 1 Green House Gas emissions was 395 kg/ton of 
cementitious material during financial year 2016-17 as compared to an Indian average of 579 CO2 and the global average of 612 CO2.

  With a view to ensure a safe environment, the Company has also developed Carbon-Free-Alumina-Spinel Brick in place of Magnesia-
carbon bricks for use in steel ladle. These bricks results in zero emission of harmful carbon monoxide during use at steel plant.
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2. For each such product, provide the following details in respect of resource use (energy, water, raw material etc.) per unit of product  
  (optional):

 a. Reduction during sourcing/production/distribution achieved since the previous year through out the value chain?

   The Company continues to strengthen its processes to achieve optimization of resources and reduction of resource use. During the 
financial year 2016-17, the Company has achieved the following milestones: 

  • Reduction in variable cost of production by around 14% during financial year 2016-17 as compared to financial year 2015-16.

  •  Reduction in auxiliary power consumption from 12.6% during financial year 2015-16 to 10% during financial year 2016-17. 

  •   Reduction in variable cost (excluding raw materials) for refractory production by around 9% during financial year 2016-17 as 
compared to financial year 2015-16. 

 b. Reduction during usage by consumers (energy, water) has been achieved since the previous year?

   The Company is committed to the objective of environmental sustainability and the initiatives taken by the Company during financial 
year 2016-17 towards the said objective in brief are as under:

  •  Reduction in power consumption per tonne of cement from 62.5 Kwh/tonne to 60.8 Kwh /tonne.   

  • Optimization of power wheeling amongst units.

  •  Investment in solar power.

  • Reduction in power consumption in making refractories from 333 Kwh/tonne to 328 Kwh /tonne.   

    Indian Cement industry employs dry process technology of cement production that has very low water consumption as 
compared to other manufacturing industries. However, in order to add further to our natural and social capital value, we have 
ambition of becoming water positive through minimizing water consumption and creating rain water harvesting capacities. 

3. Does the company have procedures in place for sustainable sourcing (including transportation)?

 a. If yes, what percentage of your in puts was sourced sustainably? Also, provide details thereof, in about 50 words or so.

   The supply chain is a very important aspect of business sustainability. The drivers on creating sustainable and robust supply 
chains arise from three primary areas, viz., risk perspective, operational perspective and stakeholder perspective. We work towards 
addressing these concerns at different levels of the supply chain. 

   Our supply chain includes procurement of raw material, packing bags, mining of limestone, inbound transportation, cement 
manufacturing, outbound transportation and end use of cement. Our plants have been strategically placed close to raw material 
resources as well as cement markets. This also ensures that our freight and transport costs are low, thus, giving us a sustainable 
business model. 

  We have implemented the following practices for sustainable sourcing and transportation -

  •  The key raw material, limestone risks are addressed through captive mining which ensure supply and business continuity. 
Keeping the environmental safety in mind, we have installed a cross country conveyor belt of over 10 km for transportation of 
limestone from mines to plant.

  •  Granulated Blast Furnace Slag is sourced from the local/regional steel plants. We have dedicated transporters and our own 
vehicles for the transportation of same. For the rest of the material, we use the rail transport.

  •  Fly ash is in abundance in the region and hence available free of cost. Transportation of same is done through road and we 
incur the transportation cost.

4.  Has the company taken any steps to procure goods and services from local & small producers, including communities surrounding their 
place of work?

 a. If yes, what steps have been taken to improve their capacity and capability of local and small vendors?

   We support local sourcing of raw materials and engagement of local service providers. We encourage involvement of local 
communities in varied manner in the plant operations, e.g., supply of polythene sheets for covering of trucks and rakes, packing 
and loading, manpower for motor rewinding, repair works, mechanical, electrical, civil and construction works, etc. Such inclusive 
approach helps in improvement of capacity and capability of local communities living around the plants. 

   Additionally, the Company also patronize the local contractors, organize vendor’s meet/workshops for up gradation of their skill, 
knowledge and quality norms, recognize and reward the vendors for good performance, provide training for health, safety and 
environment, make timely payments,  etc. to improve their capacity and capability.
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5.  Does the company have a mechanism to recycle products and waste? If yes, what is the percentage of recycling of products and waste 
(separately as<5%,5-10%,>10%). Also, provide details there of, in about 50 words or so.

  The co-processing of waste is being done in an environmental friendly manner. This helps us in sustaining our green initiatives and thereby 
decreasing greenhouse gas emissions. 

  Also, the paper waste, old newspapers, magazines, cardboard etc. are collected by an authorized recycling agency and points are awarded 
in lieu of the waste collected which in turn are redeemable against recycled stationery products like pens, calendars and writing pads etc. 
The Company also follows proper e-waste disposal processes, which have been adopted to support sustainability. We encourage recycling 
of the wastes generated at our premises and strive to become a zero water discharge facility. The treated water from our effluent treatment 
plants and sewage treatment plants is used in dust suppression and process use. 

  In order to protect and preserve the environment, the Company follow three R’s, viz. Reduce, Reuse and Recycle in all areas of its operations 
which include inter alia recycling of rejected/broken refractory bricks, reusing of high-density polythene bags, rebeating of drill rods and 
so on.

   The refractory rejections are recycled by crushing, grinding and re-using the rejected bricks to make new bricks and meet customers’ 
specifications. Similarly, high-density polythene bags are reused by stitching them with each other and making covers for raw materials 
kept in the open yard and thereby avoids purchase of new plastic tarpaulin. 

Principle 3 – Businesses should promote the wellbeing of all employees.

 We believe in fostering happiness by providing a safe, nurturing and progressive workplace to ensure enduring engagements with our 
employees. We encourage our employees to grow professionally and personally to their highest capabilities regardless of their race, colour, cast, 
gender, age, religion or nationality.

1.  Please indicate the total number of employees.

We area value-driven, people oriented and an accountable organization that offers the best working environment to all its employees. 

The total number of employees working with the Company as on March 31, 2017 is 2694.

2. Please indicate the total number of employees hired on temporary/contractual/casual basis.

We hire employees through contractors on contractual/casual basis from time to time for various types of activities, e.g, project based 
activities, cleaning, unskilled manual work, etc. The number of such employees keeps changing based on their requirement for the specific 
activities from time to time and as on March 31, 2017 the total number of such employees was 3184.

3.  Please indicate the number of permanent women employees.

There are 43 permanent women employees.

4.  Please indicate the number of permanent employees with disabilities.

We have two permanent employees with disabilities.

5.  Do you have an employee association that is recognised by management?

The Company respects the right of freedom of association, participation and collective bargaining of employees. We have an employees’ 
association at the manufacturing work recognized by the management of the Company. There are regular meetings between the 
management and the members of the association to discuss various welfare issues pertaining to the employees.

6.  what percentage of your permanent employees are members of this recognised employee association?

  About 38% of local permanent employees are members of such association.

7.  Please indicate the number of complaints relating  to child labour, forced labour, involuntary labour,sexual harassment in the last 
financial year and pending,as on the end of the financial year.

  No complaint has been reported related to child labour, forced labour and involuntary labour during the financial year 2016-17. However, 
one complaint relating to sexual harassment was received and was satisfactorily resolved.

8. what percentage of your under mentioned employees were given safety & skill up- gradation training in the last year?

 (a) Permanent Employees

 (b) Permanent Women Employees

 (c) Casual/Temporary/Contractual Employees

 (d) Employees with Disabilities

  Under the supervision of Group level Human Resource Department, we have a Learning and Development function equipped with a 
team comprising corporate and regional facilitators. The function is responsible for identifying training needs and planning curriculum for 
employees with an objective to ensure their career progression and developing their functional expertise.
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  People with different levels of experience and education become a part of our Group and we consistently invest in the training of our 
employees within the Company and beyond, thus, growing the team’s learning curve. We believe that our people are the most important 
assets and they provide a platform for a sustained growth over the long-term.

  The Company ensures ‘no harm anywhere to anyone’ as part of our commitment towards health and safety of all the people involved. The 
Company believes in skill development and up-gradation at all employee levels through various training programs organized from time 
to time.

  Towards this end, safety and skill up gradation training have been imparted to around 72% of the permanent employees and around 55% 
of the casual/temporary/contractual employees. Further, around 60% of the permanent women employees and 100% of the employees 
with disabilities have been trained under safety and skill upgradation programme(s).

Principle 4 – Businesses should respect the interests of, and be responsive towards all stakeholders, especially those who are disadvantaged, 
vulnerable and marginalised.

We believe that our growth and that of society are mutually dependent. Therefore, Corporate Social Responsibility must be about creating a 
shared value for both.

1. Has the company mapped its internal and external stakeholders? Yes/No

Yes, the Company has mapped its internal and external stakeholders that include customers, employees, suppliers, local communities, 
investors, government and regulatory authorities, etc. We have identified stakeholders who are impacted by our business based on peer 
review, internal expertise, past experiences, surveys and influence on the organization. We have adopted various communication channels 
for each stakeholder group. The key categories and their communication channels are as under:

Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels
Customers Timely delivery Customer feedback

Quality Customer satisfaction survey
Pricing Phone calls, e-mails and meeting
Post-sale support Signed contracts
Product related certifications Exhibitions, events Websites and social media

Employees Work life balance Emails
Training and skill development Intranet portals
Career growth Employee satisfaction surveys
Occupational health and safety Training programmes
Job security Performance appraisal reviews
Transparent communication Grievance redressal mechanism

Publications and newsletters
Suppliers Timely payment Emails and meetings

Continuity of orders Vendor assessment and review
Transparency Signed contract

Communities Local employment Training and workshop
Environmental pollution control Regular meetings
Infrastructure development Need assessment and review
Training and livelihood programmes Surveys
Participation in social services CSR reports

Investors Sustainable growth and returns Board meetings
Risk management Annual reports
Corporate governance Website
Market share Green portfolio programme
Operational performance

Government and 
regulatory bodies

Tax and royalties Annual reports

Compliance to laws and regulations Communication with regulatory bodies 
Employment Formal dialogues
Pollution prevention
Local economy growth

2. Out of the above, has the company identified the disadvantaged, vulnerable & marginalised stakeholders?

  The Company has identified the disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalised stakeholders through the corporate social responsibility 
team, which engages with various stakeholders and like-minded non-governmental organizations, educational institutions, research 
institutions, hospitals, trusts, etc.  We work for the social and economic development of the disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalized 
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stakeholders in our neighbouring communities. Some programmes are specifically designed to help the women, children, youth and 
elderly of the society.

3.  Are there any special initiatives taken by the company to engage with the disadvantaged, vulnerable and marginalised stakeholders?

 If so, provide details thereof,in about 50 words or so.

  We conduct the needs assessment study from time to time with the objective of identifying the needs of disadvantaged, vulnerable 
and marginalised stakeholders, which could then be implemented through public-private partnerships and/or multi-stakeholders 
engagement. We engaged Just Rojgar India Private Limited, a Delhi-based organisation, to undertake the needs assessment study of 
the community in the neighbouring villages and municipality of Rajgangpur. The study was undertaken in partnership with the District 
Administration, Sundargarh and Rajgangpur Municipality. The needs assessment report was presented to the concerned stakeholders of 
Rajgangpur and to the District Collector.

  we extend our support to the marginalised and vulnerable groups and focus on broad issues of the community and have taken the 
initiatives to engage with them, e.g.

 Running skill training centres for skill development and employment of youth and conduct career counseling programmes for them.

 Promoting women self - help groups and providing them with vocational trainings to develop skills such as stitching, beauty parlour, etc. 

 Running maternal, child and adolescent health camps.

 Running mobile health camps, medical van,and eye screening camps, etc. for elderly people.

 Implementing school intervention programmes along with establishing remedial education centres for children.

Principle 5 – Businesses should respect and promote human rights

1.  Does the policy of the company on human rights cover only the company or extend to the Group/Joint Ventures/Suppliers/Contractors/
NGOs/Others? 

  The Company respects and promotes human rights of all relevant stakeholders and groups within and beyond the workplace including 
that of communities, consumers and vulnerable and marginalised sections and avoids human rights abuse by the third party. The Company 
is committed to ensuring that people are treated with dignity and respect. 

  Our constant endeavour is to identify, assess and manage human rights impact within operations and amongst identified suppliers 
considered to have significant risks for the following viz. respect for human rights including non-discrimination, prohibition of child and 
enforced labour, freedom of association and the right to engage in collective bargaining.

  Integrity, trust, fairness and honesty are the basic guidelines that define our approach, behaviour and relationships that we build with 
people, both internally and externally. We have robust management policies to uphold human rights within our organizational boundaries 
and we continue to make our supply chain aware of the human rights issues.

  The Company does not tolerate disrespectful or inappropriate behaviour. The stakeholders can blow the whistle in case of malpractices 
and events that have taken place/ suspected to take place as per the procedure under the ‘Whistle Blower Mechanism’. Also, complaints 
can be reported to the internal complaints committee(s) formed by the Company as per its Charter against Sexual Harassment of Women 
at Workplace.

2.  How many stakeholder complaints have been received in the past financial year and what percent was satisfactorily resolved by the 
management?

  The Company did not receive any complaint during the financial year 2016-17 other than the complaints already reported under Principle 
no. 1 and 3.

Principle 6 – Business should respect, protect, and make efforts to restore the environment

1.  Does the policy related to Principle 6 cover only the company or extends to the Group/Joint Ventures/Suppliers/Contractors/NGOs/
others.

  At the Group level, sustainability is not just a programme, it’s a way of life and we have rooted sustainability in our corporate vision itself. 
We acknowledge the responsibility of upholding sustainable practices.   

  Our commitment to sustainability led us to join the ‘Cement Sustainability Initiative’ (CSI), a cement sector initiative of World Business 
Council for Sustainable Development. As a Group, we produce cement with carbon intensity lower than the global and Indian averages. 
In our efforts to reduce environmental impact, we are focusing heavily on industrial waste utilization for a low carbon cement production 
and our humble contribution to the circular economy drive at local or regional level. We are undertaking projects that aim to improve 
our performance in areas such as carbon footprint reduction, alternative fuel use, energy efficiency through low carbon technology 
deployment, water conservation and occupational health and safety.
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  We are a signatory to various initiatives such as United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), Caring for Climate Initiative, India Business and 
Biodiversity Initiative (IBBI), Carbon Pricing Leadership Coalition, RE 100, EP 100, etc. 

  The Company has taken various initiatives towards sustainability and a brief summary of the initiatives taken are as follows:

  We have made substantial progress towards utilization of industrial waste as an alternative raw materials and fuels. As a key contributor 
to the circular economy drive near our manufacturing locations, our group level alternative raw material consumption (waste from other 
industries as raw material) is more than 30%.

  Similarly, we have rapidly changed our fuel mix to include industrial waste origin fuels. As a result, the percentage of the industrial waste 
origin fuels (Pet coke and alternative fuels) has reached to about 73% in the financial year 2016-17.

  About 100% of the cement produced by the Company is blended cement. Blended cement uses less quantity of highly energy intensive 
intermediate product ‘clinker’ in cement and helps in waste disposal of other key industries such as thermal power plants and steel 
industry thereby mitigating the environmental impacts and reducing the Green House Gas emissions.

  Dalmia Bharat Foundation, the trust engaged in corporate social responsibility activities of the Group, is active in all 11 manufacturing 
locations of the Group and helps in propagation of the initiatives beyond our plant premises in the nearby areas. For example, Dalmia 
Cement (Bharat) Limited is a member company of WBCSD’s WASH Pledge that aims to provide safe drinking water, sanitation and hygiene 
at the workplace. The initiative has been further penetrated to nearby villages and schools to ensure safe drinking water, sanitation and 
hygiene. 

2.    Does the company have strategies/initiatives to address global environmental issues such as climate change, global warming, etc.? 
Y/N.If yes, please give hyperlink for web page etc. 

 Yes, we have strategies/initiatives to address the global environmental issues, especially climate change. 

  Our deep faith in “Clean and Green in Profitable” encourages us to take actions that benefit the environment while improving our 
profitability. We recognize the use of alternative fuels and raw materials as one of the environment-friendly methods to reduce our input 
costs, decrease the burden on waste generators and produce a low carbon intensity cement.

  At the level of commercial production, we produce one of the lowest carbon intensity blended cement. Our Group level carbon footprint 
is one of the lowest in the cement world. Our cement plants are certified with ISO 14001 (Environment Management System) and ISO 
50,001 (Energy Management System). We are a member of “Caring for Climate Initiative”of United Nations and feature amongst the 453 
global organizations who have endorsed the “Caring for Climate Initiative”of United Nations http://caring for climate.org/about/list-of-
signatories/. Additionally, we provide voluntary disclosure on strategies and initiatives under CDP’s annual disclosure cycle. We have both 
medium term and long term voluntary Group level targets to reduce carbon intensity to the range of 40-45% by 2050 as compared to 2010 
baseline. 

3.  Does the company identify and assess potential environmental risks? Y/N

  Yes, our manufacturing locations are certified with ISO 14,001 Environment Management System (EMS). The certifiable standard is based 
on aspect /impact based assessment of the activities being carried out in the plants. In addition, the climate change related potential 
environmental risks are assessed and reported in our annual CDP responses. 

4.   Does the company have any project related to Clean Development Mechanism? If so, provide details thereof,in about 50 words or so. 
Also, if Yes, whether any environmental compliance report is filed?

  Yes, we have initiated Clean Development Mechanism (‘CDM’) projects on blended cement under the approved CDM methodology 
ACM 0005. Further details of the same can be found at: http://cdm.unfccc.int/Projects/DB/DNV-CUK1156766994.32/view and https://cdm.
unfccc.int/Projects/DB/SGS-UKL1161119962.23/view. The compliance reports, as per the provisions of the central and state authorities/
boards are submitted at regular intervals.

5.  Has the company undertaken any other initiatives on clean technology, energy efficiency, renewable energy, etc. Y/N. If yes, please 
give hyperlink for web page etc.

  Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited, our holding company, has become first cement company to join RE 100 initiative with a voluntary 
target of fourfold increase in our renewable electricity consumption. Further details are available on http://media.virbcdn.com/files/
a9/55845b630b54f906-RE100AnnualReport2017.pdf .

  In our ambition to increase the share of green electricity, we have commissioned 8 MW captive solar PV project and are in the process 
of installing a 9.2 MW waste heat recovery project. Similarly, Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited is the first Cement Company to join EP 100 
(Energy Productivity 100) campaign to increase our energy productivity. 
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  In addition, we have replaced existing kiln burners by new generation burners (with less primary and conveying air requirements) 
leading to savings in fuel consumption in our plants. We have an internal benchmarking system and dashboard to provide plant specific/
aggregated Group level energy consumption, alternative fuel consumption and cement carbon footprint and the same encourages new 
initiatives. 

6.  Are the Emissions/waste generated by the company within the permissible limits given by CPCB/SPCB for the financial year being   
 reported?

 Yes, the emissions/waste generated by the Company is within the permissible limits given by CPCB/SPCB for the financial year 2016-17.

7.  Number of show cause/legal notices received from CPCB/SPCB ,which are pending(i.e. not resolved to satisfaction)as on end of Financial 
  Year.

 We have not received any show cause/legal notices from CPCB/SPCB.

Principle 7 – Businesses, when engaged in influencing public and regulatory policy, should do so in a responsible manner.

1. Is your company a member of any trade and chamber or association? If yes, name only those major ones that your business deals with:

We are a member of Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry, PHD Chamber of Commerce and Associated Chambers of 
Commerce and Industry of India, Confederation of Indian Industry, Cement Manufacturers Association, ASSOCHAM and FIMI. 

2.  Have you advocated/lobbied through above associations for the advancement or improvement of public good? Yes/No; if yes specify 
the broad areas(drop box: Governance and Administration, Economic Reforms, Inclusive Development Policies, Energy security, water, 
Food Security, Sustainable Business Principles, Others)

  Yes, we have been advocating improvement in public policies and procedures to achieve the objectives of the government like “Make In 
India”, “Skill Development”, “Digital India” and so on. Some key policy advocacies are as follows:

 Governance & Administration –

  Easing the Compensatory Afforestation Rules – We have been advocating for easing the procedure of Compensatory Afforestation Rules, 
which are time consuming and complex. We are in favour of delinking the project proponent to implement the project post completion 
of statutory and financial obligations of the projects instead of holding the project till the compensatory land is mutated in favour of the 
state. Our recommendations have found mention in the report published by Sh. Ajay Shankar on ‘Ease of doing Business in India’.

•  Public Procurement Policy –

•  We have been advocating use of ”Make in India” products for all public procurements.

•  Economic Reforms –

•   Transfer of mining lease within group companies: We are advocating that no charges should be levied in cases of transfer of mining 
leases within the group companies.

•  Inclusive development policy/Energy Security -

  Auction not to be the only method of alienation of natural resources: We have been advocating that no economy can be based on one 
method of alienation of natural resources. Though auction process is welcome wherein the reserves are known to certainty, there are 
resources which are not explored and sizeable for detailed exploration. These need to be alienated on the first in first out method else the 
national resources would be stranded without any economic benefit to the nation at large.

Principle 8 – Businesses should support inclusive growth and equitable development.

1. Does the company have specified programmes/initiatives/projects in pursuit of the policy related to Principle 8? If yes, details thereof.

We undertake CSR activities in accordance with the CSR Policy of the Company. We are committed to engaging with the stakeholders in 
the communities where we operate to ensure that we are listening to, learning from and taking into account their views as we conduct our 
business. Our vision is to unleash the potential of everyone we get in touch with and our mission to facilitate the stakeholders accelerate 
their social, economic and environmental progress through effective management of human and natural capital.

We are undertaking various projects across our plant locations. These projects are working towards improving the quality of people’s 
life living around the plants, connecting people to opportunities and creating resources within the framework of development priorities 
across India. In order to actively contribute to the social and economic development of the communities grappling with “quality of life” 
challenges, the following projects/programs are being implemented:

Soil and water conservation: Towards this, we have taken steps to spearhead environmental conservation awareness at all levels of the 
community, promote use of natural resources, make the community water independent, ensure air and soil conservation and  promotion 
of natural farming concepts, kitchen garden, etc. in most of our operational villages.
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Energy conservation and climate change mitigation: In the field of energy conservation and climate change mitigation, we have achieved 
great progress in the promotion of solar products. Fuel efficient cook stoves and smokeless chullahs are being accepted with greater 
enthusiasm by families across program areas. 

Livelihood Skill training: In skill development, our programs aim at providing livelihood support in a locally appropriate and environmentally 
sustainable manner through formation and strengthening of self - help groups for women empowerment, capacity building of such 
groups through training and exposure, introducing Income generation programmes, skill training centres, etc.

Health: In order to nurture the idea of better health and sanitation in the community, we have spearheaded some major health care 
projects, independent as well as collaborative. One such example is LV Prasad Eye Institute set up by us in Rajgangpur

In Education, our endeavour is to spark the desire for learning and knowledge at every stage through different educational initiatives. 
Realizing the importance and relevance of education for the children living in our operational villages, initiatives like running Ekala 
Vidyalaya in villages, running remedial coaching centres across all locations to provide quality education to primary  and high school 
students, scholarship to poor meritorious students for higher studies, creating conducive educational environment in the area by providing 
infrastructure support to schools, scaling skilling of teachers through teachers training, putting thrust on nourishing the genius mind of 
students by providing them suitable platform to demonstrate their curricular talents, etc. are  being taken up.

In Infrastructure Development, we endeavour to set up essential services that form the foundation of sustainable development through 
basic infrastructure facilities, safe drinking water, community centre in the villages, drinking water supply to villages, renovation of local 
markets, etc.  

In sports, we have encouraged games like cricket, football and hockey among the tribal youths. Furthermore, few special sports initiatives 
are strengthened like hockey coaching centers in Lanjibena, organising football and cricket tournaments in Rajgangpur, etc.

These achievements have brought smile on the faces of thousands of underprivileged people of the region.

2.  Are the programmes/projects undertaken through in-house team/own foundation/external NGO/government structures/any other 
organization?

  The programmes are being run by in-house team of dedicated professionals and are implemented by Dalmia Bharat Foundation, a trust 
set up by the Dalmia Bharat Group.

3.  Have you done any impact assessment of your initiative?

 Yes, we do undertake an impact assessment of our initiatives and take regular community feedback of our projects.

  We also undertake the need assessment study from time to time in partnership with the district administration/municipality with an 
objective to identify the needs of the stakeholders.

  The inputs from such studies are used to make informed decisions. The progress of various CSR projects/activities undertaken by the 
Company is periodically reviewed by CSR Committee.

4. what is your company’s direct contribution to community development projects-Amount in INR and the details of the projects   
 undertaken?

  The Company has spent an amount of ` 3.61 Crore towards community development projects during financial year 2016-17. The details of 
projects undertaken and project wise expenditure are provided in the annual report on CSR activities forming part of the Directors’ Report. 

5.   Have you taken steps to ensure that this community development initiative is successfully adopted by the community? Please explain 
in 50 words, or so. 

  All the initiatives are planned and implemented in partnership with the communities. The communities and all stakeholders are involved 
in conceptualizing, implementation and monitoring of the projects. After the projects are completed, they are handed over to the 
communities who then take care of the structures and continue with the projects. This approach has ensured that the initiatives are 
successfully adopted by the communities and are sustainable.

Principle 9 – Businesses should engage with and provide value to their customers and consumers in a responsible manner.

Customers are always encouraged to give feedback on the product quality or service to our Sales and Technical Services team. We also conduct 
our customer satisfaction surveys wherein the areas of improvement are identified and actions are taken around the feedback, by each 
department. We have dedicated a toll-free helpline number for our customers to address their concerns and it is ensured that call logs are well-
documented so that appropriate action can be taken at the earliest.

In order to develop a strong relationship with our stakeholders and to create a win-win situation for every stakeholder, we have adopted various 
communication channels for each stakeholder group. For example, customer feedback, customer survey, phone calls, customer visits, e-mails 
and meeting, exhibitions, events, websites and social media are some of the listening mechanisms adopted for different stakeholders to address 
any customer concern.
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1. what percentage of customer complaints/consumer cases are pending as on the end of financial year?

There are no customer complaints or consumer cases pending as on March 31, 2017. During the year under review, the Company has 
further strengthened the complaints redressal process for speedy resolution of customer concerns. All customer concerns as reported to 
the Company were addressed and resolved satisfactorily within the reporting period.

2.  Does the company display product information on the product label, over and above what is mandated as per local laws? Yes/  
 No/N.A. /Remarks (additional information).

We display the product information as per standards prescribed by the Bureau of Indian Standards.  It is ensured that the products sold by 
us meet the necessary compliance.

3.  Is there any case filed by any stakeholder against the company regarding unfair trade practices, irresponsible advertising and/or anti-   
 competitive behaviour during the last five years and pending as on end of financial year? If so, provide details thereof, in about 50   
 words or so. -

No case has been filed by any stakeholder against the Company regarding unfair trade practices, irresponsible  advertising and/or anti-
competitive behaviour during the last five years and pending as on end of financial year 2016-17.

4. Did your company carry out any consumer survey/ consumer satisfaction trends?

 During the financial year 2016-17, a consumer survey was conducted by a reputed independent organization called IMRB International 
with respect to the brand recommendation. As per the survey, about 61% of the sample size recommended our brand. 

 We organize our annual dealer and sub-dealer meets on cluster basis wherein our senior management directly interacts with our dealers 
who provide feedback or concerns and discuss future plans.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF OCL INDIA  LIMITED

Report on the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS financial statements of OCL INDIA LIMITED (“the Company”), which comprise the 
Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2017, the Statement of Profit & Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Cash Flow Statement and the 
Statement of Change in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) with respect to 
the preparation of these standalone Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs (financial position), profit or 
loss (financial performance including other comprehensive income), cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act, 
read with relevant rules made thereunder. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view and 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these standalone Ind AS financial statements based on our audit. 

We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters which are required to be included in 
the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statement of the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements in accordance with the 
Standards on Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone Ind AS financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the standalone Ind AS financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
standalone Ind AS financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial 
control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the standalone Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting principles 
used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the company’s Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the standalone Ind AS financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone 
Ind AS financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial 
statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, including the Ind AS of the state of affairs (financial position) of the Company as at 31st March 2017, and its 
profit (financial performance including other comprehensive income), its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1 As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) 
of section 143 of the Act, and on the basis of such checks of the books and records of the Company as we considered appropriate and 
according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in “Annexure A” a statement on the matters specified in the paragraphs 
3 and 4 of the said Order.

2 As required by section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary 



Corporate 
Overview 

Financial 
Statements

82     |  OCL India Ltd.   Annual Report 2016 -17  |  83

Management 
Reports

for the purposes of our audit;

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it appears from our examination 
of those books;

c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), the Cash flow statement and the 
statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this report are in agreement with the books of account;

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified 
under section 133 of the Act, read with relevant rule issued thereunder.

e) On the basis of written representations received from the directors as on 31st March 2017 and taken on record by the Board of 
Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31st March, 2017 from being appointed as a director in terms of section 164(2) 
of the Act.

f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company and the operating effectiveness 
of such controls, refer to our separate report in “Annexure B”. 

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and 
Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our knowledge and information and according to the explanations given to 
us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in its standalone Ind AS financial 
statements – Refer Note 42.4 to the standalone Ind AS financial statements.

ii. The Company has made provision, as required under the applicable law or accounting standards, for material foreseeable 
losses, if any, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts.

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by 
the Company

iv. The Company, as detailed in Note 42.20 to the standalone Ind AS financial statements, has made requisite disclosures in 
these standalone Ind AS financial statements as to holding as well as dealings in Specified Bank Notes during the period from 
8th November, 2016 to 30th December, 2016. Based on the audit procedures performed and taking into consideration the 
information and explanations given to us, in our opinion, these are in accordance with the books of account maintained by the 
Company.

 For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.
 Chartered Accountants
 (Firm Regn. No.: 109208W)

Place: New Delhi (M.S. BALACHANDRAN)

Dated: 10th May, 2017 Partner (M. No:024282)



Corporate 
Overview 

Financial 
Statements

82     |  OCL India Ltd.   Annual Report 2016 -17  |  83

Management 
Reports

(i) (a) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars, including quantitative details and situation of fixed assets.

 (b) An outside agency has carried out physical verification of the fixed assets partly during the last year and balance during the current 
year and reconciled with the books of account. We are informed that there are no major discrepancies were noticed on such 
verification.  Minor discrepancies stands adjusted in the accounts.  In our opinion, the frequency of verification is reasonable in 
relation to the size of the Company.

 (c) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records examined by us and based on the examination of the 
registered sale deed/ transfer deed/ conveyance deed etc., provided to us, we report that the title deeds of immovable properties 
are held in the name of the Company.  The title deeds relating to certain immovable properties including land have been pledged 
as security with banks and financial institution for loans, guarantees etc., are held in the name of the Company based on the 
confirmations from the respective banks/ financial institutions.

(ii) The stock of finished goods, stores, spare parts and raw materials except those held by consignees and stored in customer premises have 
been physically verified by the management at reasonable intervals during the year. No material discrepancies were noticed on physical 
verification.

(iii) The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured to companies, firms, limited liability partnerships or other parties covered 
in the register maintained under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(iii)(a),(b)&(c) of the Order 
are not applicable.

(iv) The Company has not given any loan or provided any guarantees or security to parties covered under section 185 of the Companies Act, 
2013.  In respect of loans, investments, guarantees and security, the Company has complied with the provisions of section 186 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

(v) The Company has not accepted deposits during the year from the public within the provisions of section 73 to 76 or any other provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules framed thereunder.

(vi) We have broadly reviewed the books of accounts maintained by the Company, pursuant to rules made under sub-section (1) of section 
148 of the Act and are of the opinion that prima facie, the prescribed accounts and records have been maintained.  We have not, however, 
made a detailed examination of the records with a view to determine whether they are accurate and complete.

(vii) (a) According to the records of the Company, the Company has been generally regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues 
including provident fund, employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, value added 
tax, cess and any other statutory dues with the appropriate authorities. There were no arrears of undisputed statutory dues as at 
31st March, 2017, which were outstanding for a period of more than six months from the date they became payable, except payment 
of income tax for last year of ` 83.19 crore and advance income tax installments for current year estimated by the Company at 
` 56.24 crore. We are informed by the Company that the said tax payments are not envisaged in the event of approval of the scheme 
of arrangement pending before the NCLT.

 (b) The disputed dues of different years, relating to income-tax, service-tax, sales-tax or duty of customs or duty of excise or value added 
tax, which have remained unpaid as on 31st March, 2017 for which appeals are pending as under:

Name of the Statute Nature of dues Amount (` in 
crore)

Period to which 
amount relates

Forum where the dispute is 
pending

Orissa Sales Tax Act Orissa sales tax/ VAT 3.16 2000-01 &  
2005-06

Orissa Sales Tax Tribunal

Central Sales Tax Act, 1956 Central Sales Tax -
(`11,371)

2006-07 Orissa Sales Tax Tribunal

Central Sales Tax Act, 1956 Central Sales Tax 3.89 2010-11 to 2012-13 Addl. Commissioner of Sales 
Tax, Cuttack

Orissa Sales Tax Act Orissa VAT 0.69 1995-96, 2005-06 
and 2006-07

Commissioner of Sales Tax

Bihar Sales Tax Act Bihar Sales Tax 0.25 FY 2013-14 Joint Commissioner of Sales Tax
West Bengal Sales Tax Act West Bengal Sales Tax 0.04 2014-15 CTO, Malda Zone
Central Excise Act, 1944 Cenvat Credit/ Excise 

and Service Tax
47.35 2005-06 to 2013-14 CESTAT, Kolkata; CCE, BBSR

Orissa Sales Tax Act Entry Tax 5.39 2000-01 and 2004-05 
to 2012-13

Orissa Sales Tax Tribunal

Annexure-A referred to in the Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of OCL India Limited on the standalone 
accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2017.
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Name of the Statute Nature of dues Amount (` in 
crore)

Period to which 
amount relates

Forum where the dispute is 
pending

West Bengal Sales Tax Act Entry Tax 6.27 2015-16 and 2016-17 Sales Tax Officer, WB

Customs Act, 1962 Custom Duty 0.87 2015-16 Customs- Commissioner    
Appeals

Income Tax Act, 1961 Income Tax 2.19 AY: 2007-08 to AY: 
2009-10 & 2014-15

ITAT and CIT(A) Delhi

(viii)  On the basis of the verification of records and information and explanations given to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of 
loans or borrowings from financial institutions or banks.  In the case of debentures no repayment has fallen due.

(ix) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, term loans taken during the year were applied for the 
purpose for which the loans were obtained. The Company has not raised moneys by way of public offer (including debt instruments).

(x) Based on the audit procedures performed and representation obtained from the management, we report that no case of material fraud 
by the Company or on the Company by its officers or employees has been noticed or reported during the year.

(xi) The managerial remuneration has been paid or provided in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of section 
197 read with Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013. 

(xii) The Company is not a Nidhi Company. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xii) of the Order are not applicable.

(xiii) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, all the transactions with the related parties are in compliance 
with section 177 and 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 to the extent applicable and the details have been disclosed in the Financial 
Statements as required by the applicable accounting standards.

(xiv) During the year, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly convertible 
debentures. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xiv) of the Order are not applicable.

(xv) According to the information and explanations given to us and the representation obtained from the management, the Company has 
not entered into any non-cash transactions with directors or persons connected with them. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xv) of the 
Order are not applicable.

(xvi) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is not required to be registered under section 
45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934.

 For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.
 Chartered Accountants
 (Firm Regn. No.: 109208W)

Place: New Delhi (M.S. BALACHANDRAN)

Dated: 10th May, 2017 Partner (M. No:024282)
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Annexure-B referred to in the Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of OCL India Limited on the standalone 
accounts for the year ended 31st March, 2017.

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company as of 31st March, 2017 in conjunction with our audit of 
the standalone Ind AS financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control over 
financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting(the “Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 
(ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its 
assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation 
of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 
143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and 
issued by ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if 
such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding 
of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s 
internal financial controls system over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
A Company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A Company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; 
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorisations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over 
financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such 
internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at 31st March, 2017, based on the internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by 
the ICAI.

 For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.
 Chartered Accountants
 (Firm Regn. No.: 109208W)
Place: New Delhi (M.S. BALACHANDRAN)
Dated: 10th May, 2017  Partner (M. No:024282)
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Balance Sheet As at 31st march, 2017  

(` In Crore)
Note no. As at  

31st March, 2017
As at  

31st March, 2016
As at  

1st April, 2015
A ASSETS

1 Non-current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 5  2,094.92  2,022.15  2,054.96 
Capital Work-in-Progress 6  22.38  121.40  131.14 
Investment Property 7  0.33  0.33  0.34 
Other Intangible Assets 8  18.05  11.46  14.49 
Biological Assets other than Bearer Plants 9  0.10  0.10  0.10 
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 10  63.43  63.38  63.30 
(ii) Loans 11  4.57  0.17  0.33 
(iii) Other Financial Assets 12  72.54  11.78  11.91 
Other Non-Current Assets 13  32.31  22.61  44.23 

 2,308.63  2,253.38  2,320.80 
2 Current Assets

Inventories 14  276.80  338.10  362.61 
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 15  1,593.94  1,395.54  1,058.67 
(ii) Trade Receivables 16  178.13  162.05  188.58 
(iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents 17  20.73  28.47  88.20 
(iv) Bank Balances other than (iii) above 18  1.19  2.11  1.07 
(v) Loans 11  1.79  1.50  1.63 
(vi) Other Financial Assets 12  270.05  67.81  14.95 
Other Current Assets 19  103.08  70.69  81.76 

 2,445.71  2,066.27  1,797.47 
Total  4,754.34  4,319.65  4,118.27 

B EQUITY & LIABILITIES
1 Equity

Equity Share Capital 20  11.39  11.39  11.39 
Other Equity 21  2,344.01   1,959.99  1,769.26 

 2,355.40  1,971.38  1,780.65 
2 Non Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 22  1,011.47  1,025.05  1,096.34 
(ii) Other Financial Liabilities 23 - -  31.51 
Provisions 24  23.27  20.39  18.30 
Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 25  399.54  387.42  421.99 

 1,434.28  1,432.86  1,568.14  
3 Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 26  115.39  92.38  121.88 
(ii) Trade Payables 27  296.66  321.76  279.92 
(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 28  209.99  276.11  275.40 
Other Current Liabilities 29  113.93  128.56  82.50 
Provisions 30  15.66  13.41  9.78 
Current Tax Liabilities (net) 31  213.03  83.19 -

 964.66  915.41  769.48 
Total  4,754.34  4,319.65  4,118.27 

Significant Accounting Policies and other information 1-4
Contingent liabilities and Other notes to the  
financial statements

42

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
   for OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board
 
 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W
 
 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)
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Statement of Profit and Loss FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH, 2017

(` In Crore)
Note no.  2016-17  2015-16 

I INCOME
Revenue from Operations 32  3,267.42  3,028.90 
Other Income 33  136.45  94.93 
Total Income  3,403.87  3,123.83 

II EXPENSES
Cost of Materials Consumed 34  450.62  463.32 
Purchase of Stock-in-Trade 35  42.61  42.53 
Changes in Inventories of Finished Goods 36  64.19  (16.65)
& Work-in-Progress & Stock-in-Trade
Excise Duty  355.55  364.25 
Employee Benefits Expense 37  190.72  158.83 
Power and Fuel  267.86  351.47 
Finance Costs 38  134.87  134.53 
Depreciation & Amortization Expense 5-9  146.26  203.06 
Freight and Forwarding Expenses

On Finished Goods  438.83  403.22 
On Internal Transfer of Clinker  62.52  84.21 

Other Expenses 39  719.45  631.90 
Total Expenses  2,873.48  2,820.67 

III PROFIT BEFORE TAX  530.39  303.16 
Tax expense 40
Current tax  134.48  91.19 
MAT credit entitlement  (12.72) -
Deferred tax  24.76  (34.21)
Total Tax expense  146.52  56.98 

IV PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AFTER TAX  383.87  246.18 
V OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 41

(i) Items that will not be classified to profit and loss  0.23  (1.03)
(ii) Income tax relating to items that will not be  
classified to profit and loss  (0.08)  0.36 
Total Other Comprehensive Income For The Year  0.15  (0.67)

VI TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  384.02  245.51 
EARNING PER EQUITY SHARE 42.1
(Face value of Rs 2/- each) 
Basic (`)  67.46  43.27 
Diluted (`)  67.46  43.27 
Significant Accounting Policies and other information 1-4
Contingent liabilities and Other notes to the  financial statements 42

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
   for OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board
 
 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W
 
 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)
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A.  EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL (REFER NOTE NO. 20)

(` In Crore)
As at  

31st March, 2017
As at  

31st March, 2016
Balance at the year beginning  11.39  11.39 
Changes in equity share capital during the year  -    -   
Balance at the year end  11.39  11.39 

B.  OTHER EQUITY (REFER NOTE NO. 21)

 For the year ended 31st March, 2017

Particulars Reserve & Surplus Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Total

Capital 
Reserve

Securities 
Premium 
Reserve

Debenture 
Redemption 

Reserve

General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Remeasurement 
of defined 

benefit plan
Balance as at 1st April, 2016  7.42   196.00  55.63  844.97  857.35  (0.67)  1,959.99 
Total Comprehensive Income/ 
(loss) for the year

 -    -    -    -     383.87   0.15   384.02 

Transferred from Retained 
Earnings to Debenture 
Redemption Reserve

 -    -    22.50  -    (22.50)  -    -   

Balance as at 31st March, 2017   7.42   196.00  78.13   844.26    1,218.72  (0.52)   2,344.01  

 For the year ended 31st March, 2016

Particulars Reserve & Surplus Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Total

Capital 
Reserve

Securities 
Premium 
Reserve

Debenture 
Redemption 

Reserve

General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Remeasurement 
of defined 

benefit plan
Balance as at 1st April, 2015   7.42   196.00  18.39  844.26   703.19  -    1,769.26 
Total Comprehensive Income/ 
(loss) for the year

 -    -    -    -     246.18   (0.67)   245.51 

Final Dividend  
(FY 2014-15:`4 per share)

 -    -    -    -    (22.76)  -    (22.76)

Tax on Final Dividend  -    -    -    -    (4.63)  -    (4.63)
Interim Dividend 
(FY 2015-16: `4 per share)

 -    -    -    -    (22.76)  -    (22.76)

Tax on Interim Dividend  -    -    -    -    (4.63)  -    (4.63)
Transferred from Retained 
Earnings to Debenture 
Redemption Reserve

 -    -    37.24  -    (37.24)  -    -   

Balance as at 31st March, 2016   7.42   196.00  55.63  844.26   857.35   (0.67)  1,959.99 

 The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements

   for OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board
 
 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W
 
 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)

Statement  of Changes in Equity  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH, 2017
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Cash Flow For the year ended 31st march, 2017

(` In Crore)
 2016-17  2015-16 

A CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax from continuing operations  530.39  303.16
Adjustment for:

Depreciation & amortization expense  146.26  203.06 
Loss/(Profit) on sale of fixed assets  2.74 (0.31)
Effect of exchange rate difference  (2.89)  0.75 
Profit on sale of investments  (31.48)  (45.38)
Loss on sale of investments  0.01  0.28 
Finance cost  134.87  134.53 
Diminution in value of investments -  0.02 
Interest receipt on investments  (2.70)  (5.14)
Gain on remeasurement of mutual funds at fair value  (87.42)  (30.05)
Notional commission on corporate guarantee  (1.30)  (0.09)
Other comprehensive income  0.23  (1.03)
Provision for Doubtful debts  1.59 -
Provision written back  (2.71)  (8.84) 
Bad debts written off  0.14 1.47
Dividend on investments  (3.00)  (4.10)

  154.34   245.17 
Operating profit before Working Capital changes   684.73   548.33 
Adjustments for Working Capital changes

Decrease/(increase) in non current financial assets
Loans  (4.40)  0.16 
Other financial assets  (60.76)  0.13 
Decrease/(increase) in other non current assets  (1.15)  0.25 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  61.30  24.51 
Decrease/(increase) in  current financial assets
Trade receivables  (17.81)  25.06 
Loans  (0.29)  0.13 
Other financial assets  (202.24)  (52.86)
Decrease/(increase) in other current assets  (31.14)  11.07 
Increase/(decrease) in non current financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities -  (31.51)
Increase/(decrease) in non current provisions  1.71  1.00 
Increase/(decrease) in current financial liabilities
Trade payables  (25.10)  41.84 
Other financial liabilities  (11.36)  18.42 
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities  (30.93)  42.22 
Increase/(decrease) in other current provisions  4.96  (317.21)  12.46  92.88 

Cash generated from operations  367.52 641.20
(Tax paid) / refund received (net)  0.18  3.20 
Net cash from operating activities  367.70  644.40 

B CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment,  (151.44)  (148.71)
CWIP and Intangible assets
Sale proceeds of Property, Plant and Equipment  4.41  1.73 
Interest receipt on investments  2.70  5.14 
Loss on sale of investments  (0.01)  (0.28)
Profit on sale of investments  31.48  45.38 
Purchase of current investments (net)  (110.98)  (306.82)
Dividend on investments  3.00  4.10 

Net cash generated / (used) in investing activities  (220.84)  (399.46)
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(` In Crore)
 2016-17  2015-16 

C CASHFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long term borrowings  13.36   115.00 
Repayment of long term borrowings  (77.23)  (202.01)
Increase/(decrease) in short term borrowings  26.34  (29.50)
Dividend paid -  (22.76)
Interim dividend paid -  (22.76)
Taxes on dividend Paid -  (9.26)
Finance cost  (117.99)  (132.35)
Net cash from financing activities   (155.52)  (303.64)
Net changes in Cash and Bank balances  (8.66)  (58.69)
Net Increase / (-) Decrease in Cash and Bank balances
Balance at the end of the year  21.92  30.58 
Balance at the beginning of the year  30.58  89.27
Net changes in Cash and Bank balances  (8.66)  (58.69)

Notes:

The cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 7, Statement of Cash 
Flows.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements

   or OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board
 
 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W
 
 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)



Corporate 
Overview 

Financial 
Statements

90     |  OCL India Ltd.   Annual Report 2016 -17  |  91

Management 
Reports

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION   
 OCL India Limited (the Company) was incorporated in India on 11th October, 1949. The Company is domiciled in India whose shares 

are listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) and the National Stock  Exchange (NSE). The registered office is located at Rajgangpur, 
Sundargarh, Odisha - 770017. The Company is engaged in the manufacturing of cement and refractory products. The Company is a 
subsidiary of Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (Holding Company) which is a subsidiary of Dalmia Bharat Limited (Ultimate Holding 
Company).   

 The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution 
of the Board of Directors on 10th May, 2017.   

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
2.1 Statement of Compliance   

 These financial statements, for the year ended 31st March 2017, are the first, the Company has prepared in accordance with  section 
133 of the Companies Act 2013, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Amendment Rules, 2016. For periods up to and including the year ended 31st March 2016, the Company prepared its 
financial statements in accordance with accounting standards notified under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013, read together with 
paragraph 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (Indian GAAP). Adjustments pertaining to transition to Ind AS is detailed in Note 
No. 42.19 of the financial statements.   

2.2 Basis of Measurement   

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis (which includes deemed cost as per Ind AS 101), except for the 
following assets and liabilities which have been measured at fair value:   

(i) Derivative financial instruments   

(ii) Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments).

(iii) Defined benefits plans - Plan assets measured at fair value   

 The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (`), which is the Company’s functional currency and all values are rounded to 
the nearest crore, except wherever otherwise stated.   

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   
3.1 Property, plant and equipment (PPE) and Capital work in progress (CWIP)   

 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, (a) it is probabale that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and (b) the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Property, plant & equipment 
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any. Cost includes expenditure that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. In the case of assets acquired out of long term foreign currency borrowings disbursed before 
31-03-2016, the exchange differences arising on account of settlement or restatement at the end of reporting period are capitalised 
and depreciated over the remaining useful life of assets. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced at intervals, the Company derecognises the replaced part and recognises the new part with its own associated useful life and 
it is depreciated accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection/ repair is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria is satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in 
statement of profit and loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for decommissioning of the asset after its use is included 
in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.    

 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment held by the Company as a lessee under a finance lease is determined in accordance 
with Ind AS 17-Leases.   

 Capital work-in-progress includes cost of property, plant and equipment under installations / under development at the balance sheet 
date and are stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. Borrowing cost attributable to the acquisition of qualifying assets are also 
capitalised.   

 Property, plant and equipment are eliminated from financial statement, either on disposal or when retired from active use. Losses arising 
in the case of retirement of property, plant and equipment and gains or losses arising from disposal of property, plant  and equipment 
are recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the year of such retirement/ disposal.   

 The Company has elected to measure items of property, plant and equipment on the date of transition to Ind AS i.e. 1st April, 2015 at 
its fair value and is using that fair value as its deemed cost on that date. Items measured at fair value are plant and machinery, buildings, 
freehold lands and railway line. Leasehold lands, furniture & fixtures, office equipments and vehicles are carried at their previous GAAP 
carrying amount which are equivalent to its fair value.   

 Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as specified in Schedule II to the Companies 
Act, 2013. Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item 
are depreciated separately. Property, plant and equipment which are added or disposed off during the year, depreciation is provided 
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on pro-rata basis.  Residual value and useful life of the assets are reveiwed periodically. Leasehold lands are amortised over the period of 
lease. In the following category of property, plant and equipment the depreciation is provided on technical evaluation of the remaining 
useful life which is different from the one specified in schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.   

- Plant & Machinery : 2 to 25 years  

- Lease hold Land : 90 to 99 years      

3.2 Investment Properties   

 Investment properties comprises freehold lands that are held for capital appreciation and recognized at cost less impairment loss, if 
any.   

 Investment properties are derecognised either when they are disposed off or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset is recognised in statement of profit and loss in the period of derecognition.   

3.3 Intangible Assets   

 Intangible assets are recognised when it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the assets will flow to the 
Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.   

 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets are stated at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss, if any.   

 The useful life of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least once at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life 
or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.   

 Intangible assets with the finite useful life are amortised over the useful economic life on straight line basis and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.   

 Intangible assets are amortised as follows:   

- Computer Software are amortised over 3 to 5 years  

- Mining rights including decommissioning assets are amortised over residual economic life estimated as per the mining plan or 
finite life whichever is lower  

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful life, if any, are not amortised but tested for impairment annually.   

 Intangible assets are derecognised either when they have been disposed off or no future economic benefit is expected from its use or 
disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in statement of profit and 
loss in the period of derecognition.   

 Research and Development Expenditure   

 Expenditure incurred on Research and Development, other than on capital account, is charged to revenue.     

3.4 Non current assets held for sale   

 The non-current asset classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

3.5 Impairment of non-financial assets   

 As at each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired and also whether there 
is an indication of reversal of impairment loss recognised in the previous periods. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, if any, the Company determines the recoverable amount and impairment loss is recognised when the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.   

 Recoverable amount is determined:-   

- In the case of an individual asset, at the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value in use ; and  

- In the case of cash generating unit (a group of asset that generates identified, independent cash flow), at the higher of the cash 
generating unit’s fair value less cost to sell and the value in use.  

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discounting rate that 
reflect the current market assessment of the time value of the money and the risk specific to the asset. In determining fair value less cost 
of disposal, recent market transaction is taken into account. If no such transaction can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available 
fair value indicators.   

Notes To The Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31st March, 2017
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 The Company bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared separately for each of 
the Company’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations are generally 
covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the 
fifth year.   

3.6 Inventories   

 Inventories are carried in the balance sheet as follows:   

 Raw materials, stores and spares, packing materials, loose tools are valued at lower of cost (net of cenvat credit) or net realisable value, 
after providing for obsolescence. For this purpose, cost is determined on FIFO / weighted average basis. Raw materials and other items 
held for use in production of finished goods are not written down below cost if the finished products in which they will be used are 
expected to be sold at or above cost.   

 Stocks of finished goods and work-in-progress are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value and for this purpose, cost is determined 
on absorption costing method.  Cost of finished goods includes excise duty.     

 Stocks of traded goods are valued at lower of cost  or net realisable value and for this purpose, cost is determined on FIFO / weighted 
average basis.   

 Goods-in-transit are valued at cost.   

 The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase (net of cenvat credit), costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition.    

 Excise duty is accounted on the basis of both, payments made in respect of goods cleared as also provision made for goods lying in stock. 
Value of stock includes excise duty payable/ paid on finished goods.   

3.7 Cash and cash equivalents   

 Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprises cash in hand, cash at banks and short-term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, cash at banks and short-term deposits, 
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts, if any, as they are considered an integral part of the cash management.

3.8 Foreign Currency Transactions   

 The Company’s financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee (`) which is also Company’s functional currency.  

 Foreign currency transactions are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency, using the exchange rates prevailing on the 
date of transaction. At each balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are reported using the closing exchange rate. Exchange 
rate differences that arise on settlement of monetary items or on reporting at each balance sheet date of the Company’s monetary items 
at the closing rate are recognised as income or expense in the period in which they arise.     

 Non-monetary items which are carried at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are reported using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are reported using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the date when fair value is determined.   

 The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items is recognised in line with the gain or loss of the item that gave rise to 
the translation difference (i.e. tanslation differences on items whose gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or the 
statement of profit and loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or the statement of profit and loss respectively).

 In accordance with Ind AS 101, exchange differences arising on long-term foreign currency monetary items related to acquisition of 
property, plant and equipments (other than land) are capitalised and depreciated over the remaining useful life of such asset. Exchange 
rate differences arising on other long term foreign currency monetary items are accumulated in the ‘Foreign Currency Monetary Item 
Translation Difference Account’ and amortised over the remaining life of concerned monetary item.    

3.9 Revenue Recognition   

 Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably 
measured, regardless of when the payment is being received.    

 The specific recognition criteria described below are met before revenue is recognised:   

 Sale of Goods   

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the 
buyer, as per the terms of the contract and no significant uncertainty exists regarding the amount of the consideration that will be 
derived from the sale of goods. Export sales and respective export incentives are accounted for on the basis of date of bill of lading.

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of 
payment. It excludes sales tax, Value added tax (VAT), trade discounts, rebates and returns but includes excise duty. 
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 Rendering of Services   

 Revenue from sale of services is recognised as per the terms of the contract with customers based on stage of completion when the 
outcome of the transactions involving rendering of services can be estimated reliably. In case, the contract outcome cannot be measured 
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered and if it is probable that 
expenses were not recoverable, revenue is not recognised.   

 Interest Income   

 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset.   

 Dividend Income   

 Revenue is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established by the reporting date.   

 Other Claims / Receipts   

 Insurance claims and other receipts, where quantum of accruals cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty, these receipts are 
accounted on receipt basis. Royalty for use of Brand name is accounted on the basis of actual sales by the user.   

3.10 Government Grants   

 Grants from government  including non-monetary grants at fair value, are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that (i) the 
Company will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the grant will be received.    

 When the grant or subsidy relates to revenue, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis in the statement of profit and loss over 
the periods necessary to match them with the related costs, which are intended to compensate.  Where the grant relates to an asset 
including non monetary grants at fair value, it is recognised as deferred income and recognised to income in equal amounts over the 
expected useful life of the related asset.  Where the Company receives non-monetary grants, then the fair value of the non-monetary 
asset is assessed and both grant and asset are accounted at that fair value.    

3.11 Employee Benefits   

 Short term employee benefits:   

 Short term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be 
settled wholly before twelve months after the year end, if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount 
as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.   

 Post employement benefits:   

Defined contribution plans:   

Retirement benefits in the form of contribution to Provident fund and Superannuation fund are defined contribution plans. The 
contributions are charged to the statement of profit and loss for the year when the contributions are due. The Company has no obligation, 
other than the contribution payable to the fund.   

Other post-employment benefits such as farewell gift to employees, medical insurance premium to retired staff are also classified as 
defined contribution plans. The contributions are charged to statement of profit and loss for the year when the contributions are due. 
The Company has no obligation, other than the contribution payable.   

Defined benefit plans:   

The Company operates defined benefit plan viz., gratuity. The costs of providing benefits under this plan are determined on the basis of 
actuarial valuation at each year-end. Actuarial valuation is carried out for the plan using the projected unit credit method.  

 Other long-term employee benefits:   

 The Company’s net obligation in respect of other long - term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. It includes compensation for accumulated absences. The costs of 
providing benefits are determined on the basis of actuarial valuation at each year-end. Separate actuarial valuation is carried out using 
the projected unit credit method. A liability is recognised for the amount not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after 
the year end.   

3.12 Borrowing Costs   

 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective asset. All other borrowing costs 
are expensed in the period in which it is incurred.   
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 Borrowing costs include interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method as described in Ind AS 109- Financial 
Instruments, finance charges in respect of finance leases are recognised in accordance with Ind AS 17- Leases and exchange differences 
arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.    

3.13 Leases :   

 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the inception date, 
whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use 
the asset even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.   

 Company as a Lessee   

 Finance leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the 
commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction in the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss.   

 A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Company will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease 
term.   

 Assets acquired on leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Lease rentals are charged to the statement of profit and loss on straight line basis   

 Company as a Lessor   

 The Company has recognised assets held under a finance lease as a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. 
The finance income has been recognised on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the finance 
lease.    

3.14 Earning per share:   

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit from continuing operations and total profits, both attributable to equity 
shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period.   

3.15 Income Taxes   

 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. It is recognised in statement of profit and loss 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 

 Current Tax   

 Current income tax represents the tax currently payable on the taxable income for the year and any adjustment to the tax in respect of 
the previous years. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.    

 Deferred Tax   

 Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet approach on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.   

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reveiwed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.    

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates ( and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside the statement of profit and loss. Deferred tax items 
are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if:

(i) entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(ii) deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to the income taxes levied by the same taxation authority. 

 Current and deferred tax is recognised in the statement of profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the 
Other Comprehensive Income or directly in equity.  In this case, tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively.   

 Minimum Alternate Tax credit is recognised as deferred tax asset only when and to the extent there is convincing evidence that the 
Company will pay normal income tax during the specified period.  Such asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and the carrying 
amount of MAT credit asset is written down to the extent there is no longer a convincing evidence to the effect that the Company will 
pay normal tax during the specified period.   
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3.16 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets   

 General   

 Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. When the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in 
the statement of profit and loss net of any reimbursement.   

 If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost.   

 Decommissioning liability   

 The Company records a provision for decommissioning costs of the mines for the extraction of materials. Decommissioning costs are 
provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows and are recognised as part of the 
cost of the particular asset. The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the decommissioning 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in the statement of profit and loss as a finance cost. The 
estimated future costs of decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs or 
in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted from the cost of the asset.   

 Contingent Liabilities and Assets   

 Contingent Liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes. Contingent Assets are not recognised but disclosed in the 
financial statements when economic inflow is probable.   

3.17 Fair Value Measurement:   

 The Company measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date.   

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either:   

(a) In the principal market for the asset or liability, or   

(b) In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability   

 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.   

 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.   

 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using 
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

 The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure 
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.   

 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities   

 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable   

 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 

 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether transfers 
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.   

 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.   

3.18 Financial Instruments   

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity.   
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(i) Financial assets  

 Initial recognition and measurement  

  All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.  

 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, in the same manner as described in subsequent measurement. 

 Subsequent measurement  

 For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:  

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost  

(b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)  

(c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)  

(d) Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)  

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost  

  A financial asset that meets the following two conditions is measured at amortised cost (net of any write down for 
impairment) unless the asset is designated at fair value through profit or loss under the fair value option.  

(i)  Business model test: The objective of the Company’s business model is to hold the financial asset to collect the 
contractual cash flows (rather than to sell the instrument prior to its contractual maturity to realize its fair value 
changes).

(ii)  Cash flow characteristics test: The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

   After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in the profit or loss. The losses 
arising from impairment are recognised in the profit or loss.  

(b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)  

 A financial asset that meets the following two conditions is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
unless the asset is designated at fair value through profit or loss under the fair value option.  

(i)  Business model test: The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.

(ii)  Cash flow characteristics test: The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

(c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)  

  FVTPL is a residual category for financial assets. Any financial asset, which does not meet the criteria for categorization as 
at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL.  

  In addition, the Company may elect to designate a financial asset, which otherwise meets amortized cost or FVTOCI 
criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if doing so reduces or eliminates a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency (referred to as ‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring financial assets and 
financial liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.  

  Financial assets included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the statement 
of profit and loss.  

(d) Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)  

 Equity instruments which are held for trading are classified as at FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the Company 
may make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value. The 
Company makes such election on an instrument by instrument basis. The classification is made on initial recognition and 
is irrevocable. 

 If an equity investment is not held for trading, an irrecoverable election is made at initial recognition to measure it at fair 
value through other comprehensive income with only dividend income recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

 If the Company decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on the instrument, 
excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the amounts from other comprehensive income 
to statement of profit and loss, even on sale of investment. However, the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or 
loss within equity. 
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 Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the 
statement of profit and loss  

 Derecognition  

 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e. removed from the Company’s financial statement) when:  

(a) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

(b)  The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement and either:

(i) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or

(ii) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

 When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the 
Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement. In that 
case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.  

 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to 
repay. 

 Investment in joint ventures and subsidiaries:  

 The Company has accounted for its investment in joint ventures and subsidiaries at cost.  

 Impairment of financial assets  

  The Company applies expected credit losses (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of impairment loss on the 
following financial assets:  

(a) Financial assets measured at amortised cost  

(b) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)  

 Expected Credit Losses are measured through either 12 month ECL or lifetime ECL and it is assessed as following: 

(i)  For recognition of impairment loss on financial assets, the Company determines that whether there has been a 
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition. If credit risk has not increased significantly, 12-month 
ECL is used to provide for impairment loss. However, if credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime ECL is used. 
If, in the subsequent period, credit quality of the instrument improves, such that there is no longer a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, then the entity reverts to recognising impairment loss allowance 
based on 12-month ECL.

(ii)  Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. The 12-month ECL is a portion of the lifetime ECL which results from default events that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

 The Company follows ‘simplified approach’ for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade receivables  

 The application of simplified approach does not require the Company to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it recognises 
impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, right from its initial recognition.  

 The Company follows a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance on the portfolio of trade receivables. 
The provision matrix is based on its historical observed default rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and 
is adjusted for forward looking estimates. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and 
changes in the forward looking estimates are analysed.  

 For assessing increase in credit risk and impairment loss, the Company combines financial instruments on the basis of 
shared credit risk characteristics with the objective of facilitating an analysis that is designed to enable significant increases 
in credit risk to be identified on a timely basis.  

(ii) Financial liabilities

 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.  
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 The Company’s financial liabilities include loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments. 

 Subsequent measurement  

 The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:  

(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  

  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.  

  Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This 
category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS 109. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for 
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.  

 Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.  

 Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated as such at the initial date 
of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are satisfied.  

 (b) Loans and borrowings  

   After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in statement of profit and loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.  

   Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss.  

 (c) Financial Guarantee Contracts  

   Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse 
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms 
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of 
the amount of loss allowance determined as per impairment requirements of Ind AS 109 and the amount recognised less 
cumulative amortisation.

  Derecognition

   A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss.  

(iii) Offsetting of financial instruments  

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realize the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.  

(iv) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting  

   The Company enters into derivative contracts to hedge foreign currency risks and interest rate risks. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when 
the fair value is negative.  

  Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss, except for the effective 
portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later reclassified to statement of profit and 
loss when the hedge item affects profit or loss.  

3.19 Distribution of dividend to equity shareholders    

 The Company recognises a liability to make distributions to equity shareholders when the distribution is authorised and the distribution 
is no longer at the discretion of the Company. The distribution is authorised when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding 
amount is recognised directly in equity.   

 The dividends declared to holders of equity instruments after the reporting period are not recognised as a liability at the end of the 
reporting period.   
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3.20 Segment Reporting   

 The Chief Operational Decision Maker monitors the operating results of its business segments separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is 
measured consistently with profit or loss in the financial statements.   

 The operating segments have been identified on the basis of the nature of products/ services.   

(i)   Segment revenue includes sales and other income directly identifiable with / allocable to the segment including inter-segment 
revenue.  

(ii)  Expenses that are directly identifiable with/ allocable to segments are considered for determing the segment result. Expenses 
which relate to the Company as a whole and not allocable to segments are included under unallocable expenditure.

(iii) Income which relates to the Company as a whole and not allocable to segments is included in unallocable income. 

(iv)  Segment result includes margins on inter-segment and sales which are reduced in arriving at the profit before tax of the 
Company.  

(v)  Segment assets and liabilities include those directly identifiable with the respective segments. Unallocable assets and liabilities 
represent the assets and liabilities that relate to the Company as a whole and not allocable to any segment. 

 Inter- Segment transfer pricing   

 Segment revenue resulting from transactions with other business segments is accounted on the basis of transfer price agreed between 
the segments. Such transfer prices are either determined to yield a desired margin or agreed on a negotiated basis.   

3.21 Current and Non-current Classification   

 The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/ non current classification.   

 An asset is current when:   

 - It is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle (twelve months),   

 - It is held primarily for the purpose of trading,    

 - It is expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period,   

   Or   

 - It is cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period.   

 All other assets are classified as non-current.   

 A liability is current when:   

 - It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle (twelve months),   

 - It is held primarily for the purpose of trading,    

 - It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period,   

   Or   

 - There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.  

 All other liabilities are classified as non-current.   

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS   
 The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amount 

reported in the financial statements and notes thereto. Differences between the actual results and estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the results are known / materialised and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

 4.1  Estimates and assumptions   

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. 
The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing 
circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or  circumstances arising that 
are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.   

4.2 Impairment of non-financial assets   

 The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
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amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.   

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, 
recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair 
value indicators.   

4.3 Defined benefit plans   

 The cost of the defined benefit plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of such obligation are determined 
using the actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from the actual developments 
in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and attrition rate. Due to the 
complexities involved in the valuation and its long- term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these 
assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.   

4.4 Fair value measurement of financial instruments   

 When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on quoted 
prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) model. The 
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where it is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required 
in establishing fair values. Judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility risk. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.   

4.5 Impairment of financial assets   

 The impairment provisions for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Company 
uses judgment in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on Company’s past history, 
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimated at the end of each reporting period.   

4.6 Provision for decommissioning   

 The Company has recognised a provision for mine reclamation until the closure of mine. In determining the fair value of the provision, 
assumptions and estimates are made in relation to the expected future inflation rates, discount rate, expected cost of reclamation of 
mines, expected balance of reserves available in mines and the expected life of mines. The Company estimates that the costs would be 
incurred over its residual economic life estimated as per the mining plan or finite life whichever is lower and calculates the provision 
using the DCF method based on the following assumptions:   

 - Inflation rate –  5.37%  

 - Discount rate – 7.79%  
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Schedule for the year ended 31st March, 2017
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PPE)

(` In Crore) 
Particulars  Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Depreciation / 

Amortization / Impairment 
 Net Carrying 

Amount 
Opening 
Balance 
as at 1st 

April, 
2016 

Additions Disposals / 
Adjustments 

Balance 
as at 31st 

March, 
2017 

Opening 
Balance 
as at 1st 

April, 
2016 

For the 
year 

On 
disposals 

Balance 
as at 
31st 

March, 
2017 

Balance 
as at 
31st 

March, 
2017 

Balance 
as at 
31st 

March, 
2016 

Freehold Land  111.47  -    -    111.47  -    -    -    -    111.47  111.47 
Leasehold Land  19.07  -    -    19.07  0.21  0.21  -    0.42  18.65  18.86 
Buildings  242.72  80.62  0.45  322.89  26.42  14.53  0.37  40.58  282.31  216.30 
Plant & Equipment  1,772.58  110.19  8.99  1,873.78  159.62 117.94  2.18 275.38 1,598.40 1,612.96 
Furniture & Fixtures  6.56  2.41  0.01  8.96  0.62  0.87  0.01  1.48  7.48  5.94 
Vehicles  15.78  1.73  0.08  17.43  3.39  2.50  0.05  5.84  11.59  12.39 
Office Equipment  11.12  4.47  0.36  15.23  2.88  3.10  0.14  5.84  9.39  8.24 
Railway Line  42.44  24.39  -    66.83  6.45  4.75  -    11.20  55.63  35.99 
 Total  2,221.74  223.81  9.89  2,435.66  199.59 143.90  2.75  340.74 2,094.92 2,022.15 

6. CAPITAL WORK-IN-PROGRESS

 121.40  105.52  204.54  22.38  -    -    -    -    22.38  121.40 
 Total  121.40  105.52  204.54  22.38  -    -    -    -    22.38  121.40 

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Freehold Land  0.33  -    -    0.33  -    -    -    -    0.33  0.33 
 Total  0.33  -    -    0.33  -    -    -    -    0.33  0.33 

8. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer Software  3.63  0.45  0.01  4.07  2.13  1.01  -    3.14  0.93  1.50 
Mining rights 
including 
decommissioning 
assets

 10.92  8.51  -    19.43  0.96  1.35  -    2.31  17.12  9.96 

 Total  14.55  8.96  0.01  23.50  3.09  2.36  -    5.45  18.05  11.46 

9. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS OTHER THAN BEARER PLANTS
Livestock  0.10  -    -    0.10  -    -    -    -    0.10  0.10 
 Total  0.10  -    -    0.10  -    -    -    -    0.10  0.10 
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Schedule for the year ended 31st March, 2016
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PPE)

(` In Crore) 
Particulars  Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Depreciation / 

Amortization / Impairment 
 Net Carrying 

Amount 
Opening 
Balance 
as at 1st 

April, 
2015 

Additions Disposals / 
Adjustments 

Balance 
as at 31st 

March, 
2016 

Opening 
Balance 
as at 1st 

April, 
2015 

For the 
year 

On 
disposals 

Balance 
as at 
31st 

March, 
2016 

Balance 
as at 
31st 

March, 
2016 

Balance 
as at 
31st 

March, 
2015 

Freehold Land 111.47  -    -   111.47  -    -    -    -   111.47 111.47
Leasehold Land 19.07  -    -   19.07  -   0.21  -   0.21 18.86 19.07
Buildings 172.70 70.16 0.14 242.72  -   26.42  -   26.42 216.30 172.70
Plant & Equipment 1,686.46 87.03 0.91 1,772.58  -   159.81 0.19 159.62 1,612.96 1,686.46
Furniture & Fixtures 4.26 2.16 (0.14) 6.56  -   0.62  -   0.62 5.94 4.26
Vehicles 11.31 5.23 0.76 15.78  -   3.55 0.16 3.39 12.39 11.31
Office Equipment 7.27 3.96 0.11 11.12  -   2.91 0.03 2.88 8.24 7.27
Railway Line 42.42 0.02  -   42.44  -   6.45  -   6.45 35.99 42.42
 Total 2,054.96 168.56 1.78 2,221.74  -   199.97 0.38 199.59 2,022.15 2,054.96

6. CAPITAL WORK-IN-PROGRESS

131.14 140.89 150.63 121.40  -    -    -    -   121.40 131.14
 Total 131.14 140.89 150.63 121.40  -    -    -    -   121.40 131.14

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Freehold Land 0.34  -   0.01 0.33  -    -    -    -   0.33 0.34
 Total 0.34  -   0.01 0.33  -    -    -    -   0.33 0.34

8. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer Software 3.57 0.06  -   3.63  -   2.13  -   2.13 1.50 3.57
Mining rights 
including 
decommissioning 
assets

10.92  -    -   10.92  -   0.96  -   0.96 9.96 10.92

 Total 14.49 0.06  -   14.55  -   3.09  -   3.09 11.46 14.49

9. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS OTHER THAN BEARER PLANTS
Livestock 0.10 0.02 0.02 0.10  -    -    -    -   0.10 0.10
 Total 0.10 0.02 0.02 0.10  -    -    -    -   0.10 0.10
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OTHER NOTES TO NOTE NO. 5 TO 9    

(a) Disclosures for Property, Plant & Equipment (PPE) and Capital Work-in-Progress (CWIP)   
(i) Amount of borrowing cost capitalised and rate of capitalisation
 (` In Crore)

Particulars 2016-17 2015-16
Borrowing costs capitalised 1.75 3.85 
Rate of capitalisation ( average rate of borrowings costs applicable to the borrowings related to 
the qualified assets)

7.37% 6.60%

(ii) Additions/ (-) deduction to PPE and Capital work-in-progress includes ̀ -2.39 Crore (Previous Year: ̀ 5.76 Crore) towards adjustment 
of foreign exchange loss / (gain) on long term foreign currency borrowings.     

(iii) The Company has clear title to all the items of PPE. All the PPE related to Cement Division (with net carrying values shown at 
`2,001.10 Crore, `1,923.02 Crore and `1,935.09 Crore, as on 31st March, 2017, 31st March, 2016 and 1st April, 2015 respectively) 
are either mortgaged or hypothecated against the secured borrowings of the company as detailed in Note No. 22 and 26.

(iv) The Company has elected the option of fair value as deemed cost for following class of PPE: 
 (` In Crore)

Class of Assets revalued IGAAP Value Fair Value Adjustments Other Adjustments Ind AS  Value
Freehold land  6.24  105.23  -    111.47 
Leasehold land  18.36 (0.01)  0.72  19.07 
Buildings  100.43  72.27  -    172.70 
Plant and Equipment  1,057.41  627.18  1.87  1,686.46 
Railway line  17.58  24.84  -    42.42 
Others items of PPE  22.84  -    -    22.84 
Total  1,222.86  829.51  2.59  2,054.96 

(v) The above fair valuation has been performed by an external independent valuer and following assumptions/ techniques are 
applied by the valuer:    

 Freehold  land   
 The fair valuation of landed properties are based on the benchmark value of land as fixed for different mouzas (village) by the 

authorities of respective State Governments.   

 Buildings    
 The replacement cost of each civil item has been arrived on basis of proper indexing to the cost inflation index. The present value/

fair value has been arrived after deducting depreciation for the life enjoyed till date. The plinth area cost Indices for civil works as 
set by Central Public Works Department (CPWD), New Delhi has been referred as cost inflation index. Designed/effective life of 
civil items as standardized for the industry has been referred.    

 Plant & Machinery & Railway line      
 The replacement cost has been arrived after proper indexing of the cost capitalised on the installation date. The above indexation 

are in conformity with the machineries and machine tools price index as standardized by the Reserve Bank of India. The present 
market value/fair valuation is arrived after deducting depreciation for the life enjoyed till date. Designed/effective life of plant and 
machinery as standardized for the industry has been referred.    

(vi) Capital Work-in-Progress includes the following expenses / (income)     
 Current year expenses pertains to Green Power Project, Rajgangpur and previous year expenses pertains to OCL Bengal Cement  

Works, Midnapore. 
 (` In Crore)

Expense/ (Income) 2016-17 2015-16
Finance charges  -    0.65 
Interest  -    1.95 
Others  0.22  0.01 
(Income)/loss on investments  -    (0.41)
Total  0.22  2.20 
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(b)  Disclosures for Investment Property     
(i) The Company has identified and reclassifed certain immovable properties as Investment Properties on the date of transition i.e. 1st 

April, 2015.      

(ii) There is no material expenses incurred for the maintenance of investment properties nor income derived out of the same. 

(iii) The Company has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to purchase, 
construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements. Investment properties are either 
mortgaged or hypothecated against the secured borrowings of the company as detailed in Note No. 22 and 26.  

(iv) As at 31st March 2017, 31st March 2016 and 1st April 2015, the fair values of the properties are ` 2.99 Crore ` 2.99 Crore and ` 3.03 
Crore respectively. Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited external independent 
valuer. The fair valuation of investment properties comprising land are based on the benchmark value of land as fixed for different 
mouzas (village) by the authorities of respective State Governments.    

(c)  Disclosures for Intangible Assets     
(i) The mining rights has been granted by various state governments for a finite period. The Company has amortised on straight line 

basis, the expenditure on mining rights over its residual economic life estimated as per the mining plan or finite life whichever is 
lower.    

(ii) The Company has clear title to the mining rights classified under Intangible Assets.    

(d)   Other disclosures     
(i) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (net of advances) and not provided for the year 

ended 31st March, 2017 is ` 59.91 Crore ( 31st March, 2016: ` 24.63 Crore and 1st April, 2015: ` 34.83 Crore).  

(ii) Disposals/adjustments includes ̀ 1.97 Crore and ̀  0.16 Crore for the year ended 31st March 2017 and 31st March 2016, respectively 
classified to assets held for sale or disposal.    

(iii) There has been no impairment loss on above assets during the year.    

(iv) The livestock comprises of milch cattles and the produce is utilised for welfare of the employees. It is measured at cost as the fair 
value cannot be measured reliably.

10. NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS
 (` In Crore)

FACE 
VALuE 

`

 No. of Shares / units  Amount 
 As at  
31st 

March, 
2017 

 As at  
1st April, 

2016

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st 

March, 
2017

 As at  
31st 

March, 
2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

UNQUOTED 
Equity Instruments - Fully paid up- 
valued at cost
(a) Subsidiary

(i) OCL Global Ltd. (Face Value 
in USD)^

1  100,000  100,000  100,000  42.32  42.27  42.18 

(ii) Odisha Cement Ltd. 10  50,000  50,000  50,000  0.05  0.05  0.05 
(b) Joint Venture

(i) Radhikapur (West) Coal 
Mining Pvt. Ltd. (Refer Note 
No.: 42.10)

10 7,348,000 7,348,000 7,348,000  7.35  7.35  7.35 

(c) Others #
(i) First Capital India Ltd.  (996) 6  -    -    166  -    -    -   
(ii) India Information 

Technology Ltd.
 (10) 10  -    -    1  -    -    -   

(iii) Crescent Finstock Ltd.  (-) 10  -    -    1,400  -    -    -   
(iv) Gujarat Composite Ltd.  (-) 10  -    -    16  -    -    -   
(v) Ispat Profiles India Ltd.  (76) 10  -    -    50  -    -    -   
(vi) Bagalkot Udyog Ltd.  (732) 1  -    -    100  -    -    -   
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FACE 
VALuE 

`

 No. of Shares / units  Amount 
 As at  
31st 

March, 
2017 

 As at  
1st April, 

2016

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st 

March, 
2017

 As at  
31st 

March, 
2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

(vii) Orissa Industries Ltd. (140,253) 10  -    -    73,450  -    -    0.01 
(viii) The Scindia Steam 

NavigationCo.Ltd.
 (6,192) 20  -    -    504  -    -    -   

(ix) The Travancore Cements Ltd.  (869) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   
(x) Digvijay Finlease Ltd.  (-) 10  -    -    25  -    -    -   
(xi) Indo Flogates Ltd.  (473) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   
(xii) Bagalkot Cement & Industries 

Ltd.
 (-) 10  -    -    1  -    -    -   

(xiii) Kanoria Sugar & General Mfg.
Co.Ltd 

 (183) 10  -    -    25  -    -    -   

(xiv) Magnesite & Minerals Ltd.  (1,005) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   
(xv) Usha Ispat Ltd.  (1,005) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   
(xvi) Orind Exports Ltd.  (201) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   

Preference Shares - Fully paid up
(at Fair Value through profit and loss)

(a) Subsidiary
 OCL Global Ltd. (Face Value 

in USD)*
1 2,730,000 2,730,000 2,730,000  17.22  17.22  17.22 

 (5% non-cumulative 
redeemable)

Debentures or Bonds - valued at cost
(a) Non-convertible Secured 

- Fully paid up 8% - Indian 
Chamber of Commerce

 (1,200) 100  12 12 12 - - -

(b) Non-convertible Secured - 
Partly paid up 8% - Indian 
Chamber of Commerce 
(Fractional)

 (50) 25  2 2 2 - - -

Others - Fully Paid up - valued at cost
(a) Co-operative Society  (5,000) 100  50 50 50 - - -
(b) Property Rights in Holiday 

Resort
 (41,060) - - - - - -

Total Investments  66.94  66.89  66.81 
Less: Provision for diminution in 

the value of Investments
 (3.51)  (3.51)  (3.51)

Net Investments  63.43  63.38  63.30 
Notes:

Quoted Investments  -    -    -   
Unquoted Investments  63.43  63.38  63.30 

Total Investment (net)  63.43  63.38  63.30 
- Investment amount below `1,50,000 are given in brackets. 
^ Investment includes guarantee premium of ` 0.87 Crore, `0.82 Crore and `0.73 Crore as at 31st March, 2017, 31st March, 2016 and 1st 
April, 2015 respectively.
# Investments sold/ written off during the financial year 2015-16.
* Redeemable at the option of the Company in tranches of the Company’s choice but not later than 10 years from the date of issue (10th 
January, 2008).
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11 FINANCIAL ASSETS - LOANS

 (` In Crore)
 Non Current  Current

 As at 
 31st March,  

2017 

 As at 
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015  

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

 As at  
1st April,    

2015
(a) Secured, considered good 

Loan to employees  -    0.02  0.10  0.02  0.03  0.13 
(b) Unsecured, considered good

Loans/advances to employees  1.96  0.15  0.23  1.77  1.47  1.50 
Loans to others  2.61  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  4.57  0.17  0.33  1.79  1.50  1.63 

There are no loans/ advances to directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other 
persons or loans/ advances to firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a member.

12 FINANCIAL ASSETS - OTHERS
(` In Crore)

 Non Current  Current
 As at 

 31st March,  
2017 

 As at 
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015  

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

 As at  
1st April,    

2015
Unsecured, considered good

(a) Security Deposit  10.92  10.43  10.51  6.03  5.32  6.17 
(b) Lease rent receivable  -    1.35  1.40  1.35  0.05  0.05 
(c) VAT Incentive receivable  61.62  -    -    257.63  54.13  -   
(d) Interest accrued but not due  -    -    -    0.64  0.80  2.05 
(e) Derivative instruments  -    -    -    4.40  7.51  6.68 
Total  72.54  11.78  11.91  270.05  67.81  14.95 

13 OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at 
 31st March,  

2016 

 As at  
1st April,  

2015 
(a) Capital Advances 

(i) Secured - considered good  7.65  1.19  1.12 
(ii) Unsecured - considered good  7.90  0.99  11.23 

(b) Other Advances
(i) Unsecured, considered good

- Advance income tax (net of provision for taxation)  15.20  20.02  31.22 
- Advances recoverable in cash / kind  1.56  0.41  0.66 

Total  32.31  22.61  44.23 

There are no advances to directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other persons or 
advances to firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a member.
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14 INVENTORIES (Refer Note No. 3.6)
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at 
 31st March,  

2016 

 As at  
1st April,  

2015 
(a) Raw materials

- In Stock  58.96  70.39  66.94 
- In Transit  6.62  2.36  2.08 

(b)  Work-in-progress
- In Stock  19.67  28.99  27.41 
- In Transit  -    3.48  -   

(c)  Finished goods
- In Stock  67.89  109.35  76.50 
- In Transit  3.40  5.61  8.77 

(d)  Stock-in-trade
- In Transit  0.87  8.59  26.69 

(e)  Stores, spares and fuel
- In Stock  106.21  89.86  89.07 
- In Transit  2.16  14.77  57.68 

(f)  Packing material
- In Stock  10.73  4.45  7.13 

(g)  Loose Tools
- In Stock  0.29  0.25  0.34 

Total  276.80  338.10  362.61 

- During the year ended 31st March, 2017 ` 1.37 Crore ( 31st March, 2016: `2.89 Crore) was recognised as an expense for the 
inventories carried at net realisable value.

- The above inventories were valued at FIFO basis, hence reversal for write down of inventories in earlier periods were not required.

- No restriction has been put by the charge holders on the use of the inventories of the Company.

15 CURRENT- INVESTMENTS
 (` In Crore)

No. of Shares / units  Amount
 As at 

31st March,  
2017 

 As at 
 31st March, 

2016 

As at  
1st April, 

2015

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

  As at  
31st March, 

2016

 As at  
1st April, 

2015
UNQUOTED  
(a) Investments in Commercial Paper  -    -    -    -    300.00  249.06 
QUOTED 
(b) Investments in units of Mutual Funds - Fully 

Paid up
(at Fair Value through profit and loss)
UTI Treasury Advantage Fund-Inst.Plan-DDR  -    -    123,386  -    -    12.37 
UTI Money Market Fund -Inst.Plan - Growth  -    366,760  -    -    62.12  -   
Birla Sunlife Saving Fund-Inst.-DD-Reinv.  -    -    3,259,664  -    -    32.70 
BSL-Cash Plan - Growth  -    2,691,415  -    -    65.34  -   
BSL Floating Rate Fund -Long Term-GRP  -    -    17,931,034  -    -    300.45 
BSL-Saving Fund-Regular Plan - Growth  2,017,849  3,641,822  -    64.30  106.66  -   
IDFCUSTF-Growth  -    -    3,759,835  -    -    7.35 
IDFC-DBF-Quarterly Dividend-Regular Plan  -    -    49,659,573  -    -    52.65 
IDFC Money Manager Fund -Treasury Plan -DD  -    -    7,071,731  -    -    7.09 
ICICI Prudential Flexible Income Plan Premium 
- DD

 -    -    287,069  -    -    3.03 

ICICI Prudential Inst. Short term Plan-Div Reinv. 
Fortnight

 -    -    41,127  -    -    0.05 

ICICI Prudential Flexible Income - Growth  -    36,872  11,417,450  -    1.06  300.39 
ICICI Prudential Savings Fund - Growth  -    563,484  -    -    12.66  -   
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No. of Shares / units  Amount
 As at 

31st March,  
2017 

 As at 
 31st March, 

2016 

As at  
1st April, 

2015

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

  As at  
31st March, 

2016

 As at  
1st April, 

2015
ICICI Prudential Banking & PSU Debt Fund - 
Growth

 -    6,943,145  -    -    11.73  -   

SBI - SHF- Ultra Short term Fund - Regular 
Plan- DD

 -    -    1,408  -    -    0.14 

SBI-Dual Advantage Fund-Regular - Growth  7,000,000  7,000,000  7,000,000  8.06  7.41  7.19 
Templeton India Short term Income Retail Plan  -    -    35,256  -    -    10.13 
Franklin India Ultra Short Bond Fund - SIP - DDR  -    -    40,084,128  -    -    40.40 
HDFC High Interest Fund - Dynamic - Growth  5,420,772  5,420,772  -    30.70  27.64  -   
HDFC Floating Rate Income Fund STP-WO-
Growth

 -    19,303,614  35,381,850  -    50.27  35.67 

HDFC Short Term Opportunites Fund -Growth  37,175,670  37,175,670  -    66.87  61.41  -   
HDFC FMP -1161 DAYS - Regular -Growth  5,000,000  5,000,000  -    5.66  5.06  -   
DSP Black Rock Ultra Short Term Fund- Reg- 
Growth

 14,946,975  82,696,117  -    17.67  90.51  -   

DSP Black Rock Liquid Fund RP - Growth  -    338,937  -    -    73.28  -   
Reliance Short Term Fund Plan - Growth  52,804,560  33,146,338  -    162.73  93.51  -   
Reliance Arbitrage Advantage Fund - MDP - 
Growth

 31,467,585  29,867,619  -    33.34  31.36  -   

Kotak Arbitrage Equity Fund MDP - Growth  20,661,087  19,430,973  -    22.20  20.89  -   
Kotak Short Term Bond Fund - Growth  32,531,701  28,654,177  -    99.99  80.74  -   
Kotak Liquid Debt Fund - Growth  -    109,814  -    -    20.00  -   
Kotak Liquid Fund - Growth  63,835  195,354  -    21.01  59.96  -   
Kotak Income Opport. Fund - Growth  31,299,512  31,299,512  -    56.16  51.06  -   
Kotak Treasury Advantage Fund - Growth  -    18,477,814  -    -    44.62  -   
Sundaram Ultra Short Term Fund RP - Growth  -    18,268,948  -    -    37.80  -   
IIFL Income Opport. Fund - Growth  -    2,700,000  -    -    3.17  -   
Indiabulls Short Term Fund - Growth  147,957  53,500  -    20.01  6.69  -   
Indiabulls Liquid Fund EP - Growth  316,562  342,174  -    50.09  50.39  -   
DHFL Pramerica Insta Cash Plus Fund - Growth  -    645,351  -    -    12.67  -   
DHFL Pramerica Ultra Short Term Fund - 
Growth

 -    4,123,666  -    -    7.53  -   

Axis Mutual Fund - FTP Regular - Growth  2,700,000  -    -    3.44  -    -   
BSL- Short Term Fund- Growth  28,761,347  -    -    179.10  -    -   
DHFL Pramerica Banking & PSU Debt Fund - 
Growth

 53,491,211  -    -    75.58  -    -   

DSP Black Rock Banking & PSU Debt Fund-
Regular-Growth

 57,312,481  -    -    79.32  -    -   

DSP Black Rock Short Term Fund Regular Plan-
Growth

 34,737,108  -    -    96.70  -    -   

HSBC Income Fund Short Term Plan - Growth  53,081,262  -    -    142.83  -    -   
Kotak Flexi Debt Scheme-A - Growth  26,211,588  -    -    55.01  -    -   
UTI Short Term Income Fund-Institutional 
Option-Growth

 45,182,401  -    -    90.09  -    -   

BSL Dynamic Bond Fund - Growth  8,530,764  -    -    24.77  -    -   
LIC Nomura Liquid Fund - Growth  252,547  -    -    74.21  -    -   
LIC Savings Plus Fund - Growth  5,393,480  -    -    13.44  -    -   
Reliance Corporate Bond Fund - Growth  38,412,784  -    -    50.57  -    -   
HSBC Cash Fund-Growth  309,796  -    -    50.09  -    -   

Total (b)  1,593.94  1,095.54  809.61 
Total Current Investment (a+b)  1,593.94  1,395.54 1,058.67 
Net Asset Value of item no. (b) (Mutual Funds)  1,593.94  1,095.54  809.61 
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES
  (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

  As at  
1st April, 

2015
(a) Secured, considered good 36.98  40.04  88.86 
(b) Unsecured, considered good

(i) Others  115.25  108.40  107.86 
(ii) Related Parties  30.52  18.64  2.39 

(c) Unsecured, considered doubtful  14.65  15.51  16.42 
 197.40  182.59  215.53 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts  14.65  15.51  16.42 
Less: Provision for free supply and rebate  4.62  5.03  10.53 
Total (net of provision)  178.13  162.05  188.58 

-  There are no debts due by directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other 
persons or debts due by firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a member.

-  Trade receivables are netted with bills discounted as at 31st March, 2017: `8.81 Crore (31st March, 2016: ` 1.97 Crore and 1st April, 
2015: ` 4.75 Crore)

-  The Company has provided for expected credit losses in two parts. Firstly, provision has been made on the basis of realisation 
pattern or past experience, for receivables outstanding  below 181 days. Secondly, provision has been made by applying the 
provision matrix for receivables outstanding as mentioned below.

(i) Cement Division
No. of days past due Provision Rate
Outstanding >181 days 50%
Outstanding >365 days 100%

(ii) Refractory Division
No. of days past due Provision Rate
Outstanding > 1 year 50%
Outstanding > 2 year 100%

17 CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

 As at  
1st April, 

2015
(a) Balance with banks: 

(i) In current accounts  20.69  28.27  70.97 

(ii) In deposit with original maturity of less than three months  -    -    17.00 
(b) Cheques, drafts in hand  -    -    0.02 
(c) Cash in hand  0.04  0.20  0.21 
Total  20.73  28.47  88.20 

 Bank balances includes ` 45,035 (31 March, 2016: ` 45,139 and 1st April, 2015: ` 45,191) lying in a current account with a nationalised 
bank, to be operated jointly by the authorised signatories of the Company and OCL Iron & Steel Limited in respect of coal block 
operations as mentioned in Note No. 42.10.

18 BANK BALANCES OTHER THAN ABOVE
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

 As at  
1st April, 

2015
(a) Balance In unpaid dividend account  1.19  2.11  1.07 
Total  1.19  2.11  1.07 
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19 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

 As at  
1st April, 

2015
(a) Other Advances

(i) Unsecured, considered good
- Balances with government departments  25.78  30.24  34.94 
-  Advances recoverable in cash / kind  72.60  36.85  44.28 

(ii) Unsecured - considered doubtful  0.84  0.65  0.14 
Total Other Advances  99.22  67.74  79.36 
Less: Provision for doubtful advances  0.84  0.65  0.14 
(b) Claims & other receivables

(i) Considered good  3.18  3.40  2.37 
(ii) Considered doubtful  0.15  0.10  0.09 

Total Claims & other receivables  3.33  3.50  2.46 
Less: Provision for doubtful debts  0.15  0.10  0.09 
(c) Assets held for sale (at lower of carrying amount and net realisable value)  0.18  0.08  0.03 
(d) Others  1.34  0.12  0.14 
Total Other Current Assets  104.07  71.44  81.99 
Less: Total provision for doubtful advances/ debts  0.99  0.75  0.23 
Total (net of provision)  103.08  70.69  81.76 
There are no advances to directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other persons 
or advances to firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a member

20 EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL (Refer Statement of Changes in Equity)
(` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

 As at  
1st April, 

2015
Authorised Shares
1,00,000 (Previous Year: 1,00,000) Shares of ` 100 each  1.00  1.00  1.00 
7,00,00,000 (Previous Year: 7,00,00,000) Shares of ` 2 each  14.00  14.00  14.00 

 15.00  15.00  15.00 
Issued Shares
6,36,31,805 (Previous Year: 6,36,31,805) Equity Shares of `2 each  12.73  12.73  12.73 
Subscribed & Paid up Shares
5,69,00,220 (Previous Year: 5,69,00,220) Equity Shares of `2 each, fully paid up  11.38  11.38  11.38 
Add: Shares Forfeited Account  0.01  0.01  0.01 
Total Subscribed & Paid up Share Capital  11.39  11.39  11.39 

(a) Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period
 (` In Crore)

Particulars  As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

 No. of Shares  Amount  No. of Shares  Amount  No. of Shares  Amount 
Equity Shares outstanding at 
the beginning of the year 

 56,900,220  11.38  56,900,220  11.38  56,900,220  11.38 

Equity Shares issued during 
the year 

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Equity Shares bought back 
during the year

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Equity Shares outstanding at 
the end of the year

 56,900,220  11.38  56,900,220  11.38  56,900,220  11.38 

(b) Terms/ Rights attached to Equity Shares

 The Company has issued only one class of equity shares having a par value of ` 2 per share.  Each equity shareholder is entitled to 
one vote per share. The Company had declared and paid dividends in Indian rupee.

 The Company has proposed ` 28.45 Crore as dividend ( ` 5 per share) before the date of approval for issue of financial statements 
but not recognised as a distribution to owners during the period, (31st March, 2016: nil). During the previous year ended 31st 
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March, 2016 , the amount of interim dividend per share recognised for distribution and distributed to equity shareholders was 
`4 per share.

 In event of liquidation of  the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, 
after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the 
shareholders. 

(c) 4,24,79,273 (% of shareholding:74.66)  shares held by  Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Ltd. (Holding Company) w.e.f. 25.02.2015

(d) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company
Sl. 
No.

Name of the Shareholders  As at 31st March 2017  As at 31st March 2016  As at 1st April 2015 
 No. of 

Shares held  
 % of 

Holding  
 No. of 

Shares held 
 % of 

Holding  
 No. of 

Shares held 
 % of 

Holding  
1 Dalmia Cement (Bharat) 

Limited*
 42,479,273  74.66  42,479,273  74.66  42,479,273  74.66 

2 Dharti Investments and Holdings 
Limited

 3,155,867  5.55  3,155,867  5.55  3,375,584  5.93 

* (holding company w.e.f.25.02.2015) 

(e) Aggregate number of bonus shares issued and shares bought back during the period of five years immediately preceding the 
reporting date: Nil 

21 OTHER EQUITY (Refer Statement of Changes in Equity)

a) Security Premium Reserve 
 Security premium reserve was created on merger of Dalmia Cement (Meghalaya) Ltd during the financial year 2007-08. The 

Company may use this reserve for issue of fully paid-up bonus shares to its members and for buy-back of its shares.

(b) Capital Reserve
 Capital Reserve of `1.57 Crore was created due to merger of Dalmia Cement (Meghalaya) Limited during financial year 2007-08.  

` 0.08 Crore was created out of subsidy received from Orissa State Financial Corporation, Odisha against capital investment as per 
scheme framed by the Odisha Government. ` 5.77 Crore has been received from Director of Industries, Odisha as Industrial Policy 
benefits as per the scheme framed by the Odisha Government. 

(c) Debenture Redemption Reserve (DRR)
 The Company has issued redeemable non-convertible debentures. The Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 (as 

amended), require the Company to create DRR out of profits of the Company available for payment of dividend. DRR is required 
to be created for an amount which is equal to 25% of the value of debentures issued. The Company is creating debenture 
redemption reserve every year out of the profit available for payment of dividend to ensure creation of reserve equal to 25% of 
the value of debenture issued over the life of the debentures. 
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22 LONG TERM BORROWINGS (at amortised cost)
(` In Crore)

 Non Current    Current
 As at 

 31st March,  
2017 

 As at 
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
 31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015
Secured
(a) Redeemable Non-Convertible 

Debentures 
(i) State Bank of India & 

Others*
 598.51  598.22  597.95  -    -    -   

(ii) Life Insurance Corporation 
of India  **

 -    -    23.97  -    23.97  23.94 

Total (Gross) (a)  598.51  598.22  621.92  -    23.97  23.94 
Less: Shown under other current 

liabilities
 -    -    -    -    (23.97)  (23.94)

Total (Net) (a)  598.51  598.22  621.92  -    -    -   
(b) Term Loans
I From Banks

(i) State Bank of India #  -    -    23.27  -    -    9.64 
(ii) State Bank of India #  -    -    35.53  -    -    14.20 
(iii) State Bank of India #  -    -    43.56  -    -    6.44 
(iv) State Bank of India #  153.38  153.32  153.26  -    -    -   
(v) Export Import Bank of India#  114.75  114.73  -    -    -    -   
(vi) Export Import Bank of India#  

(Foreign currency loan) 
 -   -  7.47 - - -

(vii) United Bank of India ^  -   -  4.37 - -  9.95 
(viii) HDFC Bank Limited @  0.19  0.28  0.36  0.09  0.08  0.07 

II From Others
(i) International Finance 

Corporation $
 -   -  31.54 -  31.54  31.45 

(ii) International Finance 
Corporation $

 138.96  157.83  174.39  27.40  26.07 -

Total (Gross) (b)  407.28  426.16  473.75  27.49  57.69  72.69 
Less: Shown under other current 

liabilities
 -    -    -    (27.49)  (57.69)  (72.69)

Total (Net) (b)  407.28  426.16  473.75  -    -    -   
Secured
(c) Present value of land lease 

obligation $$
 0.68  0.67  0.67  0.05  0.06  0.06 

Unsecured
(d) Long term loan/deposits

- Related Party 
( Refer Note No. 42.15)

 5.00  -    -    -    -    -   

Grand Total (a + b + c + d )  1,011.47  1,025.05  1,096.34  27.54  81.72  96.69 
Less: Shown under other current 

liabilities
 -    -    -    (27.54)  (81.72)  (96.69)

(Refer Note No. 28) 
Total (Net) (a+b+c+d)  1,011.47  1,025.05  1,096.34  -    -    -   
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22 LONG TERM BORROWINGS (continued.....)
Details of terms of repayment of long term borrowings

Long term borrowings  Redeemable / Repayable   Interest Rate 
Secured
a)  Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures 

(i) State Bank of India & Others * In 3 equal annual installments from FY 2019-20 9.90%
(ii)  Life Insurance Corporation of India  ** During FY 2014-15 to FY 2016-17 10.80%

b) Term Loans
 I  From Banks

(i) State Bank of India # In 32 quarterly installments from Dec, 2010 Base rate + 1.75 %
(ii) State Bank of India # In 24 quarterly installments from Dec, 2012 Base rate + 1.75 %
(iii) State Bank of India # In 31 quarterly installments from Jun, 2015 Base rate + 1.75 %
(iv) State Bank of India # In 40 quarterly installments from Mar, 2019 1 Y MCLR + 0.75 %
(v) Export Import Bank of India # In 40 quarterly installments from Mar, 2021 LTMLR + 0.15%
(vi) Export Import Bank of India (Foreign 

currency loan) #
In 27 quarterly installments from Jun, 2010 6M LIBOR + 3.25%

(vii) United Bank of India ^ In 26 quarterly installments from Sept, 2015 Base rate + 1.30 %
(viii) HDFC Bank Limited @ In 60 monthly installments from Feb, 2015 10.00%
II  From Others
(i) International Finance Corporation $ In 13 half yearly installments from Oct, 2010 8.25 % to 10.80 % 
(ii) International Finance Corporation  $ In 14 half yearly installments from June, 2016 6M LIBOR + 3.60%
 (Foreign currency loan)

(c) Present value of land lease obligation $$ During lease period of 90 to 99 years
Unsecured
(d) Long term loan/deposits

 -Related Party ( Refer Note No. 42.15) In Nov, 2018, with renewal option 9.00%
Details of terms of security for long term borrowings

*      The debentures are secured by way of first pari passu charge on all the movable and immovable fixed assets (both present and 
future) of the Cement Division of the Company situated at Rajgangpur Cement Works (Odisha), Kapilas Cement Manufacturing Works 
(Cuttack) & OCL Bengal Cement Works (Midnapore, WB)

**    The debentures are secured by way of first pari passu charge over fixed assets ( present and future) of the Cement Division of the 
Company.

#     Secured by first pari passu charge by way of mortgage and hypothecation over all immovable properties and moveable fixed assets  
(other than vehicle acquired under specific vehicle loan)  of the Cement Division, (both present and future) and further secured by 
second pari pasu charge on all current assets of the Company. 

^    Secured by first charge on fixed assets of the Cement Division of the Company, both present and future, to be shared pari passu with 
the providers of the other debt and existing lenders; further secured by way of second pari pasu charge on current assets of Cement 
Division.

@    The loan is secured by way of first & exclusive charge on the vehicle purchase therefrom.
$      Secured by first ranking mortgage and hypothecation on all immovable & movable, present and future assets related to the Cement  

Division (excluding current assets) to be shared pari passu with other lenders in respect of other debts and a second charge on all 
present and future current assets of the  borrower to be shared pari passu with other lenders and existing lenders to the Cement 
Division of the borrower in respect of the existing debt. 

$$  Finance lease obligations are secured against leased assets.

23 Non-Current Financial Liabilities-Others
(` In Crore)

 As at 
 31st March,  

2017 

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

  As at  
1st April, 

2015
(a) Incentive payable  -    -    31.51 

Total  -    -    31.51 
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24 LONG TERM PROVISIONS
(` In Crore)

 As at 
 31st March,  

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

  As at  
1st April, 

2015
(a) Employee benefits 

(i) Leave encashment (unfunded) (Refer Note No. 42.13)  7.09  5.37  4.37 
(b) Others 

(i) Assets retirement obligation  16.18  15.02  13.93 
Total  23.27  20.39  18.30 

Movement in provisions Assets retirement obligation
Nature of provisions  2016-17  2015-16 
Balance as at year beginning  15.02  13.93 
Add: Increase in provision  1.16  1.09 
Less: Utilised  -    -   
Balance as at year end  16.18  15.02 

The Company has an obligation to restore the mines after its closure. Hence provision has been recognised for the decommissioning and 
restoration cost. Outfow of resources is expected after the closure of the mines. The cost of restoration has been estimated in accordance 
with the mines closure plan.

25 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (NET)
(` In Crore)

 As at 
 31st March,  

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016

  As at  
1st April, 

2015
(a) Liabilities  -    31.51 
 Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes  191.95  166.40  173.94 
 Revaluation of property, plant & equipment at fair value  250.48  268.04  275.75 
 Reversal of deffered tax liabilty for 80 IA undertakings  (28.61)  (28.61)  -   
 Fair valuation of investments  34.37  11.84  1.93 
 Items under financial assets and financial liabilities giving temporary 

differences 
 (4.24)  0.23  (0.79)

Total (a)  443.95  417.90  450.83 
(b) Assets
 Difference of value of Stock u/s 145A of the Income Tax Act, 1961  6.53  5.55  3.25 
 Expenses allowable in computing taxable income on payment basis  13.85  11.70  6.95 
 Exchange loss on loan for capital expenditure  -    -    2.94 
 Provision for doubtful debts & obsolescence  7.12  8.96  11.79 
 MAT credit entitlement  16.63  3.91  3.91 
 Items under other comprehensive income  0.28  0.36  -   
Total (b) 44.41 30.48 28.84
Net Liability (a-b)  399.54  387.42  421.99 

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets/ liabilites (net):  As at 31st 
March, 2017

  As at 31st 
March, 2016

Opening balance as at year beginning  387.42  421.99 
Tax (benefit) / expense during the period recognised in profit or loss  24.76  (34.21)
MAT Credit entitlement  (12.72)  -   
Tax (benefit) / expense during the period recognised in other comprehensive 
income

 0.08  (0.36)

Closing balance as at year end  399.54  387.42 
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26 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS
(` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016

  As at  
1st April, 2015

Secured
(a) Loans repayable on demand
 Cash credits from bank *  12.23  10.20  99.18 
(b) Other Loans and advances
 Buyer’s credit from bank *  103.16  82.18  22.70 

Total  115.39  92.38  121.88 
*Working capital facilities (fund based & non fund based limits) are secured by first pari passu charge over stocks,  stores, raw materials, 
inventories, work in progress, finished goods and also book debts, bills and money receivable of the Company by way of hypothecation. 
These facilities are further secured by second charge over the fixed assets of the Cement Division of the Company.

27 TRADE PAYABLES
(` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016

  As at  
1st April, 2015

(a) Micro & Small Enterprises  1.03  1.26  0.64 
(b) Others  295.63  320.50  279.28 

Total  296.66  321.76  279.92 
Disclosure as per Section 22 of ‘The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act 2006’:

Sl. 
No.

Particulars

(i) The principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining 
unpaid to any supplier
- Principal Amount  1.03  1.26  0.64 
- Interest thereon  -    -    -   

(ii) The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of Section 
16, of the MSMED Act, 2006 along with the amounts of the 
payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day 

 -    -    -   

(iii) The amount of interest due and payable for the period (where 
the principal has been paid but interest under the MSMED Act, 
2006 not paid)

 -    -    -   

(iv) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid  -    -    -   
(v) The amount of further interest due and payable even in the 

succeeding year, until such date when the interest dues as 
above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for the purpose 
of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under section 23 of 
the MSMED Act, 2006

 -    -    -   

Total  1.03  1.26  0.64 

28 CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES-OTHER 
(` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016

  As at  
1st April, 2015

(a) Current maturities of long-term debts (Refer Note No. 22 )  27.49  81.66  96.63 
(b) Current maturities of finance lease obligations (Refer Note No. 22)  0.05  0.06  0.06 
(c) Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  5.15  5.74  8.49 
(d) Unpaid dividends #  1.19  2.11  1.07 
(e) Derivative instruments  0.93  0.14  -   
(f ) Others

(i) Income received in advance (on commercial paper)  -    2.66  -   
(ii) Acceptance  2.79  -    -   
(iii) On capital account  11.70  27.92  28.71 
(iv) Security deposits  160.69  155.82  140.44 

Total  209.99  276.11  275.40 
# There is no amount due & outstanding to be credited to the Investor Education & Protection Fund.
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29 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
(` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016

  As at  
1st April, 2015

(a) Advance payments from customers  54.25  51.40  41.99 
(b) Other payables

(i)  Statutory dues  37.99  38.15  39.25 
(ii)  Directors’ commission  0.66  0.57  0.45 
(iii)  Deferred revenue liability  -    33.62  -   
(iv)  Interest liability other than borrowings and others  21.03  4.82  0.81 

Total  113.93  128.56  82.50 

30 SHORT TERM PROVISIONS
(` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016

  As at  
1st April, 2015

(a) Employee benefits
(i) Gratuity (funded)  (Refer Note No. 42.13)  2.03  1.71  -   
(ii) Leave encashment (unfunded) (Refer Note No. 42.13)  2.01  0.58  0.95 
(iii) Superannuation (funded)  0.42  0.18  0.19 

(b) Others
(i) Provision for contingent liabilities  11.20  10.94  8.64 
Total  15.66  13.41  9.78 

Movement in provisions
Nature of provisions Provision for contingent liabilities

 2016-17  2015-16 
Balance as at year beginning  10.94  8.64 
Add: Increase in provision  0.83  2.47 
Less: Utilised  0.57  0.17 
Balance as at year end  11.20  10.94 
Provision has been recognised for contingent laibilities disclosed in the financial statements. The amount of provision has been 
estimated in accordance with the probable outflow of resources and management policy.

31 CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES
(` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016

  As at  
1st April, 2015

Income Tax  213.03  83.19 -
Total  213.03 83.19 -

32 REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS (Refer Note No. 3.9 & 3.10)
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
(a) Sale of Products

(i) Cement  2,468.93  2,523.50 
(ii)  Refractories  263.36  223.87 
(iii)  Power  1.63  0.75 
(iv)  Others -clinker  155.28  90.31 

(b) Sale of Traded Products
(i)  Pet coke, packing bags, etc.  13.47  32.31 
(ii)  Refractories  35.73  27.76 
(iii)  Cement  0.01  -   

(c) Sale of Services
(i)  Marketing services  11.02  7.16 
(ii)  Business auxiliary services  0.07  0.12 

(d) VAT Incentive  282.12  94.13 
(e) Other Operating Revenue  35.80  28.99 
Total  3,267.42  3,028.90 
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33 OTHER INCOME
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
(a)  Interest receipt- on deposits, tax refunds and from customers etc.  5.37  13.38 
(b)  Profit on sale of assets  0.09  0.52 
(c)  Exchange difference other than considered as finance cost (net)  6.13  -   
(d)  Dividends from investments in mutual funds - current  3.00  4.10 
(e)  Profit on sale of current investments  31.48  45.38 
(f)  Gain on remeasurement of mutual funds at fair value  87.42  30.05 
(g)  Commission on financial guarantee  1.30  0.09 
(h)  Other non-operating income  1.66  1.41 
Total 136.45 94.93 

34 COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED - (refer note-i below)
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
(a) Limestone (Own Quarry)  96.74  94.30 
(b) Gypsum  25.80  29.13 
(c) Slag  177.32  182.73 
(d)  Purchased Clinker  5.59  1.40 
(e)  Others (refer note-ii below)  145.17  155.76 
Total 450.62 463.32
Notes:
(i) Expenses included in the cost of materials consumed

Salaries and wages  7.86  7.51 
Contribution to Provident and other funds  0.81  0.80 
Workmen and staff welfare expenses  0.61  0.50 
Payment to contractors for services  6.60  9.67 
Power and fuel  10.22  10.25 
Consumption of stores and spare parts  21.74  22.42 
Repairs to machinery  17.04  15.88 
Repairs to buildings  0.04  0.13 
Royalty and Cess  50.91  44.40 
Rent  0.04  0.03 
Rates and taxes  1.14  1.06 
Insurance  0.19  0.30 
Sundry sales/ income  (19.75)  (15.10)

Total  97.45  97.85 
(ii) None of these individually account for more than 10% of the total cost of material 

consumed.

35 PURCHASE OF GOODS TRADED
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
(a) Pet coke, packing bags, etc.  7.64  12.58 
(b) Refractories  34.96  29.95 
(c) Cement  0.01  -   
Total 42.61 42.53
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36 CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, WORK IN PROGRESS & STOCK IN TRADE
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
(a)  Stocks at the beginning of the year

Finished goods  114.96  85.27 
Traded goods  8.59  26.69 
Work in progress  32.47  27.41 

 156.02  139.37 
(b) Less: Stocks at the end of the year (refer note below)

Finished goods  71.29  114.96 
Traded goods  0.87  8.59 
Work in progress  19.67  32.47 

 91.83  156.02 
Total  64.19  (16.65)
Notes:-
a) Finished goods

Cement  16.22  38.61 
Refractories  55.07  76.35 

 71.29  114.96 
b) Traded goods

Cement  -    4.32 
Refractories  0.87  4.27 

 0.87  8.59 
c) Work in progress  10.85  21.45 

Cement  8.82  11.02 
Refractories  19.67  32.47 

37 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
(a) Salaries, wages, bonus and gratuity  163.28  134.76 
(b) Contribution to Provident and other funds  12.37  11.48 
(c) Contribution to Provident and other funds - contractors’ employees  4.44  4.09 
(d) Workmen and staff welfare expenses  10.63  8.50 
Total  190.72  158.83 

38 FINANCE COSTS
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
(a) Interest expense

(i) On term loans, debentures and deposits  104.33  112.39 
(ii) To banks and others  19.31  5.85 

(b) Other borrowing costs  9.17  13.63 
(c) Exchange difference to the extent considered as an adjustment to borrowing cost  0.89  1.57 
(d) Unwinding of discount  1.17  1.09 
Total  134.87  134.53 
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39 OTHER EXPENSES
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
(a) Consumption of stores, spare parts  25.19  26.73 
(b) Packing materials  97.07  94.79 
(c) Repairs and maintenance
 (i)  Machinery  63.02  60.74 
 (ii)  Buildings  10.98  9.10 
 (iii)  Others  1.83  1.51 
(d) Payment to contractors for services  73.73  81.45 
(e) Royalty and Cess  0.06  0.05 
(f) Rent  13.66  14.18 
(g) Rates and taxes  16.54  15.62 
(h) Excise duty on stock and others  (6.10)  4.50 
(i) Clearing handling & warehousing (cement)  51.14  46.88 
(j) Commission to selling agents  9.04  11.07 
(k) Rebates, discounts and allowances  7.10  2.16 
(l) Insurance  2.42  3.65 
(m) Travelling  11.22  9.24 
(n) Advertisement and publicity  77.49  48.64 
(o) Legal charges  1.65  1.12 
(p) Directors' travelling and conveyance  0.06  0.07 
(q) Directors' fees  0.41  0.30 
(r) Commission to non-Executive Directors  0.66  0.57 
(s) Charity and donations  3.90  4.00 
(t) Diminution in value of investment & investment written off  -    0.02 
(u) Loss on sale of current investments  0.01  0.28 
(v) Assets written off and loss on sale of assets  2.83  0.21 
(w) Exchange difference other than considered as finance cost (net)  -    0.77 
(x) Provision for doubtful debts  1.59  -   
(y) Bad debts written off  0.14  1.47 
(z) Provision for obsolescence in inventory  -    0.34 
(aa) Payments to outside agencies  169.35  126.46 
(ab) CSR expenses (refer note 42.11)  3.61  3.97 
(ac) Miscellaneous expenses  80.85  62.01 
Total  719.45  631.90 
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40 INCOME TAX
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
I  Income tax related to items charged or credited directly to profit or loss during the 

year:
(a)  Statement of profit and loss

(i)  Current Income Tax *  134.48  91.19 
(ii)  MAT credit entitlement *  (12.72)  -   
(iii)  Deferred Tax expense/ (benefit)  24.76  (34.21)

 146.52  56.98 
(b)  Other Comprehensive Income

(i)  Deferred Tax related to items recognised in OCI during the year:
 - Net expense/(benefit) on remeasurements of defined benefit plans  0.08  (0.36)

 0.08  (0.36)
Total (a+b)  146.60  56.62 
*   The provision for current tax has been made as per MAT under section 115 JB of the Income Tax Act, 1961. The Company is entitled 

to avail credit under section 115 JA (1A). Accordingly, MAT credit entitlement has been considered as an asset.
II Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by India’s domestic tax rate for 31st March, 2017 and 31st 

March, 2016
Accounting profit before income tax as per Ind AS  530.39  303.16 
At Income tax rate of 34.608% (31st March, 2016: 34.608%)  183.56  104.92 
Tax effect of items that are not deductible for tax purpose  31.15  7.74 
Tax effect of items that are deductible for tax purpose  (30.58)  (34.15)
Tax effect of items that are not taxable for tax purpose  (1.04)  (1.42)
Tax effect of deductions under Chapter VIA of Income Tax Act, 1961  (36.57)  (20.11)
At the effective income tax rate of 27.63% (31st March 2016: 18.74%)  146.52  56.98 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss  146.52  56.98 
Difference  -    -   

41 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(` In Crore)

  2016-17  2015-16
i Items that will not be classified to profit and loss

Remeasurement gain/ (losses) on defined benefit plans
Balance as at year beginning  (1.03)  -   
Add: Created during the year  0.23  (1.03)
Less: Adjustments  -    -   
Balance as at year end  (0.80)  (1.03)

ii Income tax relating to items that will not be 
classified to profit and loss
Remeasurement gain/ (losses) on defined benefit plans
Balance as at year beginning  0.36  -   
Add: Created during the year  (0.08)  0.36 
Less: Adjustments  -    -   
Balance as at year end  0.28  0.36 

Total  (0.52)  (0.67)
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42. OTHER NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
42.1 Earning per share (EPS) (` In Crore)

  2016-2017 2015-2016 
(a) Face value of equity shares  `  2.00  2.00 
(b) Profit attributable to equity shareholders  ` Crore  383.87  246.18 
(c) Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding  Nos.  56,900,220  56,900,220 
(d) Weighted average earning per share (basic and diluted)  `  67.46  43.27 

42.2 Remuneration to Auditors and Expenses (` In Crore)
  2016-2017 2015-2016 

(a) Statutory Auditors
(i) As an Auditor
 Audit fee  0.22  0.18 
 Tax audit fee  0.05  0.04 
(ii) In Other Capacities
 Taxation matters  0.03  0.02 
 Certification of quarterly limited review  0.08  0.07 
 Certification of other statements  0.07  0.07 
  Certification of financial statements arising out of merger scheme  0.05  -   
 Expenses including boarding and lodging  0.07  0.07 
(b) Cost Auditor
(i) Audit fee  0.02  0.01 
(ii) Expenses including boarding and lodging ( ` 23,039; PY: `  24,758 )  -    -   

42.3 Research & Development Expenses 
  The Company has in-house R&D centre, approved by the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research, Ministry of Scientific & Technology, 

Government of India. The details of revenue/capital expenditure incurred by the said R&D Centre during the year are as follows:-

  2016-2017 2015-2016 
(a) Revenue expenditure charged to Statement of Profit and Loss 
(i) Salary and other benefits 3.98  2.55 
(ii) Raw material & stores 1.08  1.10 
(iii) Others 0.23  0.21 
 Total 5.29  3.86 
(b) Capital expenditure shown under fixed assets schedule  -    -   
 Grand Total 5.29  3.86 

42.4 Contingent liabilities / Litigations in respect of: (` In Crore)
As at  

31st March, 2017 
As at  

31st March, 2016 
As at  

1st April, 2015 
A Not Provided for:-

(a) Claims against the Company not acknowledged as 
debts

 125.05  129.13  116.44 

 (b) Demand raised by following authorities in dispute:
  (i) Excise & Service Tax  39.49  37.95  37.56 
  (ii) Customs  0.65  0.65  -   
  (iii) Sales Tax, VAT, CST & Entry Tax  18.38  15.05  12.56 
  (iv) Income tax matters  3.15  1.00  2.96 
Based on favorable decisions in similar cases, legal opinion taken by the Company and discussions with the solicitors etc, the Company 
believes that there is a fair chance of favorable decisions in respect of the items listed above and hence no provision is considered 
necessary against the same. 
B Guarantee / letter of comfort given:
 (a)  Liability on account of OD limit of USD 3.50 million by 

OCL Global Ltd., a subsidiary outstanding amount as at 
31st March, 2017: Nil, 31st March, 2016: Nil and 1st April, 
2015: USD 15,86,704.55 (Refer Note No. 42.5)

- -  10.01 

 (b)  Guarantee given to banks on behalf of OCL China 
Ltd. outstanding amount as at 31st March, 2017: USD 
19,31,257.66 31st March, 2016:  USD 21,55,175 and 1st 
April, 2015: USD 25,80,673 (Refer Note No. 42.5)

12.52  14.29  16.27 
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As at  
31st March, 2017 

As at  
31st March, 2016 

As at  
1st April, 2015 

(c) Guarantee given to banks on behalf of Dalmia Cement 
(East) Ltd. of ` 234.68 Crore and outstanding amount as 
at year end: (Refer Note No. 42.5)

 232.29 - -

Notes             

(i) The Company does not expect any reimbursement in respect of the above contingent liabilities. 

(ii) It is not practicable to estimate the timing of cash outflow, if any in respect of above liabilities since the matter is pending before 
appropriate authorities.

42.5 Details of loans given, investments made and guarantee given covered u/s 186(4) of the Companies Act, 2013
 (` In Crore)

As at 31st 
March, 2017 

As at 31st 
March, 2016 

As at 1st 
April, 2015 

Sl. No. Name of the entity  Purpose 
(a) OCL Global Ltd. Guarantee given to bank to provide over draft facility  -    -    10.01 
(b) OCL China Ltd. Guarantee given to bank to provide working capital 

facility 
 12.52  14.29  16.27 

(c) Dalmia Cement (East) Ltd. Guarantee given to bank to provide term loan facility  232.29  -    -   
(d) OCL Iron and Steel Ltd. Loan given for working capital requirements.  

 (Rate of Interest- 9% p.a.)  
 2.61  -    -   

42.6 In the opinion of the Board of Directors and to the best of their knowledge and belief, the valuation on realisation of financial assets and 
other assets in the ordinary course of business would not be less than the amount at which they are stated in the financial statements. 

42.7 Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation amongst the Company, Dalmia Cement East Limited, Shri Rangam Securities & Holdings 
Limited, Dalmia Bharat Cements Holdings Limited and Odisha Cement Limited (“Scheme 1”), has been approved by the Board of Directors, 
Shareholders and Creditors of the Company and the BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited (“Stock Exchanges”). 
Scheme 1 is pending for sanction of the jurisdictional NCLT of the companies involved and has not come into effect.  

 Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation amongst Odisha Cement Limited, Dalmia Bharat Limited and Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited 
(“Scheme 2”) has been approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 5th November, 2016, as Scheme 2 involves its wholly 
owned subsidiary, i.e., Odisha Cement Limited and is inter alia conditional upon the effectiveness of the Scheme 1, subject to approval of 
shareholders, creditors and other applicable regulatory authorities. Scheme 2 has been approved by the Stock Exchanges on 5th May, 2017.

 The accounting for arrangement and amalgamation as contemplated in the aforesaid schemes will be done upon the scheme coming 
into effect. 

42.8 Standards issued but not yet effective

 In March 2017, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued the Companies ( Indian Accounting Standards ) (Amendments) Rules 2017, 
notifying amendments to Ind AS 7, “Statement of Cash Flows” and Ind AS 102, “ Share-based payments”. These amendments are in 
accordance with the recent amendments made by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) to IAS 7, “Statement of Cash Flows” 
and IFRS 2, “ Share-based payments”, respectively. The amendments are applicable to the Company from 1st April, 2017. 

42.9 Balance confirmation letters were sent in respect of accounts showing debit or credit balances. Balance confirmations have not been 
received in some cases. In the opinion of the management, adjustments, if any, required on confirmation and reconciliation is not 
expected to be material.

42.10 Details of the Company’s interest in Joint Venture
 In respect of license granted for captive mining block at Radhikapur mines, a Joint Venture company Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining 

Private Limited has been incorporated on 29th March, 2010 in which the Company’s interest jointly with OCL Iron & Steel Limited (OISL) 
is 14.696%. The Company has invested ` 7.35 Crore (PY ` 7.35 Crore) in equity shares of the JV Company which includes ` 3.83 Crore 
(PY `3.83 Crore) being proportionate value of shares to be transferred to OISL after the receipt of approval from the Ministry of Coal, 
Government of India and other Joint Venture Partners.

 Consequent upon decision of the Hon’ble Supreme Court of India cancelling the allocation of Coal block, vide Order dated 24th 
September, 2014, the Company is in the process of assessing the recoverability of the amounts invested of ` 3.51 Crore in the Joint 
Venture Company, Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Ltd. As a matter of prudence, a provision for similar amount has been made in 
the accounts during the earlier years.
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42.11 Disclosure on Corporate Social Responsibility Expenses
 (a)  Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year in pursuance to the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies 

Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder : ` 3.61 Crore (PY ` 3.52 Crore).

 (b) Amount spent during the year 2016-17 and shown under Other Expenses in the Statement of Profit and Loss (Refer Note No. 39):
 (` In Crore)

Sl. 
No.

Particulars 2016-17 2015-16
Spent in 

Cash
Yet to be 

spent in cash
Total Spent in 

Cash
Yet to be 

spent in cash
Total

(i) Construction/ acquisition of any asset  -    -    -    -   -  -   
(ii) Other purposes other than above  3.61  -    3.61  3.97 -  3.97 

Total  3.61  -    3.61  3.97 -  3.97 

42.12 Disclosures as required by Ind AS 17, Leases 
A Finance Lease
(a) Company as Lessor 
 The Company has purchased wagons under “own your wagon scheme” of Railways and leased it to Railways on rent ,the wagons 

were recognized as assets and carried in the books at residual value, the company is earning rental income from the arrangement, 
hence it qualifies to be recognized as finance lease arrangement where Railways is the lessee. Future minimum lease receivables 
(MLR) and its present value under finance leases are as follows:

Particulars
 As at 31st March, 2017  As at 31st March, 2016  As at 1st April, 2015 

Future 
Gross MLR 

Present 
Value 

Future 
Gross MLR 

Present 
Value 

Future 
Gross MLR 

Present 
Value 

Not later than 1 year  0.04  0.03  0.06  0.05  0.06  0.05 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  -    -    0.04  0.03  0.09  0.08 
Later than 5 years  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Unguaranteed residual values  1.80  1.32  1.80  1.32  1.80  1.32 
Total future minimum lease receivables  1.84  -    1.90  -    1.95  -   
Unearned finance income  0.49  -    0.50  -    0.50  -   
Total present value of MLR 0.73 0.73 0.73 0.73 0.73 0.73

(b) Company as Lessee
 The Company has finance lease agreements for land at various locations. These leases have term of between 90 and 99 years 

and are eligible for renewal at the end of lease term. Future minimum lease payments (MLP)  and its present value under 
finance leases are as follows:

Particulars
 As at 31st March, 2017  As at 31st March, 2016  As at 1st April, 2015 

Future 
Gross MLR 

Present 
Value 

Future 
Gross MLR 

Present 
Value 

Future 
Gross MLR 

Present 
Value 

Not later than 1 year  0.07  0.05  0.07  0.06  0.07  0.06 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  0.29  0.24  0.29  0.25  0.29  0.21 
Later than 5 years  6.81  0.44  6.88  0.42  6.96  0.46 
Total future minimum lease payments  7.17  -    7.24  -    7.32  -   
Less: Amount representing interest  6.44  -    6.51  -    6.59  -   
Total present value of MLP  0.73  0.73  0.73  0.73  0.73  0.73 

B Operating Lease 
 The Company has taken / given various residential / commercial premises and plant & equipment under cancellable operating 

lease. These lease agreements are normally renewed on expiry, wherever required.

 The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in the aggregate and for each of the following 
periods:

Particulars As at 31st March, 2017 As at 31st March, 2016 As at 1st April, 2015 
Not later than 1 year 8.48 12.57 4.87
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2.68 11.17 23.69
Later than 5 years - - 0.05
Total future minimum lease payments 11.16 23.74 28.60

 Total operating lease expenses debited to statement of profit and loss is ` 13.66 Crore (Previous Year: ` 14.18 Crore)
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42.13 Disclosures as required by Ind AS 19, Employee Benefits 
(a) Defined contribution plans:
 (` In Crore)

2016-17 2015-16
Contribution to defined contribution plan, recognised as expense for the year as under:
(i) Employer’s contribution to Government Provident Fund  11.09  10.27 
(ii) Employer’s contribution to Superannuation Fund  0.86  0.75 
(iii) Farewell gift to retired employees  0.03  0.02 
(iv) Medical insurance premium to retired employees  0.15  0.12 
Total  12.13  11.16 

(b) Defined benefit plan:
 Gratuity
 The Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan covering eligible employees. The Gratuity Plan provides 

a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death, incapacitation or termination of employment, of an amount 
equivalent to 15 to 30 days’ salary for each completed year of service subject to a maximum of ` 0.10 Crore. Vesting occurs upon 
completion of five continuous years of service in accordance with Indian law. The gratuity fund is separately administered by a 
Gratuity Fund Trust.

(c) Other long-term employee benefits:
 Compensated Absences
 The Company provides for the expected cost of accumulating paid absences which can be carried forward and used in future 

periods by the employees. The obligation for accumulating paid absences has been recognised at the end of the reporting period.

 I Following information are based on report of actuary for employee benefit expenses
(` In Crore)

 2016-17  2015-16 
Gratuity 
(Funded)

Compensated   
Absences 

(unfunded)

Gratuity 
(Funded) 

Compensated   
Absences 

(unfunded)
(A)  Change in present value of the obligation during the 

year
 (1) Present value of obligation at year beginning  21.13  5.95  20.57  5.32 
 (2) Current service cost  2.13  1.31  2.35  1.14 
 (3) Interest cost  1.69  0.48  1.47  0.35 
 (4)  Benefits paid  (1.72)  (2.71)  (4.33)  (1.90)
 (5)  Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in (1) 

demographic assumptions
 (2.17)  (1.05)  -    -   

 (6)  Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
financial assumptions

 4.89  2.88  -    -   

 (7)  Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
experience adjustments

 (2.80)  2.24  1.07  1.04 

 (8) Present value of obligation at year end  23.15  9.10  21.13  5.95 
(B) Change in fair value of plan assets during the year
 (1) Fair value of plan assets at year beginning  19.42  -    20.57  -   
 (2) Interest income on plan assets  1.56  -    1.65  -   
 (3)  Expected return on plan assets other than interest 

income
 0.15  -    0.03  -   

 (4) Contribution made by the participants  1.71  -    1.50  -   
 (5) Benefits paid  (1.72)  -    (4.33)  -   
 (6) Fair value of plan assets at year end  21.12  -    19.42  -   
(C) Reconciliation of obligation and fair value of assets
 (1) Present value of the obligation at year end  23.15  9.10  21.13  5.95 
 (2) Fair value of plan assets at year end  21.12  -    19.42  -   
 (3) Funded status [surplus / (deficit)]  (2.03)  (9.10)  (1.71)  (5.95)
(D) Expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss
 (1) Current service cost  2.13  1.31  2.35  1.14 
 (2) Interest cost  1.69  0.48  1.47  0.35 
 (3) Interest income on plan assets  (1.56)  -    (1.65)  -   
 (4) Actuarial (gain) / loss on leave encashment  -    4.07  -    1.04 
 Net cost recognised in Profit or Loss  2.26  5.86  2.17  2.53 
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(` In Crore)
 2016-17  2015-16 

Gratuity 
(Funded)

Compensated   
Absences 

(unfunded)

Gratuity 
(Funded) 

Compensated   
Absences 

(unfunded)
(E) Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
 (1)  Expected return on plan assets other than interest 

income
 (0.15)  -    (0.03)  -   

 (2)  Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions

 (2.17)  -    -    -   

 (3)  Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
financial assumptions

 4.89  -    -    -   

 (4)  Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
experience adjustments

 (2.80)  -    1.06  -   

   Net (gain)/ loss recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income

 (0.23)  -    1.03  -   

 II Expected contribution to the defined benefit plan (Gratuity) for the next annual reporting period
 2016-17  2015-16 

 5.78  1.71 

 III Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation (Gratuity) valued on undiscounted basis:
 2016-17  2015-16 

(1) Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period)  6.46  5.82 
(2) Between 2 and 5 years  9.77  10.86 
(3) Between 6 and 10 years  8.73  12.27 
(4) Beyond 10 years  12.15  10.65 
Total expected payments  37.11  39.60 

 The weighted average duration based on discounted cash flows of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting 
period is 5 years (31st March,2016: 5 years). 

 The weighted average duration based on discounted cash flows of the other long term employee benefits at the end of the 
reporting period is 7 years (31st March,2016: 5 years). 

 IV Quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions considered for defined benefit obligation (Gratuity):
   Sensitivity analysis presented below represents expected change in present value of defined benefit obligation based on 

reasonably possible changes in the assumptions occurring at the year end. 

 2016-17  2015-16 
Defined Benefit Obligation (Base)  23.15  21.13 
(1) One percentage point increase in discount rate  (1.18)  (0.91)
(2) One percentage point decrease in discount rate  1.33  1.00 
(3) One percentage point increase in rate of salary increase  1.31  0.75 
(4) One percentage point decrease in rate of salary increase  (1.19)  (0.70)
(5) Fifty percentage point increase in employee turnover rate  (0.49)  (0.82)
(6) Fifty percentage point decrease in employee turnover rate  0.80  1.42 
(7) Ten percentage point increase in mortality rate  0.01  (0.01)
(8) Ten percentage point decrease in mortality rate  (0.01)  0.01 

 V Actuarial Assumptions for Cement Division:
 2016-17  2015-16 

Gratuity 
(Funded)

Compensated   
Absences 

(unfunded)

Gratuity 
(Funded) 

Compensated   
Absences 

(unfunded)
(1) Discount rate 7.00% 7.00% 8.00% 8.00%
(2) Mortality Rate ( % of IALM 2006-08) 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
(3) Salary growth rate 9.00% 9.00% 6.00% 6.00%
(4) Withdrawal rates , based on age: (per annum)
 Up to 29 years 10.00% 10.00% 0.10% 0.10%
 29 - 45 years 10.00% 10.00% 0.30% 0.30%
 Above 45 years 10.00% 10.00% 0.60% 0.60%
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 V Actuarial Assumptions for Refractory Division
(1) Discount rate 6.90% 6.90% 8.00% 8.00%
(2) Mortality Rate ( % of IALM 2006-08) 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
(3) Salary growth rate  0.00 %  0.00 % 6.00% 6.00%
(4) Withdrawal rates , based on age: (per annum)
 Up to 29 years 2.00% 2.00% 0.10% 0.10%
 29 - 45 years 2.00% 2.00% 0.30% 0.30%
 Above 45 years 2.00% 2.00% 0.60% 0.60%

 VI Major categories of plan assets ( as percentage of total plan assets )
Unquoted Investments
(1)  Central Government Securities 7%  NA 10%  NA 
(2)  State Government Securities 51%  NA 47%  NA 
(3)  Special Deposit Scheme 10%  NA 11%  NA 
(4)  Bonds/Securities of Public Financial Institutions 26%  NA 27%  NA 
(5)  Cash and cash equivalents 6%  NA 5%  NA 

100%  NA 100%  NA 

42.14 Disclosures as required by Ind AS 108, Operating Segments
 Identification of Segments:
 The chief operational decision maker monitors the operating results of its business segments separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is 
measured consistently with profit or loss in the financial statements. Operating segments have been identified on the nature of products 
and services and have been identified as per the quantitative criteria specified in the Ind AS.

 Operating Segments identified as follows:
 (a) Cement Division which produces various grades of cement and cement related products

 (b) Refractory Division which produces various types of refractory products.

  No other operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

 Segment revenue and results:
 The expense or incomes which are not directly attributable to any business segment are shown as unallocable expenditure (net of 

unallocated income). 

 Segment assets and liabilities:
 Segment assets include all operating assets used by the operating segment and mainly consist of property, plant and equipment, trade 

receivables, cash and cash equivalents and inventories. Segment liabilities primarily include trade payables and other liabilities. Common 
assets and liabilities which cannot be allocated to any of the segments are shown as part of unallocable assets/liabilities.  

 Inter segment transfer:      
 As per practice consistently followed, inter segment transfers for capital jobs recognised at cost and for other jobs at estimated realisable 

value. Profit or loss on inter segment transfers are eliminated at the Company level. 

(a) Summary of Segmental Information as at and for the year ended 31st March, 2017 is as follows

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Cement  Refractory unallocable/ 
Eliminations 

 Total 

(1) Segment assets  2,740.75  316.04  1,697.55  4,754.34 
(2) Segment liabilities  563.66  58.64  1,776.64  2,398.94 

Capital Employed (1-2)  2,177.09  257.40  (79.09)  2,355.40 
(3) Revenue from external customers  2,951.77  315.65  -    3,267.42 
(4) Inter segment revenue  6.98  7.54  (14.52)  -   

Total Revenue (3+4)  2,958.75  323.19  (14.52)  3,267.42 
(5) Segment results (Profit / (Loss) before tax and interest)  678.74  (38.43)  24.95  665.26 
(6) Finance Cost  129.38  5.49  -    134.87 

Profit before tax (5-6)  549.36  (43.92)  24.95  530.39 
(7) Income Tax expense/ income  146.52 
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Sl. 
No.

Particulars Cement  Refractory unallocable/ 
Eliminations 

 Total 

Profit after tax  383.87 
(8) Material items of income and expense disclosed as per 

paragraph 7 of Ind AS 1, Presentation.
Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value   -    1.37 -  1.37 

(9) Material non cash transactions:
(a) Depreciation and amortisation  135.90  10.36 -  146.26 
(b) Gain or loss on fair value measurement of Mutual Funds  87.42  -   -  87.42 
(c) Provision for Leave encashment  3.36  (0.22) -  3.14 

(10) Other Disclosures
Capital expenditure including capital WIP  129.71  4.04 -  133.75 

(b) Summary of Segmental Information as at and for the year ended 31st March, 2016 is as follows

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Cement  Refractory unallocable/ 
Eliminations 

 Total 

 (1) Segment assets  2,456.80  357.95  1,504.90  4,319.65 
 (2) Segment liabilities  593.94  68.24  1,686.09  2,348.27 

Capital Employed (1-2)  1,862.86  289.71  (181.19)  1,971.38 
 (3) Revenue from external customers  2,766.87  262.03  -    3,028.90 
 (4) Inter segment revenue  7.82  3.10  (10.92)  -   

Total Revenue (3+4)  2,774.69  265.13  (10.92)  3,028.90 
 (5) Segment results (Profit / (Loss) before tax and interest)  512.94  (46.54)  (28.71)  437.69 
 (6) Finance Cost  130.25  4.28  -    134.53 

Profit before tax (5-6)  382.69  (50.82)  (28.71)  303.16 
 (7) Income Tax expense/ income  56.98 

Profit/Loss after tax  246.18 
 (8) Material items of income and expense disclosed as per 

paragraph 7 of Ind AS 1, Presentation.
Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value   -    2.89 -  2.89 

 (9) Material non cash transactions:
(a) Depreciation and amortisation  176.80  26.26  -    203.06 
(b) Gain or loss on fair value measurement of Mutual Funds  30.05  -    -    30.05 
(c) Provision for Leave encashment  0.73  (0.03)  (0.07)  0.63 

(10) Other Disclosures
Capital expenditure including capital WIP  153.66  5.23 -  158.89 

(c) Summary of Segmental Information as at 1st April, 2015 is as follows

Sl. 
No.

Particulars Cement  Refractory unallocable/ 
Eliminations 

 Total 

 (1) Segment assets  2,609.34  352.72  1,156.21  4,118.27 
 (2) Segment liabilities  533.15  53.24  1,751.23  2,337.62 

Capital Employed (1-2)  2,076.19  299.48  (595.02)  1,780.65 
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(d) Reconciliation to amounts reflected in the financial statements
  (` In Crore)

(1) Reconciliation of Profit before tax 2016-17 2015-16
Segment Profit  505.44  331.87 
Adjustments

Unallocated expenses  (75.35)  (77.91)
Unallocated receipts  100.30  49.20 

Profit Before tax and discontinued operations  530.39  303.16 

 As at  
 31st March, 

2017 

 As at  
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
 1st April, 

2015 
(2) Reconciliation of assets

Segment Assets  3,056.79  2,814.75  2,962.06 
Adjustments: 
Corporate Assets  24.98  25.96  3.02 
Investments  1,657.37  1,458.92  1,121.97 
Advance tax  15.20  20.02  31.22 
Total Assets  4,754.34  4,319.65  4,118.27 

(3) Reconciliation of liabilities
Segment Liabilities  622.30  662.18  586.39 
Adjustments: 
Borrowings including lease obligation  1,154.40  1,199.15  1,314.91 
Deferred Tax Liabilities  399.54  387.42  421.99 
Interest accrued but not due  5.15  5.74  8.49 
Corporate Liabilities  4.52  10.59  5.84 
Provision for tax  213.03  83.19  -   
Total Liabilities  2,398.94  2,348.27  2,337.62 

e) Geographical Information

2016-17 2015-16
Segment revenue by location of customers:
India  3,239.09  2,993.92 
Overseas  28.33  34.98 

Total  3,267.42  3,028.90 
f) The Company does not have material amount of tangible, intangible assets and non current operating assets located outside 

India.
42.15 Disclosures as required by Ind AS 24, Related Party Disclosures
 (A) Related parties and their relationship with the Company :  

(1) (i)  Key Management Personnel of the 
Company: 

Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia (Managing Director),
Shri Mahendra Singhi (CEO & Whole Time Director),
Shri Amandeep (Whole Time Director)

(ii)  Key Management Personnel of the 
Holding Company: 

Shri Mahendra Singhi ( Group CEO & Whole Time Director),  
Shri Jayesh Doshi (CFO),
Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia (Managing Director) and  
Shri Gautum Dalmia (Managing Director)

(iii)  Key Management Personnel of the 
Ultimate Holding Company: 

Shri Jai Hari Dalmia (Managing Director), Shri Yadu Hari Dalmia 
(Managing Director)
Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia (Director) and Shri Gautum Dalmia (Director)
and Shri Jayesh Doshi (CFO & Whole Time Director)
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(2) Ultimate Holding Company: (i) Dalmia Bharat Limited (w.e.f 25.02.2015) 

(3) Holding Company: (i) Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (w.e.f 25.02.2015)

(4) Subsidiary: (i) OCL Global Limited (wholly owned subsidiary)
(ii) Odisha Cement Limited (wholly owned subsidiary)

(5) Step down Subsidiary: (i) OCL China Limited (90% equity shares held by OCL Global Limited)

(6) Enterprises over which key 
management personnel are able to 
exercise significant influence: 

(i) Dalmia Institute of Scientific & Industrial Research (DISIR),  

(ii) Dalmia Refractories Limited
(iii) Dalmia Magnesite Corporation (a unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar & 

Industries Limited)

(7) Fellow Subsidiaries: (i) Calcom Cement India Limited,
(ii) Adhunik Cement Limited, 
(iii) Dalmia Cement East Limited

(8) Joint Venture: (i) Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited (Refer Note No.42.10)

(9) Post Employment Benefit Plan: (i) Orissa Cement Employees Gratuity Fund, 
(ii) Orissa Cement Executives Superannuation Fund

(B) Disclosure of transactions with Related Parties

(` In Crore)
Nature of transactions  Ref. to Note 

(A) above 
2016-17 2015-16

Remuneration to KMP
Shri Amandeep (1)(i) 3.69  2.05 
Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia (1)(i)  19.77  10.28 

23.46  12.33 
Purchase of goods

From Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  12.26  19.60 
From Subsidiary/ Step down subsidiary
 OCL Global Ltd  (4)(i)  6.26  19.04 
 OCL China Limited  (5)(i)  13.20  -   
From Others
 Dalmia Refractories Limited  (6)(ii)  7.24  5.78 
 Calcom Cement India Limited  (7)(i)  1.33  0.47 
 Dalmia Magnesite Corporation  (6)(iii)  0.78  1.88 

 41.07  46.77 
Purchase of stores/ spares

From Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  0.26  -   

Sale of goods and fixed assets
To Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  -    14.53 
To Others
 Dalmia Refractories Limited  (6)(ii)  0.31  0.17 
 Calcom Cement India Limited  (7)(i)  3.34  9.17 
 Adhunik Cement Limited  (7)(ii)  3.02  0.95 
 Dalmia Cement East Limited  (7)(iii)  141.44  82.85 
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(` In Crore)
Nature of transactions  Ref. to Note 

(A) above 
2016-17 2015-16

 148.11  107.67 
Sale of stores/ spares

To Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  0.27  -   

Service rendered 
To Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  0.49  0.76 
To Subsidiary/ Step down subsidiary
 OCL Global Limited  (4)(i)  1.60  1.89 
To Others
 Calcom Cement India Limited  (7)(i)  -    0.01 
 Adhunik Cement Pvt Limited  (7)(ii)  -    0.01 
 Dalmia Cement East Limited  (7)(iii)  2.73  0.27 

 4.82  2.94 

Service received
From Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Bharat Limited  (2)(i)  86.18  67.59 
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  55.91  39.40 
From Others
 DISIR  (6)(i)  0.45  1.32 

Interest income
From Others
 Dalmia Cement East Limited  (7)(iii)  0.95  -   

Interest expense
To Others
 Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited  (8)(i)  0.16  -   

Contribution made
To Others
 Orissa Cement Employees Gratuity Fund,  (9)(i)  1.71  1.50 
 Orissa Cement Executives Superannuation Fund  (9)(ii)  0.61  0.57 

(` In Crore)
Nature of transactions  Ref. to Note 

(A) above 
 As at  

 31st March, 
2017 

 As at  
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Receivable at the year end
From Holding/ Ultimate holding Company

Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  0.14  0.78  0.01 
From Subsidiary/ Step down subsidiary

OCL Global Ltd  (4)(i)  -    0.46  0.03 
From Others

DISIR  (6)(i)  -    -    0.01 
Dalmia Refractories Limited  (6)(ii)  -    -    0.48 
Calcom Cement India Limited  (7)(i)  -    6.15  1.88 
Adhunik Cement Pvt Limited  (7)(ii)  0.26  0.95  -   
Dalmia Cement East Limited  (7)(iii)  30.52  12.03  -   

 30.92  20.37  2.41 
Payable at the year end

To Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)
Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia  (1)(i)  16.50  7.30  -   

To Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
Dalmia Bharat Limited  (2)(i)  6.79  8.81  10.25 
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(` In Crore)
Nature of transactions  Ref. to Note 

(A) above 
 As at  

 31st March, 
2017 

 As at  
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  18.57  19.79  -   
To Subsidiary/ Step down subsidiary

OCL Global Ltd  (4)(i)  0.27  2.49  3.48 
OCL China Ltd  (5)(i)  3.29  -    -   

To Others
DISIR  (6)(i)  0.37  0.37  0.05 
Dalmia Refractories Limited (6)(ii)  0.69  0.77  0.67 
Calcom Cement India Limited  (7)(i)  0.10  0.08  -   

 46.58  39.61  14.45 
Loan taken & outstanding at year end

From Joint Venture Company
Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited  (8)(i)  5.00  -    -   

Accrued Interest on Loan
From Joint Venture Company

Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited  (8)(i)  0.16  -    -   
Guarantees Given / Outstanding (Refer Note No. 42.4B) 

To Subsidiary/ Step down subsidiary
OCL Global Ltd  (4)(i)  -    -    10.01 
OCL China Limited  (5)(i)  12.52  14.29  16.27 

To Others
Dalmia Cement East Limited  (7)(iii)  234.68  -    -   

 247.20  14.29  26.28 

(C) Details of remuneration paid to Key Management Personnel of the Company as per A(1)(i) above.

2016-17 2015-16
Shri Amandeep

Short term employment benefits* 3.39  1.87 
Long term employment benefits  0.30  0.18 
Payable at the year end  -    -   

Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia
Short term employment benefits  19.62  10.21 
Long term employment benefits  0.15  0.07 
Payable at the year end  16.50  7.30 

 * In addition to above, perquisite value of `6.53 crore for 36,000 Employee Stock Options were granted by Dalmia Bharat Limited, 
(Ultimate Holding Company) on February 03, 2016 at a price of ̀  105.50/- per share being the exercise price representing discount 
of 20% on the price determined as 30 days average of opening price as on May 18, 2012. The said 36,000 ESOPs were vested and 
exercised by Shri Amandeep on February 03, 2017. 

 The transactions with related parties are net of taxes & reimbursement of expenses and have been made on terms equivalent to 
those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial 
position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates. Outstanding balances at the year-end are 
unsecured and settlement occurs in cash. 

42.16 Fair Value Measurement
 The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 

transaction between willing parties other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

 The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

(1) Fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other short term receivables, trade payables , other current liabilities, short-
term loans from banks and other financial institutions approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities 
of these instruments.    
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(2) Financial instruments with fixed and variable interest rate are evaluated by the Company based on parameter such as interest rates 
and individual credit worthiness of the counterparty. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken into account for the expected 
losses of these receivables. 

  The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique. 

  Level 1 : quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

  Level 2 : other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effects on the recorded fair value are observable, either 
directly or indirectly.

  Level 3 : techniques which use inputs that have a significant effects on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable 
market data.

   The following tables provides classification of financial instruments and the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s assets and 
liabilities. 

(` In Crore)
Carrying 

Value
Fair Value heirarchy

Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(a) Disclosure for the year ended 31st March, 2017
(1) Financial Assets

Financial Assets at amortised cost
Trade Receivables  178.13  178.13  -    -    178.13 
Loans  6.36  6.36  -    -    6.36 
Other Financial assets excluding derivative financial 
instruments

 338.19  338.19  -    -    338.19 

Cash & cash equivalents  20.73  20.73  -    -    -   
Bank Balances other than (iii) above  1.19  1.19  -    -    -   

 544.60  544.60  -    -    522.68 
Financial Assets at cost
Investments in equity shares  46.21  46.21  -    -    -   

Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments  4.40  4.40  -    4.40  -   
Investments in preference shares  17.22  17.22  -    -    17.22 
Investments in mutual funds  1,593.94  1,593.94  1,593.94  -    -   

 1,615.56  1,615.56  1,593.94  4.40  17.22 
Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Investment properties  0.33  2.99  -    2.99  -   
Total  2,206.70  2,209.36  1,593.94  7.39  539.90 

(2) Financial Liability
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings

Obligation under finance lease  0.73  0.73  -    -    0.73 
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions  1,153.67  1,153.67  -    -    1,153.67 

Trade Payables  296.66  296.66  -    -    -   
Other Financial liabilities excluding derivative 
financial instruments

 181.52  181.52  -    -    -   

 1,632.58  1,632.58  -    -    1,154.40 
Financial Liabilites at fair value through profit or 
loss
Derivative financial instruments  0.93  0.93  -    0.93  -   

Total  1,633.51  1,633.51  -    0.93  1,154.40 
(b) Disclosure for the year ended 31st March, 2016 
(1) Financial Assets

Financial Assets at amortised cost
Trade Receivables  162.05  162.05  -    -    162.05 
Loans  1.67  1.67  -    -    1.67 
Other Financial assets excluding derivative financial 
instruments

 72.08  72.08  -    -    72.08 
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(` In Crore)
Carrying 

Value
Fair Value heirarchy

Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash & cash equivalents  28.47  28.47  -    -    -   
Bank Balances other than (iii) above  2.11  2.11  -    -    -   

 266.38  266.38  -    -    235.80 
Financial Assets at cost
Investments in equity shares  46.16  46.16  -    -    -   
Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments  7.51  7.51  -    7.51  -   
Investments in preference shares  17.22  17.22  -    -    17.22 
Investments in commercial papers  300.00  300.00  -    -    300.00 
Investments in mutual funds  1,095.54  1,095.54  1,095.54  -    -   

 1,420.27  1,420.27  1,095.54  7.51  317.22 
Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Investment properties  0.33  2.99  -    2.99  -   
Total  1,733.14  1,735.80  1,095.54  10.50  553.02 

(2) Financial Liability
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings

Obligation under finance lease  0.73  0.73  -    -    0.73 
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions  1,198.42  1,198.42  -    -    1,198.42 

Trade Payables  321.76  321.76  -    -    -   
Other Financial liabilities excluding derivative 
financial instruments

 194.25  194.25  -    -    -   

 1,715.16  1,715.16  -    -    1,199.15 
Financial Liabilites at fair value through profit or 
loss
Derivative financial instruments  0.14  0.14  -    0.14  -   
Total  1,715.30  1,715.30  -    0.14  1,199.15

(c) Disclosure for the year ended 1st April, 2015    
(1) Financial Assets

Financial Assets at amortised cost
Trade Receivables  188.58  188.58  -    -    188.58 
Loans  1.96  1.96  -    -    1.96 
Other Financial assets excluding derivative financial 
instruments

 20.18  20.18  -    -    20.18 

Cash & cash equivalents  88.20  88.20  -    -    -   
Bank Balances other than (iii) above  1.07  1.07  -    -    -   

 299.99  299.99  -    -    210.72 
Financial Assets at cost
Investments in equity shares  46.08  46.08  -    -    -   
Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments  6.68  6.68  -    6.68  -   
Investments in preference shares  17.22  17.22  -    -    17.22 
Investments in commercial papers  249.06  249.06  -    -    249.06 
Investments in mutual funds  809.61  809.61  809.61  -    -   

 1,082.57  1,082.57  809.61  6.68  266.28 
Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Investment properties  0.34  3.03  -    3.03  -   
Total  1,428.98  1,431.67  809.61  9.71  477.00 

(2) Financial Liability
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings

Obligation under finance lease  0.73  0.73  -    -    0.73 
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions  1,314.18  1,314.18  -    -    1,314.18 

Trade Payables  279.92  279.92  -    -    -   
Other Financial Liabilities  210.22  210.22  -    -    -   
Total  1,805.05  1,805.05  -    -    1,314.91 
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(d) Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:
Financial Asset/ Liability Valuation Technique Significant unobservable input
Trade Receivables ECL Realisation pattern or past experience
Loans DCF Method Discount rate 
Other Financial assets excluding derivative financial instruments DCF Method Discount rate 
Investments in preference shares Realisable Value Estimated proceeds from redemption of investment
Finance Lease obligation DCF Method Discount rate 
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions DCF Method Discount rate 

42.17 Financial Risk Management Objective and Policies:
 The Company’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and advances 

from customers. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations, projects under implementation 
and to provide guarantees to support its operations. The Company’s principal financial assets include Investment, loans and advances, 
trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances that derive directly from its operations.

 The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s financial risk management is an integral part of how 
to plan and execute its business strategies. The Company’s financial risk management policy is set by the Managing Board. 

 All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by specialist teams that have the appropriate skills, experience and 
supervision. It is the Company’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes to be undertaken. The Board of Directors 
reviews and finalises policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

(a) Market Risk
  Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and commodity price risk. Financial instruments 
affected by market risk include investments and deposits, foreign currency receivables, payables, loans and borrowings and 
derivative financial instruments.

 The Company manages market risk through a treasury department, which evaluates and exercises independent control over the 
entire process of market risk management. The treasury department recommends risk management objectives and policies, 
which are approved by Senior Management and the Audit Committee. The activities of this department include management of 
cash resources, implementing hedging strategies for foreign currency exposures, borrowing strategies and ensuring compliance 
with market risk limits and policies. 

 (i) Interest rate risk

    Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. In order to optimize the Company’s position with regard to interest income and interest expenses 
to manage the interest rate risk, treasury performs a comprehensive corporate interest rate risk management by balancing 
the proportion of fixed rate and floating rate financial instruments in its total portfolio.

  Interest rate sensitivity

  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on the unhedged portion of 
loans and borrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s profit before tax is affected through the impact on 
floating rate borrowings, as follows:

2016-17 2015-16
(+/ -) 50 Basis Points (+/ -) 50 Basis Points

Effect on profit before tax due to interest rate sensitivity  1.34  1.32

(ii) Foreign currency risk

  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Company’s 
operating and financing activities. The Company manages its foreign currency risk by hedging transactions that are expected to 
realise in future. 
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 Foreign Currency Exposure

 As at  
 31st March, 2017 

As at  
 31st March, 2016

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Foreign 
Currency 

Functional  
Currency  
` Crore 

Foreign 
Currency 

Functional  
Currency  
` Crore 

Foreign 
Currency 

Functional  
Currency  
` Crore 

I Hedged
Forward contracts  USD  -    -    0.03  2.21  0.01  0.63 
for imports  Euro   -    -    0.01  0.72  -    0.34 
Term loan  USD  0.71  46.30  1.11  73.86  1.39  87.68 
Foreign currency loan 
availed under buyers’ 
credit

 USD  1.17  75.64  0.59  39.40  0.36  22.70 

Creditors  USD  -    -    -    -    0.35  22.35 
Interest accrued on term 
loan & buyers’ credit

 USD  0.03  2.25  0.04  2.94  0.03  2.10 

II Not hedged
Trade receivables  USD  0.01  0.83  0.05  3.27  0.10  5.94 

 Euro  0.04  2.75  0.07  4.94  0.04  2.75 
 GBP   -    -    -    0.09  0.08  7.05 

Trade payables  USD  0.23  14.73  0.44  29.36  1.00  62.97 
 Euro  0.11  7.80  0.07  4.88  0.08  5.70 
 JPY  0.07  0.04  0.11  0.07  0.07  0.04 
 GBP   -    0.06  -    0.19  -    0.20 

Cash & bank balance  USD  -    -    -    0.01  -    -   
 GBP  -    -    -    -    -    -   
 EURO  -    -    -    -    -    -   
 RMB  -    -    -    -    -    -   
 JPY  -    -    -    -    -    -   
 Kwacha  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Term loan  USD  1.87  121.31  1.69  111.74  1.69  106.30 
PCFC loan  USD   0.01  0.42  0.02  1.26  0.05  3.09 

 EURO  0.11  7.42  0.07  5.39  0.06  3.85 
 GBP   -    -    -    0.08  0.04  4.05 

Interest accrued

on term loan & buyers 
credit

 USD   0.01  0.39  -    0.20  -    0.11 
 EURO   -    0.02  -    -    -    -   

Foreign currency loan 

availed under buyers' 
credit 

 USD  0.12  7.75  0.65  42.78  -    -   
 EURO 0.29 19.78  -    -    -    -   

 Note: Details of amount in foreign currency less than 100,000 are given below :
 - Forward Contract for imports in Euro (FY 2016: 95,500, FY 2015: 49,725).

 - Trade Receivables in GBP (FY 2016: 9,101.85).

 - Trade Payables in GBP (FY 2017: 7078.11, FY 2016: 19,481.63, FY 2015: 21,425).

 - Cash & bank balance in USD (FY 2017: 0.75, FY 2016: 1259.75, FY 2015: 5.75) , in GBP (FY 2017: 1.20, FY 2016: 1.20, FY 2015: 1.20), in 
EURO (FY 2017: 6.66, FY 2016: 236.66, FY 2015: 6.66), in RMB (FY 2017: 7.50, FY 2016: 606.50, FY 2015: 3,000), in JPY (FY 2017: 580, 
FY 2016: 580, FY 2015: 580), and in Kwacha (FY 2017: 30,000, FY 2016: 30,000, FY 2015: 30,000).

 - PCFC Loan in USD (FY 2017: 64,986.30) and in GBP (FY 2016: 8,191).

 - Interest accrued on term loan & buyers credit in USD (FY 2017: 60,357, FY 2016: 30,799, FY 2015: 17,667) and  in EURO (FY 2017: 
2,922.08).
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 Note: Details of amount in Rupee less than 100,000 are given below :
 - Cash & bank balance in USD (FY 2017: 48, FY 2016: 83,503, FY 2015: 358) , in GBP (FY 2017: 95, FY 2016: 114, FY 2015: 110), in EURO 

(FY 2017: 449, FY 2016: 17,750, FY 2015: 445), in RMB (FY 2017: 70, FY 2016: 6,290, FY 2015: 30,600), in JPY (FY 2017: 327, FY 2016: 
347, FY 2015: 299), and in Kwacha (FY 2017: 309, FY 2016: 309, FY 2015: 309). 

 Foreign Currency Sensitivity

 The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables held 
constant. The impact on the Company’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities.  

2016-17 2015-16
(+/ -) 5 % (+/ -) 5 %

Effect on profit before tax  0.11  0.14 
USD  0.03  0.01 
Others  0.14  0.15 

(iii) Commodity price risk

 The Company is affected by the price volatility of certain commodities. Its operating activities require the on-going purchase or 
continuous supply of slag, coal, pet coke, and gypsum for manufacture of cement and quartzise, magnasite and alumina for 
manufacture of refractory products. The Company procures slag, coal, pet coke domestically by participating in public tenders 
/ e-auctions. Imported pet coke is exposed to price volatility due to fluctuation in international petroleum market. Quartzite is 
procured from captive mines, magnasite and alumina are imported. Raw material for refractory products are procured under 
annual rate contracts or by floating tenders. The Company monitors its purchases closely to optimise the price. 

(b) Credit Risk 
 Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a 

financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables and advances to suppliers) 
and from its financing activities, including deposits and other financial instruments.

(i) Trade Receivables
 Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Company’s established policy, procedures and control 

relating to customer credit risk management. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. An impairment analysis 
is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients.  

   The Company evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers are located in several 
jurisdictions and operate in largely independent markets.  

  The ageing analysis of the receivables (gross of provisions) have been considered from the date the invoice falls due.

 (` In Crore)
 As at  

 31st March, 2017
As at  

 31st March, 2016
 As at  

1st April, 2015 
Less than 6 months  160.73  147.55  181.53 
6 to 12 months  12.08  14.70  24.39 
more than 12 months  24.59  20.34  9.61 
Total  197.40  182.59  215.53 

(ii) Financial Instruments and Cash and bank balances
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Company’s treasury department in accordance 
with the Company’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved authorities. Credit limits of all authorities 
are reviewed by the Management on regular basis. All balances with banks and financial institutions is subject to low credit risk 
due to good credit ratings assigned to these entities.

(c) Liquidity Risk
 The Company monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using a liquidity planning tool. The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance 

between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of cash credit, letter of credit and working capital limits.

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual payments.
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31st March, 2017

(` In Crore)
Less than 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total 

Borrowings
Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures  -    598.51  -    598.51 
Term Loans from Banks  0.09  66.62  201.70  268.41 
Term Loans from Others  27.40  115.29  28.67  171.36 
Present value of land lease obligation  0.05  0.24  0.44  0.73 
Cash credit from Banks  12.23  -    -    12.23 
Buyers credit from Banks  103.16  -    -    103.16 

Other Financial Liabilities other than current 
maturities of borrowings and lease obligation

 182.45  -    -    182.45 

Trade  & Other Payables  296.66  -    -    296.66 
 622.04  780.66  230.81  1,633.50 

31st March, 2016

Less than 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total 
Borrowings

Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures  23.97  598.22  -    622.19 
Term Loans from Banks  0.08  43.38  224.95  268.41 
Term Loans from Others  57.61  131.46  26.37  215.44 
Present value of land lease obligation  0.06  0.25  0.42  0.73 
Cash credit from Banks  10.20  -    -    10.20 
Buyers credit from Banks  82.18  -    -    82.18 

Other Financial Liabilities other than current 
maturities of borrowings and lease obligation

 194.39  -    -    194.39 

Trade  & Other Payables  321.76  -    -    321.76 
 690.25  773.31  251.74  1,715.30 

31st March, 2017

Less than 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total 
Borrowings

Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures  23.94  422.06  199.86  645.86 
Term Loans from Banks  41.24  137.75  130.07  309.06 
Term Loans from Others  31.45  156.28  49.65  237.38 
Present value of land lease obligation  0.06  0.21  0.46  0.73 
Cash credit from Banks  99.18  -    -    99.18 
Buyers credit from Banks  22.70  -    -    22.70 

Other Financial Liabilities other than current 
maturities of borrowings and lease obligation

 178.71  31.51  -    210.22 

Trade  & Other Payables  279.92  -    -    279.92 

 677.19  747.81  380.04  1,805.05 

42.18 Capital Management: 
 For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, equity includes issued equity capital, securities premium and all other equity 

reserves attributable to the equity share holders, including capital reserve and net debt includes interest bearing loans and borrowings 
except lease liability less investment in mutual funds, commercial papers and cash and cash equivalents. The primary objective of the 
Company’s capital management is to safeguard continuity, maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support 
its business and provide adequate return to shareholders through continuing growth.

 The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the requirements of 
the financial covenants. The funding requirement is met through a mixture of equity, internal accruals, long term borrowings and short 
term borrowings. The Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt.
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 In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets 
financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. 

(` In Crore)

 As at  
 31st March, 2017

As at  
 31st March, 2016

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Borrowings  1,153.67  1,198.42  1,314.18 
Less: Current investments  (1,593.94)  (1,395.54)  (1,058.67)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents  (20.73)  (28.47)  (88.20)
(a) Net Debt  (461.00)  (225.59)  167.31 
(b) Equity  2,355.40  1,971.38  1,780.65 
(c) Equity and Net Debt (a+b)  1,894.40  1,745.79  1,947.96 
Gearing Ratio (a/c) -24.33% -12.92% 8.59%

42.19 First Time Adoption of Ind-AS:
 These financial statements, for the year ended 31st March 2017, are the first, the Company has prepared in accordance with  section 

133 of the Companies Act 2013, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and  Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Amendment Rules, 2016. For periods up to and including the year ended 31st March 2016, the Company prepared its 
financial statements in accordance with accounting standards notified under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013, read together with 
paragraph 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (Indian GAAP).

 Accordingly, the Company has prepared financial statements which comply with Ind AS applicable for periods ending on 31st March 
2017, together with the comparative period data as at and for the year ended 31st March 2016. In preparing these financial statements, 
the Company’s opening balance sheet was prepared as at 1st April 2015, the Company’s date of transition to Ind AS. The figures for the 
previous periods and for the year ended 31st March, 2015 have been restated, regrouped and reclassified, wherever required to comply 
with Ind-AS and Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013 and to make them comparable.

42.19 (a) Exemption applied
 The Company has applied following exemptions
(1) Business Combinations
 The Company has elected not to apply Ind AS 103 - Business Combinations, retrospectively to past business combinations that 

are occurred before the date of transition to Ind AS.
(2) Deemed Cost
 The Company has elected to measure the certain items of property, plant and equipment on the date of transition to Ind AS i.e. 

1st April, 2015 at its fair value and is using that fair value as its deemed cost on that date. Items measured at fair value are plant 
and machinery, buildings, freehold land and railway sidings. Lease hold land, furniture & fixtures, office equipments and vehicles 
are carried at their previous GAAP carrying amount. 

(3) Leases
 The Company has assessed the classification of each element as finance or operating lease at the date of transition to Ind AS on 

the basis of the facts and circumstances existing as at that date.
(4) Long Term Foreign Currency Monetary Items
 The Company has elected to continue the policy adopted for accounting for exchange differences arising from translation of 

long-term foreign currency monetary items recognised in the financial statements for the period ending immediately before 
the beginning of the first Ind AS financial reporting period as per the previous GAAP. The policy is detailed in Note No. 3.8 of 
significant accounting policies. 

(5) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
 The Company has elected to measure investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures at previous GAAP carrying amount, 

accordingly it has elected to measure the investments at deemed cost in its opening Ind AS Balance Sheet.
(6) Fair value measurement of financial assets or financial liabilities at initial recognition 
 Under IndAS 109, the financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost, less allowance for impairment, if any. For transactions entered into on or after the date of transition to IndAS, the requirement 
of initial recognition at fair value is applied prospectively. 

(7) Decommissioning liabilities included in the intangible assets
 The Company has elected to measure the decommissioning liability related to mines, at the date of transition to IndAS in 

accordance with Ind AS 37.
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(8) Non current assets held for sale
 The Company has elected to measure non current assets held for sale at carrying value at the date of transition, hence opening 

IndAS Balance Sheet was not required to be adjusted.

42.19 (b) Exceptions
 The following mandatory exceptions have been applied in accordance with IndAS 101 in preparing the financial statements.

(1) Estimates
 The estimates at 1st April, 2015 and at 31st March, 2016 are consistent with those made for the same dates in accordance with 

Indian GAAP (after adjustments to reflect any differences in accounting policies, if any) apart from the following items where 
application of Indian GAAP did not require estimation.

 Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income  
 Impairment of financial assets based on expected credit loss model 

(2) Classification and measurement of financial assets
 The Company has classified the financial assets at fair value in accordance with Ind AS 109 on the basis of facts and circumstances 

that exists at the date of transition to Ind AS. 
42.19 (c) Reconciliation of Equity as at 1st April, 2015 (date of transition to  IndAS)
                               (` In Crore) 

Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP As at  
1st April, 2015

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS As at  
1st April, 2015 

A ASSETS
1 Non-current Assets
 Property, Plant and Equipment 1  1,223.14  831.82  2,054.96 
 Capital Work-in-Progress  131.14  -    131.14 
 Investment Property  0.34  -    0.34 
 Other Intangible Assets 1  3.57  10.92  14.49 
 Biological Assets other than Bearer Plants  0.10  -    0.10 
 Financial Assets
 (i) Investments 2  58.66  4.64  63.30 
 (ii) Loans 3  0.37  (0.04)  0.33 
 (iii) Other Financial Assets 4  10.51  1.40  11.91 
 Other Non-Current Assets 3  44.18  0.05  44.23 

 1,472.01  848.79  2,320.80 
2 Current Assets
 Inventories 5  365.34  (2.73)  362.61 
 Financial Assets
 (i) Investments 6  1,055.17  3.50  1,058.67 
 (ii) Trade Receivables 7  199.11  (10.53)  188.58 
 (iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents  88.20  -    88.20 
 (iv) Bank Balances other than (iii) above  1.07  -    1.07 
 (v) Loans  1.63  -    1.63 
 (vi) Other Financial Assets 4  13.73  1.22  14.95 
Other Current Assets  81.76  -    81.76 

 1,806.01  (8.54)  1,797.47 
Total  3,278.02  840.25  4,118.27 

B EQUITY & LIABILITIES
1 Equity
Equity Share Capital  11.39  -    11.39 
Other Equity 9  1,184.82  584.44  1,769.26 

 1,196.21  584.44  1,780.65 
2 Non Current Liabilities
 Financial Liabilities
 (i) Borrowings 10  1,100.43  (4.09)  1,096.34 
 (ii) Other Financial Liabilities  31.51  -    31.51 
 Provisions 11  4.37  13.93  18.30 
 Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 12  148.75  273.24  421.99 

 1,285.06  283.08  1,568.14 
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Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP As at  
1st April, 2015

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS As at  
1st April, 2015 

3  Current Liabilities
 Financial Liabilities
 (i)  Borrowings  121.88  -    121.88 
 (ii)  Trade Payables 10  279.67  0.25  279.92 
 (iii) Other Financial Liabilities 10  275.53  (0.13)  275.40 
 Other Current Liabilities  82.50  -    82.50 
 Provisions 13  37.17  (27.39)  9.78 

 796.75  (27.27)  769.48 
Total  3,278.02  840.25  4,118.27 

42.19 (d) Reconciliation of Equity as at 1st April, 2015 (date of transition to  IndAS)

             (` In Crore)

Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP As at  
31st March, 2016 

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS As at  
31st March, 2016

A ASSETS
1 Non-current Assets
 Property, Plant and Equipment 1  1,212.33  809.82  2,022.15 
 Capital Work-in-Progress  121.40  -    121.40 
 Investment Property  0.33  -    0.33 
 Other Intangible Assets 1  1.50  9.96  11.46 
 Biological Assets other than Bearer Plants  0.10  -    0.10 
 Financial Assets
 (i) Investments 2  58.65  4.73  63.38 
 (ii) Loans 3  0.21  (0.04)  0.17 
 (iii) Other Financial Assets 4  10.43  1.35  11.78 
 Other Non-Current Assets 3  22.56  0.05  22.61 

 1,427.51  825.87  2,253.38 
2  Current Assets
 Inventories 5  336.01  2.09  338.10 
 Financial Assets
 (i) Investments 6  1,365.21  30.33  1,395.54 
 (ii) Trade Receivables 7  167.08  (5.03)  162.05 
 (iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents  28.47  -    28.47 
 (iv) Bank Balances other than (iii) above  2.11  -    2.11 
 (v) Loans  1.50  -    1.50 
 (vi) Other Financial Assets 4  68.24  (0.43)  67.81 
 Other Current Assets 8  70.85  (0.16)  70.69 

 2,039.47  26.80  2,066.27 
 Total  3,466.98  852.67  4,319.65 

B EQUITY & LIABILITIES
1 Equity
 Equity Share Capital  11.39  -    11.39 
 Other Equity 9  1,393.72  566.27  1,959.99 

 1,405.11  566.27  1,971.38 
2 Non Current Liabilities
 Financial Liabilities
 (i) Borrowings 10  1,028.09  (3.04)  1,025.05 
 Provisions 11  7.05  13.34  20.39 
 Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 12  110.88  276.54  387.42 
 Total  1,146.02  286.84  1,432.86 
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Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP As at  
31st March, 2016 

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS As at  
31st March, 2016

3  Current Liabilities
 Financial Liabilities
 (i)  Borrowings  92.38  -    92.38 
 (ii)  Trade Payables  321.76  -    321.76 
 (iii) Other Financial Liabilities 10  276.55  (0.44)  276.11 
 Other Current Liabilities  128.56  -    128.56 
 Provisions  13.41  -    13.41 
 Current Tax Liabilities (net)  83.19  -    83.19 

 915.85  (0.44)  915.41 
 Total  3,466.98  852.67  4,319.65 

42.19 (e) Reconciliation of profit or loss for the year ended 31 March, 2016
(` In Crore)

Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP   
2015-16 

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS   
2015-16

I INCOME
 Revenue from Operations 4  3,028.96  (0.06)  3,028.90 
 Other Income 14  68.08  26.85  94.93 
 Total Income  3,097.04  26.79  3,123.83 
II EXPENSES
 Cost of Materials Consumed 11  464.60  (1.28)  463.32 
 Purchase of Stock-in-Trade  42.53  -    42.53 
 Changes in Inventories of Finished Goods &  

Work-in-Progress & Stock-in-Trade
5  (11.87)  (4.78)  (16.65)

 Excise Duty  364.25  -    364.25 
 Employee Benefits Expense 15  159.84  (1.01)  158.83 
 Power and Fuel  351.47  -    351.47 
 Finance Costs 16  132.91  1.62  134.53 
 Depreciation & Amortization Expense 17  171.56  31.50  203.06 
 Freight and Forwarding Expenses
   On Finished Goods  403.22  -    403.22 
   On Internal Transfer of Clinker  84.21  -    84.21 
 Other Expenses 18  644.71  (12.81)  631.90 
 Total Expenses  2,807.43  13.24  2,820.67 
III PROFIT BEFORE TAX  289.61  13.55  303.16 
 Tax expense
 Current tax  91.19  -    91.19 
 Deferred tax 12  (37.87)  3.66  (34.21)
 Total Tax expense  53.32  3.66  56.98 
IV PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AFTER TAX  236.29  9.89  246.18 
V OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 i Items that will not be classified to profit and loss 19  -    (1.03)  (1.03)
 ii  Income tax relating to items that will not be
 classified to profit and loss 19  -    0.36  0.36 
 Total Other Comprehensive Income For The Year  -    (0.67)  (0.67)
VII TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 

YEAR NET OF TAX
 236.29  9.22  245.51 

42.19 (f) Notes to the Reconciliation   
1. (a) Property Plant & Equipment
 The Company has elected to measure items of property, plant and equipment on the date of transition to Ind AS i.e. 1st April, 2015 

at its fair value and is using that fair value as its deemed cost on that date.  Details of increase in amounts due to fair valuation of 
assets is disclosed under Other Notes to Note No. 5 to 9. This amount has been adjusted in retained earnings.
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As  at  
31st March, 2016 

As  at   
1st April, 2015 

Opening Balance  831.82  -   
(i) Increase due to Fair valuation  -    829.51 
(ii) Capitalisation of spares  6.68  2.73 
(iii) Recognition of Lease arrangement in respect to freehold land  -    0.73 
(iv) Reclassification of Railway wagons to financial assets-others  -    (0.29)
(v)  Depreciation impact due to fair valuation and other reclassifications/ capitalisation  (30.54)  (0.86)
(vi) Impact of fair valuation on assets held for sale and write-offs  0.93  -   
(vi i) Capitalisation of repairs satisfying recognition criteria  0.93  -   

 809.82  831.82 
(b) Intangible Assets
Opening Balance  10.92  -   
(i) Recognisation of assets related to decommissioning liability of mines  -    10.92 
(ii) Amortisation of assets recognised in point (i) above  (0.96)  -   

 9.96  10.92 

2. Non Current Investments
 A financial guarantee is given against loan to OCL Global, a subsidiary and OCL China, a step-down subsidiary. The financial guarantee is 

recognised at fair value and resulting gain/loss at the time of transition of ` 0.73 Crore is recognised in retained earnings and subsequent 
gain/loss of ` 0.09 Crore in statement of profit and loss.  Preference shares are fair valued through profit or loss at transition date, ` 3.91 
Crore has been adjusted in retained earnings. 

3. Loans
 Loan to employees are measured at fair value using amortisation method. At transition date, resulting change in assets are adjusted in 

retained earnings. Subsequent adjustments are recognised in statement of profit and loss.

4. Other Financial Assets
 The Company has recognized the present value of future lease rental as receivable and derecognized the carrying value of wagons from 

PPE. At the time of transition, `1.45 Crore has been recognised under other financial assets and ` 0.29 Crore derecognised from PPE.  

 For 31st March 2016, ` 0.05 Crore has been derecognised from Other operating revenue and has been recognised as interest income.  

 Current Financial Assets- Others includes, impact of fair valuation of derivative instruments as at 31st March, 2016: ` -0.48 Crore and as at 
31st March, 2015: `1.17 Crore.

5. Inventories 
(` In Crore)

As  at  
31st March, 2016 

As  at   
1st April, 2015 

Opening balance  (2.73)  -   
(i)  Derecognition of spares at acquisition cost which are capitalized as per Note No.1(ii) 

above
 (6.68)  (2.73)

(ii) Derecognition of consumption of spares at issue cost  6.72  -   
(iii) Impact on stock valuation due to change in depreciation value  4.78  -   

 2.09  (2.73)
6. Current Investments 
 The mutual fund investments are valued at fair value through profit  or loss at time of transition and resulting gain/loss is recognised 

under retained earnings. Subsequently the gain/ loss is recognised under statement of profit and loss.

7. Current Trade Receivables
 The Company has applied practical expediency in calculation of the expected credit losses on trade receivables by using the provision 

matrix for each business segment as detailed in Note No. 16 of notes to the financial statements. Outstanding balance of provision as at 
31st March, 2016: ` 5.03 and as at 31st March, 2015: ` 10.53 Crore. 

8. Current Assets
 (i) Impact of fair valuation of PPE on assets held for sale as at 31st March, 2016 : ` -0.16 Crore
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9. Other Equity
 The adjustments pertaining to opening balance sheet at the time of transition to Ind AS  are adjusted into retained earnings and 

subsequently , the adjustments are made into Profit or Loss or Other Comprehensive Income as prescribed under Ind AS.

(` In Crore)
As  at  

31st March, 2016 
As  at   

1st April, 2015 
(i) Fair Valuation of mutual funds and preference shares 34.22 7.41
(iii) Fair Valuation of Property, Plant & Equipment (net of depreciation) 800.81 829.51
(iii) Reversal of consumption of spares reclassified as PPE, Refer Note No. 18 below 7.56  -   
(iv) Accumulated depreciation on capital spares  (2.59)  (0.85)
(v) Deferred tax impact  (276.54)  (273.24)
(vi) Outstanding provision on trade receivables based on past performance  (5.03)  (10.53)
(vii) Adjustment for dividend (including corporate dividend tax), declared and approved post 

reporting period
 -    27.39 

(viii) Others adjustments ( Refer other reconciliation notes )  7.84  4.75 
 566.27  584.44 

10. Borrowings       
 Under Indian GAAP, transaction costs incurred in connection with borrowings were amortised upfront and charged to profit or loss for 

the period. Under Ind AS, transaction costs are included in the initial recognition amount of financial liability and subsequently charged 
to profit or loss using the effective interest method. Fair value of leased land has been recognised on the date of transition to Ind AS. 

11. Provisions             

 The Company has recognised the decommissioning liability of Mines at discounted cost. The policy in respect to the provision amount 
is envisaged in Note No. 3.16 of notes to the financial statements.      

 For the year ended 31st March 2016, The Company has recognised ` 1.09 Crore under finance cost and  ` 0.96 Crore under depreciation. 
The provision as per previous GAAP of ` 1.67 Crore has been derecognised by crediting Cost of Material Consumed ` 1.28 Crore and 
Mines Restoration expenses ` 0.39 Crore.      

12. Deferred Tax Liability/Asset       
 Indian GAAP required deferred tax accounting using the income statement approach, which focuses on differences between taxable 

profits and accounting profits for the period. Ind AS 12 requires entities to account for deferred taxes using the balance sheet approach, 
which focuses on temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. The 
application of Ind AS 12 approach has resulted in recognition of deferred tax on new temporary differences which was not required 
under Indian GAAP.        

 In addition, the various transitional adjustments lead to temporary differences. According to the accounting policies, the Company has 
to account for such differences. On the date of transition, the net impact on deferred tax liabilities of ` 273.24 Crore has been recognised 
in retained earnings and for the year ended 31st March, 2016, ` 3.30 Crore has been recognised in statement of profit and loss. 

13. Short Term Provision      
 Under Indian GAAP, proposed dividends including dividend distribution tax (DDT), are recognised as a liability in the period to which 

they relate, irrespective of when they are declared. Under Ind AS, a proposed dividend is recognised as a liability in the period in which it 
is declared by the Company (usually when approved by shareholders in a general meeting) or paid.  

 Therefore, the dividend liability including DDT amounting to ` 27.39 Crore has been derecognised as on transition date and has been 
recognised in retained earnings during the year ended 31st March, 2016 as declared and paid. 
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14. Other Income

(` In Crore)
 2015-16 

(i) Gain on remeasurement of mutual funds at fair value.  26.73 
(ii) Commission on financial guarantee  0.09 
(iii) Others including interest on loan to employees  0.03 

 26.85 

15. Employee Benefit Expenses 
 Both under Indian GAAP and Ind AS, the Company recognised costs related to its post-employment defined benefit plan on an actuarial 

basis. Under Indian GAAP, the entire cost, including actuarial gains and losses, are charged to profit or loss. Under Ind AS, remeasurements 
[comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability and the return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability] are 
recognised  in the balance sheet through OCI. Thus the employee benefit expense is reduced by `1.03 Crore and remeasurement gains/ 
losses on defined benefit plans has been recognized in the OCI net of tax.  

 Unwinding of discount on loan to employees recognised as at transition date: ` 0.02 Crore 

16. Finance Cost 
(` In Crore)

 2015-16 
(i) Amortisation of transaction cost of borrowings  0.46 
(ii) Finance cost recognised for finance lease  0.07 
(iii) Unwinding of discount in respect to decommissioning liability  1.09 

 1.62 
17. Depreciation and amortisation expense  

 2015-16 
(i) Depreciation on repairs that are capitalised  0.10 
(ii) Depreciation on lease arrangements  0.01 
(iii) Depreciation on spares that are capitalised  1.74 
(iv) Depreciation impact due to adoption of SLM method of depreciation  (81.83)
(v) Depreciation impact due to fair valuation  110.52 

 30.54 
Amortisation of assets created for decommissioning liability  0.96 

 31.50 

18. Other Expenses

 2015-16 
(i) Reversal of consumption of spares reclassified as PPE, refer Note No. 1 above  (7.56)
(ii) Reversal of repairs reclassified as PPE  (0.93)
(iii) Remeasurement of rebates and discounts  (5.50)
(iv) Derecognition for decommissioning provision under IGAAP, refer Note No. 10 above  (0.39)
(v) Other fair value adjustments  (0.08)
(vi) Loss on fair valuation of derivative instruments  1.65 

 (12.81)

19. Other Comprehensive Income  

 2015-16 
(i) Remeasurement of defined benefits plans  (1.03)

 (1.03)
Deferred tax on above  0.36 

 (0.67)
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42.19 (g) There is no material impact on the Statement of Cash Flows due to the transition from previous GAAP to Ind AS.  

42.20 Details of Specified Bank Notes held and transacted during the period 8th November, 2016 to 30th December, 2016 are given below:
(` In Crore)

 Specified Bank Notes 
` 500 notes `1000 notes Other notes Total Amount

Closing cash in hand as on 08.11.2016  0.04 0.03 0.02 0.09 
Add :  Permitted Receipts  -    -   0.19 0.19 
Less :  Permitted Payments  -    -   0.11 0.11 
Less :  Amount Deposited in Banks  0.04 0.03  -   0.07 
Closing cash in hand as on 30.12.2016  -    -    0.10  0.10 

42.21 Previous year figures have been regrouped/rearranged/ reclassified where necessary to correspond with current year figures.

for OCL INDIA LIMITED
               On behalf of the Board

 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria   Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary)  Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants   M No. F6741          (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W

 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)

Notes To The Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31st March, 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF OCL INDIA  LIMITED

Report on the  Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS financial statements of OCL INDIA LIMITED (hereinafter referred to as “the Holding 
Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) and its joint venture, which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as 
at 31st March 2017 and the consolidated Statement of Profit & Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income) and the consolidated Cash Flow 
Statement and the consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “consolidated Ind AS financial statements”).

Management’s Responsibility for the  Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated Ind AS financial statements in terms of 
the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated 
financial performance (including other comprehensive income), consolidated cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
of the Group including share of its joint venture in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with relevant rules made thereunder. The respective board of directors 
of the companies included in the Group and its joint venture are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Group and its joint venture and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the 
purpose of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements by the Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated Ind As financial statements based on our audit. 

While conducting the Audit, we have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and matters which 
are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated Ind As 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal financial 
control relevant to the Holding Company’s preparation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 
principles used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Holding Company’s Board of Directors, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports referred to 
in sub-paragraph (a) of the Other Matters Paragraph below, other than the unaudited financial statements as certified by the Management 
and referred to in sub-paragraph (b) of the Other Matters below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India including Ind AS, of the consolidated state of affairs (financial position) of the Group and its joint venture as 
at 31st March 2017, and their consolidated profit (financial performance including other comprehensive income), their consolidated cash flows 
and their consolidated changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Other Matter
(a) We did not audit the financial statements of all subsidiaries (three) whose financial statements reflect the total assets of `135.11 crore 

as at 31st March, 2017, total revenues of `145.11 crore and net cash flows amounting of `2.70 crore for the year ended on that date, as 
considered in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements. These financial statements have been audited by other auditors whose reports 
have been furnished to us by the Management and our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, in so far as it relates to 
the amounts and disclosure included in respect of these subsidiaries and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act, 
in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. 
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(b) The consolidated Ind AS financial statements also include the Group’s share of net loss of ` 0.02 crore (not considered material to the 
Group) for the year ended 31st March, 2017 as considered in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, in respect of one joint venture 
based on unaudited financial statements and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act, in so far as it relates to the 
aforesaid joint venture is based solely on such unaudited financial statements. 

 Our opinion on the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements below, is not 
modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done and the reports of the other auditors and the 
financial statements certified by the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1 As required by section 143(3) of the Act, we report to the extent applicable that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements have been kept so for as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the other auditors.

c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this report are in agreement 
with the relevant books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified under section 
133 of the Act, read with relevant rules made thereunder.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the Directors of the Holding Company as on 31st March 2017 and taken 
on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the reports of Statutory Auditors of its subsidiary company and 
joint venture, all incorporated in India, none of the Directors of the Group Companies and joint venture, all incorporated in India is 
disqualified as on 31st March, 2017 from being appointed as a director in terms of section 164(2) of the Act.

f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting of the Company and the operating effectiveness 
of such controls, refer to our separate report in “Annexure A”, which is based on the auditor’s report of the Holding Company and a 
Subsidiary Company and on the basis of Management representation in the case of a joint venture, all incorporated in India.

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and 
Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The consolidated Ind AS financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the financial position of Group and 
its joint venture – Refer Note 42.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

ii. Provision has been made in the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, as required under the applicable law or accounting 
standards, for material foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts.

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by 
the holding Company and its subsidiary Company and joint venture, all incorporated in India. 

iv. The Group, as detailed in Note 42.20 to the financial statements, has made requisite disclosures in these consolidated financial 
statements as to holding as well as dealings in Specified Bank Notes during the period from 8th November, 2016 to 30th 
December, 2016 in respect of the Holding Company and its subsidiary incorporated in India. Based on the audit procedures 
performed and taking into consideration the information and explanations given to us and report of other auditors, in our 
opinion, these are in accordance with the books of account maintained by the Holding Company and its subsidiary company.

 For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.
 Chartered Accountants
 (Firm Regn. No.: 109208W)

Place: New Delhi (M.S. BALACHANDRAN)
Dated: 10th May, 2017  Partner (M. No:024282)
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Annexure-A referred to in the independent Auditors’ report to the MeMbers of oCL indiA LiMited on 
the ConsoLidAted ACCounts for the yeAr ended 31st MArCh, 2017.

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of OCL India Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the Holding Company”) 
and its subsidiary and joint venture, all incorporated in India, as of 31st March, 2017 in conjunction with our audit of the consolidated Ind As 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The respective Board of Directors of the Holding company, its subsidiary company and joint venture all incorporated in India are responsible for 
establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Holding 
Company, its subsidiary company and joint venture all incorporated in India considering the essential components of internal control stated in 
the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting(the “Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to Company’s policies, the 
safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the 
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting based on our audit and those 
conduct by other auditors. We and other auditors conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing, 
issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, 
both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and issued by ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that ourselves 
and other auditors(We) comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all 
material respects. 

The audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and their operating effectiveness. The audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding 
of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated Ind AS financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s 
internal financial controls system over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
A Company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A Company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; 
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorisations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over 
financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion, to the best of our information and according to the explanation given to us and based on the reports of other auditors of 
subsidiary company and based on the representation of the management of the joint venture, all incorporated in India, have, in all material 
respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting 
were operating effectively as at 31st March, 2017, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

Other Matter
Our aforesaid reports under section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Internal finance controls over 
financial reporting in so far as it relates to one subsidiary company and one joint venture, all incorporated in India, is based on the corresponding 
reports of the other auditor of subsidiary company and representation received from the Management of joint venture, all incorporated in India. 
Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.

 For V. Sankar Aiyar & Co.
 Chartered Accountants
 (Firm Regn. No.: 109208W)

Place: New Delhi (M.S. BALACHANDRAN)
Dated: 10th May, 2017  Partner (M. No:024282)                        
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Consolidated Balance Sheet AS AT 31st MARCH, 2017

(` In Crore)
Note no. As at  

31st March, 2017
As at  

31st March, 2016
As at  

1st April, 2015
A ASSETS

1 Non-current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 5  2,134.92  2,070.56  2,108.62 
Capital Work-in-Progress 6  22.38  121.40  131.14 
Investment Property 7  0.33  0.33  0.34 
Other Intangible Assets 8  18.05  11.46  14.49 
Biological Assets other than Bearer Plants 9  0.10  0.10  0.10 
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 10  3.89  3.91  3.85 
(ii) Loans 11  4.57  0.17  0.33 
(iii) Other Financial Assets 12  72.59  12.02  12.21 
Other Non-Current Assets 13  32.81  22.61  44.77 

 2,289.64  2,242.56  2,315.85 
2 Current Assets

Inventories 14  298.22  367.85  394.92 
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 15  1,593.94  1,395.54  1,058.67 
(ii) Trade Receivables 16  192.82  182.98  225.99 
(iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents 17  32.95  37.98  94.02 
(iv) Bank Balances other than (iii) above 18  1.21  2.15  1.10 
(v) Loans 11  1.79  1.50  1.63 
(vi) Other Financial Assets 12  270.05  67.81  14.95 
Other Current Assets 19  106.08  74.01  82.43 

 2,497.06  2,129.82  1,873.71 
 4,786.70  4,372.38  4,189.56 

B EQUITY & LIABILITIES
1 Equity

Equity Share Capital 20  11.39  11.39  11.39 
Other Equity 21  2,358.12  1,980.47  1,791.39 

 2,369.51  1,991.86  1,802.78 
Non-controlling interest  2.16  2.93  3.22 

2 Non Current Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 22  1,011.47  1,025.05  1,098.19 
(ii) Other Financial Liabilities 23  -    -    31.51 
Provisions 24  23.27  20.39  18.30 
Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 25  399.54  387.42  421.99 

 1,434.28  1,432.86  1,569.99 
3 Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 26  115.39  92.38  131.89 
(ii) Trade Payables 27  299.40  332.56  291.90 
(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 28  222.67  292.34  295.35 
Other Current Liabilities 29  114.60  130.85  84.65 
Provisions 30  15.66  13.41  9.78 
Current Tax Liabilities (net) 31  213.03  83.19  -   

 980.75  944.73  813.57 
Total  4,786.70  4,372.38  4,189.56 
Significant Accounting Policies and other information 1-4
Contingent liabilities and Other notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

42

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
   for OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board

 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W

 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH, 2017

(` In Crore)
Note no. 2016-17 2015-16

I INCOME
 Revenue from Operations 32  3,346.67  3,106.18 

Other Income 33  138.48  94.96 
Total Income  3,485.15  3,201.14 

II EXPENSES
Cost of Materials Consumed 34  493.99  504.75 
Purchase of Stock-in-Trade 35  37.99  41.83 
Changes in Inventories of Finished Goods 36  69.81  (16.24)
& Work-in-Progress & Stock-in-Trade
Excise Duty  367.01  375.87 
Employee Benefits Expense 37  197.12  165.09 
Power and Fuel  269.91  354.22 
Finance Costs 38  136.61  136.57 
Depreciation & Amortization Expense 5-9  151.41  207.83 
Freight and Forwarding Expenses
On Finished Goods  443.14  407.77 
On Internal Transfer of Clinker  62.52  84.21 
Other Expenses 39  728.78  638.81 
Total Expenses  2,958.29  2,900.71 

III PROFIT BEFORE SHARE IN NET PROFIT / (LOSS) OF JOINT VENTURE  526.86  300.43 
IV SHARE IN NET PROFIT / (LOSS) OF JOINT VENTURE  (0.02)  0.07
V PROFIT BEFORE TAX  526.84  300.50 

Tax expense 40
Current tax  134.55  91.19 
MAT credit entitlement  (12.72)  -   
Deferred tax  24.76  (34.21)
Total Tax expense  146.59  56.98 

VI PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AFTER TAX  380.25  243.52 
Less: Share of Profit/(Loss) transferred to / (from) non-controlling interest  (0.52)  (0.27)
Profit For The Year After  
(After Adjustment For Non-Controlling Interest)

 380.77  243.79 

VII OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 41
(i) Items that will not be classified to profit and loss  0.23  (1.03)
(ii) Income tax relating to items that will not be classified to profit and loss  (0.08)  0.36 
Total Other Comprehensive Income For The Year  0.15  (0.67)

VIII TOTAL  COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  380.92  243.12 
EARNING PER EQUITY SHARE 42.1
(Face value of Rs 2/- each) 
Basic (`)  66.92  42.84 
Diluted (`)  66.92  42.84 
Significant Accounting Policies and other information 1-4
Contingent liabilities and Other notes to the consolidated financial statements 42

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
   for OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board

 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W

 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)
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Consolidated Statement  of Changes in Equity  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH, 2017

A.  EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL (REFER NOTE NO. 20)
(` In Crore)

As at 31st March, 2017 As at 31st March, 2016
Balance at the year beginning  11.39  11.39 
Changes in equity share capital during the year  -    -   
Balance at the year end  11.39  11.39 

B.  OTHER EQUITY (REFER NOTE NO. 21) 
 For the year ended 31st March, 2017 

Particulars Reserve & Surplus Other Comprehensive Income Total
Capital 
Reserve

Securities 
Premium 
Reserve

Debenture 
Redemption 

Reserve

General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

Remeasurement 
of defined 

benefit plan

Balance as at 1st April, 2016  7.11  196.00  55.63  844.97  876.63  0.80  (0.67)  1,980.47 
Total Comprehensive Income/ (loss) 
for the year

 -    -    -    -    380.25  -    0.15  380.40 

Transferred from Retained Earnings 
to Debenture Redemption Reserve

 -    -    22.50  -    (22.50)  -    -    -   

Exchange rate differences on 
translation of foreign operations

 -    -    -    -    -    (3.46)  -    (3.46)

Capital Receipts  (0.07)  -    -    -    -    -    -    (0.07)
Non-Controlling Interest  0.02  -    -    -    0.52  0.24  -    0.78 
Balance as at 31st March, 2017  7.06  196.00  78.13  844.97  1,234.90  (2.42)  (0.52)  2,358.12 

 For the year ended 31st March, 2016 
Particulars Reserve & Surplus Other Comprehensive Income Total

Capital 
Reserve

Securities 
Premium 
Reserve

Debenture 
Redemption 

Reserve

General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

Remeasurement 
of defined 

benefit plan

Balance as at 1st April, 2015  7.17  196.00  18.39  844.97  724.86  -    -    1,791.39 
Total Comprehensive Income/ (loss) 
for the year

 -    -    -    -    243.52  -    (0.67)  242.85 

Final Dividend  
(FY 2014-15:`4 per share)

 -    -    -    -    (22.76)  -    -    (22.76)

Tax on Final Dividend  -    -    -    -    (4.63)  -    -    (4.63)
Interim Dividend 
(FY 2015-16:`4 per share)

 -    -    -    -    (22.76)  -    -    (22.76)

Tax on Interim Dividend  -    -    -    -    (4.63)  -    -    (4.63)
Transferred from Retained Earnings 
to Debenture Redemption Reserve

 -    -    37.24  -    (37.24)  -    -    -   

Exchange rate differences on 
translation of foreign operations

 -    -    -    -    -    0.79  -    0.79 

Capital Receipts  (0.07)  -    -    -    -    -    -    (0.07)
Non-controlling interest  0.01 - - -  0.27  0.01 -  0.29
Balance as at 31st March, 2016  7.11  196.00  55.63  844.97  876.63  0.80  (0.67) 1,980.47 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
   for OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board

 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W

 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement For the year ended 31st march, 2017  

(` In Crore)

 2016-17  2015-16 
1 CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax from continuing operations   526.86   300.43 
Adjustment for:

Depreciation & amortization expense  151.41  207.83 
Loss/(Profit) on sale of fixed assets  2.74  (0.31)
Effect of exchange rate difference  (2.89)  0.85 
Profit on sale of investments  (31.48)  (45.38)
Loss on sale of investments  0.01  0.28 
Finance cost  136.61  136.57 
Diminution in value of investments  -    0.02 
Interest receipt on investments  (2.70)  (5.14)
Gain on remeasurement of mutual funds at fair value  (87.42)  (30.05)
Notional commission on corporate guarantee  (1.25)  -   
Other comprehensive income  0.23  (1.03)
Provision for Doubtful debts  1.59  -   
Provision written back  (2.71)  (8.84)
Bad debts written off  0.14  1.47 
Unrealized foreign exchange on consolidation net gain/(loss)  (0.17)  0.97 
Dividend on investments  (3.00)  (4.10)

  161.11   253.14 
Operating profit before Working Capital changes   687.97   553.57 
Adjustments for Working Capital changes

Decrease/(increase) in non current financial assets
Loans  (4.40)  0.16 
Other financial assets  (60.57)  0.20 
Decrease/(increase) in other non current assets  (1.65)  0.79 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  69.64  27.06 
Decrease/(increase) in  current financial assets
Trade receivables  (11.57)  41.54 
Loans  (0.29)  0.13 
Other financial assets  (202.24)  (52.86)
Decrease/(increase) in other current assets  (30.82)  8.41 
Increase/(decrease) in non current financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities  -    (31.51)
Increase/(decrease) in non current provisions  1.71  1.00 
Increase/(decrease) in current financial liabilities
Trade payables  (33.16)  40.66 
Other financial liabilities  (27.66)  14.58 
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities  (16.25)  46.20 
Increase/(decrease) in other current provisions  4.96  12.46 

 (312.30)  108.82 
Cash generated from operations  375.67  662.39 
(Tax paid) / refund received (net)  0.11  3.20  
Net cash from operating activities  375.78  665.59 

B CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment, CWIP and 
Intangible assets

 (151.60)  (148.90)

Sale proceeds of Property, Plant and Equipment  4.47  2.14 
Interest receipt on investments  2.70  5.14 
Loss on sale of investments  (0.01)  (0.28)
Profit on sale of investments  31.48  45.38 
Purchase of current investments (net)  (110.98)  (306.82)
Dividend on investments  3.00  4.10 

Net cash generated / (used) in investing activities  (220.94)  (399.24)



Corporate 
Overview 

Financial 
Statements

154     |  OCL India Ltd.   Annual Report 2016 -17  |  155

Management 
Reports

(` In Crore)

 2016-17  2015-16 
C CASHFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from long term borrowings  13.36  115.00 
Repayment of long term borrowings  (80.78)  (207.67)
Increase/(decrease) in short term borrowings  26.34  (39.51)
Dividend paid  -    (22.76)
Interim Dividend paid  -    (22.76)
Taxes on Dividend paid  -    (9.26)
Finance cost  (119.73)  (134.39)
Net cash from financing activities  (160.81)  (321.35)
Net changes in Cash and Bank balances  (5.97)  (55.00)
Net Increase / (-) Decrease in cash and bank balances
Balance at the end of the year  34.16  40.13 
Balance at the beginning of the year  40.13  95.13 
Net changes in Cash and Bank balances  (5.97)  (55.00)

Notes:
The cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 7, Statement of 
Cash Flows.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
   for OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board

 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W

 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement For the year ended 31st march, 2017  
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Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31St March, 2017

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION   
 OCL India Limited (the Company) was incorporated in India on 11th October, 1949. The Company is domiciled in India whose shares 

are listed on the  Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) and the National Stock  Exchange (NSE). The registered office is located at Rajgangpur, 
Sundargarh, Odisha- 770017. The Company and its subsidiaries ( together referred as the Group) is engaged in the manufacturing 
of cement and refractory products. The Company is a subsidiary of Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (Holding Company) which is a 
subsidiary of Dalmia Bharat Limited (Ultimate Holding Company). 

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors on 10th May, 2017   

2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
2.1 Statement of Compliance   
 These consolidated financial statements, for the year ended 31st March 2017, are the first, the Group has prepared in accordance with  

section 133 of the Companies Act 2013, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and  Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2016. For periods up to and including the year ended 31st March 2016, the Group prepared 
its financial statements in accordance with accounting standards notified under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013, read together 
with paragraph 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (Indian GAAP). Adjustments pertaining to transition to Ind AS is detailed in 
Note No. 42.19 of the consolidated financial statement.   

2.2 Basis of Measurement   
 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis (which includes deemed cost as per Ind AS 101), except for the 

following assets and liabilities which have been measured at fair value: 

(i) Derivative financial instruments   

(ii)  Certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments).  

(iii)  Defined benefits plans - Plan assets measured at fair value   

 The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (`), which is the Company’s functional currency and all values are rounded to 
the nearest crore, except wherever otherwise stated.  

2.3 Basis of Consolidation   
 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31st March 2017. 

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group 
has:    

- Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee) 

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and   

- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns   

 Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has 
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 
whether it has power over an investee, including:    

- The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee   

- Rights arising from other contractual arrangements   

- The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

 The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control listed above. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary.     

 A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.  
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 If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill, if any), liabilities, non-controlling 
interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in statement of profit or loss. Any investment 
retained is retained at fair value. 

 These financial statements relate to OCL India Limited and its following Subsidiary Companies.   

(a) OCL Global Limited (Incorporated in Mauritius) 

(b) OCL China Limited (Step-down Subsidiary - Incorporated in China)  

(c) Odisha Cement Limited  

 The financial statements of the Parent and its subsidiaries have been consolidated on a line by line basis by adding together the 
book values of like, items of assets, liabilities, incomes and expenses after eliminating intra-group balances, intra-group transactions 
and unrealised profits resulting there from and are presented to the extent possible, in the same manner as the Group’s independent 
financial statements. The statement of profit and loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity 
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non- controlling interests having a 
deficit balance.   

 The financial statements of the Parent and its subsidiaries have been consolidated using uniform accounting policies for like transactions 
and other events in similar circumstances. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.   

 The financial statements of the subsidiary companies used in the consolidation are drawn upto the same reporting date as that of the 
Parent,  i.e. year ended 31st March, 2017.  

 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income ( OCI ) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the 
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary,  
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting 
policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income , expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.  

Investment in Joint Venture: Refer Note No.3.7  

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   
3.1  Property, plant and equipment (PPE) and Capital work in progress (CWIP)   
 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, (a) it is probabale that future economic 

benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and (b) the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Property, plant & equipment 
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any. Cost includes expenditure that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. In the case of assets acquired out of long term foreign currency borrowings disbursed before 
31-03-2016, the exchange differences arising on account of settlement or restatement at the end of reporting period are capitalised 
and depreciated over the remaining useful life of assets. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced at intervals, the Company derecognises the replaced part and recognises the new part with its own associated useful life and 
it is depreciated accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection/ repair is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria is satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in 
statement of profit and loss as incurred. The present value of the expected cost for decommissioning of the asset after its use is included 
in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met. 

 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment held by the Company as a lessee under a finance lease is determined in accordance 
with Ind AS 17-Leases.   

 Capital work-in-progress includes cost of property, plant and equipment under installations / under development at the balance sheet 
date and are stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. Borrowing cost attributable to the acquisition of qualifying assets are also 
capitalised.   

 Property, plant and equipment are eliminated from financial statement, either on disposal or when retired from active use. Losses arising 
in the case of retirement of property, plant and equipment and gains or losses arising from disposal of property, plant  and equipment 
are recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the year of such retirement/ disposal.   

 The Company has elected to measure items of property, plant and equipment on the date of transition to Ind AS i.e. 1st April, 2015 at 
its fair value and is using that fair value as its deemed cost on that date. Items measured at fair value are plant and machinery, buildings, 
freehold lands and railway line. Leasehold lands, furniture & fixtures, office equipments and vehicles are carried at their previous GAAP 
carrying amount which are equivalent to its fair value.   

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31St March, 2017
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 Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as specified in Schedule II to the Companies 
Act, 2013. Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item are 
depreciated separately. Property, plant and equipment which are added or disposed off during the year, depreciation is provided on pro-
rata basis.  Residual value and useful life of the assets are reveiwed periodically. Leasehold lands are amortised over the period of lease. 
In the following category of property, plant and equipment the depreciation is provided on technical evaluation of the remaining useful 
life which is different from the one specified in schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013.   

-  Plant & Machinery : 2 to 25 years  

-  Lease hold Land : 90 to 99 years      

 In respect of a Step-down Subsidiary Company (OCL China Limited), depreciation is provided on Straight Line method as per the 
expected useful life and expected ‘net salvage value (original value or 5% of Book Value) of the assets estimated by the management, 
which are as follows:   

- House & Building : 20 years  

- Machinery and Mechanic Equipment : 10 years  

- Means of Transportation : 4 years      

- Electronic Equipment : 3 years      

3.2 Investment Properties   
 Investment properties comprise freehold land that are held for capital appreciation and recognized at cost less impairment loss, if any.  

 

 Investment properties are derecognised either when they are disposed off or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset is recognised in statement of profit and loss in the period of derecognition. 

3.3 Intangible Assets   
 Intangible assets are recognised when it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the assets will flow to the 

Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.   

 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets are stated at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss, if any.   

 The useful life of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least once at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life 
or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.   

 Intangible assets with the finite useful life are amortised over the useful economic life on straight line basis and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.   

 Intangible assets are amortised as follows:   

- Computer Software are amortised over 3 to 5 years 

- Mining rights including decommissioning assets are amortised over residual economic life estimated as per the mining plan or 
finite life whichever is lower  

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful life, if any, are not amortised but tested for impairment annually.   

 Intangible assets are derecognised either when they have been disposed off or no future economic benefit is expected from its use or 
disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in statement of profit and 
loss in the period of derecognition.   

 In respect of Step-down Subsidiary Company (OCL China Limited) the expected life of the intangibles has been estimated by the 
management as ten years.   

 Research and Development Expenditure
 Expenditure incurred on Research and Development, other than on capital account, is charged to revenue.     

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31St March, 2017
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3.4 Non current assets held for sale   
 The non-current asset classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

3.5 Impairment of non-financial assets   
 As at each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired and also whether there 

is an indication of reversal of impairment loss recognised in the previous periods. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, if any, the Company determines the recoverable amount and impairment loss is recognised when the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.   

 Recoverable amount is determined:-   

- In the case of an individual asset, at the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value in use ; and  

- In the case of cash generating unit (a group of asset that generates identified, independent cash flow), at the higher of the cash 
generating unit’s fair value less cost to sell and the value in use.  

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discounting rate that 
reflect the current market assessment of the time value of the money and the risk specific to the asset. In determining fair value less cost 
of disposal, recent market transaction is taken into account. If no such transaction can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available 
fair value indicators.   

 The Company bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared separately for each of 
the Company’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations are generally 
covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the 
fifth year.   

3.6 Foreign Currency Transactions   
 The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (`) which is the Company’s functional currency. 

 For each entity the Group determines the fiunctional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency.    

 Foreign currency transactions are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currency of the respective entities in the Group, using 
the exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction. At each balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are reported using 
the closing exchange rate. Exchange rate differences that arise on settlement of monetary items or on reporting at each balance sheet 
date of the Group’s monetary items at the closing rate are recognised as income or expense in the period in which they arise.   

 Non-monetary items which are carried at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are reported using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are reported using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the date when fair value is determined.   

 The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items is recognised in line with the gain or loss of the item that gave rise to 
the translation difference (i.e. tanslation differences on items whose gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or the 
statement of profit and loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or the statement of profit and loss respectively).

 In accordance with Ind AS 101, exchange differences arising on long-term foreign currency monetary items related to acquisition of 
property, plant and equipments (other than land) are capitalised and depreciated over the remaining useful life of such asset. Exchange 
rate differences arising on other long term foreign currency monetary items are accumulated in the ‘Foreign Currency Monetary Item 
Translation Difference Account’ and amortised over the remaining life of concerned monetary item.    

 Foreign Operations   
 The assets and liabilities, including goodwill and any fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation whose 

functional currency is not the Indian Rupee, are translated by using the closing rate.   

 The exchange differences arising on the translation are recorded in other comprehensive income under “Foreign currency translation”. 
On the partial or total disposal of a foreign entity with a loss of control, the related share in the cumulative translation differences 
recorded in equity is recognized in the statement of income.   

 In accordance with Ind AS 101, cumulative currency translation differences for all foreign operations are deemed to be zero at the date 
of transition, viz 1st April, 2015. Gain or loss on a subsequent disposal of any foreign operation excludes translation differences that arose 
before the date of transition but includes only differences arising after the transition date.   

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31St March, 2017
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3.7 Investment in joint ventures   
 A joint venture is a type of joint arrangment whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets 

of the joint venture. The Group’s investment in its joint venture are accounted for using the equity method.   

 Under equity method, the investment in the joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted 
to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture since the date of acquisition date.   

 The statement of profit and loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the joint venture. Any change in OCI of those 
investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint 
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity.    

 Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the 
interest in the joint venture.   

 After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its investment 
in its joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is evidence that the investment in the joint venture is 
impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment  as the difference  between the recoverable amount 
of the joint venture and its carrying value, and then recogises the loss as “ Share of profit of the joint venture “ in the statement of profit 
and loss.   

3.8 Revenue Recognition   
 Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably 

measured, regardless of when the payment is being received.    

 The specific recognition criteria described below are met before revenue is recognised:   

 Sale of Goods   
 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the 

buyer, as per the terms of the contract and no significant uncertainty exists regarding the amount of the consideration that will be 
derived from the sale of goods. Export sales and respective export incentives are accounted for on the basis of date of bill of lading. 

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of 
payment. It excludes sales tax, Value added tax (VAT), trade discounts, rebates and returns but includes excise duty. 

 Rendering of Services   
 Revenue from sale of services is recognised as per the terms of the contract with customers based on stage of completion when the 

outcome of the transactions involving rendering of services can be estimated reliably. In case, the contract outcome cannot be measured 
reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered and if it is probable that 
expenses were not recoverable, revenue is not recognised.   

 Interest Income   
 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments 

or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset.   

 Dividend Income   
 Revenue is recognised when the right to receive the payment is established by the reporting date.   

 Other Claims / Receipts   
 Insurance claims and other receipts, where quantum of accruals cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty, these receipts are 

accounted on receipt basis. Royalty for use of Brand name is accounted on the basis of actual sales by the user.   

3.9 Government Grants   
 Grants from government  including non-monetary grants at fair value, are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that (i) the 

Company will comply with the conditions attached to them, and (ii) the grant will be received.    

 When the grant or subsidy relates to revenue, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis in the statemen t of profit and loss over 
the periods necessary to match them with the related costs, which are intended to compensate.  Where the grant relates to an asset 
including non monetary grants at fair value, it is recognised as deferred income and recognised to income in equal amounts over the 
expected useful life of the related asset.  Where the Company receives non-monetary grants, then the fair value of the non-monetary 
asset is assessed and both grant and asset are accounted at that fair value.    

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31St March, 2017
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3.10 Other significant Accounting Policies   
 These are set out under Significant Accounting Policies as given in the Company’s standalone financial statement. 

4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS   
 The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amount 

reported in the financial statements and notes thereto. Differences between the actual results and estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the results are known / materialised and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

4.1  Estimates and assumptions   

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. 
The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing 
circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or  circumstances arising that 
are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.   

4.2 Impairment of non-financial assets   
 The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 

when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.   

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, 
recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair 
value indicators.   

4.3 Defined benefit plans   
 The cost of the defined benefit plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of such obligation are determined 

using the actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from the actual developments 
in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and attrition rate. Due to the 
complexities involved in the valuation and its long- term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these 
assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.   

4.4 Fair value measurement of financial instruments
 When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be measured based on quoted 

prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) model. The 
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where it is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required 
in establishing fair values. Judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility risk. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.   

4.5 Impairment of financial assets   
 The impairment provisions for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Company 

uses judgment in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on Company’s past history, 
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimated at the end of each reporting period.   

4.6 Provision for decommissioning   
 The Company has recognised a provision for mine reclamation until the closure of mine. In determining the fair value of the provision, 

assumptions and estimates are made in relation to the expected future inflation rates, discount rate, expected cost of reclamation of 
mines, expected balance of reserves available in mines and the expected life of mines. The Company estimates that the costs would be 
incurred over its residual economic life estimated as per the mining plan or finite life whichever is lower and calculates the provision 
using the DCF method based on the following assumptions: 

- Inflation rate –  5.37%  

- Discount rate – 7.79%  

Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements For The Year Ended 31St March, 2017



Corporate 
Overview 

Financial 
Statements

160     |  OCL India Ltd.   Annual Report 2016 -17  |  161

Management 
Reports
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OTHER NOTES TO NOTE NO. 5 to 9

(a) Disclosures for Property, Plant & Equipment (PPE) and Capital Work-in-Progress (CWIP)
(i) Amount of borrowing cost capitalised and rate of capitalisation
 (` In Crore)

PARTICulARS 2016-17 2015-16
Borrowing costs capitalised 1.75 3.85 
Rate of capitalisation ( average rate of borrowings costs applicable to the 
borrowings related to the qualified assets)

7.37% 6.60%

(ii) Additions/ (-) deduction to PPE and Capital work-in-progress includes ̀ -2.39 Crore (Previous Year: ̀ 5.76 Crore) towards adjustment 
of foreign exchange loss / (gain) on long term foreign currency borrowings.     

(iii) The Group has clear title to all the items of PPE. PPE related to the Group (with net carrying values shown at `2041.09 Crore, 
`1971.42 Crore and ̀ 1988.75 Crore, as on 31st March, 2017, 31st March, 2016 and 1st April, 2015 respectively) are either mortgaged 
or hypothecated against the secured borrowings of the Group as detailed in Note No. 22 and 26.

(iv) The Group has elected the option of fair value as deemed cost for following class of PPE: (` In Crore)
ClASS OF ASSETS REvAluED   IGAAP value Fair value 

Adjustments
Other Adjustments   Ind AS value

Freehold land  6.24  105.23  -    111.47 
Leasehold land  27.96  (0.01)  2.51  30.46 
Buildings  112.95  72.27  2.18  187.40 
Plant and Equipment  1,079.95  627.18  6.13  1,713.26 
Railway line  17.58  24.84  -    42.42 
Others items of PPE  23.46  -    0.15  23.61 
Total  1,268.14  829.51  10.97  2,108.62 

(v) The above fair valuation has been performed by an external independent valuer and following assumptions/ techniques are 
applied by the valuer:    

 Freehold  land:    
 The fair valuation of landed properties are based on the benchmark value of land as fixed for different mouzas (village) by the 

authorities of respective State Governments.

 Buildings:    
 The replacement cost of each civil item has been arrived on basis of proper indexing to the cost inflation index .The present value/

fair value has been arrived after deducting depreciation for the life enjoyed till date. The plinth area cost Indices for civil works as 
set by Central Public Works Department (CPWD), New Delhi has been referred as cost inflation index. Designed/effective life of 
civil items as standardized for the industry has been referred.    

 Plant & Machinery & Railway sidings  :    
 The replacement cost has been arrived after proper indexing of the cost capitalised on the installation date. The above indexation 

are in conformity with the machineries and machine tools price index as standardized by the Reserve Bank of India. The present 
market value/fair valuation is arrived after deducting depreciation for the life enjoyed till date. Designed/effective life of plant and 
machinery as standardized for the industry has been referred.

(vi) Capital Work-in-Progress includes the following expenses / income 
 Current year expenses pertains to Green Power Project, Rajgangpur and previous year expenses pertains to OCL Bengal Cement 

Works, Midnapore. 

 (` In Crore)
ExPENSE/ (INCOME) 2016-17 2015-16
Finance charges  -    0.65 
Interest  -    1.95 
Others  0.22  0.01 
(Income)/loss on investments  -    (0.41)
Total  0.22  2.20 
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(b)  Disclosures for Investment Property     
(i) The Group has identified and reclassifed certain immovable properties as Investment Properties on the date of transition i.e. 1st 

April, 2015.      

(ii) There is no material expenses incurred for the maintenance of investment properties nor income derived out of the same.

(iii) The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to purchase, construct 
or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements. Investment properties are either mortgaged or 
hypothecated against the secured borrowings of the Group as detailed in Note No. 22 and 26.    

(iv) As at 31st March 2017, 31st March 2016 and 1st April 2015, the fair values of the properties are `2.99 Crore `2.99 Crore and 
`3.03 Crore respectively. Fair values are determined based on an annual evaluation performed by an accredited external 
independent valuer. The fair valuation of investment properties comprising land are based on the benchmark value of land as 
fixed for different mouzas (village) by the authorities of respective State Governments.

(c)  Disclosures for Intangible Assets     
(i) The mining rights has been granted by various state governments for a finite period. The Group has amortised on straight line 

basis, the expenditure on mining rights over its residual economic life estimated as per the mining plan or finite life whichever is 
lower.    

(ii) The Group has clear title to the mining rights classified under Intangible Assets.

(d)   Other disclosures     
(i) Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (net of advances) and not provided for the year 

ended 31st March, 2017 is `59.91 Crore ( 31st March, 2016: `24.63 Crore and 1st April, 2015: `34.83 Crore).

(ii) Disposals/adjustments includes ̀ 1.97 Crore and ̀ 0.16 Crore for the year ended 31st March 2017 and 31st March 2016, respectively 
classified to assets held for sale or disposal.    

(iii) There has been no impairment loss on above assets during the year.    

(iv) The livestock comprises of milch cattles and the produce is utilised for welfare of the employees. It is measured at cost as the fair 
value cannot be measured reliably.

10. NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS
 

(` In Crore)
FACE 

vAluE 
`

 No. of Shares / units  Amount 
 As at 
31st 

March, 
2017

 As at  
31st 

March, 
2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st 

March, 
2017

 As at  
31st 

March, 
2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

UNQUOTED 
Equity Instruments - Fully paid up- 
( valued at cost unless otherwise stated)
(a) Joint Venture

(i) Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining 
Pvt. Ltd.

10  7,348,000  3,835,000  3,835,000  7.40  7.42  7.35 

(Refer Note No.: 3.7 & 42.10)
(b) Others #

(i) First Capital India Ltd.  (996.00) 6  -    -    -    -    -    -   
(ii) India Information 

Technology Ltd.
 (10.00) 10  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iii) Crescent Finstock Ltd.  (-) 10  -    -    1,400  -    -    -   
(iv) Gujarat Composite Ltd.  (-) 10  -    -    16  -    -    -   
(v) Ispat Profiles India Ltd.  (76) 10  -    -    50  -    -    -   
(vi) Bagalkot Udyog Ltd.  (732) 1  -    -    100  -    -    -   
(vii) Orissa Industries Ltd. (140,253) 10  -    -    73,450  -    -    0.01 
(viii) The Scindia Steam 

NavigationCo.Ltd.
 (6,192) 20  -    -    504  -    -    -   

(ix) The Travancore 
Cements Ltd.

 (869) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   

(x) Digvijay Finlease Ltd.  (-) 10  -    -    25  -    -    -   
(xi) Indo Flogates Ltd.  (473) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   
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(` In Crore)
FACE 

vAluE 
`

 No. of Shares / units  Amount 
 As at 
31st 

March, 
2017

 As at  
31st 

March, 
2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st 

March, 
2017

 As at  
31st 

March, 
2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

(xii) Bagalkot Cement & 
Industries Ltd.

 (-) 10  -    -    1  -    -    -   

(xiii) Kanoria Sugar & General 
Mfg.Co.Ltd.

 (183) 10  -    -    25  -    -    -   

(xiv) Magnesite & Minerals 
Ltd.

 (1,005) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   

(xv) Usha Ispat Ltd.  (1,005) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   
(xvi) Orind Exports Ltd.  (201) 10  -    -    100  -    -    -   

Debentures or Bonds - valued at cost
(a) Non-convertible Secured - 

Fully paid up 
8% - Indian Chamber of 
Commerce

 (1,200) 100  12  12  12  -    -    -   

(b) Non-convertible Secured - 
Partly paid up
8% - Indian Chamber of 
Commerce

 (50) 25  2  2  2  -    -    -   

 (Fractional)
Others - Fully Paid up - valued at 
cost
(a) Co-operative Society  (5,000) 100  50  50  50  -    -    -   
(b) Property Rights in Holiday 

Resort
 (41,060)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total Investments  7.40  7.42  7.36 
Less: Provision for diminution in the 
value of Investments

 (3.51)  (3.51)  (3.51)

Net Investments  3.89  3.91  3.85 
Notes:
Quoted Investments  -    -    -   
Unquoted Investments  3.89  3.91  3.85 
Total Investment (Net)  3.89  3.91  3.85 
- Investment amount below `1,50,000 are given in brackets.
# Investments sold/ written off during the financial year 2015-16.

11. FINANCIAL ASSETS - LOANS 
 (` In Crore)

 Non Current  Current 
 As at 

31st March, 
2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 
(a) Secured, considered good

Loan to employees  -    0.02  0.10  0.02  0.03  0.13 
(b) Unsecured, considered good

Loans / advances to employees  1.96  0.15  0.23  1.77  1.47  1.50 
Loans to others  2.61  -    -    -    -    -   

Total  4.57  0.17  0.33  1.79  1.50  1.63 

 There are no loans/ advances to directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other 
persons or loans/ advances to firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a member.
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12. FINANCIAL ASSETS - OTHERS 
 (` In Crore)

 Non Current  Current 
 As at 

31st March, 
2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 
Unsecured, considered good
(a) Security Deposit  10.97  10.67  10.81  6.03  5.32  6.17 
(b) Lease rent receivable  -    1.35  1.40  1.35  0.05  0.05 
(c) VAT Incentive receivable  61.62  -    -    257.63  54.13  -   
(d) Interest accrued but not due  -    -    -    0.64  0.80  2.05 
(e) Derivative instruments  -    -    -    4.40  7.51  6.68 
Total  72.59  12.02  12.21  270.05  67.81  14.95 

13. OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS 
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 
(a) Capital Advances 

(i) Secured - considered good  7.65  1.19  1.12 
(ii) Unsecured - considered good  7.90  0.99  11.23 

(b) Other Advances
(i) Unsecured, considered good
- Advance income tax (net of provision for taxation)  15.20  20.02  31.22 
- Advances recoverable in cash / kind  2.06  0.41  1.20 

Total  32.81  22.61  44.77 

 There are no advances to directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other persons or 
advances to firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a member.

14. INVENTORIES
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 
(a) Raw materials and components

- In Stock  67.12  80.54  78.46 
- In Transit  6.62  2.36  2.08 

(b) Work-in-progress
- In Stock  19.67  31.03  30.08 
- In Transit  -    3.45  -   

(c) Finished goods
- In Stock  80.49  124.04  92.60 
- In Transit  3.40  5.14  8.77 

(d) Stock-in-trade
- In Transit  0.96  10.67  26.64 

(e) Stores, spares, fuel.
- In Stock  106.78  91.15  91.14 
- In Transit  2.16  14.77  57.68 

(f) Packing material
- In Stock  10.73  4.45  7.13 

(g) Loose Tools
- In Stock  0.29  0.25  0.34 
Total  298.22  367.85  394.92 

- During the year ended 31st March, 2017 `1.37 Crore ( 31st March, 2016: `2.89 Crore) was recognised as an expense for the 
inventories carried at net realisable value.

- The above inventories were valued at FIFO basis, hence reversal for write down of inventories in earlier periods were not 
required.           

- No restrictions has been put by the charge holders on the use of the inventories of the Group.
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15. CURRENT- INVESTMENTS 
(` In Crore)

 No. of Shares / units  Amount 
 As at 

31st March, 
2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 
UNQUOTED
(a) Investments in Commercial Paper  -    -    -    -    300.00  249.06 
QUOTED 
(b) Investments in units of Mutual Funds - 

Fully Paid up
(at Fair Value through profit and loss)
UTI Treasury Advantage Fund-Inst.Plan-DDR  -    -    123,386  -    -    12.37 
UTI Money Market Fund -Inst.Plan - Growth  -    366,760  -    -    62.12  -   
Birla Sunlife Saving Fund-Inst.-DD-Reinv.  -    -    3,259,664  -    -    32.70 
BSL-Cash Plan - Growth  -    2,691,415  -    -    65.34  -   
BSL Floating Rate Fund -Long Term-GRP  -    -    17,931,034  -    -    300.45 
BSL-Saving Fund-Regular Plan - Growth  2,017,849  3,641,822  -    64.30  106.66  -   
IDFCUSTF-Growth  -    -    3,759,835  -    -    7.35 
IDFC-DBF-Quarterly Dividend-Regular Plan  -    -    49,659,573  -    -    52.65 
IDFC Money Manager Fund -Treasury Plan 
-DD

 -    -    7,071,731  -    -    7.09 

ICICI Prudential Flexible Income Plan 
Premium - DD

 -    -    287,069  -    -    3.03 

ICICI Prudential Inst. Short term Plan-Div 
Reinv. Fortnight

 -    -    41,127  -    -    0.05 

ICICI Prudential Flexible Income - Growth  -    36,872  11,417,450  -    1.06  300.39 
ICICI Prudential Savings Fund - Growth  -    563,484  -    -    12.66  -   
ICICI Prudential Banking & PSU Debt Fund 
- Growth

 -    6,943,145  -    -    11.73  -   

SBI - SHF- Ultra Short term Fund - Regular 
Plan- DD

 -    -    1,408  -    -    0.14 

SBI-Dual Advantage Fund-Regular - Growth  7,000,000  7,000,000  7,000,000  8.06  7.41  7.19 
Templeton India Short term Income Retail 
Plan

 -    -    35,256  -    -    10.13 

Franklin India Ultra Short Bond Fund - SIP 
- DDR

 -    -    40,084,128  -    -    40.40 

HDFC High Interest Fund - Dynamic - 
Growth

 5,420,772  5,420,772  -    30.70  27.64  -   

HDFC Floating Rate Income Fund STP-WO-
Growth

 -    19,303,614  35,381,850  -    50.27  35.67 

HDFC Short Term Opportunites Fund 
-Growth

 37,175,670  37,175,670  -    66.87  61.41  -   

HDFC FMP -1161 DAYS - Regular -Growth  5,000,000  5,000,000  -    5.66  5.06  -   
DSP Black Rock Ultra Short Term Fund- Reg- 
Growth

 14,946,975  82,696,117  -    17.67  90.51  -   

DSP Black Rock Liquid Fund RP - Growth  -    338,937  -    -    73.28  -   
Reliance Short Term Fund Plan - Growth  52,804,560  33,146,338  -    162.73  93.51  -   
Reliance Arbitrage Advantage Fund - MDP 
- Growth

 31,467,585  29,867,619  -    33.34  31.36  -   

Kotak Arbitrage Equity Fund MDP - Growth  20,661,087  19,430,973  -    22.20  20.89  -   
Kotak Short Term Bond Fund - Growth  32,531,701  28,654,177  -    99.99  80.74  -   
Kotak Liquid Debt Fund - Growth  -    109,814  -    -    20.00  -   
Kotak Liquid Fund - Growth  63,835  195,354  -    21.01  59.96  -   
Kotak Income Opport. Fund - Growth  31,299,512  31,299,512  -    56.16  51.06  -   
Kotak Treasury Advantage Fund - Growth  -    18,477,814  -    -    44.62  -   
Sundaram Ultra Short Term Fund RP - 
Growth

 -    18,268,948  -    -    37.80  -   

IIFL Income Opport. Fund - Growth  -    2,700,000  -    -    3.17  -   
Indiabulls Short Term Fund - Growth  147,957  53,500  -    20.01  6.69  -   
Indiabulls Liquid Fund EP - Growth  316,562  342,174  -    50.09  50.39  -   
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(` In Crore)
 No. of Shares / units  Amount 

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 
DHFL Pramerica Insta Cash Plus Fund - 
Growth

 -    645,351  -    -    12.67  -   

DHFL Pramerica Ultra Short Term Fund - 
Growth

 -    4,123,666  -    -    7.53  -   

Axis Mutual Fund - FTP Regular - Growth  2,700,000  -    -    3.44  -    -   
BSL- Short Term Fund- Growth  28,761,347  -    -    179.10  -    -   
DHFL Pramerica Banking & PSU Debt Fund 
- Growth

 53,491,211  -    -    75.58  -    -   

DSP Black Rock Banking & PSU Debt Fund-
Regular-Growth

 57,312,481  -    -    79.32  -    -   

DSP Black Rock Short Term Fund Regular 
Plan-Growth

 34,737,108  -    -    96.70  -    -   

HSBC Income Fund Short Term Plan - 
Growth

 53,081,262  -    -    142.83  -    -   

Kotak Flexi Debt Scheme-A - Growth  26,211,588  -    -    55.01  -    -   
UTI Short Term Income Fund-Institutional 
Option-Growth

 45,182,401  -    -    90.09  -    -   

BSL Dynamic Bond Fund - Growth  8,530,764  -    -    24.77  -    -   
LIC Nomura Liquid Fund - Growth  252,547  -    -    74.21  -    -   
LIC Savings Plus Fund - Growth  5,393,480  -    -    13.44  -    -   
Reliance Corporate Bond Fund - Growth  38,412,784  -    -    50.57  -    -   
HSBC Cash Fund-Growth  309,796  -    -    50.09  -    -   
Total (b)  1,593.94  1,095.54  809.61 
Total Current Investment (a+b)  1,593.94  1,395.54  1,058.67 
Net Asset Value of item no. (b) (Mutual 
Funds)

 1,593.94  1,095.54  809.61 

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Secured, considered good  36.98  40.04  88.86 
(b) Unsecured, considered good

(i) Others  129.94  129.79  145.30 
(ii) Related Parties  30.52  18.18  2.36 

(c) Unsecured, considered doubtful  14.65  15.51  16.42 
 212.09  203.52  252.94 

Less: Provision for doubtful debts  14.65  15.51  16.42 
Less: Provision for free supply and rebate  4.62  5.03  10.53 
Total (Net of provision)  192.82  182.98  225.99 

- There are no debts due by directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other 
persons or debts due by firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a member.

- Trade receivables are netted with bill discounting as at 31st March, 2017: `8.81 Crore (31st March, 2016: `1.97 Crore and 1st April, 
2015: `4.75 Crore)

- The Company has provided for expected credit losses in two parts. Firstly, provision has been made on the basis of realisation 
pattern or past experience, for receivables outstanding  below 181 days. Secondly, provision has been made by applying the 
provision matrix for receivables outstanding as mentioned below.

i Cement Division
No. of days past due Provision Rate
Outstanding >181 days 50%
Outstanding >365 days 100%

ii Refractory Division
No. of days past due Provision Rate
Outstanding > 1 year 50%
Outstanding > 2 year 100%
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17. CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Balance with banks:
(i) In current accounts  31.35  35.81  72.91 
(ii) In deposit with original maturity of less than three months  -    -    17.00 

(b) Cheques, drafts in hand  -    -    0.02 
(c) Cash in hand  1.60  2.17  4.09 

Total  32.95  37.98  94.02 

 Bank balances includes `45,035 (31 March, 2016: `45,139 and 1st April, 2015: `45,191) lying in a current account with a nationalised bank, 
to be operated jointly by the authorised signatories of the Company and OCL Iron & Steel Limited in respect of coal block operations as 
mentioned in Note No. 42.10.

18. BANK BALANCES OTHER THAN ABOVE 
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Balance In unpaid dividend account  1.19  2.11  1.07 
(c) Deposits with original maturity of more than three months but 

less than twelve months
 0.02  0.04  0.03 

Total  1.21  2.15  1.10 

19. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Other Loans and Advances
(i) Unsecured, considered good
- Balance with Government Department  26.24  30.24  34.94 
- Advances recoverable in cash / kind  72.60  36.80  44.23 
(ii) Unsecured - considered doubtful  0.84  0.65  0.14 

Total Other Advances  99.68  67.69  79.31 
Less: Provision for doubtful advances  0.84  0.65  0.14 
(b) Claims & other receivables

(i) Considered good  5.72  6.14  3.09 
(ii) Considered doubtful  0.15  0.10  0.09 
Total Claims & other receivables  5.87  6.24  3.18 
Less: Provision for doubtful debts  0.15  0.10  0.09 

(c) Assets held for sale (at lower of carrying amount and net realisable 
value)

 0.18  0.08  0.03 

(d) Others  1.34  0.75  0.14 
Total Other Current Assets  107.07  74.76  82.66 
Less: Total provision for doubtful advances/ debts  0.99  0.75  0.23 
Total (net of provision)  106.08  74.01  82.43 

 There are no advances to directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other persons or 
advances to firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a member.
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20. EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL (Refer Statement of Changes in Equity)
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Authorised Shares
1,00,000 (Previous Year: 1,00,000) Shares of `100 each  1.00  1.00  1.00 
7,00,00,000 (Previous Year: 7,00,00,000) Shares of `2 each  14.00  14.00  14.00 

 15.00  15.00  15.00 
Issued Shares
6,36,31,805 (Previous Year: 6,36,31,805) Equity Shares of `2 each  12.73  12.73  12.73 
Subscribed & Paid up Shares
5,69,00,220 (Previous Year: 5,69,00,220) Equity Shares of `2 each, fully 
paid up

 11.38  11.38  11.38 

Add: Shares Forfeited Account  0.01  0.01  0.01 
Total Subscribed & Paid up Share Capital  11.39  11.39  11.39 

(a) Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period
 (` In Crore)

Particulars  As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

 No. of Shares  Amount  No. of Shares  Amount  No. of Shares  Amount 
Equity Shares outstanding at 
the beginning of the year 

 56,900,220  11.38  56,900,220  11.38  56,900,220  11.38 

Equity Shares issued during 
the year 

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Equity Shares bought back 
during the year

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Equity Shares outstanding at 
the end of the year

 56,900,220  11.38  56,900,220  11.38  56,900,220  11.38 

(b) Terms/ Rights attached to Equity Shares         
 The Company has issued only one class of equity shares having a par value of `2 per share.  Each equity shareholder is entitled to 

one vote per share. The Company had declared and paid dividends in Indian rupee.

 The Company has proposed `28.45 Crore as dividend ( `5 per share) before the date of approval for issue of financial statements 
but not recognised as a distribution to owners during the period, (31st March, 2016: nil). During the previous year ended 31st 
March, 2016 , the amount of interim dividend per share recognised for distribution and distributed to equity shareholders was 
`4 per share.

 In event of liquidation of  the company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the company, 
after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the 
shareholders.

(c) 4,24,79,273 (% of shareholding:74.66)  shares held by  Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Ltd. (Holding Company) w.e.f. 25.02.2015

(d) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company
 (` In Crore)

Sl. 
No.

Name of the Shareholders  As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

 No. of 
Shares held 

 % of 
Holding  

 No. of 
Shares held 

 % of 
Holding  

 No. of 
Shares held 

 % of 
Holding  

1 Dalmia Cement (Bharat) 
Limited *

 42,479,273  74.66  42,479,273  74.66  42,479,273  74.66 

2 Dharti Investments and 
Holdings Limited

 3,155,867  5.55  3,155,867  5.55  3,375,584  5.93 

 * (holding company w.e.f.25.02.2015)

(e) Aggregate number of bonus shares issued and shares bought back during the period of five years immediately preceding the 
reporting date: Nil           
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21. OTHER EQUITY (Refer Statement of Changes in Equity )
(a) Security Premium Reserve
 Security premium reserve was created on Merger of Dalmia Cement (Meghalaya) Ltd during FY 2007-08. The Company may use 

this reserve for issue of fully paid-up bonus shares to its members and for buy-back of its shares.

(b) Capital Reserve           
 Capital Reserve of `1.57 Crore was created due to Merger of Dalmia Cement (Meghalaya) Ltd during 2007-08. `0.08 Crore was 

created out of subsidy received from Orissa State Financial corporation, Odisha against capital investment as per scheme framed 
by Odisha Government. `5.77 Crore has been received from Director of Industries, Odisha as Industrial Policy benefits as per 
scheme framed by Odisha Government.

(c) Debenture Redemption Reserve
 The Company has issued redeemable non-convertible debentures. The Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 (as 

amended), require the company to create DRR out of profits of the Company available for payment of dividend. DRR is required 
to be created for an amount which is equal to 25% of the value of debentures issued. The Company is creating debenture 
redemption reserve every year out of the profit available for payment of dividend to ensure creation of reserve equal to 25% of 
the value of debenture issued over the life of the debentures. 

22. LONG TERM BORROWINGS 
(` In Crore)

 Non Current  Current 
 As at 

31st March, 
2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 
Secured
a) Redeemable Non-Convertible 

Debentures
(i) State Bank of India & Others *  598.51  598.22  597.95  -    -    -   
(ii) Life Insurance Corporation of 

India  **
 -    -    23.97  -    23.97  23.94 

Total (Gross) (a)  598.51  598.22  621.92  -    23.97  23.94 
Less: Shown under other current liabilities  -    -    -    -    (23.97)  (23.94)
Total (Net) (a)  598.51  598.22  621.92  -    -    -   
b) Term Loans
I From Banks

(i) State Bank of India #  -    -    23.27  -    -    9.64 
(ii) State Bank of India #  -    -    35.53  -    -    14.20 
(iii) State Bank of India #  -    -    43.56  -    -    6.44 
(iv) State Bank of India #  153.38  153.32  153.26  -    -    -   
(v) Export Import Bank of India #  114.75  114.73  -    -    -    -   
(vi) Export Import Bank of India #  

(Foreign currency loan)
 -    -    7.47  -    -    9.95 

(vii) Bank of Baroda, Dubai Branch##  -    -    1.85  -    1.94  3.68 

(viii) State Bank of India, Sanghai 
Branch  ^^

 -    -    -    12.68  14.29  16.27 

(ix) United Bank of India ^  -    -    4.37  -    -    0.94 
(x) HDFC Bank Limited @  0.19  0.28  0.36  0.09  0.08  0.07 

II From Others
(i) International Finance 

Corporation$
 -    -    31.54  -    31.54  31.45 

(ii) International Finance 
Corporation$

 138.96  157.83  174.39  27.40  26.07  -   

 (Foreign currency loan)
Total (Gross) (b)  407.28  426.16  475.60  40.17  73.92  92.64 
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(` In Crore)
 Non Current  Current 

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 

 As at 
31st March, 

2017

 As at  
31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April, 

2015 
Less: Shown under other current liabilities  -    -    -    (40.17)  (73.92)  (92.64)
Total (Net) (b)  407.28  426.16  475.60  -    -    -   
Secured
(c) Present value of land lease 

obligation $$
 0.68  0.67  0.67  0.05  0.06  0.06 

Unsecured
(d) Long term loan/deposits

-Related Party ( Refer Note No. 42.15)  5.00  -    -    -    -    -   
Grand Total (a + b + c + d )  1,011.47  1,025.05  1,098.19  40.22  97.95  116.64 
Less: Shown under other current 
liabilities

 -    -    -    (40.22)  (97.95)  (116.64)

(Refer Note No. 28) 
Total (Net) (a+b+c+d)  1,011.47  1,025.05  1,098.19  -    -    -   

 Details of terms of repayment of long term borrowings

long term borrowings  Redeemable / Repayable  Interest Rate 
Secured
a) Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures 

(i) State Bank of India & Others * In 3 equal annual installments from FY 2019-20 9.90%
(ii) Life Insurance Corporation of India  ** During FY 2014-15 to FY 2016-17 10.80%

b) Term Loans
I From Banks

(i) State Bank of India # In 32 quarterly installments from Dec, 2010 Base rate + 1.75 %
(ii) State Bank of India # In 24 quarterly installments from Dec, 2012 Base rate + 1.75 %
(iii) State Bank of India # In 31 quarterly installments from Jun, 2015 Base rate + 1.75 %
(iv) State Bank of India # In 40 quarterly installments from Mar, 2019 1 Y MCLR + 0.75 %
(v) Export Import Bank of India # In 40 quarterly installments from Mar, 2021 LTMLR + 0.15%
(vi) Export Import Bank of India (Foreign currency 

loan)#
In 27 quarterly installments from Jun, 2010 6M LIBOR + 3.25%

(vii) Bank of Baroda, Dubai Branch  ## In quarterly installments till Oct 2016 9.75%
(viii)State Bank of India, Sanghai Branch  ^^ Yearly Maturity and Renewable 6M LIBOR + 5.00%
(ix) United Bank of India ^ In 26 quarterly installments from Sept, 2015 Base rate + 1.30 %
(x) HDFC Bank Limited @ In 60 monthly installments from Feb, 2015 10.00%

II From Others
(i) International Finance Corporation $ In 13 half yearly installments from Oct, 2010 8.25 % to 10.80 % 
(ii) International Finance Corporation  $ 

(Foreign currency loan)
In 14 half yearly installments from June, 2016 6M LIBOR + 3.60%

(c) Present value of land lease obligation $$ During lease period of 90 to 99 years  -   
Unsecured
(d) Long term loan/deposits

-Related Party ( Refer Note No. 42.15) In Nov, 2018, with renewal option 9.00%

 Details of terms of security for long term borrowings

 * The debentures are secured by way of first pari passu charge on all the movable and immovable fixed assets (both present and future) 
of the Cement Division of the Company situated at Rajgangpur Cement Works (Odisha), Kapilas Cement Manufacturing Works (Cuttack) 
& OCL Bengal Cement Works (Midnapore, WB).

 ** The debentures are secured by way of first pari passu charge over fixed assets ( present and future) of the Cement Division of the 
Company.

 # Secured by first pari passu charge by way of mortgage and hypothecation over all immovable properties and moveable fixed assets  
(other than vehicle acquired under specific vehicle loan)  of the Cement Division, (both present and future) and further secured by 
second pari pasu charge on all current assets of the Company.
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 ^ Secured by first charge on fixed assets of the Cement Division of the Company, both present and future, to be shared pari passu with 
the providers of the other debt and existing lenders; further secured by way of second pari pasu charge on current assets of Cement 
Division.

 @ The loan is secured by way of first & exclusive charge on the vehicle purchase therefrom.

 $ Secured by first ranking mortgage and hypothecation on all immovable & movable, present and future assets related to the Cement  
Division (excluding current assets) to be shared pari passu with other lenders in respect of other debts and a second charge on all present 
and future current assets of the  borrower to be shared pari passu with other lenders and existing lenders to the Cement Division of the 
borrower in respect of the existing debt.

 $$ Finance lease obligations are secured against leased assets.

 ## Secured by first charge on fixed assets and mortgage of land and building, both present and future of the OCL China Limited (step 
down subsidiary). Guarantee given by OCL Global Limited (subsidiary).

 ^^ Secured by the guarantee given by the Holding Company, OCL India Limited.

23. NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES-OTHERS
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Incentive payable  -    -    31.51 
Total  -    -    31.51 

24. LONG TERM PROVISIONS
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Employee benefits 
 (i) Leave encashment (unfunded) (Refer Note No. 42.13)  7.09  5.37  4.37 
(b) Others 
(i) Assets retirement obligation  16.18  15.02  13.93 
Total  23.27  20.39  18.30 
Movement in provisions
Nature of provisions

 Assets retirement obligation
Balance as at year beginning  2016-17  2015-16 
Add: Increase in provision  15.02  13.93 
Less: Utilised  1.16  1.09 
Balance as at year end  -    -   

 16.18  15.02 

 The Company has an obligation to restore the mines after its closure. Hence provision has been recognised for the decommissioning and 
restoration cost. Outfow of resources is expected after the closure of the mines. The cost of restoration has been estimated in accordance 
with the mines closure plan.

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (NET)
(` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Liabilities :
Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes  191.95  166.40  173.94 
Revaluation of property, plant & equipment at fair value  250.48  268.04  275.75 
Reversal of deffered tax liabilty for 80 IA undertakings  (28.61)  (28.61)  -   
Fair valuation of investments  34.37  11.84  1.93 
Items under financial assets and financial liabilities giving temporary 
differences 

 (4.24)  0.23  (0.79)

Total (a)  443.95  417.90  450.83 
Assets :
Difference of value of Stock u/s 145A of the Income Tax Act, 1961  6.53  5.55  3.25 
Expenses allowable in computing taxable income on payment basis  13.85  11.70  6.95 
Exchange loss on loan for capital expenditure  -    -    2.94 
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(` In Crore)
 As at 

31st March, 2017
 As at  

31st March, 2016 
 As at  

1st April, 2015 
Provision for doubtful debts & obsolescence  7.12  8.96  11.79 
MAT credit entitlement  16.63  3.91  3.91 
Items under other comprehensive income  0.28  0.36  -   
Total (b)  44.41  30.48  28.84 
Net Liability (a-b)  399.54  387.42  421.99 
Reconciliation of deferred tax assets/ liabilites (net): 
Opening balance as at year beginning  387.42  421.99 
Tax (benefit) / expense during the period recognised in profit or loss  24.76  (34.21)
MAT Credit entitlement  (12.72)  -   
Tax (benefit) / expense during the period recognised in other 
comprehensive income

 0.08  (0.36)

Closing balance as at year end  399.54  387.42 

26. SHORT TERM BORROWINGS
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Secured
(a) Loans repayable on demand

Cash credits from bank *  12.23  10.20  109.19 
(b) Other Loans and advances

Buyer’s credit from bank *  103.16  82.18  22.70 
Total  115.39  92.38  131.89 

 *  Working capital facilities (fund based & non fund based limits) are secured by first pari passu charge over stocks,  stores, raw materials, 
inventories, work in progress, finished goods and also book debts, bills and money receivable of the Company by way of hypothecation. 
These facilities are further secured by second charge over the fixed assets of the Cement Division of the Company. 

27. TRADE PAYABLES
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Micro & Small Enterprises  1.03  1.26  0.64 
(b) Others  298.37  331.30  291.26 
Total  299.40  332.56  291.90 

 Disclosure as per Section 22 of ‘The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act 2006’:

Sl. 
No.

Particulars  As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(i) The principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining 
unpaid to any supplier

 1.03  1.26  0.64 

-Principal Amount  -    -    -   
-Interest thereon

 -    -    -   
(ii) The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of Section 16, 

of the MSMED Act, 2006 along with the amounts of the payment 
made to the supplier beyond the appointed day 

 -    -    -   

(iii) The amount of interest due and payable for the period (where the 
principal has been paid but interest under the MSMED Act, 2006 
not paid)

 -    -    -   

(iv) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid  -    -    -   
(v) The amount of further interest due and payable even in the 

succeeding year, until such date when the interest dues as 
above are actually paid to the small enterprise, for the purpose of 
disallowance as a deductible expenditure under section 23 of the 
MSMED Act, 2006
Total  1.03  1.26  0.64 
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28. CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES-OTHER 
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Current maturities of long-term debts (Refer Note No. 22 )  40.17  97.89  116.58 
(b) Current maturities of finance lease obligations (Refer Note No. 22)  0.05  0.06  0.06 
(c) Interest accrued but not due on borrowings  5.15  5.74  8.49 
(d) Unpaid dividends #  1.19  2.11  1.07 
(e) Derivative instruments  0.93  0.14  -   
(f ) Others

(i) Income received in advance (on commercial Paper)  -    2.66  -   
(ii) Acceptance  2.79  -    -   
(iii) On capital account  11.70  27.92  28.71 
(iv) Security deposits  160.69  155.82  140.44 
Total  222.67  292.34  295.35 

 # There is no amount due & outstanding to be credited to the Investor Education & Protection Fund.

29. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Advance payment from customers  54.25  52.58  43.04 
(b) Other payables

(i) Statutory dues  37.99  38.51  39.84 
(ii) Directors’ commission  0.66  0.57  0.45 
(iii) Deferred revenue liability  -    33.62  -   
(iv) Interest liability other than borrowings and others  21.22  4.90  0.87 
(v) Processing fees/other liabilities  0.48  0.67  0.45 
Total  114.60  130.85  84.65 

30. SHORT TERM PROVISIONS 
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

(a) Employee benefits
(i) Gratuity (funded)  (Refer Note No. 42.13)  2.03  1.71  -   
(ii) Leave encashment (unfunded) (Refer Note No. 42.13)  2.01  0.58  0.95 
(iii) Superannuation (funded)  0.42  0.18  0.19 

(b) Others
(i) Provision for contingent liabilities  11.20  10.94  8.64 
Total  15.66  13.41  9.78 
Movement in provisions
Nature of provisions  Provision for contingent liabilities 
Balance as at year beginning  2016-17  2015-16 
Add: Increase in provision  10.94  8.64 
Less: Utilised  0.83  2.47 
Balance as at year end  0.57  0.17 

 11.20  10.94 

31. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES  
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Income Tax  213.03  83.19  -   
Total  213.03  83.19  -   
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32. REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS (Refer Note No. 3.8 & 3.9)  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Sale of Products

(i) Cement  2,468.93  2,523.50 
(ii) Refractories  275.05  235.62 
(iii) Power  1.63  0.75 
(iv) Others -clinker  155.28  90.31 

(b) Sale of Traded Products
(i) Pet coke  13.47  32.31 
(ii) Refractories  104.78  94.87 
(iii) Cement  0.01  -   

(c) Sale of Services
(i) Marketing services  9.42  5.59 
(ii) Business auxiliary services  0.07  0.12 

(d) VAT Incentive  282.12  94.13 
(e) Other Operating Revenue  35.91  28.99 

Total  3,346.67  3,106.18 

33. OTHER  INCOME  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Interest receipt- on deposits, tax refunds and from customers etc.  5.37  13.39 
(b) Profit on sale of assets  0.09  0.52 
(c) Exchange difference other than considered as finance cost (net)  6.20  -   
(d) Dividends from investments in mutual funds - current  3.00  4.10 
(e) Profit on sale of current investments  31.48  45.38 
(f) Gain on remeasurement of mutual funds at fair value  87.42  30.05 
(g) Commission on financial guarantee  1.25  -   
(h) Other non-operating income  3.67  1.52 

Total  138.48  94.96 

34. COST OF MATERIALS CONSUMED - (refer note-i below)  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Limestone (Own Quarry)  96.74  94.30 
(b) Gypsum  25.80  29.13 
(c) Slag  177.32  182.73 
(d) Purchased Clinker  5.59  1.40 
(e) Others (refer note-ii below)  188.54  197.19 

Total  493.99  504.75 

Notes: (` In Crore)
 2016-17 2015-16

(i) Expenses included in the cost of materials consumed
Salaries and wages  7.86  7.51 
Contribution to Provident and other funds  0.81  0.80 
Workmen and staff welfare expenses  0.61  0.50 
Payment to contractors for services  6.60  9.67 
Power and fuel  10.22  10.25 
Consumption of stores and spare parts  21.74  22.42 
Repairs to machinery  17.04  15.88 
Repairs to buildings  0.04  0.13 
Royalty and Cess  50.91  44.40 
Rent  0.04  0.03 
Rates and taxes  1.14  1.06 
Insurance  0.19  0.30 
Sundry sales/ income  (19.75)  (15.10)
Total  97.45  97.85 

(ii) None of these individually account for more than 10% of the total cost of material consumed.
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35. PURCHASE OF GOODS TRADED  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Pet coke  7.64  12.58 
(b) Refractories  30.34  29.25 
(c) Cement  0.01  -   

Total  37.99  41.83 

36. CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, WORK IN PROGRESS & STOCK IN TRADE  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
Stocks at the beginning of the year

Finished goods  129.18  101.37 
Traded goods  10.67  26.64 
Work in progress  34.48  30.08 

 174.33  158.09 
Less: Stocks at the end of the year (refer note below)

Finished goods  83.89  129.18 
Traded goods  0.96  10.67 
Work in progress  19.67  34.48 

 104.52  174.33 
Total  69.81  (16.24)
Notes:-
a) Finished goods

Cement  16.22  38.61 
Refractories  67.67  90.57 

 83.89  129.18 
b) Traded goods

Cement  -    4.32 
Refractories  0.96  6.35 

 0.96  10.67 
c) Work in progress

Cement  10.85  21.45 
Refractories  8.82  13.03 

 19.67  34.48 

37. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Salaries, wages, bonus and gratuity  167.40  139.42 
(b) Contribution to Provident and other funds  14.30  12.65 
(c) Contribution to Provident and other funds - contractors' employees  4.44  4.09 
(d) Workmen and staff welfare expenses  10.98  8.93 

Total  197.12  165.09 

38. FINANCE COSTS  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Interest expense

(i) On term loans, debentures and deposits  104.45  112.64 
(ii) To banks and others  20.11  6.96 

(b) Other borrowing costs  9.99  14.31 
(c) Exchange difference to the extent considered as an adjustment to borrowing cost  0.89  1.57 
(d) Unwinding of Discount  1.17  1.09 

Total  136.61  136.57 
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39. OTHER EXPENSES  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Consumption of stores, spare parts  26.77  28.20 
(b) Packing materials  97.07  94.79 
(c) Repairs and maintenance

(i) Machinery  63.42  61.28 
(ii) Buildings  10.98  9.10 
(iii) Others  1.83  1.51 

(d) Payment to contractors for services  74.35  82.48 
(e) Royalty and Cess  0.06  0.05 
(f) Rent  13.66  14.18 
(g) Rates and taxes  17.76  16.75 
(h) Excise duty on stock and others  (6.10)  4.50 
(i) Clearing handling & warehousing (cement)  51.14  46.88 
(j) Commission to selling agents  9.18  11.11 
(k) Rebates, discounts and allowances  9.98  2.70 
(l) Insurance  2.42  3.65 
(m) Travelling  11.44  9.34 
(n) Advertisement and publicity  77.49  48.64 
(o) Legal charges  1.65  1.15 
(p) Directors' travelling and conveyance  0.06  0.07 
(q) Directors' fees  0.41  0.30 
(r) Commission to non-Executive Directors  0.66  0.57 
(s) Charity and donations  3.90  4.00 
(t) Diminution in value of investment & investment written off  -    0.02 
(u) Loss on sale of current investments  0.01  0.28 
(v) Assets written off and loss on sale of assets  2.83  0.21 
(w) Exchange difference other than considered as finance cost (net)  -    0.77 
(x) Provision for doubtful debts  1.59  -   
(y) Bad debts written off  0.14  1.47 
(z) Provision for obsolescence in inventory  -    0.34 
(aa) Payments to outside agencies  169.86  126.60 
(ab) CSR expenses (refer note 42.11)  3.61  3.97 
(ac) Miscellaneous expenses  82.61  63.90 

Total  728.78  638.81 

40. INCOME TAX  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
I Income tax related to items charged or credited directly to profit or loss during the 

year:
(a) Statement of Profit or Loss

(i) Current Income Tax  134.55  91.19 
(ii) MAT credit entitlement  (12.72)  -   
(iii) Deferred Tax expense/ (benefit)  24.76  (34.21)

 146.59  56.98 
(b) Other Comprehensive Income

(i) Deferred Tax related to items recognised in OCLduring the year:
- Net expense/(benefit) on remeasurements of defined benefit plans  0.08  (0.36)

 0.08  (0.36)
Total (a+b)  146.67  56.62 

  *  The provision for current tax has been made as per MAT under section 115 JB of the Income Tax Act, 1961. The Company is entitled 
to avail credit under section 115 JA (1A). Accordingly, MAT credit entitlement has been considered as an asset.
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 2016-17 2015-16
II Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by India’s 

domestic tax rate for 31st March, 2017 and 31st March, 2016:
Accounting profit before income tax as per IndAS  526.84  300.50 
At Income tax rate of 34.608% (31st March, 2016: 34.608%) 182.33  104.00 
Tax effect of items that are not deductible for tax purpose  32.45  8.66 
Tax effect of items that are deductible for tax purpose  (30.58)  (34.15)
Tax effect of items that are not taxable for tax purpose (1.04) (1.42)
Tax effect of deductions under Chapter VIA of Income Tax Act, 1961  (36.57)  (20.11)
At the effective income tax rate of 27.83% (31st March 2016: 18.91%)  146.59  56.98 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss  146.59 56.98
Difference -  - 

41.  Other Comprehensive Income  
 (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
i Items that will not be classified to profit and loss

- Remeasurement gain/ (losses) on defined benefit plans
Balance as at year beginning  (1.03)  -   
Add: Created during the year  0.23  (1.03)
Less: Adjustments  -    -   
Balance as at year end  (0.80)  (1.03)

ii Income tax relating to items that will not be 
classified to profit and loss
- Remeasurement gain/ (losses) on defined benefit plans

Balance as at year beginning  0.36  -   
Add: Created during the year  (0.08)  0.36 
Less: Adjustments  -    -   
Balance as at year end  0.28  0.36 

Total  (0.52)  (0.67)

42. OTHER NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
42.1 Earning per share (EPS) (` In Crore)

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Face value of equity shares  `  2  2 
(b) Profit attributable to equity shareholders  ` Crore  380.77  243.79 
(c) Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding  Nos.  56,900,220  56,900,220 
(d) Weighted average earning per share (basic and diluted)  `  66.92  42.84 

42.2 Remuneration to Auditors and Expenses (` In Crore)
 2016-17 2015-16

(a) Statutory Auditors
(i) As an Auditor

Audit fee 0.28  0.24 
Tax audit fee 0.05  0.04 

(ii) In Other Capacities
Taxation matters 0.03  0.02 
Certification of quarterly limited review 0.08  0.07 
Certification of other statements 0.07  0.07 
Certification of financial statements arising out of merger scheme 0.05  -   
Expenses including boarding and lodging 0.07  0.07 

(b) Cost Auditor
(i) Audit fee 0.02  0.01 
(ii) Expenses including boarding and lodging ( `23,039; PY: `24,758 )  -    -   
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42.3 Research & Development Expenses
 The Company has in-house R&D centre, approved by the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research, Ministry of Scientific &  

Technology, Govt of India. The details of revenue/capital expenditure incurred by the said R&D Centre during the year are as follows:-

 2016-17 2015-16
(a) Revenue expenditure charged to Statement of Profit and Loss 

i) Salary and other benefits 3.98  2.55 
ii) Raw material & stores 1.08  1.10 
iii) Others 0.23  0.21 
Total 5.29  3.86 

(b) Capital expenditure shown under fixed assets schedule  -    -   
Grand Total 5.29  3.86 

42.4 Contingent liabilities / Litigations in respect of:
 (` In Crore)

 As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

A Not Provided for:-
a) Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debts  125.05  129.13  116.44 
b) Demand raised by following authorities in dispute:

(i) Excise & Service Tax  39.49  37.95  37.56 
(ii) Customs  0.65  0.65  -   
(iii) Sales Tax, VAT, CST & Entry Tax  18.38  15.05  12.56 
(iv) Income tax matters  3.15  1.00  2.96 

Based on favourable decisions in similar cases, legal opinion taken by the Group, discussions with the solicitors etc, the Group believes 
that there is a fair chance of favourable decisions in respect of the items listed above and hence no provision is considered necessary 
against the same.          
B Guarantee / letter of comfort given:

(a) Guarantee given to banks on behalf of Dalmia Cement (East) 
Ltd. of `234.68 Crore and outstanding amount as at year 
end: (Refer Note No. 42.5)

 232.29  -    -   

Notes           
(i) The Group does not expect any reimbursement in respect of the above contingent liabilities.
(ii) It is not practicable to estimate the timing of cash outflow, if any in respect of above liabilities since the matter is pending before 

appropriate authorities.

42.5 Details of loans given, Investments made and guarantee given covered u/s 186(4) of the Companies Act, 2013
 (` In Crore)

Sl. 
No.

Name  Purpose  As at 
31st March, 2017

 As at  
31st March, 2016 

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

1. Dalmia Cement (East) Ltd. Guarantee given to bank to provide 
term loan facility 

 232.29  -    -   

2. OCL Iron and Steel Ltd. Loan given for working capital 
requirements. 

 2.61  -    -   

 Rate of Interest- 9%. 

42.6 In the opinion of the Board of Directors and to the best of their knowledge and belief, the valuation on realisation of financial assets and 
other assets in the ordinary course of business would not be less than the amount at which they are stated in the financial statements.

42.7 Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation amongst the Company, Dalmia Cement East Limited, Shri Rangam Securities & Holdings 
Limited, Dalmia Bharat Cements Holdings Limited and Odisha Cement Limited (“Scheme 1”), has been approved by the Board of Directors, 
Shareholders and Creditors of the Company and the BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange of India Limited (“Stock Exchanges”). 
Scheme 1 is pending for sanction of the jurisdictional NCLT of the companies involved and has not come into effect.

 Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation amongst Odisha Cement Limited, Dalmia Bharat Limited and Dalmia Cement (Bharat) 
Limited (“Scheme 2”) has been approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 5th November, 2016, as Scheme 2 involves 
its wholly owned subsidiary, i.e., Odisha Cement Limited and is inter alia conditional upon the effectiveness of the Scheme 1, subject to 
approval of shareholders, creditors and other applicable regulatory authorities. Scheme 2 has been approved by the Stock Exchanges on 
5th May, 2017.
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 The accounting for amalgamation/arrangement as contemplated in the aforesaid scheme will be done upon the scheme coming into 
effect.

42.8 Standards issued but not yet effective
 In March 2017, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued the Companies ( Indian Accounting Standards ) (Amendments) Rules 2017, 

notifying amendments to Ind AS 7, “Statement of Cash Flows” and Ind AS 102, “ Share-based payments”. These amendments are in 
accordance with the recent amendments made by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) to IAS 7, “Statement of Cash Flows” 
and IFRS 2, “ Share-based payments”, respectively. The amendments are applicable to the Group from 1st April, 2017. 

42.9 Balance confirmation letters were sent in respect of accounts showing debit or credit balances. Balance confirmations have not been 
received in few cases. In the opinion of the management, adjustments, if any, required on confirmation and reconciliation is not expected 
to be material.

42.10 Details of the Company’s interest in Joint Venture
 In respect of license granted for captive mining block at Radhikapur mines, a Joint Venture company Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining 

Private Limited has been incorporated on 29th March, 2010 in which the Company’s interest jointly with OCL Iron & Steel Limited (OISL) is 
14.696%. The Company has invested ̀ 7.35 Crore (PY ̀ 7.35 Crore) in equity shares of the JV Company which includes ̀ 3.83 Crore (PY ̀ 3.83 
Crore) being proportionate value of shares to be transferred to OISL after the receipt of approval from the Ministry of Coal, Government 
of India and other Joint Venture Partners.

 Consequent upon decision of the Hon’ble Supreme Court of India cancelling the allocation of Coal block, vide Order dated 24th 
September, 2014, the Company is in the process of assessing the recoverability of the amounts invested of `3.51 Crore in the Joint 
Venture Company, Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Ltd. As a matter of prudence, a provision for similar amount has been made in 
the accounts during the earlier years.

42.11 Disclosure on Corporate Social Responsibility Expenses
(a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Company during the year in pursuance to the provisions of Section 135 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder : `3.61 Crore (PY `3.52 Crore).

(b) Amount spent during the year 2016-17 and shown under Other Expenses in the Statement of Profit and Loss (Refer Note No. 39):

 (` In Crore)
Sl.  
NO.

PARTICulARS 2016-17 2015-16
Spent in 

Cash
Yet to be 
spent in 

cash

Total Spent in 
Cash

Yet to be 
spent in 

cash

Total

(i) Construction/ acquisition of any asset  -    -    -    -    -    -   
(ii) Other purposes other than above  3.61  -    3.61  3.97  -    3.97 

Total  3.61  -    3.61  3.97  -    3.97 

42.12 Disclosures as required by Ind AS 17, Leases
A Finance Lease
(a) Group as Lessor           
 The Company has purchased wagons under “own your wagon scheme” of Railways and leased it to Railways on rent ,the wagons 

were recognized as assets and carried in the books at residual value, the company is earning rental income from the arrangement, 
hence it qualifies to be recognized as finance lease arrangement where Railways is the lessee. Future minimum lease receivables 
(MLR) and its present value under finance leases are as follows:
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 (` In Crore)
PARTICulARS  As at 

31st March, 2017
 As at 

31st March, 2016 
 As at 

1st April, 2015 
 Future 

Gross MlR 
 Present 

value 
 Future 

Gross MlR 
 Present 

value 
 Future 

Gross MlR 
 Present 

value 
Not later than 1 year  0.04  0.03  0.06  0.05  0.06  0.05 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  -    -    0.04  0.03  0.09  0.08 
Later than 5 years  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Unguaranteed residual values  1.80  1.32  1.80  1.32  1.80  1.32 
Total future minimum lease receivables  1.84  -    1.90  -    1.95  -   
Unearned finance income  0.49  -    0.50  -    0.50  -   
Total present value of MLR  1.35  1.35  1.40  1.40  1.45  1.45 

(b) Group as Lessee
 The Company has finance lease agreements for land at various locations.These leases have term of between 90 and 99 years 

and are eligible for renewal at the end of lease term. Future minimum lease payments (MLP)  and its present value under finance 
leases are as follows:

 (` In Crore)
Particulars  As at 

31st March, 2017
 As at 

31st March, 2016 
 As at 

1st April, 2015 
 Future 

Gross MlR 
 Present 

value 
 Future 

Gross MlR 
 Present 

value 
 Future 

Gross MlR 
 Present 

value 
Not later than 1 year  0.07  0.05  0.07  0.06  0.07  0.06 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  0.29  0.24  0.29  0.25  0.29  0.21 
Later than 5 years  6.81  0.44  6.88  0.42  6.96  0.46 
Total future minimum lease payments  7.17  -    7.24  -    7.31  -   
Less: Amount representing interest  6.44  -    6.51  -    6.58  -   
Total present value of MLP  0.73  0.73  0.73  0.73  0.73  0.73 

B Operating Lease           
 The Group has taken / given various residential / commercial premises and plant & equipment under cancellable operating lease. 

These lease agreements are normally renewed on expiry, wherever required.

 The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in the aggregate and for each of the following 
periods:

 (` In Crore)
Particulars  As at 

31st March, 2017
 As at  

31st March, 2016 
 As at  

1st April, 2015 
Not later than 1 year  8.48  12.57  4.87 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  2.68  11.17  23.69 
Later than 5 years  -    -    0.05 
Total future minimum lease payments  11.16  23.74  28.61 

 Total operating lease expenses debited to statement of profit and loss is `13.66 Crore (Previous Year: `14.18 Crore)

42.13 Disclosures as required by Ind AS 19, Employee Benefits

(` In Crore)
 2016-17 2015-16

(a) Defined Contribution Plans:
Contribution to defined contribution plan, recognised as expense 
for the year as under:
(i) Employer’s contribution to Government Provident Fund  11.09  10.27 
(ii) Employer’s contribution to Superannuation Fund  0.86  0.75 
(iii) Farewell gift to retired employees  0.03  0.02 
(iv) Medical insurance premium to retired employees  0.15  0.12 
Total  12.13  11.16 
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(b)  Defined benefit plan:
 Gratuity           
 The Company provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan covering eligible employees. The Gratuity Plan provides 

a lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death, incapacitation or termination of employment, of an amount 
equivalent to 15 to 30 days’ salary for each completed year of service subject to a maximum of `0.10 Crore. Vesting occurs upon 
completion of five continuous years of service in accordance with Indian law. The gratuity fund is separately administered by a 
Gratuity Fund Trust.

(c) Other long-term employee benefits:
 Compensated Absences
 The Company provides for the expected cost of accumulating paid absences which can be carried forward and used in future 

periods by the employees. The obligation for accumulating paid absences has been recognised at the end of the reporting 
period.

I Following information are based on report of actuary for employee benefit expenses

(` In Crore)
 2016-17  2015-16 

 Gratuity 
 (Funded) 

 Compensated  
 Absences 

 (unfunded) 

 Gratuity 
 (Funded) 

 Compensated  
 Absences 

 (unfunded) 
(A) Change in present value of the obligation during the year

(1) Present value of obligation at year beginning  21.13  5.95  20.57  5.32 
(2) Current service cost  2.13  1.31  2.35  1.14 
(3) Interest cost  1.69  0.48  1.47  0.35 
(4) Benefits paid  (1.72)  (2.71)  (4.33)  (1.90)
(5) Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 

demographic assumptions
 (2.17)  (1.05)  -    -   

(6) Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
financial assumptions

 4.89  2.88  -    -   

(7) Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
experience adjustments

 (2.80)  2.24  1.07  1.04 

(8) Present value of obligation at year end  23.15  9.10  21.13  5.95 
(B) Change in fair value of plan assets during the year

(1) Fair value of plan assets at year beginning  19.42  -    20.57  -   
(2) Interest income on plan assets  1.56  -    1.65  -   
(3) Expected return on plan assets other than 

interest income
 0.15  -    0.03  -   

(4) Contribution made by the participants  1.71  -    1.50  -   
(5) Benefits paid  (1.72)  -    (4.33)  -   
(6) Fair value of plan assets at year end  21.12  -    19.42  -   

(C) Reconciliation of obligation and fair value of assets
(1) Present value of the obligation at year end  23.15  9.10  21.13  5.95 
(2) Fair value of plan assets at year end  21.12  -    19.42  -   
(3) Funded status [surplus / (deficit)]  (2.03)  (9.10)  (1.71)  (5.95)

(D) Expense recognised in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss
(1) Current service cost  2.13  1.31  2.35  1.14 
(2) Interest cost  1.69  0.48  1.47  0.35 
(3) Interest income on plan assets  (1.56)  -    (1.65)  -   
(4) Actuarial (gain) / loss on leave encashment  -    4.07  -    1.04 
Net cost recognised in Profit or Loss  2.26  5.86  2.17  2.53 

(E) Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
(1) Expected return on plan assets other than 

interest income
 (0.15)  -    (0.03)  -   

(2) Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
demographic assumptions

 (2.17)  -    -    -   

(3) Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
financial assumptions

 4.89  -    -    -   

(4) Actuarial (gain) / loss arising from changes in 
experience adjustments

 (2.80)  -    1.06  -   

Net (gain)/ loss recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income

 (0.23)  -    1.03  -   
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II Expected contribution to the defined benefit plan (Gratuity) for the next annual reporting period

 2016-17  2015-16 
 5.78  1.71 

III Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation (Gratuity) valued on undiscounted basis:

 2016-17  2015-16 
(1) Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period)  6.46  5.82 
(2) Between 2 and 5 years  9.77  10.86 
(3) Between 5 and 10 years  8.73  12.27 
(4) Beyond 10 years  12.15  10.65 

Total expected payments  37.11 39.60
 The weighted average duration based on discounted cashflows of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting 

period is 5 years (31st March,2016: 5 years).
 The weighted average duration based on discounted cashflows of the other long term employee benefits at the end of the 

reporting period is 7 years (31st March,2016: 5 years).

Iv Quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions is as below:      
Sensitivity analysis presented below represents expected change in present value of defined benefit obligation based on 
reasonably possible changes in the assumptions occurring at the year end.

(` In Crore)
 2016-17  2015-16 

Defined Benefit Obligation (Base)  23.15  21.13 
(1) One percentage point increase in discount rate  (1.18)  (0.91)
(2) One percentage point decrease in discount rate  1.33  1.00 
(3) One percentage point increase in rate of salary increase  1.31  0.75 
(4) One percentage point decrease in rate of salary increase  (1.19)  (0.70)
(5) Fifty percentage point increase in employee turnover rate  (0.49)  (0.82)
(6) Fifty percentage point decrease in employee turnover rate  0.80  1.42 
(7) Ten percentage point increase in mortality rate  0.01  (0.01)
(8) Ten percentage point decrease in mortality rate  (0.01)  0.01 

v Actuarial Assumptions for Cement Division

 As at 31st March, 2017  As at 31st March, 2016 
 Gratuity 
 (Funded) 

 Compensated  
 Absences 

 (unfunded) 

 Gratuity 
 (Funded) 

 Compensated  
 Absences 

 (unfunded) 
(1) Discount rate 7.00% 7.00% 8.00% 8.00%
(2) Mortality Rate ( % of IALM 2006-08) 100.00% 100.00% 100% 100%
(3) Salary escalation 9.00% 9.00% 6.00% 6.00%
(4) Withdrawal rates , based on age: (per annum)

Up to 29 years 10.00% 10.00% 0.10% 0.10%
29 - 45 years 10.00% 10.00% 0.30% 0.30%
Above 45 years 10.00% 10.00% 0.60% 0.60%

vI Actuarial Assumptions for Refractory Division 

(1) Discount rate 6.90% 6.90% 8.00% 8.00%
(2) Mortality Rate ( % of IALM 2006-08) 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
(3) Salary escalation 0.00 % 0.00 % 6.00% 6.00%
(4) Withdrawal rates , based on age: (per annum)

Up to 29 years 2.00% 2.00% 0.10% 0.10%
29 - 45 years 2.00% 2.00% 0.30% 0.30%
Above 45 years 2.00% 2.00% 0.60% 0.60%

vI Major categories of plan assets (as percentage of total plan assets)     

Unquoted Investments
(i) Central Government Securities 7%  NA 10%  NA 
(ii) State Government Securities 51%  NA 47%  NA 
(iii) Special Deposit Scheme 10%  NA 11%  NA 
(iv) Bonds/Securities of Public Financial Institutions 26%  NA 27%  NA 
(v) Cash and cash equivalents 6%  NA 5%  NA 
Total 100%  NA 100%  NA 
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42.14 Disclosures as required by Ind AS 108, Operating Segments
 Identification of Segments:
 The chief operational decision maker monitors the operating results of its business segments separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is 
measured consistently with profit or loss in the financial statements. Operating segments have been identified on the nature of products 
and services and have been identified as per the quantitative criteria specified in the Ind AS.

 Operating Segments identified as follows:
(a) Cement Division which produces various grades of cement and cement related products
(b) Refractory Division which produces various types of refractory products.

 No other operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

 Segment revenue and results:
 The expense or incomes which are not directly attributable to any business segment are shown as unallocable expenditure (net of 

unallocated income).

 Segment assets and liabilities:
 Segment assets include all operating assets used by the operating segment and mainly consist of property, plant and equipment, trade 

receivables, cash and cash equivalents and inventories. Segment liabilities primarily include trade payables and other liabilities. Common 
assets and liabilities which cannot be allocated to any of the segments are shown as part of unallocable assets/liabilities. 

 Inter segment transfer:
 As per practice consistently followed, inter segment transfers for capital jobs recognised at cost and for other jobs at estimated realisable 

value. Profit or loss on inter segment transfers are eliminated at the Group level.

(a) Summary of Segmental Information as at and for the year ended 31st March, 2017 is as follows
(` In Crore)

Sl. 
No.

Particulars  Cement  Refractory  unallocable/ 
Eliminations 

 Total 

 (1) Segment assets  2,740.78  407.93  1,637.99  4,786.70 
 (2) Segment liabilities  563.66  62.04  1,789.33  2,415.03 

Capital Employed (1-2)  2,177.12  345.89  (151.34)  2,371.67 
 (3) Revenue from external customers  2,951.77  394.90  -    3,346.67 
 (4) Inter segment revenue  6.98  7.54  (14.52)  -   

Total Revenue (3+4)  2,958.75  402.44  (14.52)  3,346.67 
 (5) Segment results (Profit / (Loss) before tax and interest)  678.72  (40.22)  24.95  663.45 
 (6) Finance Cost  129.38  7.23  -    136.61 

Profit before tax (5-6)  549.34  (47.45)  24.95  526.84 
 (7) Income Tax expense/ income  146.59 

Profit after tax  380.25 
 (8) Material items of income and expense disclosed as per 

paragraph 7 of Ind AS 1, Presentation.
Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value   -    1.37  -    1.37 

 (9) Material non cash transactions:
(a) Depreciation and amortisation  135.90  15.51  -    151.41 
(b) Gain or loss on fair value measurement of Mutual Funds  87.42  -    -    87.42 
(c) Provision for Leave encashment  3.36  (0.22)  -    3.14 

(10) Other Disclosures
Capital expenditure including capital WIP  129.71  4.20  -    133.91 

(b) Summary of Segmental Information as at and for the year ended 31st March, 2016 is as follows

Sl. 
No.

Particulars  Cement  Refractory  unallocable/ 
Eliminations 

 Total 

 (1) Segment assets  2,453.27  470.08  1,449.03  4,372.38 
 (2) Segment liabilities  593.94  81.32  1,702.33  2,377.59 

Capital Employed (1-2)  1,859.33  388.76  (253.30)  1,994.79 
 (3) Revenue from external customers  2,766.87  339.31  -    3,106.18 
 (4) Inter segment revenue  7.82  3.10  (10.92)  -   

Total Revenue (3+4)  2,774.69  342.41  (10.92)  3,106.18 
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Sl. 
No.

Particulars  Cement  Refractory  unallocable/ 
Eliminations 

 Total 

 (5) Segment results (Profit / (Loss) before tax and interest)  513.01  (47.24)  (28.70)  437.07 
 (6) Finance Cost (net of interest revenue)  130.25  6.32  -    136.57 

Profit before tax (5-6)  382.76  (53.56)  (28.70)  300.50 
 (7) Income Tax expense/ income  56.98 

Profit/ (Loss) after tax  243.52 
 (8) Material items of income and expense disclosed as per 

paragraph 7 of Ind AS 1, Presentation.
Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value   -    2.89  -    2.89 

 (9) Material non cash transactions:
(a) Depreciation and amortisation  176.80  31.03  -    207.83 
(b) Gain or loss on fair value measurement of Mutual Funds  30.05  -    -    30.05 
(c) Provision for Leave encashment  0.73  (0.03)  (0.07)  0.63 

(10) Other Disclosures
Capital expenditure including capital WIP  153.66  5.41  -    159.07 

(c) Summary of Segmental Information as at 1st April, 2015 is as follows 
(` In Crore)

Sl. 
No.

Particulars  Cement  Refractory  unallocable/ 
Eliminations 

 Total 

(1) Segment assets  2,605.88  483.40  1,100.28  4,189.56 
(2) Segment liabilities  533.15  65.52  1,784.89  2,383.56 

Capital Employed (1-2)  2,072.73  417.88  (684.61)  1,806.00 

(d) Reconciliations to amounts reflected in the financial statements

(1) Reconciliation of Profit before tax 2016-17 2015-16
Segment Profit  501.89  329.20 
Adjustments

Unallocated expenses  (75.35)  (77.90)
Unallocated receipts  100.30  49.20 

Profit Before tax and discontinued operations  526.84  300.50 

 As at  
 31st March, 

2017 

 As at  
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
 1st April, 2015 

(2) Reconciliation of assets
Segment Assets  3,148.71  2,923.35  3,089.28 
Adjustments: 
Corporate Assets  24.96  29.56  6.54 
Investments  1,597.83  1,399.45  1,062.52 
Advance tax  15.20  20.02  31.22 
Total Assets  4,786.70  4,372.38  4,189.56 

(3) Reconciliation of liabilities
Segment Liabilities  625.70  675.26  598.67 
Adjustments: 
Borrowings including lease obligation  1,167.08  1,215.38  1,346.72 
Deferred Tax Liabilities  399.54  387.42  421.99 
Interest accrued but not due  5.15  5.74  8.49 
Corporate Liabilities  4.53  10.60  7.69 
Provision for tax  213.03  83.19  -   
Total Liabilities  2,415.03  2,377.59  2,383.56 
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e) Geographical Information

2016-17 2015-16
Segment revenue by location of customers:
India  3,309.23  3,064.45 
Overseas  37.44  41.73 
Total  3,346.67  3,106.18 

f) The Company does not have material amount of tangible, intangible assets and non current operating assets located outside 
India.

42.15 Disclosures as required by Ind AS 24, Related Party Disclosures
(A) Related parties and their relationship with the Company :  

(1) (i)  Key Management Personnel of the 
Company:  

Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia (Managing Director),
Shri Mahendra Singhi (CEO & Whole Time Director),
Shri Amandeep (Whole Time Director)

(ii)  Key Management Personnel of the 
Holding Company: 

Shri Mahendra Singhi (Group CEO & Whole Time Director), 
Shri Jayesh Doshi (CFO),
Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia (Managing Director) and Shri Gautum Dalmia 
(Managing Director)

(iii)  Key Management Personnel of the 
Ultimate Holding Company:

Shri Jai Hari Dalmia (Managing Director), 
Shri Yadu Hari Dalmia (Managing Director)
Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia (Director) and Shri Gautum Dalmia (Director)
and Shri Jayesh Doshi (CFO & Whole Time Director)

(2) Ultimate Holding Company: (i) Dalmia Bharat Limited (w.e.f 25.02.2015)

(3) Holding Company: (i) Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited (w.e.f 25.02.2015)
(4) Enterprises over which key 

management personnel are able to 
exercise significant influence: 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Dalmia Institute of Scientific & Industrial Research (DISIR) 

Dalmia Refractories Limited

Dalmia Magnesite Corporation (a unit of Dalmia Bharat Sugar & Industries 
Limited)

(5) Fellow Subsidiaries: (i) Calcom Cement India Limited,
(ii) Adhunik Cement Limited, 
(iii) Dalmia Cement East Limited

(6) Joint Venture: (i) Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited (Refer Note No.42.10)
(7) Post Employment Benefit Plan: (i) Orissa Cement Employees Gratuity Fund, 

(ii) Orissa Cement Executives Superannuation Fund

(B) Disclosure of transactions with Related Parties

(` In Crore)
Nature of transactions  Ref. to Note 

(A) above 
2016-17 2015-16

Remuneration to KMP
Shri Amandeep (1)(i) 3.69  2.05 
Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia (1)(i)  19.77  10.28 

23.46  12.33 
Purchase of goods

From Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  12.26  19.60 
From Others
 Dalmia Refractories Limited  (4)(ii)  7.24  5.78 
 Calcom Cement India Limited  (5)(i)  1.33  0.47 
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(` In Crore)
Nature of transactions  Ref. to Note 

(A) above 
2016-17 2015-16

 Dalmia Magnesite Corporation  (4)(iii)  0.78  1.88 
 21.61  27.73 

Purchase of stores/ spares
From Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  0.26  -   

Sale of goods and fixed assets
To Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  -    14.53 
To Others
 Dalmia Refractories Limited  (4)(ii)  0.31  0.17 
 Calcom Cement India Limited  (5)(i)  3.34  9.17 
 Adhunik Cement Limited  (5)(ii)  3.02  0.95 
 Dalmia Cement East Limited  (5)(iii)  141.44  82.85 

 148.11  107.67 
Sale of stores/ spares

To Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  0.27  -   

Service rendered 
To Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  0.49  0.76 
To Others
 Calcom Cement India Limited  (5)(i)  -    0.01 
 Adhunik Cement Limited  (5)(ii)  -    0.01 
 Dalmia Cement East Limited  (5)(iii)  2.73  0.27 

 3.22  1.05 
Service received

From Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
 Dalmia Bharat Limited  (2)(i)  86.18  67.59 
 Dalmia Cement(Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  55.91  39.40 
From Others
 DISIR  (4)(i)  0.45  1.32 

 142.54  108.31 
Interest income

From Others
 Dalmia Cement East Limited  (5)(iii)  0.95  -   

Interest expense
To Others
 Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited  (6)(i)  0.16  -   

Contribution made
To Others
 Orissa Cement Employees Gratuity Fund,  (7)(i)  1.71  1.50 
 Orissa Cement Executives Superannuation Fund  (7)(ii)  0.61  0.57 

(` In Crore)
Nature of transactions  Ref. to Note 

(A) above 
 As at  

 31st March, 
2017 

 As at  
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April,  

2015 
Receivable at the year end

From Holding/ Ultimate holding Company
Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  0.14  0.78  0.01 

From Others
DISIR  (4)(i)  -    -    0.01 
Dalmia Refractories Limited  (4)(ii)  -    -    0.48 
Calcom Cement India Limited  (5)(i)  -    6.15  1.88 
Adhunik Cement Limited  (5)(ii)  0.26  0.95  -   
Dalmia Cement East Limited  (5)(iii)  30.52  12.03  -   
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(` In Crore)
Nature of transactions  Ref. to Note 

(A) above 
 As at  

 31st March, 
2017 

 As at  
 31st March, 

2016 

 As at  
1st April,  

2015 
 30.92  19.91  2.38 

Payable at the year end
To Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia  (1)(i)  16.50  7.30  -   
To Holding/ Ultimate holding Company

Dalmia Bharat Limited  (2)(i)  6.79  8.81  10.25 
Dalmia Cement (Bharat) Limited  (3)(i)  18.57  19.79  -   

To Others
DISIR  (4)(i)  0.37  0.37  0.05 
Dalmia Refractories Limited (4)(ii)  0.69  0.77  0.67 
Calcom Cement India Limited  (5)(i)  0.10  0.08  -   

 43.02  37.12  10.97 
Loan taken & outstanding at year end

From Joint Venture Company
Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited  (6)(i)  5.00  -    -   

Accrued Interest on Loan
From Joint Venture Company

Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Private Limited  (6)(i)  0.16  -    -   
Guarantees Given / Outstanding (Refer Note No. 42.4B) 

To Others
Dalmia Cement East Limited  (5)(iii)  234.68  -    -   

(C) Details of remuneration paid to Key Management Personnel of the Company as per A(1)(i) above.

(` In Crore)
2016-17 2015-16

Shri Amandeep
Short term employment benefits* 3.39  1.87 
Long term employment benefits  0.30  0.18 
Payable at the year end  -    -   

Shri Puneet Yadu Dalmia
Short term employment benefits  19.62  10.21 
Long term employment benefits  0.15  0.07 
Payable at the year end  16.50  7.30 

 * In addition to above, perquisite value of `  6.53 Crore for 36,000 Employee Stock Options were granted by Dalmia Bharat 
Limited. (Ultimate Holding Company) on February 03, 2016 at a price of  ̀  105.50/- per share being the exercise price repersenting 
discount of 20% on the price determined as 30 days average of the opening price as on May 18, 2012. The said 36,000 ESOP’s were 
vested and exercised by Shri Amandeep on February 03, 2017.

 The transactions with related parties are net of taxes & reimbursement of expenses and have been made on terms equivalent to 
those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial 
position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates. Outstanding balances at the year-end are 
unsecured and settlement occurs in cash. 

42.16 Fair Value Measurement
 The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 

transaction between willing parties other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

 The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

(1) Fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other short term receivables, trade payables , other current liabilities, short-
term loans from banks and other financial institutions approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities 
of these instruments.    
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(2) Financial instruments with fixed and variable interest rate are evaluated by the Company based on parameter such as interest 
rates and individual credit worthiness of the counterparty. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken into account for the 
expected losses of these receivables. 

 The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation 
technique. 

 Level 1 : quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 Level 2 : other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effects on the recorded fair value are observable, either 
directly or indirectly.

 Level 3 : techniques which use inputs that have a significant effects on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable 
market data.

 The following tables provides classification of financial instruments and the fair value hierarchy of the Company’s assets and 
liabilities. 

(` In Crore)
Carrying 

value
Fair value heirarchy

Fair value level 1 level 2 level 3
(a) Disclosure for the year ended 31st March, 2017
(1) Financial Assets

Finacial Assets at amortised cost
Trade Receivables  192.82  192.82  -    -    192.82 
Loans  6.36  6.36  -    -    6.36 
Other Financial assets excluding derivative financial 
instruments

 338.24  338.24  -    -    338.24 

Cash & cash equivalents  32.95  32.95  -    -    -   
Bank Balances other than (iii) above  1.21  1.21  -    -    -   

 571.58  571.58  -    -    537.42 
Financial Assets at cost
Investments in equity shares  3.85  3.85  -    -    -   
Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments  4.40  4.40  -    4.40  -   
Investments in mutual funds  1,593.94  1,593.94  1,593.94  -    -   

 1,598.34  1,598.34  1,593.94  4.40  -   
Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Investment properties  0.33  2.99  -    2.99  -   
Total  2,174.10  2,176.76  1,593.94  7.39  537.42 

(2) Financial Liability
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings

Obligation under finance lease  0.73  0.73  -    -    0.73 
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions  1,166.35  1,166.35  -    -    1,166.35 

Trade Payables  299.40  299.40  -    -    -   
Other Financial liabilities excluding derivative 
financial instruments

 181.52  181.52  -    -    -   

 1,648.00  1,648.00  -    -    1,167.08 
Financial Liabilites at fair value through profit or 
loss
Derivative financial instruments  0.93  0.93  -    0.93  -   
Total  1,648.93  1,648.93  -    0.93  1,167.08 

(b) Disclosure for the year ended 31st March, 2016 
(1) Financial Assets

Finacial Assets at amortised cost
Trade Receivables  182.98  182.98  -    -    182.98 
Loans  1.67  1.67  -    -    1.67 
Other Financial assets excluding derivative financial 
instruments

 72.32  72.32  -    -    72.32 

Cash & cash equivalents  37.98  37.98  -    -    -   
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(` In Crore)
Carrying 

value
Fair value heirarchy

Fair value level 1 level 2 level 3
Bank Balances other than (iii) above  2.15  2.15  -    -    -   

 297.09  297.09  -    -    256.96 
Financial Assets at cost
Investments in equity shares  3.91  3.91  -    -    -   
Finacial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments  7.51  7.51  -    7.51  -   
Investments in commercial papers  300.00  300.00  -    -    300.00 
Investments in mutual funds  1,095.54  1,095.54  1,095.54  -    -   

 1,403.05  1,403.05  1,095.54  7.51  300.00 
Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Investment properties  0.33  2.99  -    2.99  -   
Total  1,704.38  1,707.04  1,095.54  10.50  556.96 

(2) Financial Liability
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings

Obligation under finance lease  0.73  0.73  -    -    0.73 
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions  1,214.65  1,214.65  -    -    1,214.65 

Trade Payables  332.56  332.56  -    -    -   
Other Financial liabilities excluding derivative 
financial instruments

 194.25  194.25  -    -    -   

 1,742.19  1,742.19  -    -    1,215.38 
Financial Liabilites at fair value through profit or 
loss
Derivative financial instruments  0.14  0.14  -    0.14  -   
Total  1,742.33  1,742.33  -    0.14  1,215.38 

(c) Disclosure for the year ended 1st April, 2015    
(1) Financial Assets

Financial Assets at amortised cost
Trade Receivables  225.99  225.99  -    -    225.99 
Loans  1.96  1.96  -    -    1.96 
Other Financial assets excluding derivative financial 
instruments

 20.48  20.48  -    -    20.48 

Cash & cash equivalents  94.02  94.02  -    -    -   
Bank Balances other than (iii) above  1.10  1.10  -    -    -   

 343.56  343.56  -    -    248.43 
Financial Assets at cost
Investments in equity shares  3.89  3.89  -    -    -   
Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments  6.68  6.68  -    6.68  -   
Investments in commercial papers  249.06  249.06  -    -    249.06 
Investments in mutual funds  809.61  809.61  809.61  -    -   

 1,065.35  1,065.35  809.61  6.68  249.06 
Assets for which fair values are disclosed
Investment properties  0.34  3.03  -    3.03  -   
Total  1,413.14  1,415.83  809.61  9.71  497.49 

(2) Financial Liability
Financial Liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings

Obligation under finance lease  0.73  0.73  -    -    0.73 
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions  1,345.99  1,345.99  -    -    1,345.99 

Trade Payables  291.90  291.90  -    -    -   
Other Financial Liabilities  210.22  210.22  -    -    -   
Total  1,848.84  1,848.84  -    -    1,346.72 
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(d) Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:
Financial Asset/ liability valuation Technique Significant unobservable 

input
Trade Receivables ECL Realisation pattern or past 

experience
Loans DCF Method Discount rate 
Other Financial liabilities excluding derivative financial instruments DCF Method Discount rate 
Finance Lease obligation DCF Method Discount rate 
Borrowings from banks and financial institutions DCF Method Discount rate 

42.17 Financial Risk Management Objective and Policies:
 The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and advances 

from customers. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations, projects under implementation 
and to provide guarantees to support its operations. The Group’s principal financial assets include Investment, loans and advances, trade 
and other receivables and cash and bank balances that derive directly from its operations.

 The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s financial risk management is an integral part of how to plan 
and execute its business strategies. The Group’s financial risk management policy is set by the Managing Board. 

 All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by specialist teams that have the appropriate skills, experience 
and supervision. It is the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes to be undertaken. The Board of Directors 
reviews and finalises policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

(a) Market Risk
 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and commodity price risk. Financial instruments 
affected by market risk include investments and deposits, foreign currency receivables, payables, loans and borrowings and 
derivative financial instruments.

 The Group manages market risk through a treasury department, which evaluates and excercises independent control over the 
entire process of market risk management. The treasury department recommends risk management objectives and policies, 
which are approved by Senoir Management and the Audit Committee. The activities of this department include management of 
cash resources, implementing hedging strategies for foreign currency exposures, borrowing strategies and ensuring compliance 
with market risk limits and policies. 

(i) Interest rate risk
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market interest rates. In order to optimize the Group’s position with regards to interest income and interest expenses to 
manage the interest rate risk, treasury performs a comprehensive corporate interest rate risk management by balancing 
the proportion of fixed rate and floating rate financial intruments in its total portfolio.

 Interest rate sensitivity
 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that the unhedged 

portion of loans and borrowings. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is affected through 
the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

2016-17 2015-16
(+/ -) 50 Basis Points (+/ -) 50 Basis Points

Effect on profit before tax due to interest rate sensitivity  1.34  1.32

(ii) Foreign currency risk
 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes 

in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the 
Group’s operating and financing activities. The Group manages its foreign currency risk by hedging transactions that are 
expected to realise in future. 
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 Foreign Currency Exposure

 As at  
 31st March, 2017 

As at  
 31st March, 2016

 As at  
1st April, 2015 

Foreign 
Currency 

Functional  
Currency 
` Crore 

Foreign 
Currency 

Functional  
Currency 
` Crore 

Foreign 
Currency 

Functional  
Currency 
` Crore 

I Hedged
Forward contracts  USD  -    -    0.03  2.21  0.01  0.63 
for imports  Euro   -    -    0.01  0.72  -    0.34 
Term loan  USD  0.71  46.30  1.11  73.86  1.39  87.68 
Foreign currency loan  USD  1.17  75.64  0.59  39.40  0.36  22.70 
availed under buyers' 
credit 
Creditors  USD  -    -    -    -    0.35  22.35 
Interest accrued  USD  0.03  2.25  0.04  2.94  0.03  2.10 
on term loan & buyers' 
credit

II Not hedged
Trade receivables  USD  0.01  0.83  0.05  3.27  0.10  5.94 

 Euro  0.04  2.75  0.07  4.94  0.04  2.75 
 GBP   -    -    -    0.09  0.08  7.05 

Trade payables  USD  0.18  11.17  0.40  26.87  0.94  59.49 
 Euro  0.11  7.80  0.07  4.88  0.08  5.70 
 JPY  0.07  0.04  0.11  0.07  0.07  0.04 
 GBP   -    0.06  -    0.19  -    0.20 

Cash & bank balance  USD  -    -    -    0.01  -    -   
 GBP  -    -    -    -    -    -   
 EURO  -    -    -    -    -    -   
 RMB  -    -    -    -    -    -   
 JPY  -    -    -    -    -    -   
 Kwacha  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Term loan  USD  1.87  121.31  1.72  113.68  1.78  111.83 
PCFC loan  USD   0.01  0.42  0.02  1.26  0.05  3.09 

 EURO  0.11  7.42  0.07  5.39  0.06  3.85 
 GBP   -    -    -    0.08  0.04  4.05 

Interest accured  USD   0.01  0.39  -    0.20  -    0.11 
on term loan & buyers 
credit

 EURO   -    0.02  -    -    -    -   

Foreign currency loan  USD  0.12  7.75  0.65  42.78  -    -   
availed under buyers' 
credit 

 EURO  0.29  19.78  -    -    -    -   

 Note: Details of amount in foreign currency less than 100,000 are given in below
- Forward Contract for imports in Euro(FY 2016: 95,500, FY 2015: 49,725).

- Trade Receivables in GBP (FY 2016: 9,101.85).

- Trade Payables in GBP (FY 2017: 7078.11, FY 2016: 19,481.63, FY 2015: 21,425).

- Cash & bank balance in USD (FY 2017: 0.75, FY 2016: 1259.75, FY 2015: 5.75) , in GBP (FY 2017: 1.20, FY 2016: 1.20,  FY 2015: 
1.20), in EURO (FY 2016: 6.66, FY 2016: 236.66, FY 2015: 6.66), in RMB (FY 2017: 7.50, FY 2016: 606.50, FY 2015: 3,000), in JPY 
(FY 2017: 580, FY 2016: 580, FY 2015: 580), and in Kwacha (FY 2017: 30,000, FY 2016: 30,000, FY 2015: 30,000).

- PCFC Loan in USD (FY 2017: 64,986.30) and in GBP (FY 2016: 8191).

- Interest accrued on term loan & buyers credit in USD (FY 2017: 60,357, FY 2016: 30,799, FY 2015: 17,667) and  in EURO (FY 
2017: 2,922.08).

 Note: Details of amount in Rupee less than 100,000 are given below :
- Cash & bank balance in USD (FY 2017: 48, FY 2016: 83,503, FY 2015: 358) , in GBP (FY 2017: 95, FY 2016: 114, FY 2015: 110), 

in EURO (FY 2017: 449, FY 2016: 17,750, FY 2015: 445), in RMB (FY 2017: 70, FY 2016: 6,290, FY 2015: 30,600), in JPY (FY 2017: 
327, FY 2016: 347, FY 2015: 299), and in Kwacha (FY 2017: 309, FY 2016: 309, FY 2015: 309). 
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 Foreign Currency Sensitivity
 The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other variables held 

constant. The impact on the Group’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities. 

2016-17 2015-16
(+/ -) 5 % (+/ -) 5 %

Effect on profit before tax
USD  0.11  0.14 
Others  0.03  0.01 

 0.14  0.15 

(iii) Commodity price risk
 The Group is affected by the price volatility of certain commodities. Its operating activities require the on-going purchase 

or continuous supply of slag, coal, pet coke, and gypsum for manufacture of cement and quartzise, magnasite and alumina 
for manufacture of refractory products. The Group procures slag, coal, pet coke domestically by participating in public 
tenders / e-auctions. Imported pet coke is exposed to price volatility due to fluctuation in international petroluem market. 
Quartzite is procured from captive mines, and other raw materials for refractory products are procured under annual rate 
contracts or by floating tenders. The Group monitors its purchases closely to optimise the price. 

(b) Credit Risk 
 Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading 

to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables and advances to 
suppliers) and from its financing activities, including deposits and other financial instruments.

(i) Trade Receivables
 Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control 

relating to customer credit risk management. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. An impairment 
analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients.

 The Group evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers are located in 
several jurisdictions and operate in largely independent markets.

 The ageing analysis of the receivables (gross of provisions) have been considered from the date the invoice falls due.

(` In Crore)
 As at  

 31st March, 2017
As at  

 31st March, 2016
 As at  

1st April, 2015 
Less than 3 months  175.42  168.48  218.94 
3 to 6 months  12.08  14.70  24.39 
more than 6 months  24.59  20.34  9.61 
Total  212.09  203.52  252.94 

(ii) Financial Instruments and Cash and bank balances
 Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group’s treasury department in 

accordance with the Group’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved authorities. Credit limits 
of all authorities are reviewed by the Management on regular basis. All balances with banks and financial institutions is 
subject to low credit risk due to good credit ratings assigned to these entities.

(c) Liquidity Risk
 The Group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using a liquidity planning tool. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance 

between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of cash credit, letter of Credit and working capital limits.
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 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual payments.

 31st March, 2017

(` In Crore)
less than 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total 

Borrowings
Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures  -    598.51  -    598.51 
Term Loans from Banks  12.77  66.62  201.70  281.09 
Term Loans from Others  27.40  115.29  28.67  171.36 
Present value of land lease obligation  0.05  0.24  0.44  0.73 
Cash credit from Banks  12.23  -    -    12.23 
Buyers credit from Banks  103.16  -    -    103.16 

Other Financial Liabilities other than current maturities 
of borrowings and lease obligation

 182.45  -    -    182.45 

Trade  & Other Payables  299.40  -    -    299.40 
 637.46  780.66  230.81  1,648.93 

 31st March, 2016

less than 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total 
Borrowings

Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures  23.97  598.22  -    622.19 
Term Loans from Banks  16.31  43.38  224.95  284.64 
Term Loans from Others  57.61  131.46  26.37  215.44 
Present value of land lease obligation  0.06  0.25  0.42  0.73 
Cash credit from Banks  10.20  -    -    10.20 
Buyers credit from Banks  82.18  -    -    82.18 

Other Financial Liabilities other than current maturities 
of borrowings and lease obligation

 194.39  -    -    194.39 

Trade  & Other Payables  332.56  -    -    332.56 
 717.28  773.31  251.74  1,742.33 

 1st April, 2015

less than 1 year  1 to 5 years  > 5 years  Total 
Borrowings

Redeemable Non-Convertible Debentures  23.94  422.06  199.86  645.86 
Term Loans from Banks  61.19  139.60  130.07  330.86 
Term Loans from Others  31.45  156.28  49.65  237.38 
Present value of land lease obligation  0.06  0.21  0.46  0.73 
Cash credit from Banks  109.19  -    -    109.19 
Buyers credit from Banks  22.70  -    -    22.70 

Other Financial Liabilities other than current maturities 
of borrowings and lease obligation

 178.71  31.51  -    210.22 

Trade  & Other Payables  291.90  -    -    291.90 
 719.15  749.65  380.04  1,848.84 

42.18 Capital Management: 
 For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, equity includes issued equity capital, securities premium and all other equity 

reserves attributable to the equity share holders, including capital reserve and net debt includes interest bearing loans and borrowings 
except lease liability less investment in mutual funds, commercial papers and cash and cash equivalents. The primary objective of the 
Group’s capital management is to safeguard continuity, maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its 
business and provide adequate return to shareholders through continuing growth.

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the requirements of the 
financial covenants. The funding requirement is met through a mixture of equity, internal accruals, long term borrowings and short term 
borrowings. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt.
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 In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial 
covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. 

(` In Crore)
 As at  

 31st March, 2017
As at  

 31st March, 2016
 As at  

1st April, 2015 
Borrowings  1,166.35  1,214.65  1,345.99 

Less: Current investments  (1,593.94)  (1,395.54)  (1,058.67)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents  (32.95)  (37.98)  (94.02)
(a) Net Debt  (460.54)  (218.87)  193.29 
(b) Equity  2,369.51  1,991.86  1,802.78 
(c) Equity and Net Debt (a+b)  1,908.97  1,772.99  1,996.08 

Gearing Ratio (a/c) -24.13% -12.34% 9.68%

42.19 First Time Adoption of Ind-AS:
 These financial statements, for the year ended 31st March 2017, are the first, the Group has prepared in accordance with  section 133 of 

the Companies Act 2013, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and  Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Amendmend Rules, 2016. For periods up to and including the year ended 31st March 2016, the Group prepared its financial statements 
in accordance with accounting standards notified under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013, read together with paragraph 7 of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (Indian GAAP).

 Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements which comply with Ind AS applicable for periods ending on 31st March 2017, 
together with the comparative period data as at and for the year ended 31st March 2016. In preparing these financial statements, the 
Group’s opening balance sheet was prepared as at 1st April 2015, the Group’s date of transition to Ind AS. The figures for the previous 
periods and for the year ended 31st March, 2015 have been restated, regrouped and reclassified, wherever required to comply with Ind-
AS and Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013 and to make them comparable.

42.19 (a) Exemption applied
  The Group has applied following exemptions        

 (1) Business Combinations
  The Group has elected not to apply Ind AS 103 - Business Combinations, retrospectively to past business combinations that are 

occurred before the date of transition to Ind AS.

(2) Deemed Cost
 The Group has elected to measure the certain items of property, plant and equipment on the date of transition to Ind AS i.e. 1st 

April, 2015 at its fair value and is using that fair value as its deemed cost on that date. Items measured at fair value are plant and 
machinery, buildings, freehold land and railway sidings. Lease hold land, furniture & fixtures, office equipments and vehicles are 
carried at their previous GAAP carrying amount. 

(3) Leases
 The Group has assessed the classification of each element as finance or operating lease at the date of transition to Ind AS on the 

basis of the facts and circumstances existing as at that date.

(4) Cummulative translation difference on foreign operations 
 Cumulative currency translation differences for all foreign operations are deemed to be zero at the date of transition, viz 1st April, 

2015. Gain or loss on a subsequent disposal of any foreign operation excludes translation differences that arose before the date 
of transition but includes only differences arising after the transition date. 

(5) Long Term Foreign Currency Monetary Items
 The Group has elected to continue the policy adopted for accounting for exchange differences arising from translation of long-

term foreign currency monetary items recognised in the financial statements for the period ending immediately before the 
beginning of the first Ind AS financial reporting period as per the previous GAAP. The policy is detailed in Note No. 3.6 of significant 
accounting policies.

(6) Fair value measurement of financial assets or financial liabilities at initial recognition 
 Under IndAS 109, the financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost, less allowance for impairment, if any. For transactions entered into on or after the date of transition to IndAS, the requirement 
of initial reognition at fair value is applied prospectively. 
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(7) Decommissioning liabilities included in the intangible assets
 The Group has elected to measure the decommissioning liability related to mines, as at the date of transition to IndAS in 

accordance with Ind AS 37.

(8) Non current assets held for sale
 The Group has elected to measure non current assets held for sale at carrying value at the date of transition, hence opening IndAS 

Balance Sheet was not required to be adjusted.

42.19 (b) Exceptions
 The following mandatory exceptions have been applied in accordance with IndAS 101 in preparing the financial statements.

(1) Estimates
 The estimates at 1st April 2015 and at 31st March, 2016 are consistent with those made for the same dates in accordance with 

Indian GAAP (after adjustments to reflect any differences in accounting policies, if any) apart from the following items where 
application of Indian GAAP did not require estimation.

 Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

 Impairment of financial assets based on expected credit loss model 

(2) Classification and measurement of financial assets
 The Group has classified the financial assets at fair value in accordance with Ind AS 109 on the basis of facts and circumstances 

that exists at the date of transition to Ind AS. 

42.19 (c) Reconciliation of Equity as at 1st April, 2015 (date of transition to  IndAS)     
(` In Crore)

Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP As at  
1st April, 2015

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS As at  
1st April, 2015 

A ASSETS
1 Non-current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 1  1,268.43  840.19  2,108.62 
Capital Work-in-Progress  131.14  -    131.14 
Investment Property  0.34  -    0.34 
Other Intangible Assets 1  27.01  (12.52)  14.49 
Biological Assets other than Bearer Plants  0.10  -    0.10 
Mines Development & Preoperative Exp 13  0.54  (0.54)  -   
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 13  0.33  3.52  3.85 
(ii) Loans 2  0.37  (0.04)  0.33 
(iii) Other Financial Assets 3  10.81  1.40  12.21 

Other Non-Current Assets 2 & 13  46.22  (1.45)  44.77 
 1,485.29  830.56  2,315.85 

2 Current Assets
Inventories 4  397.65  (2.73)  394.92 
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 5  1,055.17  3.50  1,058.67 
(ii) Trade Receivables 6  236.52  (10.53)  225.99 
(iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents 13  95.40  (1.38)  94.02 
(iv) Bank Balances other than (iii) above  1.10  -    1.10 
(v) Loans  1.63  -    1.63 
(vi) Other Financial Assets 3 & 13  13.78  1.17  14.95 

Other Current Assets 7 & 13  82.47  (0.04)  82.43 
 1,883.72  (10.01)  1,873.71 

Total  3,369.01  820.55  4,189.56 
B EQUITY & LIABILITIES

1 Equity
Equity Share Capital  11.39  -    11.39 
Other Equity 8  1,226.65  564.74  1,791.39 

 1,238.04  564.74  1,802.78 
Non-controlling interest  3.22  -    3.22 

2 Non Current Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
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(` In Crore)
Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP As at  
1st April, 2015

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS As at  
1st April, 2015 

(i) Borrowings 9  1,102.28  (4.09)  1,098.19 
(ii) Other Financial Liabilities  31.51  -    31.51 
Provisions 10  4.37  13.93  18.30 
Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 11  148.75  273.24  421.99 

 1,286.91  283.08  1,569.99 
3 Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings  131.89  -    131.89 
(ii) Trade Payables 9  291.65  0.25  291.90 
(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 9  295.48  (0.13)  295.35 

Other Current Liabilities  84.65  -    84.65 
Provisions 12  37.17  (27.39)  9.78 

 840.84  (27.27)  813.57 
Total  3,369.01  820.55  4,189.56 

42.19 (d) Reconciliation of Equity as at 31st March, 2016

(` In Crore)
Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP As at 31st 
March 2016

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS As at  
31st March 2016 

A ASSETS
1 Non-current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 1  1,252.56  818.00  2,070.56 
Capital Work-in-Progress  121.40  -    121.40 
Investment Property  0.33  -    0.33 
Other Intangible Assets 1  24.94  (13.48)  11.46 
Biological Assets other than Bearer Plants  0.10  -    0.10 
Mines Development & Preoperative Exp 13  0.54  (0.54)  -   
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 13  0.33  3.58  3.91 
(ii) Loans 2  0.21  (0.04)  0.17 
(iii) Other Financial Assets 3  10.67  1.35  12.02 

Other Non-Current Assets 2 & 13  24.06  (1.45)  22.61 
 1,435.14  807.42  2,242.56 

2 Current Assets
Inventories 4  365.76  2.09  367.85 
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 5  1,365.21  30.33  1,395.54 
(ii) Trade Receivables 6  188.01  (5.03)  182.98 
(iii) Cash & Cash Equivalents 13  39.45  (1.47)  37.98 
(iv) Bank Balances other than (iii) above  2.15  -    2.15 
(v) Loans  1.50  -    1.50 
(vi) Other Financial Assets 3 & 13  68.31  (0.50)  67.81 

Other Current Assets 7 & 13  74.17  (0.16)  74.01 
 2,104.56  25.26  2,129.82 

Total  3,539.70  832.68  4,372.38 
B EQUITY & LIABILITIES

1 Equity
Equity Share Capital  11.39  -    11.39 
Other Equity 8  1,434.15  546.32  1,980.47 

 1,445.54  546.32  1,991.86 
Non-controlling interest  2.95  (0.02)  2.93 

2 Non Current Liabilities
Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 9  1,028.09  (3.04)  1,025.05 
Provisions 10  7.05  13.34  20.39 
Deferred Tax Liabilities (net) 11  110.88  276.54  387.42 

 1,146.02  286.84  1,432.86 
3 Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings  92.38  -    92.38 
(ii) Trade Payables  332.57  (0.01)  332.56 
(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 9  292.78  (0.44)  292.34 
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(` In Crore)
Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP As at 31st 
March 2016

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS As at  
31st March 2016 

Other Current Liabilities  130.87  (0.02)  130.85 
Provisions  13.41  -    13.41 
Current Tax Liabilities (net) 13  83.18  0.01  83.19 

 945.19  (0.46)  944.73 
Total  3,539.70  832.68  4,372.38 

42.19 (e) Reconciliation of profit or loss for the year ended 31st March, 2016

Note no.  
42.19(f)

IGAAP 
2015-16

IndAS 
Adjustment

IndAS  
2015-16

I INCOME
Revenue from Operations 3  3,106.24  (0.06)  3,106.18 
Other Income 14  68.32  26.64  94.96 
Total Income  3,174.56  26.58  3,201.14 

II EXPENSES
Cost of Materials Consumed 10  506.03  (1.28)  504.75 
Purchase of Stock-in-Trade  41.83  -    41.83 
Changes in Inventories of Finished Goods & Work-
in-Progress 

4  (11.46)  (4.78)  (16.24)

& Stock-in-Trade
Excise Duty  375.87  -    375.87 
Employee Benefits Expense 15.  166.11  (1.02)  165.09 
Power and Fuel  354.22  -    354.22 
Finance Costs 16  134.95  1.62  136.57 
Depreciation & Amortization Expense 17.  176.33  31.50  207.83 
Freight and Forwarding Expenses
  On Finished Goods  407.77  -    407.77 
  On Internal Transfer of Clinker  84.21  -    84.21 
Other Expenses 18.  651.62  (12.81)  638.81 
Total Expenses  2,887.48  13.23  2,900.71 

III PROFIT BEFORE SHARE IN NET PROFIT / (LOSS) OF 
JOINT VENTURE

 287.08  13.35  300.43 

IV SHARE IN PROFIT OF JOINT VENTURE  -    0.07  0.07 
V PROFIT BEFORE TAX  287.08  13.42  300.50 

Tax expense
Current tax  91.22  (0.03)  91.19 
Deferred tax 11.  (37.87)  3.66  (34.21)
Total Tax expense  53.35  3.63  56.98 

VI PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AFTER TAX  233.73  9.79  243.52 
Less: Share of Profit/(Loss) transferred to / (from) 
non-controlling interest

 (0.27)  -    (0.27)

Profit For The Year After (After Adjustment For 
Non-Controlling Interest)

 234.00  9.79  243.79 

VII OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
i Items that will not be classified to profit and 

loss
19.  -    (1.03)  (1.03)

ii Income tax relating to items that will not be 
       classified to profit and loss 19. -  0.36  0.36 
Total Other Comprehensive Income For The Year -  (0.67)  (0.67)

VIII TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
NET OF TAX

 234.00  9.12  243.12 

42.19 (f) Notes to the Reconciliation   
1. (a) Property Plant & Equipment

 The Group has elected to measure items of property, plant and equipment on the date of transition to Ind AS i.e. 1st 
April, 2015 at its fair value and is using that fair value as its deemed cost on that date.  Details of increase in amounts 
due to fair valuation of assets is disclosed under Other Notes to Note No. 5 to 9. This amount has been adjusted in 
retained earnings.
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(` In Crore)
As  at  

31st March, 2016 
As  at   

1st April, 2015 
Opening Balance  840.19  -   

(i) Increase due to Fair valuation  -    829.51 
(ii) Capitalisation of spares  6.68  2.73 
(iii) Recognition of Lease arrangement in respect to freehold land  -    0.73 
(iv) Reclassification of Railway wagons to financial assets-others  -    (0.29)
(v) Depreciation impact due to fair valuation and other 

reclassifications/ capitalisation
 (30.54)  (0.86)

(vi) Impact of fair valuation on assets held for sale and writeoffs  0.93  -   
(vii) Capitalisation of repairs satisfying recognition criteria  0.93  -   
(viii) Adjustment for FCTR  (0.19)  8.37 

 818.00  840.19 
Intangible Assets

Opening Balance  (25.33)  (12.81)
(i) Recognisation of assets related to decommissioning liability of 

mines 
 -    10.92 

(ii) Amortisation of assets recognised in point (i) above  (0.96)  -   
(iii) Impairment of Goodwill*  (23.44)

 (26.29)  (25.33)
  * Goodwill recognised under Consolidated Financial Statements has been impaired after the testing for 

impairment.          
2. loans
 Loan to employees are measured at fair value using amortisation method. At transition date, resulting change in assets are 

adjusted in retained earnings. Subsequent adjustments are recognised in statement of profit and loss.

3. Other Financial Assets
 The Company has recognized the present value of future lease rental as receivable and derecognized the carrying value of wagons 

from PPE. At the time of transition, `1.45 Crore has been recognised under other financial assets and `0.29 Crore derecognised 
from PPE. 

 For 31st March 2016, `0.05 Crore has been derecognised from Other operating revenue and has been recognised as interest 
income.

 Current Financial Assets- Others includes, impact of fair valuation of derivative instruments as at 31st March, 2016: `-0.48 Crore 
and as at 31st March, 2015: `1.17 Crore.

4. Inventories 
(` In Crore)

As  at  
31st March, 2016 

As  at   
1st April, 2015 

Opening balance  (2.73)
(i)  Derecognition of spares at acquisition cost which are capitalied as per Note 1(ii) 

above
 (6.68)  (2.73)

(ii) Derecognition of consumption of spares at issue cost   6.72  -   
(iii) Impact on stock valuation due to change in depreciation value  4.78  -   

 2.09  (2.73)
5. Current Investments 
 The mutual fund investments are valued at fair value through profit  or loss at time of transition and resulting gain/loss is 

recognised under retained earnings. Subsequently the gain/ loss is recognised under statement of profit and loss.

6. Current Trade Receivables
 The Company has applied practical expediency in calculation of the expected credit losses on trade receivables by using the 

provision matrix for each business segment as detailed in Note No. 16 of notes to the standalone financial statements. Outstanding 
balance of provision as at 31st March, 2016: `5.03 and as at 31st March, 2015: `10.53 Crore. 
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7. Current Assets

(` In Crore)
As  at  

31st March, 2016 
As  at   

1st April, 2015 
Opening balance  (0.04)  -   
(i)  Impact of fair valuation on assets held for sale  (0.16)  -   
(ii) Adjustment for change in method of consolidation of Joint Venture entity   0.04  (0.04)

 (0.16)  (0.04)
8. Other Equity
 The adjustments pertaining to opening balance sheet at the time of transition to Ind AS  are adjusted into retained earnings and 

subsequently , the adjustments are made into Profit or Loss or Other Comprehensive Income as prescribed under Ind AS.

(` In Crore)
As  at  

31st March, 2016 
As  at   

1st April, 2015 
(i) Fair Valuation of mutual funds 30.31 3.50
(ii) Fair Valuation of Property, Plant & Equipment (net of depreciation)  800.81 829.51
(iii) Reversal of consumption of spares reclassified as PPE, Refer Note No. 18 below  7.56  -   
(iv) Accumulated depreciation on capital spares  (2.59)  (0.85)
(v) Deferred tax impact  (276.54)  (273.24)
(vi) Outstanding provision on trade receivables based on past performance  (5.03)  (10.53)
(vii) Adjustment for dividend (including corporate dividend tax), declared and 

approved post reporting period
 -    27.39 

(viii) Impairment of Goodwill (Refer Note No. 1 above)  -    (23.44)
(ix) Others adjustments ( Refer other reconciliation notes )  (8.20)  12.40 

 546.32  564.74 

9. Borrowings       
 Under Indian GAAP, transaction costs incurred in connection with borrowings were amortised upfront and charged to profit 

or loss for the period. Under Ind AS, transaction costs are included in the initial recognition amount of financial liability and 
subsequently charged to profit or loss using the effective interest method. Fair value of leased land has been recognised on the 
date of transition to IndAS. 

10. Provisions
 The Group has recognised the decommissioning liability of Mines at discounted cost. The policy in respect to the provision 

amount is envisaged in Note No. 3.16 of notes to the Standalone Financial Statements.

 For the year ended 31st March 2016, The Company has recognised `1.09 Crore under finance cost and  `0.96 Crore under 
depreciation. The provision as per previous GAAP of `1.67 Crore has been derecognised by crediting Cost of Material Consumed 
`1.28 Crore and Mines Restoration expenses `0.39 Crore.

11. Deferred Tax Liability/Asset       
 Indian GAAP required deferred tax accounting using the income statement approach, which focuses on differences between 

taxable profits and accounting profits for the period. Ind AS 12 requires entities to account for deferred taxes using the balance 
sheet approach, which focuses on temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet 
and its tax base. The application of Ind AS 12 approach has resulted in recognition of deferred tax on new temporary differences 
which was not required under Indian GAAP.

 In addition, the various transitional adjustments lead to temporary differences. According to the accounting policies, the Company 
has to account for such differences. On the date of transition, the net impact on deferred tax liabilities of `273.24 Crore has been 
recognised in retained earnings and for the year ended 31st March, 2016, `3.30 Crore has been recognised in statement of profit 
and loss. 

12. Short Term Provision      
 Under Indian GAAP, proposed dividends including dividend distribution tax (DDT), are recognised as a liability in the period to 

which they relate, irrespective of when they are declared. Under Ind AS, a proposed dividend is recognised as a liability in the 
period in which it is declared by the company (usually when approved by shareholders in a general meeting) or paid.

 Therefore,the dividend liability including DDT amounting to `27.39 Crore has been derecognised as on transition date and has 
been recognised in retained earnings during the year ended 31st March, 2016 as declared and paid.
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13. Change in method of consolidation of joint venture from proportionate consolidation method to equity method.

(` In Crore)
As  at  

31st March, 2016 
As  at   

1st April, 2015 
(a) Increase in value of net investments in joint venture as per equity method  3.58  3.52 
(b) Net Assets of the Joint Venture entity eliminated 

Mines Development & Preoperative Exp  (0.54)  (0.54)
Other Non-Current Assets  (1.50)  (1.50)
Cash & Cash Equivalents  (1.47)  (1.38)
Other Financial Assets  (0.08)  (0.06)
Other Current Assets  -    (0.04)
Trade Payables  0.01  -   
Other Current Liabilities  0.01  -   
Current Tax Liabilities (net)  (0.01)  -   
Total (b)  (3.58)  (3.52)
Difference (a-b)  -    -   

14. Other Income

(` In Crore)
 2015-16 

(i) Gain on remeasurement of mutual funds at fair value.  26.73 
(ii) Adjustment for change in method of consolidation of Joint Venture entity  (0.12)
(iii) Others  0.03 

 26.64 

15. Employee Benefit Expenses 
 Both under Indian GAAP and Ind AS, the Company recognised costs related to its post-employment defined benefit plan on an 

actuarial basis. Under Indian GAAP, the entire cost, including actuarial gains and losses, are charged to profit or loss. Under Ind 
AS, remeasurements [comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net 
interest on the net defined benefit liability and the return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest on the net 
defined benefit liability] are recognised  in the balance sheet through OCI. Thus the employee benefit expense is reduced by 
`1.03 Crore and remeasurement gains/ losses on defined benefit plans has been recognized in the OCI net of tax. Adjustment for 
change in method of consolidation of Joint Venture entity `0.01 Crore.

 Unwinding of discount on loan to employees recognised as at transition date: `0.02 Crore

16. Finance Cost
(` In Crore)

 2015-16 
(i) Amortisation of transaction cost of borrowings  0.46 
(ii) Finance cost recognised for finance lease  0.07 
(iii) Unwinding of discount in respect to decommissioning liability  1.09 

 1.62 

17. Depreciation and amortisation expense
(` In Crore)

 2015-16 
(i) Depreciation on repairs that are capitalised  0.10 
(ii) Depreciation on lease arrangements  0.01 
(iii) Depreciation on spares that are capitalised  1.74 
(iv) Depreciation impact due to adoption of SLM method of depreciation  (81.83)
(v) Depreciation impact due to revaluation  110.52 

 30.55 
(vi) Amortisation of Intangible assets  0.96 

 31.50 
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18. Other Expenses

(` In Crore)
 2015-16 

(i) Reversal of consumption of spares reclassified as PPE, Refer Note 1 above  (7.56)
(ii) Reversal of repairs reclassified as PPE  (0.93)
(iii) Remeasurement of rebates and discounts  (5.50)
(iv) Derecognition for decommissioning provision under IGAAP, refer Note 10 above  (0.39)
(v) Other fair value adjustments  (0.08)
(vi) Loss on fair valuation of derivative instruments  1.65 

 (12.81)

19. Other Comprehensive Income
(` In Crore)

 2015-16 
(i) Remeasurement of defined benefits plans  (1.03)

 (1.03)
Deferred tax on above  0.36 

 (0.67)

42.19 (g) There is no material impact on the Statement of Cash Flows due to the transition from previous GAAP to Ind AS. 
42.20 Details of Specified Bank Notes held and transacted during the period 8th November, 2016 to 30th December, 2016 are given below :

  (` In Crore) 
 Specified Bank Notes 

` 500 notes `1000 notes Other notes Total Amount
Closing cash in hand as on 08.11.2016  0.04  0.03 0.02 0.09 
Add :  Permitted Receipts  -    -   0.19 0.19 
Less :  Permitted Payments  -    -   0.11 0.11 
Less :  Amount Deposited in Banks  0.04  0.03  -   0.07 
Closing cash in hand as on 30.12.2016  -    -    0.10  0.10 

42.21 Interest in Other Entities:
(a)  Information about the Group’s interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures

Name of the entity Country of 
Incorporation

 Activities  Proportion of Ownership of Interest
 As at  

31st March, 2017  
 As at  

31st March, 2016  
 As at  

1st April, 2015  
Subsidiaries
Indian
Odisha Cement Limited  India  Cement  100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Foreign
OCL Global Limited  Mauritius  

Refractory  
100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

OCL China Limitied  China Refractory  90.00% 90.00% 90.00%
Joint Venture
Indian
Radhikapur (West)  India  Cement 
Coal Mining Pvt. Ltd. * 7.03% 7.03% 7.03%

* The Group’s interest in the joint venture is not material.

(b)  Movement of interest in joint venture - Radhikapur (West) Coal Mining Pvt. Ltd.       
 (Refer Note No.: 3.7 & 42.10) 

 As at  
 31st March, 2017

As at  
 31st March, 2016

 Interest as at year beginning  3.58  3.51 
 Add: Share of profit the year  (0.02)  0.07 
 Interest as at year end  3.56  3.58 
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42.22 Disclosure as per Requirement of Schedule - III
Net Assets/ (Total Assets-

Total liabilities)
Share in Profit or loss Share in Other 

Comprehensive Income
Share in Total 

Comprehensive Income
Name of the entity in the Group As % of 

consolidated 
net assets

Amount As % of 
consolidated 
profit or loss

Amount As % of 
consolidated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Amount As % of 
consolidated 

total 
comprehensive 

income

Amount

Parent
OCL India Limited 98.20% 2,328.93 100.80%  383.82 100.00%  0.15 100.80%  383.97 
Subsidiaries
Indian
Odisha Cement Limited 0.00%  0.03 0.00%  (0.01)  -    -   0.00%  (0.01)
Foreign
OCL Global Limited 2.59%  61.51 0.10%  0.38  -    -   0.10%  0.38 
OCL China Limitied 1.58%  37.57 -1.38%  (5.24)  -    -   -1.38%  (5.24)
Non-controlling interest 0.09%  2.16 0.14%  0.52  -    -   0.14%  0.52 
Joint Ventures
Indian
Radhikapur (West) 0.15%  3.56 -0.01%  (0.02)  -    -   -0.01%  (0.02)
Coal Mining Pvt. Ltd.
Less: Elimination 2.62%  62.09 -0.35%  (1.32)  -    -   -0.35%  (1.32)
Total 100.00% 2,371.67 100.00%  380.77 100.00%  0.15 100.00%  380.92 

42.23 Previous year figures have been regrouped/rearranged/ reclassified where necessary to correspond with current year figures.

   for OCL INDIA LIMITED
                  On behalf of the Board

 Annexure to our Report of Date Rachna Goria Puneet Yadu Dalmia 
 for V Sankar Aiyar & Co. (GM Legal & Company Secretary) Managing Director 
 Chartered Accountants M No. F6741 (DIN 00022633) ) 
 Firm Registration No: 109208W

 M.S.Balachandran Hira Lal Agarwal Mahendra Singhi
Place : New Delhi Partner Senior Executive Director (Finance) CEO & Whole Time Director) 
Date : 10th May, 2017 M No. 024282 & Chief Financial Officer (DIN 00243835)
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